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MATURITY SCHEDULE
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CAPITAL APPRECIATION SERIAL BONDS

Accreted Value Accreted Value at
Maturity Initial Denominational Rate Maturity

Dec. 15 Amount (Yield to Maturity) {(Maturity Amount)
2011 $20,859,882.50 6.090% $38,375,000.00
2012 19,923,062.40 6.240% 39,555,000.00
2013 18,881,125.05 6.430% 40,765,000.00
2014 18,079,003.50 6.510% 42.010,000.00
2015 17,210,116.00 6.620% 43,285,000.00
2016 16,369,434.90 6.720% 44,590,000.00
2017 15,600,448.25 6.790% 45,925,000.00
2018 14,887,520.10 6.850% 47,295,000.00
2019 14,281,275.00 6.870% 48,700,000.00
2020 13,692,231.20 6.890% 50,140,000.00
2021 13,172,907.80 6.890% 51,620,000.00
2022 12,670,442 .40 6.890% 53,130,000.00

No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City or the Underwriters to give
any information or to make any representation other than as contained in this Official Statement and, if given or
made, such other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the
foregoing. This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Sentes 2001 Bonds.
This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any
sale of the Series 2001 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which is it unlawful for such person to make such
offer, solicitation or sale.

Statements contained in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion,
whether or not expressly stated to be such, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed as representations
of fact. No representation is made that any past experience, as shown by any financial or other information herein,
will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future. The information set forth in this Official Statement has been
obtained from official sources and other sources which are believed to be reliable, but the accuracy or completeness
of such information is not guaranteed by, and should not be construed as a promise by, the City. The information
and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official
Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances create any implication that there has been no
change in the affairs of the City since the date hereof. This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the
initial sale of the Series 2001 Bonds referred to herein and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for
any other purpose. All summaries of the documents and laws herein are made subject to the provisions thereof and
do not purport to be complete statements of any or all such provisions.

Certain statements in this Official Statement, which may generaily be identified by the use of such terms as
“plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “budget” or other similar words, constitute “forward-looking statements.” Such
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements under the captions “PLAN OF FINANCE,”
“CITY POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM,” “RISK FACTORS and “CONSTITUTIONAL AND
STATUTORY PROVISIONS AFFECTING CITY REVENUES AND APPROPRIATIONS.” The achievement of
certain results or other expectations or performance contained in such forward-looking statements involve known
and unknown nisks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results, performance or achievements
described to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements described or implied by
such forward-looking statements. The City does not plan to issue any updates or revisions to such forward-looking




statements if or when iis expectations, or events, conditions or circumstances on which such statements are based,
occur, or if actual results, performance or achievements are materially different from any results, performance or
achievements described or implied by such forward-looking statements.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2001 BONDS, THE UNDERWRITERS
MAY OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET
PRICE OF THE SERIES 2001 BONDS OFFERED HEREBY AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT
OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZATION, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE
DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OFFER AND SELL TO CERTAIN
DEALERS, INSTITUTIONAL INVESTORS AND OTHERS AT PRICES LOWER THAN THE PUBLIC
OFFERING PRICES STATED ON THE INSIDE COVER PAGE THEREOF AND SAID PUBLIC OFFERING
PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY THE UNDERWRITERS.

THE SERIES 2001 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933, AS AMENDED, NOR HAS THE TRUST AGREEMENT BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST

INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH
ACTS.

IN MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
EXAMINATION OF THE CITY, MBIA INSURANCE CORPORATION AND THE TERMS OF THE
OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN
RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY
AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE
ACCURACY CR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO
THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

This Official Statement and the information contained herein is in a form deemed final by the City for
purposes of Rule 15¢2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
$195,636,449.10

CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA
TAXABLE PENSION OBLIGATION BONDS
SERIES 2001

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

The purpose of this Official Statement (including the cover page and appendices attached hereto) is to
provide certain information concerning the initial issuance, sale and delivery by the City of Oakland, California (the
“City™) of the captioned Series 2001 Bonds.

This Introductory Statement contains only a brief summary of certain of the terms of the Series 2001
Bonds being offered and a brief description of this Official Statement. Prospective investors should read the
entire Official Statement (including the Appendices) to obtain information essential to the making of an informed
investment decision. The offering of the Series 2001 Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of the
entire Official Statement.

Certain risks associated with any purchase of the Series 2001 Bonds are described under “RISK
FACTORS,” but such description is not intended to be an exhaustive list of risks and other considerations which
may be relevant to investing in the Series 2001 Bonds.

All capitalized terms used in this Official Statement and not otherwise defined herein have the same
meanings given such terms in the Trust Agreement. See APPENDIX C—"SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL
DOCUMENTS—Definitions of Certain Terms” for definitions of certain words and terms used, but not otherwise
defined herein.

City of Oakland

The City is a charter city located on the east side of the San Francisco Bay, is the eighth most populous city
in California and has a 2001-2002 budget of $818 million. See APPENDIX A ~ “CERTAIN INFORMATION
CONCERNING THE CITY OF QAKLAND.”

Authority for Issuance; Purpose

The Senes 2001 Bonds are authorized and issued pursuant to authorizing resolutions of the City Council
adopted on July 24, 2001 and September 18, 2001 and pursuant 1o Article XXVI of the City Charter, as amended
from time to time, and the PFRS Pension Obligation Bond Law, Chapter 4.44 of the Oakland Municipal Code
(collectively the “Retirement Law™).

The Series 2001 Bonds will be issued under, and are secured by, the Master Trust Agreement (the “Master
Trust Agreement”}, by and between the City and The Chase Manhattan Bank, Houston, Texas (successor trustee to
Texas Commerce Bank National Association) (the “Trustee™), dated as of February 1, 1997, a First Supplemental
Trust Agreement, dated as of February 1, 1997, and a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, dated as of
September 1, 2001 (the “Second Supplemental Trust Agreement”), by and between the City and the Trustee (the
Master Trust Agreement as so amended is sometimes referred to collectively as the “Trust Agreement™).

The Series 2001 Bonds are being issued to (a} provide funds to purchase for cancellation and to legally

defease to maturity a portion of the City’s outstanding Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 1997 (the “Series
1997 Bonds™) and (b) to pay cost of issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCE.”




The (1) Series 2001 Bonds, (ii} the Series 1997 Bonds to remain Outstanding following the purchase and
defeasance of a portion of the Series 1997 Bonds with proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds, and {(i1) any Additional
Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement, are collectively referred to as the “Bonds.”

Security and Source of Payment for the Series 2001 Bonds

The obligation of the City to pay the principal of, interest on and the redemption price, if any (*“debt
service”), on the Bonds is imposed upon the City by law and is enforceable against the City pursuant o the Trust
Agreement, a procedural ordinance and resolutions adopted by the City Council authorizing the issuance of the
Series 2001 Bonds. To secure the payment of the Bonds and the performance and observance by the City of all the
covenants and agreements contained in the Bonds and Trust Agreement, the City has agreed in the Trust Agreement
to pay from any legaily available source of revenues of the City (including the Tax Override Revenues) all amounts
due and owing with respect to Bonds. As provided in the Trust Agreement and as described herein, the City has
pledged and assigned to the Trustee, and has granted to the Trustee a lien on and security interest in, the Pledged
Revenues (which consist solely of the Tax Override Revenues collected by the City pursuant to the levy of an ad
valorem tax) and certain other moneys and securities held from time to time by the Trustee under the Trust
Agreement for the payment of the Bonds. See “SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES
2001 BONDS.” Neither the Bonds nor the obligation of the City to make payments with respect to the Bonds
constitute an indebtedness of the City, the State of California or any of its political subdivisions within the meaning
of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction.

Bond Insurance

Scheduled payment of the Matrity Amount of the Series 2001 Bonds when due at maturity will be insured
by the financial guaranty insurance policy (the “Bond Insurance Policy™) to be issued by MBIA Insurance
Corporation (the “Bond Insurer”) simultaneously with the delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds. See “THE BOND
INSURER AND THE BOND INSURANCE POLICY "

The Bond Insurer will have the right 1o consent on behalf of the owners of the Series 2001 Bonds {with
certain exceptions) to amendments to the Trust Agreement.

Additional Bonds

The City 1s permitted under the Trust Agreement to issue at any time Additional Bonds in any principal
amount, which Additional Bonds may be secured under the Trust Agreement by Pledged Revenues on a parity with
the Series 1997 Bonds and the Series 2001 Bonds.

The City may also issue at any time, without any limit imposed by the Trust Agreement, general obligation
bonds, or other evidences of indebtedness or liabilities, payable on a parity with the Bonds from the general
revenues of the City (excluding the Tax Override Revenues).

The Series 2001 Bonds — General

All the Senies 2001 Bonds are Capital Appreciation Bonds and no payment will be made thereon until their
respective stated maturity dates. The Series 2001 Bonds will be issued in the initial Denominational Amounts, will
accrete in value from their date of delivery at the Accreted Value Rate (vield to maturity) and will mature, all as
indicated on the inside front cover of this Official Statement. The Series 2001 Bonds will be issued in book-entry
form and in initial Denominational Amounts which will have an Accreted Value at stated maturity (the “Maturity
Amount™) of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. See “THE SERIES 2001 BONDS.” The Accreted Value of
each maturity of the Series 2001 Bonds as of each December 15 and Maturity Amount of the Series 2001 Bonds for
each maturity is illustrated in APPENDIX H.

The Series 2001 Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and nominee of
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”). Purchasers in Europe may hold beneficial interests in the Series 2001



Bonds through Clearstream, Luxembourg, or through Euroclear, as described in APPENDIX I “Clearstream,
Luxembourg and Euroclear.”

Redemption
The Series 2001 Bonds will not be subject to redemption prior to maturity.
Yalidation

Prior to the issuance of the Series 1997 Bonds, the City brought a validation action in the Superior Court of
Alameda County pursuant to Section 860 et seq. of the California Code of Civil Procedure. The validation action
sought judicial validation of the issuance of bonds and debentures evidencing the City’s obligations under the
Retirement Law and related matters. A judgment was entered in favor of the City validating the issnance of the
Series 1997 Bonds and any subsequent series of bonds issued pursuant to the Master Trust Agreement. See
“APPROVAL OF LEGALITY - Validation Proceedings.”

Continuing Disclosure

The City, for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12 of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, has agreed
pursuant to a Continuing Disclosure Certificate to provide certain financial information and operating data relating
to the City and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events, if material. See “CONTINUING
DISCLOSURE” and APPENDIX F — “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE.”

Financial Statements

The Series 2001 Bonds arc obligations of the City payable from the City’s general revenues, including
amounts held in its General Fund and any other legally available source of funds. The most recent audited General
Purpose Financial Statements of the City, which includes the City’s General Fund, relate to its Fiscal Year ending
June 30, 2000. The audited General Purpose Financial Statements of the City for its Fiscal Year ended June 30,
2000 (excluding the information entitled “Combining and Individual Fund and Account Group Financial Statements
and Schedules™) are included in APPENDIX B. Such Financial Statements have been audited by KPMG LLP,
independent accountants (the “Auditor™), as stated in their report appearing in APPENDIX B. A complete copy of
the City’s General Purpose Financial Statements for Fiscal Year 2000 may be obtained upon request to the City’s
Treasury Manager at (510) 238-3201. The City has not requested, nor has the Auditor given, the Auditor’s consent
to the inclusion in APPENDIX B of its report. The Auditor has not reviewed this Official Statement nor performed
any procedures subsequent to rendering its opinion on such Financial Statements.

Miscellaneous

The descriptions herein of the Trust Agreement and any other agreement relating to the Series 2001 Bonds
do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive. All references herein to the Trust Agreement are qualified in their
entirety by reference to the definitive form thereof, all references to laws are qualified in their entirety by reference
to the complete text of the laws, all references to the Series 2001 Bonds are qualified by the form thereof contained
in the Trust Agreement, and all such references are further qualified in their entirety by laws and principles of equity
relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights against cities in California and of creditors’ generally.

Copies of the Trust Agreement are available from the Underwriters until initial issuance of the Series 2001
Bonds and thereafter may be obtained by contacting the Trustee.

The presentation of information herein, including tables of receipts of revenues and other financial
information, is intended to show recent historic information and is not intended to indicate future or continuing
trends in the financial position or affairs of the City. No representation is made that past experience, as it might be
shown by such financial or other information, will necessarily continue or be repeated in the future.




PLAN OF FINANCE

The City under its Charter established The Police and Fire Retirement System (the “Retirement System” or
“PFRS™), which provides pension and other benefits to certain members of its Police and Fire Departments. See
“CITY POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM.” The City 1s obligated by its Charter to amortize by July 1,
2026 1ts unfunded actuarial accrued liability (“UAAL™) for retirement benefits for members of its Police and Fire
Departments under the Retirement System. Since 1981, the City has annually levied an ad valorem tax to amortize
the UAAL. This tax is referred to in this Official Statement as the “Tax Override” and the proceeds derived from
the collection of this tax are called “Tax Override Revenues.” The Trust Agreement requires the City to use any
legally available revenues (including Tax Override Revenues) to pay debt service on the Bonds. See “SECURITY
AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2001 BONDS.”

On February 25, 1997, the City issued its Series 1997 Bonds which were used: (1) to pay a Debenture that
was issued by the City to PFRS, which Debenture evidenced a portion of the City’s then existing UAAL to PFRS,
(2} to pay a portion of the City’s normal contribution to PFRS for its Fiscal Year 1997; and (3) to pay costs of
issuance of the Series 1997 Bonds. In return for the payments described in (1) (the “1997 Payment”), PFRS agreed
in a Funding Agreement, dated as of June 1, 1996 (the “Funding Agreement”), between the City and PFRS, that the
City will not be required to make any further payments to PFRS for UAAL through June 30, 2011.

The issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds is part of a plan of finance being undertaken by the City to permit
annual debt service on the Bonds to be paid from the annual amounts of Tax Override Revenues anticipated by the
City to be received and to minimize the need for the City to use other revenues to pay such debt service. As part of
this plan, the City has extended an “Invitation to Tender Bonds for Cash,” dated August 31, 2001 (the “Invitation™),”

to the holders of the Series 1997 Bonds to tender a portion of the Series 1997 Bonds for purchase by the City for
cancellation.

The City will use proceeds from the Series 2001 Bonds: (a) to pay the purchase price of the Series 1997
Bonds, which the City has determined to purchase and cancel in connection with the Tnvitation and (b) to legally
defease a portion of the Series 1997 Bonds by purchasing Government Obligations to be held by the Trustee, acting
as the Escrow Agent (see “VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS™); and (c) to pay costs of
1ssuance of the Series 2001 Bonds. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.” As a result of such
purchase and defeasance, annual debt service through 2010 on the Bonds will be reduced on an annual basis, but
total debt service on the Bonds will increase because the final maturity date for the Bonds will be extended from
2010 to 2022.

The City Charter requires PFRS to obtain an actuarial valuation of the UAAL every three years and the
current policy of PFRS is to obtain such valuation every two years. Based upon future actuarial evaluations of the
UAAL, PFRS will determine the annual payments, if any, beginning after June 30, 2011, which the City is obligated
by the Retirement Law to make to amortize the UAAL, if any, by 2026. There can be no assurance that after
June 30, 2011 the aggregaie of the (i) annual debt service on the Bonds and (ii) any annual payment required by the
Retirement Law to amortize the UAAL, will be less than the annual Tax Override Revenues.

CITY POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM

The information in this section has been included to provide certain information concerning the Retirement
System. See also APPENDIX A - “CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF OAKLAND -
Retirement Programs” and Notes (2) and (16) in “Notes to Audited Financial Statements” included in APPENDIX B
- “EXCERPTED CITY AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, JUNE 30, 2000”

Neither the Retirement System nor its assets are obligated for the payment of debt service on the Bonds.

The Retirement System is established pursuant to the Retirement Law and is a defined benefit pension
system for the members of the City’s Police and Fire Departments hired prior to July 1, 1976. The Retirement
System 1s now closed; no new members can join PFRS. As of June 30, 2001, the Retirement System covered 144
current employees and 1,482 retired employees. PFRS provides for the payment of retirement allowances and



disability and death benefits to its members and their beneficiaries. PFRS is governed by a seven member Police
and Fire Retirement Board (the “Retirement Board™), which controls the operation, investment and disbursement of
the Retirement System’s funds. The proceeds from the 1997 Payment were invested as directed by the Retirement
Board and limited by the City Charter. PFRS is subject to federal and California law and the Retirement Board has
discretion to invest plan assets under the prudent person standard of the City Charter Article XX V1, the California
Constitution and other applicable law. PFRS has a stated investment objective to maintain the purchasing power of
the principal of PFRS investments over the long term.

The most recent actuarial valuation of PFRS was as of July 1, 2000 and was contained in a report, dated
February 15, 2001, from the Retirement System’s independent actuary. That report indicated the Actuarial Value of
Assets of PFRS exceeded the Projected City Liability {as defined in such report) by approximately $21 million,
which resulted in a Funded Ratio (defined as Actuarial Value of Assets divided by Projected City Liability) of
102%. When the Funded Ratio exceeds 100%, the City has no UAAL as of the date of such actuarial valuation.
The actuanial evaluations of the PFRS as of July 1 of 1998, 1996, and 1994 made by PFRS’s indeperdent actuary
reported the Funded Ratios as of such dates to be 105%, 36% and 31%, respectively.

In November, 2000, the voters of the City amended the Charter to give active members of the Retirement
System the option to terminate their membership and transfer to the California Public Employees’ Retirement
System (“PERS”) upon certain conditions, including a requirement that the Retirement Board authorize a transfer to
PERS of funds held by the Retirement System representing City and employee contributions to the Retirement
System for each member who exercises such option to transfer. As part of its planning for such transfers, the
Retirement Board requested its independent actuary to do an interim estimate of the Funded Ratio. In a report dated
May 24, 2001, the Retirement System’s independent actuary estimated the Funded Ratio as of June 30, 2001 to be
96%, meaning that as of such date, the Projected City Liability exceeded the Actuarial Value of Assets by $32
million, which was the estimated UAAL of the City as of such date. The deadline for active members of PFRS
electing to transfer to PERS has expired and approximately 103 have elected to transfer. In conjunction with
implemenung these transfers, the City anticipates that the Retirement Board: (a) will obtain from its independent
actuary a new interim estimate of the Funded Ratio based upon the number of transfers and other circumstances
existing at that time, and (b) will transfer funds from the Retirement System to PERS to maintain the Funded Ratio
as shown in such new estimate.

As noted above, actuarial valuation of the Funded Ratio of the Retirement System and the amount of the
UAAL of the City have changed, and will continue to change, to the extent actual experience differs from the
assumptions used by the independent actuary of the Retirement System in making its valuations. Various factors
affecting the Retirement System could result in an increased (or decreased) UAAL obligation of the City as of any
particular future actuarial valuation date of the Retirement System. Those factors include, among others, investment
earnings of the System, cost of living adjustments, changes in the Retirement Law, changes in benefit levels,
mortality experience and wage increases. It is not possible to know what annual payments the City will be required
to make by the Retirement Law for UAAL after June 30, 2011 (the date on which the City must under the Funding
Agreement resume payments with respect to the UAAL).

In addition, the annual contributions of the City for active members of the Retirement System who transfer
to PERS will be determined by PERS and will be paid by the City from its general funds and is not anticipated to be
paid by the City from Tax Override Revenues.

THE SERIES 2001 BONDS

General

All the Series 2001 Bonds will be Capital Appreciation Bonds and no payments will be made with respect
to the Series 2001 Bonds prior to the respective maturity dates thereof. The Series 2001 Bonds will be issued in
iniial Denominational Amounts which will have an Accreted Value of each Bond on the stated maturity date thereof
(the “Maturity Amount”) of $5,000 or an integral multiple thereof. The Series 2001 Bonds of each maturity will be
issued in the initial Denominational Amounts, will accrete in value from their date of delivery at the Accreted Value
Rate (yield to maturity) and will mature on the dates, all as indicated on the inside front cover of this Official
Statement, compounded semi-annually at the Accreted Value Rate on June 15 and December 15 of each year,




commencing December 15, 2001, until maturity. Such compounding will be calculated on the basis of a year of 360
days comprised of twelve 30-day months, and the Accreted Value shall be payable only at maturity. The Accreted
Value on any date other than June 15 and December 15 of any year shall be calculated by straight-line interpolation.
A Table of Accreted Values (as of June 15 and December 15) of the Series 2001 Bonds of each maturity per $5,000
stated Maturity Amount is attached hereto as APPENDIX H. Such Table is presented for illustrative purposes only.
Any Accreted Value determined in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement shall control over any
different Accreted Value determined by reference to such Table.

The Series 2001 Bonds will be on a parity with the Series 1997 Bonds. See “SECURITY AND SOURCE
OF PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2001 BONDS”,

The Series 2001 Bonds will be executed and delivered in fuily registered form, initially registered in the
name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). Individual
purchases of Series 2001 Bonds will be made in book-entry-only form and purchasers will not receive physical
delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds. Payment of the Maturity Amounts on the Series 2001 Bonds will be made by the
Trustee to Cede & Co., as nomince for DTC, as registered owner of the Series 2001 Bonds, to be subsequently
disbursed by DTC to its participants and thereafter to the beneficial owners of the Series 200! Bonds, all as further
described in APPENDIX G —"DTC Book-Eniry System.” Purchasers in Europe may hold beneficial interests in the
Series 2001 Bonds through Clearstream, Luxembourg, or through Euroclear, as described in APPENDIX 1
“Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear”

Redemption

The Series 2001 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to their respective stated maturity dates.

Additional Bonds

The City is permitted under the Trust Agreement to issue at any time Additional Bonds in any principal
amount secured under the Trust Agreement by Pledged Revenues on a parity with the Series 2001 Bonds and Series
1997 Bonds.

The City may also issue at any time, without any limit imposed by the Trust Agreement, general obligation
bonds or other evidences of indebtedness or liabilities payable on a parity with the Bonds from the general revenues
of the City (excluding Tax Override Revenues).

Power of the Bond Insurer to Consent te Amendments of the Trust Agreement

The Bond Insurer may consent, upon behalf of the Holders of the Series 2001 Bonds, to certain
amendments to the Trust Agreement without the consent of or notice to the owners of the Series 2001 Bonds so long
as the Bond Insurer has not lost its right to consent under the Trust Agreement and regardless of the current ratings
on the bonds insured by the Bond Insurer or the effect of any such action or amendment on the ratings on the Series
2001 Bonds. See APPENDIX C - “SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS - Execution of
Supplemental Trust Agreements; Modification of the Trust Agreement” and “-Provisions Relating to Series 2001
Bond Insurer and Bond Insurance Policy.” Such amendments could result in the modification, waiver or removal of
existing covenants or restrictions contained in the Trust Agreement. The Bond Insurer shall have sole discretion as
to whether to consent to any proposed amendment, and shall incur no liability to any owner of a Sertes 2001 Bonds
in connection with granting any such consent.

SECURITY AND SOURCE OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2001 BONDS

The obligation of the City to make payments with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds, the Series 1997 Bonds
and any Additional Bonds is an obligation of the City imposed upon the City by law. Such obligation is enforceable
against the City pursuant to the Trust Agreement, a procedural ordinance and resolutions adopted on July 24, 2001
and September 18, 2001 by the City Council authorizing issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds and is payable from any



legally available source of funds of the City. Payment of the principal of, interest on and redemption price, if any,
on the Bonds is not limited to any special source of funds.

The assets of the Retirement System are not available for payment of the Bonds and the Bonds do not
constitute an obligation of the Retirement System.

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the City has covenanted that, so long as any Bonds are Outstanding, the
City will annually levy and collect the Tax Override (up to the maximum tax rate permitted by law, described
below) in each Fiscal Year (whether or not the UAAL is amortized prior to the final maturity of the Bonds) in an
amount that the City expects will be sufficient, together with the other amounts legally available to the City and on
hand and amounts budgeted by the City in such Fiscal Year and expected to be available, to pay principal of, interest
on and the redemption price, if any, on the Bonds. The “Tax Override Revenues” are defined in the Trust
Agreement as the revenues generated and collected by the City as proceeds of its annual tax levy authorized by
Measure R and Measure O. Mecasure R was enacted by the voters of the City on June 8, 1976, and amended certain
provisions of the City Charter establishing the Retirement Law and reguired the City to amortize the UAAL by the
year 2016. Beginning in 1981, the City Council levied the Tax Override to fund the UAAL. On June 7, 1988, the
voters of the City adopted Measure O by a 71% vote. Measure O extended the period for amortizing the UAAL by
10 years fo 2026.

The City has pledged the Tax Override Revenues, as provided in the Trust Agreement and as described in
this paragraph, for the payment of the Bonds in each Fiscal Year. The City has pledged and assigned to the Trustee
and granted to the Trustee, in the Master Trust Agreement, a lien on and security interest in all right, title and
interest of the City in and to the Tax Override Revenues levied and coltected in each Fiscal Year to secure the
payment of principal of and interest on and the redemption price of Bonds due and payable in such vyear, and has
provided therein that such lien and security interest shall be prior in right to any other pledge, lien or security interest
creaied by the City in the Tax Override Revenues as and to the extent therein provided. In the Master Trust
Agreement, the City has covenanted that the Tax Override Revenues levied and collected in each Fiscal Year shall
be pledged and applied to pay principal of and interest on and the redemption price of the Bonds in such Fiscal Year.
The Master Trust Agreement further provides that, to the extent that, commencing on June 30, 1998 and on June 30
of each Fiscal Year thereafier during the term of any Bonds Outstanding thereunder, any surplus amount of Tax
Override Revenues remains on deposit in the Pledged Revenues Fund after payment of all principal of and interest
on and the redemption price of the Bonds during such Fiscal Year, such amounts may be applied on and afier July 1
of the next succeeding Fiscal Year for any lawful purpose of the City, at the written direction of the City to the
Trustee.

The Trust Agreement requires the City to deposit all Tax Override Revenues into the Tax Override
Revenue Account in the General Fund held by the City. The City is further required, on or before August 1 of each
year, to deposit with the Trustee an aggregate amount, from its legally available revenues (including, but not limited
to, the Tax Override Revenues held in the Tax Override Revenues Account of the City), sufficient 1o pay all
principal and interest due on all the Bonds on the next succeeding December §5 and June 15. If this deposit is made
by August 1 of each year, then the Trust Agreement imposes no further limitations upon the City’s use of Tax
Override Revenues held in the Tax Override Revenue Account of the City. See APPENDIX C - “SUMMARY OF
PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS — Establishment of Funds Relating To the Series 2001 Bonds and Application
Thereof” and “~Covenants of the City.”

The determination by the City Council in any year of the amount of the tax levy rate for the Tax Override
may be subject to a variety of factors, including the amount of other City revenues, the prevailing levels of property

taxation within the City, the assessed valuation of property in the City and political considerations and policies of
the City Council at the time of the levy.

In 1982, a taxpayer filed a lawsuit challenging the Tax Override as violating Article XIII A of the
California Constitution and arguing the Tax Override was not indebtedness which had been approved by the voters
prior to July 1, 1978, as required by Article XIIT A. That challenge was rejected in 1983 by the Court of Appeal,
First Appeliate District, in Valentine v. City of Oakland. The Valentine Court concluded that the obligation of the
City to fund its contributions to the Retirement System constituted indebtedness which had been approved by the
voters in 1976 when they adopted Measure R. The Court also rejected the challenge that the voters must approve




the specific tax levied to pay the indebtedness to the Retirement System because the City Council, under the City’s
home rule power as a charter city, had the legal authority to levy the Tax Override. In a validation action filed in the
Alameda County Superior Court prior to the issuance of the Series 1997 Bonds, the Court determined that the City
may use the Tax Override Revenues to pay principal of, interest on, and the redemption price, if any, on the Bonds.
See “APPROVAL OF LEGALITY — Validation Proceedings™.

State legislation enacted in 1985 limits the rate of the levy of the Tax Overnde to the rate levied by the City
in Fiscal Year 1983 or 1984, which was 0.1575%. In addition, the tax levy rale may be affected by other existing
and future statutory and constitutional limitations on taxes and appropriations, which may limit tax levy rates or
otherwise have an adverse effect on the taxing or spending powers of the City. For example, Proposition 218 {as
defined herein), approved by the voters of the State of California on November 5, 1996, enacted constitutional
provisions resiricting imposition of special taxes by cities and other local governmental agencies. Proposition 218
may also limit the ability of the City to increase the tax levy rate for the Tax Override above its current level, or
permit voters to reduce such tax levy rate, or may otherwise adversely affect the levy of the Tax Overnde. See
“RISK FACTORS - Legal Limits on City’s Revenues” and “CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY
LIMITATIONS ON TAXES AND APPROPRIATIONS.”

For Fiscal Year 2001-02, the City Council has levied the Tax Override at a rate of 0.1575% of property
assessed value and has budgeted collection of Tax Qverride Revenues in the amount of $36.3 millien. The City
levied the Tax Override in each of the last 10 Fiscal Years of the City at this 0.1575% rate. During Fiscal Years
1998, 1999 and 2000, debi service on the Series 1997 Bonds exceeded Tax Override Revenues and the City paid the
difference from its general funds. The amount of Tax Override Revenues and the annual growth rate of such
Revenues for the last 10 Fiscal Years are shown in the following table:

Fiscal Year
(June 30) Tax Overmide Revenues Annual Growth Rate
1991-1992 $21,953,455
1992-1993 23,333,426 6.3%
1993-1994 24,811,768 6.3
1994-1995 26,400,207 6.4
1995-1996 26,833,106 1.6
1996-1997 27418768 2.2
1997-1998 27,969,698 2.0
1998-1999 31,990,058 4.4
1999-2000 32,592 447 1.9
2000-2001 36,634,556 (unaudited) 124

Source: City of Oakland Financial Services Agency

See “RISK FACTORS — Changes in Amount of Revenues To Pay Bonds” for a discussion of the City’s
collections of Tax Override Revenues.

The City makes no representation as to its legal ability or intention to raise the levy rate for the Tax
Override above 0.1575%. For a discussion of the City’s legal ability to raise such levy rate, see “RISK FACTORS —
Legal Limitations on City’s Revenue.” As discussed above, the City has no obligation under the Trust Agreement to
levy the Tax Override in any Fiscal Year to the extent other legally available revenues are on hand or budgeted by
the City in such Fiscal Year and expected by the City to be available for the payment of the Bonds. The City has
covenanted in the Master Trust Agreement to take such action as may be necessary to include all Payments (to the
extent such Payments are known to the City at the time its annual budget is proposed) due thereunder in its annual
budget and to make the necessary annual appropriations thetefor, and to maintain such items to the extent unpaid for
that Fiscal Year in its budget throughout such Fiscal Year. In any year in which the Tax Override is not levied or is
levied at a lower rate, the City is required to pay debt service on the Bonds from any other legally available source
of revenue of the City.



THE SERIES 2001 BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A DEBT OF THE CITY OR THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY
CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY DEBT LIMITATION OR RESTRICTION.

GENERAL CITY INFORMATION

Located in the County of Alameda on the east side of the San Francisco Bay, the City is approximately
seven miles from San Francisco via the San Francigeo-Oakland Bay Bridge. The City is composed of industrialized
lands bordering the Bay in the west and suburban foothills in the east. Historically the industrial heart of the Bay
Area, the City has developed into a financial, commercial and governmental center. The City is the hub of an
extensive transportation network that includes a freeway system and the western terminals of major railroads and
trucking firms, as well as one of the largest container ship ports in the United States. The City is served by an
expanding international airport and rapid-transit lines that connect it with most of the Bay Area. The City is the seat
of government for Alameda County and is the eighth most populous city in the State with an estimated population
on Jan. 1, 2001 of 409,300. For Fiscal Year 2001-2002, the City’s budget is $818 million.

The City is a municipal corporation and charter city organized and existing under the Constitution and laws
of the State. It was incorporated as a town in 1832 and as a city in 1854. The City became a charter city in 1889,
The Charter provides for the election, organization, powers and duties of the legislative branch, known as the City
Council; the powers and duties of the executive and administrative branches; fiscal and budgetary matters, personnel
administration, franchise, licenses, permits, leases and sales; employee’s pension funds; and the creation and
organization of the Port of Oakland. The City’s charter was amended on November 3, 1998 through the approval of
ballot Measure X by the voters. This amendment created the Mayor-Council form of government, provided a two-

term limit for the mayor, instituted a requirement of voter approval for increases to City Council compensation, and
provided for the election of the City Attorney.

For additional information concerning the City, its government, its financial affairs and its investment
policy, see APPENDIX A — “CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF OAKLAND” and
APPENDIX B - “EXCERPTED CITY AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, JUNE 30, 2000.”

THE BOND INSURER AND THE BOND INSURANCE POLICY

The following information has been furnished by MBIA Insurance Corporation, the Bond Insurer, for use in
this Official Statement. No representation is made by the City as to the accuracy or adequacy of the following
information or as to the absence of material adverse changes in that information subsequent to the date of such
information. For a specimen of the Bond Insurance Policy, see Appendix F.

The following information discusses redemptions and other accelerations of payment of debt service. The
Series 2001 Bonds are not subject to redemption and their payment is not subject to acceleration.

The MBIA Insurance Corperation Bond Insurance Policy

The Bond Insurer’s Bond Insurance Policy unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the full and
compiete payment required to be made by or on behalf of the City to the Trustee, as Paying Agent, or its successor,
of an amount ¢qual to (i) the principal of (either at the stated maturity or by an advancement of maturity pursuant to
a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the Series 2001 Bonds as such payments shall become due but
shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of the due date of such principal by reason of
mandatory or optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other than any advancement
of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed by the Bond Insurer’s policy
shall be made in such amounts and at such times as such payments of principal would have been due had there not
been any such acceleration), and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered from
any owner of the Series 2001 Bonds pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such

payment constitutes an avoidabie preference to such owner within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law (a
“Preference™).




The Bond Insurer’s Bond Insurance Policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which
may at any time be payable with respect to any Series 2001 Bonds. The Bond Insurer’s Bond Insurance Policy does
not, under any circumstance, insure against loss relating to: (i) optional or mandatory redemptions (other than
mandatory sinking fund redemptions); (ii) any payments to be made on an accelerated basis; (ii1) payments of the
purchase price of Series 2001 Bonds upon tender by an owner thereof; er (iv) any Preference relating to (i) through
(iii) above. The Bond Insurer’s Bond Insurance Policy also does not insure against nonpayment of principal of or
interest on of the Series 2001 Bonds resulting from the insolvency, negligence or any other act or omission of the
Paying Agent or any other paying agent for the Series 2001 Bonds.

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by
registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by the Bond Insurer
from the Trustee, as Paying Agent or any owner of a Series 2001 Bond the payment of an insured amount for which
is then due, that such required payment has not been made, the Bond Insurer on the due date of such payment or
within one business day afier receipt of notice of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds,
in an account with State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., in New York, New York, or its successor, sufficient
for the payment of any such insured amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such Serics
2001 Bonds or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the Series 2001 Bonds, together with any
appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment of the insured amounts due on the Series 2001
Bonds as are paid by the Bond Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of the Bond Insurer as
agent for such owners of the Series 2001 Bonds in any legal proceeding related to payment of insured amounts on
the Series 2001 Bonds, such instruments being in a form satisfactory 1o State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A.,
State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A. shall disburse to such owners or the Paying Agent payment of the
insured amounts due on such Series 2001 Bonds, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such
insured amounts and legally availabie therefor.

MBIA Insurance Corporation

The Bond Insurer is the principal operating subsidiary of MBIA Inc., a New York Stock Exchange listed
company (the “Company”). The Company is not obligated to pay the debts of or claims against the Bond Insurer.
The Bond Insurer is domiciled in the State of New York and licensed to do business in and subject to regulation
under the laws of all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Commonwealth of
the Northern Mariana Islands, the Virgin Islands of the United States and the Territory of Guam. The Bond Insurer
has two European branches, one in the Republic of France and the other in the Kingdom of Spain. New York has
laws prescribing minimum capital requirements, limiting classes and concentrations of investments and requiring the
approval of policy rates and forms. State laws also regulate the amount of both the aggregate and individual risks
that may be insured, the payment of dividends by the Bond Insurer, changes in control and transactions among
affiliates. Additionally, the Bond Insurer is required to maintain contingency reserves on its liabilities in certain
amounts and for certain periods of time.

The Bond Insurer does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official
Statement or any information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the
accuracy of the information regarding the Bond Insurance Policy and the Bond Insurer set forth under the heading
“BOND INSURANCE”. Additionally, the Bond Insurer makes no representation regarding the Series 2001 Bonds
or the advisability of investing in the Series 2001 Bonds.

The Financial Guarantee Insurance Policies of the Bond Insurer, including the Bond Insurance Policy, are
not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Security Fund specified in Article 76 of the New York Insurance
Law.

Additional Information About the Bond Insurance

The following documents filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission are
incorporated herein by reference:

() The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.
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{2) The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001.
3) The report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on January 30, 2001.

Any documents filed by the Company pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act
after the date of this Official Statement and prior to the termination of the offering of the securities offered hereby
shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Official Statement and to be a part hereof. Any statement
contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, or contained in this Official
Statement, shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this Official Statement to the extent that a
statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be
incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. Any such statement so modified or
superseded shall not be decmed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Official Statement.

The Company files annual, quarterly and special reports, information statements and other information with
the SEC under File No. 1-9583. Copies of the SEC filings (including (1) the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, (2) the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2001, and (3) the report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on January 30, 2001) are available
(i) over the Internet at the SEC’s web site at http://www.sec.gov; (ii} at the SEC’s public reference room in
Washington D.C.; (iii) over the Internet at the Company’s web site at http://www.mbia.com: and (iv} at no cost,

upon request to MBIA Insurance Corporation, 113 King Street, Armonk, New York 10504. The telephone number
of MBIA is (914) 273-4545.

As of December 31, 2000, the Bond Insurer had admitted assets of $7.6 billion (audited), total liabilities of
$5.2 billion (andited), and total capital and surplus of $2.4 billion (audited) determined in accordance with statutory
accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities. As of June 30, 2001, the Bond
Insurer had admitted assets of $8.1 billion (unaudited), total liabilities of $5.8 billion (unaudited), and total capital
and surplus of $2.3 billion (unaudited) determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by insurance regulatory authorities.

Financial Strength Ratings of the Bond Insurer
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. rates the financial strength of the Bond Insurer “Aaa.”

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., rates the financial
strength of the Bond Insurer “AAA”

Fitch, Inc. rates the financial strength of the Bond Insurer “AAA.”

Each rating of the Bond Insurer should be evaluated independently. The ratings reflect the respective rating
agency’s current assessment of the creditworthiness of the Bond Insurer and its ability to pay claims on its policies
of insurance. Any further explanation as to the significance of the above ratings may be obtained only from the
applicable rating agency.

The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the Series 2001 Bonds, and such ratings
may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies. Any downward revision or withdrawal
of any of the above ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2001 Bonds. The Bond
Insurer does not guaranty the market price of the Series 2001 Bonds nor does it guaranty that the ratings on the
Series 2001 Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn.

In the event the Bond Insurer were to become insolvent, any claims arising under a policy of financial
guaranty insurance are excluded from coverage by the California Insurance Guaranty Association, established
pursuant to Article 14.2 (commencing with Section 1063) of Chapter 1 of Part 2 of Division 1 of the California
Insurance Code.
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The proceeds 1o be received from the sale of the Series 2001 Bonds are estimated to be applied as set forth
in the following table:

Sources of Funds

Principal Amount of Series 2001 Bonds $195,636,449.10
Total Sources of Funds $195.636,449.10

Uses of Funds
Purchase and defeasance of Series 1997 Bonds (1) $192,370,590.86
Costs of Issuance (2) $ 2,189,857.76
Underwriters” Discount § 1,076,000.48
Total Uses of Funds $195,636,449.10

(1) See “PLAN OF FINANCE” herein.

(2) Includes legal fees and expenses, tender fees and expenses, printing costs, bond insurance premium and
certain other costs of issuance.

{Balance of page intentionally blank]
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DEBT SERVICE ON BONDS

The following table summarizes the City’s annual debt service obligations on the Series 200! Bonds and
the Series 1997 Bonds to remain outstanding afier the issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds. The final marurity date of
the Series 1997 Bonds is December 5, 2010 and the first payment on Series 2001 Bonds is on December 15, 2011.

Series 1997 Bonds Series 2001 Bonds

Annual
Period Annual Annual Annual Accreted
Ending Principal Interest Principal Value Fotal Annual
June 30 Payment Payment Payment Payment Debt Service
2002 § $14,306,275.50 o= — $14,306,275.50
2003 $10,525,000.00  $13,963,160.50 — — $24,488,160.50
2004  £20,025,000.00 $12,954,214.25 — — $32,979,214.25
2005 $22,420,000.00 $11,533,950.00 — — $33,953,950.00
2006 §25,020,000.00  $9,927,586.00 — — $34,947,586.00
2007  $27,850,000.00 $8,117,615.00 — — $35,967,615.00
2008  §30,920,000.00  $6,091,289.00 — — $37,011,289.00
2009  $34,250,000.00  § 3,832,815.50 — — $38,082,815.50
2010 $37,860,000.00  $1,321,314.00 — — $39,181,314.00
2011*  $40,305,000.00 — — —_ $40,305,000.00
2012 — — $20,859,883 817,515,118 $38,375,000.00
2013 — — $19,923,062 $19,631,938 $39,555,000.00
2014 —_ — $18,881,125 £21,883,875 $40,765,000.00
2015 — — $18,079,004 $23,930,997 $42,010,000.00
2016 -— — 817,210,116 $26,074,884 $43,285,000.00
2017 — — $16,369,435 $28,220,565 $44,590,000.00
2018 — — $15,609,448 $30,315,552 $45,925,000.00
2019 — — $14,887,520 $32,407,480 $47,295,000.00
2020 — — $14,281,275 $34,418,725 $48,700,000.00
2021 — -— $13,692,231 536,447,769 $50,140,000.00
2022 — — $13,172,908 $38,447,092 $51,620,000.00
2023 — — $12,670,442 $40,459,558 $53,130,000.00
TOTALS  $249,175,000.00 $82,048,219.75  $195,636,449.10 $349,753,550.90 $876,613,219.75

* Matunity Amount of Series 1997 Capital Appreciation Bonds.
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RISK FACTORS

The following information should be considered by prospective investors in evaluating the Series 2001
Bonds. It does not purport to be a complete listing of risks and other considerations which may be relevant to an
investment in the Series 2001 Bonds and does not necessarily reflect the relative importance of the various risks.
Potential investors are advised to consider the following factors along with all other information in this Official
Statement in evaluating the Series 2001 Bonds. No payments are due on the Series 2001 Bonds until their maturity
dates, which begin on December 15, 2011 following the final maturity of the Series 1997 Bonds. Events will occur
between now and the maturity dates of the Series 2001 Bonds which cannot now be anticipated. No assurance can
be given that such events and other nisks and considerations will not become material n the future.

Market Volatility of Capital Appreciation Bonds

All Series 2001 Bonds are Capital Appreciation Bonds and no interest or other payments will be made on
any Series 2000 Bond until its maturity date. An investor who purchases a Series 2001 Bond and holds it until
maturity receives an amount equal to the original issuance amount plus the interest that is accrued and compounded
over the life of that Bond at the stated compounding interest rate for that Bond. Investors should recognize that
Capital Appreciation Bonds, such as the Series 2001 Bonds, have historically been subject to greater market
volatility than rraditional municipal bonds that have semiannual interest payments. In addition, an investor who
sells a Series 2001 Bond prior to its maturity at a time when interest rates are higher than when such Bond was
purchased may not receive all the interest that has accrued to that date and thus may realize a loss on the investment.
Prospective purchasers of the Series 2001 Bonds who believe they may have to sell such Bonds prior to maturity
should consider the market risk associated with Capital Appreciation Bonds.

It 15 particularly important for the first-time buyer of capital appreciation bonds to review the suitability of
capital appreciation bonds with a personal broker or qualified financial or tax advisor prior to purchase.

Changes in Amount of Revenues To Pay Bonds

The Series 2001 Bonds, Series 1997 Bonds and any Additional Bonds are payable from any legally
avatlable source of revenues of the City, including its general funds and the Tax Override Revenues. The Trust
Agreement imposes no restrictions on the amount of other obligations or expenditures which are payable by the City
from its general funds nor any restriction on the amount of Additional Bonds that the City may issue.

Since their issuance, the City has paid a portion of the debt service on the Series 1997 Bonds from its
general funds because the amount of annual Tax Override Revenues was less than annual debt service on the Series
1997 Bonds. The City is undertaking this financing to minimize the need in the future for the City to use revenues

other than Tax Override Revenues to pay debt service on the Bonds. There can be no assurance this objective will
be achieved.

The amount of annual Tax Override Revenues available to the City is determined by the rate of the levy of
the Tax Override by the City Council, the assessed valuation of property in the City and the amount of taxes
collected. For discussion of the levy of Tax Override by the City Council, see “SECURITY AND SOURCE OF
PAYMENT OF SERIES 2001 BONDS”. Changes in the City’s assessed valuation have occurred and will continue
to occur while the Bonds are outstanding. The City has experienced substantial increases in Tax Override Revenues
in recent years due to, in part, increases in property tax valuations occurring upon transfers of property. There can
be no assurance that future assessed valuation of the City will increase at rates it has recently experienced and the
assessed valuation could decrease. Economic and other factors beyond the City’s control, such as a general market
decline in land values, reclassification of property to a class exempt from taxation, whether by ownership or use
(such as exemptions for property owned by State and local agencies and property used for qualified educational,
hospital, charitable or religious purposes), or the complete or partial destruction of taxable property caused by
natural or manmade disaster, such as earthquake, flood, fire, terrorist activities, toxic dumping, etc., could cause a
reduction in the assessed value of taxable property within the City and could thereby result in a decrease in the
amount of annual Tax Override Revenues available.
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Legal Limitations on City’s Revenues

There are legal limitations on the ability of the City to increase revenues payable to the General Fund of the
City. The ability of the City to increase ad valorem property taxes (a major source of revenues for cities in
California} is limited pursuant to Article XIIIA of the State Constitution, which was enacted in 1978. In addition, in
1986 California voters approved an initiative statute (Proposition 62) which attempts to limit the imposition of new
or higher taxes by local agencies, including the City. These same legal limitations generally restrict the ability of
cities to increase fees in excess of the reasonable amount needed to provide the service or facilities with respect to
which such fees are charged. An initiative approved by the voters on November 5, 1996 (Proposition 218), further
limits the ability of local governments to raise revenues and grants voters expanded initiative powers to reduce or
repeal property related taxes. See “CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY LIMITATIONS ON TAXES AND
APPROPRIATIONS.”

Legislation enacted in 1985 limits the rate of the levy of the Tax Override to 0.1575%, which is the rate
levied by the City Council in Fiscal Year 1983 and 1984.

Al the same time as limitations have been imposed on the ability of the City to raisc revenues, State and
federally mandated expenditures for justice, health and welfare have increased. At times, the annual increase in
mandated expenditures has exceeded the annual increase in City revenues. In the event the City’s revenue sources
are less than its total obligations, the City could choose to fund other municipal services before paying debt service
on the Bonds and in some cases may be obligated to fund such other services prior to paying debt service.

Limitations on Remedies

The Trust Agreement does not provide for any acceleration of the indebtedness represented by the Bonds in
the event of default by the City in payment of debt service on the Bonds when due. Bondowners would be limited to
enforcement of each defaulted payments as such payments come due. Any such suit for money damages would be
subject to the limitations on legal remedies described below.

The rights of the Bondowners are subject to the limitations on legal remedies against cities in the State,
including a limitation on enforcement of judgments against funds needed to serve the public welfare and interest.
Additionally, enforceability of the rights and remedies of the Bondowners, and the obligations incurred by the City,
may become subject to the following: the Federal Bankrupticy Code and applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally,
now or hereafter in effect; equity principles which may limit the specific enforcement under State law of certain
remedies; the exercise by the United States of America of the powers delegated to it by the Constitution; and the
reasonable and necessary exercise, in certain exceptional situations, of the police powers inherent in the sovereignty
of the State and its governmental bodies in the interest of serving a significant and legitimate public purpose.
Bankruptcy proceedings, or the exercise of powers by the federal or State government, if initiated, could subject the
Bondowners to judicial discretion and interpretation of their rights in bankruptcy proceedings or otherwise, and
consequently may entail risks of delay, limitation, or modification of their rights.

Various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds will be qualified as to

enforceability by limitations imposed by State and federal laws and by bankrupicy, reorganization and other laws
affecting creditors’ rights, including equitable principles.

If the City defaulted in its payment of debt service on the Bonds, the ability of the Bondholders to sue the
City to compel the levy and collection of Tax Override Revenues (assuming the City had not already levied and
collected the Tax Override Revenues at the maximum rate) or to compel the City to provide other revenues for
payment of the Bonds, may be subject to various legal limitations on the ability of the City to raise revenues, in
addition to other legal limitations. See “CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY LIMITATIONS ON TAXES
AND APPROPRIATIONS.”
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Changes in Law

There can be no assurance that the State Legislature will not at some future time, as it has in the past, enact
legislation that will amend or create laws which causc in a reduction of general revenues of the City, which would
reduce moneys available to the City to pay the Bonds. Similarly, the California electorate could adopt initiatives or
the State Legislature could adopt legislation with the approval of the electorate amending the State Constitution, as
they have in the past, in a manner which could have the effect of reducing moneys available to the City to pay the
Bonds.

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS AFFECTING
CITY REVENUES AND APPROPRIATIONS

Article XIH A of the State Constitution

Section 1(a) of Article XIII A of the State Constitution limits the maximum ad valorem tax on real property
10 1% of full cash value (as defined in Section 2 of Article XIII A), to be collected by counties and apportioned
according to law. Section 1(b) of Article XIH A provides that the 1% limitation does not apply to ad valorem taxes
to pay interest or redemption charges on (1) indebtedness approved by the voters prior to July 1, 1978 or (2) any
bonded indebtedness for the acquisition or improvement of real property approved on or after July 1, 1978, by two-
thirds of the votes cast by the voters voting on the proposition or (3) bonded indebtedness incurred by a school
district, community college district or county office of education for the construction, reconstruction, acquisition,
equipping or leasing of school facilities approved by 55% of the voters voting on the proposition. Section 2 of
Article XIII A defines “full cash value” to mean “the county assessor’s valuation of real property as shown on the
1975-76 tax bill under full cash value or, thereafier, the appraised value of real property when purchased, newly
constructed, or a change in ownership has occurred afier the 1975 assessment” (the “Full Cash Value”). The Full
Cash Value may be adjusted annually to reflect inflation at a rate not to exceed 2% per year, or to reflect a change in
the consumer price index or comparabie data for the area under taxing jurisdiction or reduced in the event of
declining property value caused by substantial damage, destruction or other factors. Legislation enacted by the State
Legislature 1o implement Article XIIT A provides that notwithstanding any other law, local agencies may not levy
any ad valorem property tax except to pay debt service on indebtedness approved by the voters as described above.

The 1% property tax is automatically levied by the County of Alameda and distributed according to a
formula among taxing agencies. The formula apportions the tax roughly in proportion to the relative shares of taxes
levied prior to 1979. Increases of assessed valuation resulting from reappraisals of property due to new
construction, change in ownership or from the 2% annual adjustment are allocated among the various jurisdictions in

the “taxing area” based upon their respective “situs.” Any such allocation made to a local agency continues as part
of its allocation in future years.

The voters of the State subsequently approved various measures which further amended Article XTI A.
One such amendment generally provides that the purchase or transfer of (i) real property between spouses or (11) the
principal residence and the first $1,000,000 of the full cash value of other real property between parents and
children, do not constinrte a “purchase” or “change of ownership” triggering reassessment under Article X111 A,
This amendment could serve to reduce the property tax revenues of the City. Other amendments permitted the State
Legislature to allow certain persons over 55 or “severely disabled homeowners™ who sell their residence and buy or

build another of equal or lesser value within two years in the same county, to transfer the old residence’s assessed
value to the new residence.

In the November 1990 election, the voters approved the amendment of Article XIIT A to permit the State
Legislature to exclude from the definition of “new construction” seismic retrofitting improvements or improvements

utilizing earthquake hazard mitigation technologies constructed or installed in existing buildings after November 6,
1990.

Article XIIT A has also been amended to penmit reduction of the “full cash value” base in the event of
declining property values caused by damage, destruction or other factors, provided that there would be no increase
m the “full cash value” base in the event of reconstruction of property damaged or destroyed in a disaster. See
“APPENDIX A - CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF OAKLAND - Property Taxation.”
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Article XIII B of the State Constitution

Article XIII B of the State Constitution limits the annual appropriations of the State and of any city, county,
school district, authority or other political subdivision of the State to the level of appropriations for the prior fiscal
year, as adjusted for changes in the cost of living, population and services for which the fiscal responsibility is
shifted to or from the governmental entity. The initial version of Article XIII B provided that the “base year” for
establishing an appropriations limit was the 1978-79 Fiscal Year, which was then adjusted annually to reflect
changes in population, consumer prices and certain increases in the cost of services provided by these public
agencies. Proposition 111 revised the method for making annual adjustments to the appropriations limit by
redefining changes in the cost of living and in population. It also required that beginning in Fiscal Year 1990-91
each appropriations limit must be recalculated using the actual 1986-87 appropriations limit and making the
applicable annual adjustments as if the provisions of Proposition 111 had been in effect.

Appropriations of an entity of local government subject to Article XIII B include generally authorizations
to expend during a fiscal year the proceeds of taxes levied by or for the entity and the proceeds of State subventions,
exclusive of certain State subventions, refunds of taxes, and benefit payments from retirement, unemployment
insurance and disability insurance funds. “Proceeds of taxes™ include, but are not limited to, ali tax revenues, most
State subventions and the proceeds to the local governmental entity from (1) regulatory licenses, user charges, and
user fees (1o the extent that such proceeds exceed the cost reasonably borne by such entity) and (2} the investment of
tax revenues. Article XIII B permits any government entity to change the appropriations limit by a vote of the
electors in conformity with statutory and constitutional voting effective for a maximum of four years. As amended
by Proposition 111, Article XIII B provides for testing of appropriations limits over consecutive two-year periods.
Article XIII B provides that if a governmental entity’s revenues in any year exceed the amounts permitted to be
spent, the excess must be returned by revising tax rates or fee schedules over the subsequent two years. As amended
by Proposition 98, Article XIII B provides for the payment of a portion of any excess revenues received by the State
to a fund established to assist in financing certain school needs.

Article XIH B does not limit the appropriation of moneys to pay debt service or indebtedness existing or
authorized as of January 1, 1979, or for bonded indebtedness approved thereafter by a vote of the electors of the
issuing entity at an election held for that purpose. Furthermore, in 1990, Article XIII B was amended to exclude
from the appropriations limit “all qualified capital outlay projects, as defined by the Legislature” from proceeds of
taxes. The Legislature has defined “qualified capital outlay project” to mean a fixed asset (including land and
construction) with a useful life of 10 or more years and a value which equals or exceeds $100,000. As a result of

this amendment, the appropriations to pay the lease payments on the City’s long-term general fund lease obligations
are generally exciuded from the City’s appropriations limit.

Statutory Spending Limitations

The Legislature adopted legislation in 1985 to limit the rate of the levy for the Tax Override to the rate
imposed by the City Council in its Fiscal Years 1983 or 1984, during which the levy was at a 0.1575% rate. The
City has complied with this statutory limitation.

A statutory initiative (“Proposition 62™) was adopted by the voters in the State at the November 4, 1986
election which (1) requires that any tax for general governmental purposes imposed by local governmental entities
be approved by resolution or ordinance adopted by two-thirds vote of the governmental agency’s legislative body
and by a majority of the electorate of the governmental entity, (2) requires that any special tax (defined as taxes
levied for other than general governmental purposes) imposed by a local governmental entity be approved by a two-
thirds vote of the voters within that jurisdiction, (3) restricts the use of revenues from a special tax to the purposes or
for the service for which the special tax was imposed, (4) prohibits the imposition of ad valorem taxes on real
property by local governmental entities except as permitted by Article XIII A, (5) prohibits the imposition of
transaction taxes and sales taxes on the sale of real property by local governmental entities and (6) requires that any
tax imposed by a local governmental entity on or after March 1,1985 be ratified by a majority vote of the electorate
within two years of the adoption of the initiative or be terminated by November 15, 1988.

Following its adoption by the voters, various provisions of Proposition 62 were declared unconstitutional at
the appellate court level. On September 28, 1995, however, the California Supreme Court, in Santa Clara County
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Local Transportation Authority v. Guardino, upheld the constitutionality of the portion of Proposition 62 requiring a
two-thirds vote of the electorate in order for a local government or district to impose a special tax and, by
tmplication, upheld a parallel provision requiring a majority vote in order for a local government or district to
impose any general tax. The Guardino decision did not address the question of whether or not Proposition 62 should
be applied retroactively nor whether it applies to charter cities, such as the City. On December 15, 1997, the Court
of Appeal for the State of California, Fourth Appellate District, in McBrearty v. City of Brawley, concluded that
Guardino is to be applied retroactively o require voter approval of previously enacted taxes. On June 4, 2001, the
California Supreme Court concluded in Jarvis Taxpayers Association v. City of La Habra that the three-year statute
of limitations on court challenges to special taxes begins to run from each collection of the tax, not its original
imposition.

In the opinion of the City Artorney, the City should be exempt from the provisions of Proposition 62
because, as a charter city under the California Constitution, it should not be affected by a statutory initiative such as
Proposition 62.

Several questions raised by the Guardino, McBrearty and La Habra decisions remain unresolved.
Proposition 62 provides that if a jurisdiction imposes a tax in violation of Proposition 62, the portion of the one
percent general ad valorem property tax levy allocated to that jurisdiction is reduced by §1 for every $1 in revenue
attributable to the improperly imposed tax for each year that such tax is collected. The practical applicability of this
provision has not been fully determined. Potential future litigation and legislation may resolve some or all of the
issues raised by these decisions.

Article X1HI C and D of the State Constitution

On November 3, 1996, California voters approved an initiative to amend the California Constitution known
as the Right to Vote on Taxes Act (“Proposition 218™). Proposition 218 added Articles XII1 C and XIII D to the
State Constitution, which contain a number of provisions affecting the ability of the City to levy and collect both
existing and future taxes, assessments, fees and charges.

Proposition 218 requires majority voter approval for the imposition, extension or increase of general taxes
and two-thirds voter approval for the imposition, extension or increase of special taxes by a local government, which
is defined to include a charter city. Proposition 218 also provides that any general tax imposed, extended or
increased without voter approval by any local government on or after January 1, 1995 and prior to November 6,

1996 will continue to be imposed only if approved by a majority vote in an election held within two years of
November 6, 1996.

Proposition 218 also extends the initiative power to reducing or repealing local property-related taxes,
assessments, fees and charges. This extension of the initiative power is not limited by the terms of Proposition 218
to impositions after November 6, 1996 and, absent other legal authority, could result in retroactive reduction 1 any
existing taxes, assessments, fees and charges. In addition, Proposition 218 limits the application of assessments,
fees and charges and requires certain existing, new and increased assessments, fees and charges to be submitted to
property owners for approval or rejection, afier notice and public hearing,

The City is not able to predict whether Proposition 218 will be held to be constitutional in the courts or its
application limited in certain respects. If upheld, Proposition 218 could substantially restrict the City’s ability to
raise future revenues, subject existing sources of revenue to reduction or repeal, and increase the City’s costs to hold
elections, calculate fees and assessments, notify the public and defend its fees and assessments in court. If applied
by the courts to the levy for the Tax Override, Proposition 218 could affect the current rate, and any increase in the
rate, of the levy for the Tax Qverride,

Pursuant to Article XIII C, taxes for general govermmental purposes of the City require a majority vote and
taxes for specific purposes, even if deposited in the City’s General Fund, require a two-thirds vote. Further, any
general purpose tax which the City imposed, extended or increased, without voter approval, after December 31,
1994 may continue to be imposed only if approved by a majority vote in an election which must be held within two
years of November 3, 1996. Since December 31, 1994, the City has increased two classes of taxes within its
Business Tax Ordinance, for fircarms and electricity sales. The Firearms Business Tax was enacted after the passage
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of Proposition 218, and was not collected until it was approved by the voters on June 2, 1998. The Electric Business
Tax was enacted prior to the passage of Proposition 218 and was collected for a two-year period. However the
Electric Business Tax was rejected by the voters on November 3, 1998, and the City has discontinued collecting this
tax. The voter approval requirements of Article XIII C reduce the flexibility of the City to raise revenues for its
General Fund, and no assurance can be given that the City will be able to impose, extend or increase taxes in the
future to meet increased expenditure needs.

Article XHI D contains several new provisions making it generally more difficult for local agencies 1o levy
and maintain “assessments” for municipal services and programs. These provisions include, among other things, (i)
a prohibition against assessments which exceed the reasonable cost of the proportional special benefit conferred on a
parcel, (ii) a requirement that the assessment must confer a “special benefit,” as defined in Article XIII D, over and
above any general benefits conferred, and (iii) a2 majority protest procedure which involves the mailing of notice and
a ballot to the record owner of each affected parcel, a public hearing and the tabulation of ballots weighted
according to the proportional financial obligation of the affected property. “Assessment” in Article XIH D is defined
to mean any levy or charge upon real property for a special benefit conferred upon the real property. This would
include maintenance assessments for open space areas, street medians, street lights and parks. If the City were
unable to continue to collect assessment revenues for these programs, the programs might have to be curtailed
and/or funded by amounts in the City’s General Fund. All but one of the City’s assessments is security for bonded
indebtedness, and should be exempt from the provisions of Article XIII D. The remaining assessment is levied by
the Landscape and Lighting Assessment District, which was approved by the citizens through an initiative, and
should be exempt from the provisions of Article XII1 D.

In addition, Article XIII D adds several provisions affecting “fees” and “charges,” defined for purposes of
Article XIII D to mean “any levy other than an ad valorem tax, a special tax, or an assessment imposed by a local
govermment upon a parcel or upon a person as an incident of property ownership, including a user fee or charge for a
property related service.” All new and, after June 30, 1998, existing property-related fees and charges must conform
to requirements prohibiting, among other things, fees and charges which (i) generate revenues exceeding the funds
required to provide the property related service, (ii) are used for any purpose other than those for which the fees and
charges are imposed, (iii) are for a service not actually used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the
property in question, or (iv) are used for general governmental services, including police, fire or library services,
where the service is availabie to the public at large in substantially the same manner as it is to property owners. This
may require the City’s General Fund to forego collecting some or all of the annual amounts it collects from the
City’s enterprise funds. Further, before any property-related fee or charge may be imposed or increased, writien
notice must be given to the record owner of each parcel of land affected by such fee or charge. The City must then
hold a hearing upon the proposed imposition or increase, and if written protests against the proposal are presented by
a majority of the owners of the identified parcels, the City may not impose or increase the fee or charge. Moreover,
except for fees or charges for sewer, water and refuse collection services (these “property related” fee requirements
also do not apply to fees for electrical and gas service, which are not treated as “property related” for purposes of
Article XIII D), no property-related fee or charge may be imposed or increased without majority approval by the
property owners subject to the fee or charge (essentially the same procedure required for approval of assessments)
or, at the option of the local agency, two-thirds voter approval by the electorate residing in the affected area. The
only enterprise funds operated by the City which may be subject to Proposition 218 are the Sewer Enterprise Fund
and Golf Course Fund. The fees and charges of these Funds may be determined to be fees and charges subject to the
initiative power referred to in Article XIII C, as described below. In the event that such fees and charges cannot be
appropriately increased or are reduced pursuant to exercise of the initiative power, the City may have to decide
whether to support any deficiencies in these enterprise funds with moneys from the General Fund or to curtail
service, or both.

Article XIII C also removes many of the limitations on the initiative power in matters of reducing or
repealing any local tax, assessment, fee or charge. No assurance can be given that the voters of the City will not, in
the future, approve an initiative or initiatives which reduce or repeal the Tax Override or other local taxes,
assessments, fees or charges currently comprising a substantial part of the City’s General Fund. “Assessments,”
“fees” and “charges” are not defined in Article XIIT C, and it is unclear whether these terms are intended to have the
same meaning for purposes of Article XIII C as for Article XII D (which are generally property-related, as
described above). If not, the scope of the initiative power under Article XIII C potentially could include the Tax
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Override Revenues and all sources of General Fund moneys not received from or imposed by the federal or State
government or derived from investment income.

The interpretation and application of Proposition 218 will be determined by the courts and it is not possible
to predict with certainty such future court decisions. Further analysis and future judicial interpretations may affect
the City’s estimate of the impact of Proposition 218 on its current General Fund revenues and Tax Override
Revenues.

Further Initiatives

Articles XHI A, XIII B, XTIT C and XHI D and Proposition 62 were each adopted as measures that qualified
for the ballot through California’s initiative process. From time to time other initiative measures could be adopted
which could further affect the City’s revenues or the ability to spend or to increase revenues.

TAX MATTERS

INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2001 BONDS IS NOT EXCLUDABLE FROM GROSS INCOME FOR
FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. In the opinion of Foley & Lardner, San Francisco, California, and
Webster & Anderson, Oakland, California, Co-Bond Counsel under existing law, interest on the Series 2001 Bonds
1s exempt from State of California personal income taxes.

CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

The Series 2001 Bonds will not mature prior to December 15, 2011. The discussion of federal income tax
consequences set forth below is based on current law which could change substantially in the period prior to a
holder’s receipt of the Maturity Amount of 2 Series 2001 Bond.

The following is a summary of certain United States federal income tax consequences of the ownership of
the Series 2001 Bonds as of the date hereof, This summary is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the
“Code™) as well as final, temporary and proposed Treasury regulations and administrative and judicial decisions.
Legislative, judicial and administrative changes may occur, possibly with retroactive effect, that could affect the
accuracy of the statements set forth herein.

This summary does not purpert to address all federal income tax matters that may be relevant to
particular purchasers of the Series 2001 Bonds. For example, it generally is addressed only to original purchasers
of the Series 2001 Bonds, deals only with Series 2001 Bonds held as capital assets within the meaning of Section
1221 of the Code, and does not address tax consequences of holding Series 2001 Bonds that may be relevant to
investors In special tax situations, such as banks, insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in
securities or currencies, Series 2001 Bonds held as a hedge or as part of a hedging, straddle or conversion
transaction, or Bondowners whose “functional currency” (as defined in Code Section 985) is not the United States
dollar.

Persons considering the purchase of Series 2001 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors
concerning the application of United States federal income tax laws, as well as any state, local, foreign or
other tax laws, to their particular situations.

Taxation of Accreted Value

Bondowners may realize taxable gain on the Accreted Value of the Series 2001 Bonds and may be required
to pay federal and state income taxes to the extent of such gain, notwithstanding that no portion of the Accreted
Value of the Series 2001 Bonds is payable unti! the maturity thereof,
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Original Issue Discount

All of the Series 2001 Bonds will be offered and sold at an “issue price” of less than their “stated
redemption price at maturity” (a “Discount Bond™). Each Discount Bond will be issued at an original issue discount
for federal income tax purposes. The “issue price” of a bond generally is the first price at which a substantial
amount of all of the bonds of the same maturity are sold to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar
persons acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers). The “stated redemption price at maturity” is the total
amount of all payments provided by the bond other than “qualified stated interest” payments; qualified stated
interest generally is stated interest that is unconditionally payable at least annually, The Discount Bonds make no

“qualified stated interest” payments; all interest on the Discount Bonds accrues on an original issue discount
method.

Owners of Discount Bonds will be required to include such original issue discount in gross income for
federal income tax purposes as it accrues, in advance of receipt of the cash attributable to such income. Original
issue discount accrues based on a compounded, constant yield to maturity; accordingly, Owners of Discount Bonds
generally will be required to include in income increasingly greater amounts of original issue discount in successive
accrual periods. The annual amount of original issue discount includable in income by the initial Owner of Discount
Bonds will equal the sum of the daily portions of the original issue discount with respect to the Discount Bond for
each day on which such Bondowner held the Discount Bond during the taxable year. Generally, the daily portions
of the original issue discount are delineated by allocating to each day in an accrual pericd the ratable portion of the
original issue discount allocable to such accrual period. The term “accrual period” means any interval of time with
respect to which the accrual of original issue discount is measured, and which may vary in length over the term of
the Discount Bond provided that each accrual period is no longer than one year and each scheduled payment of
principal or interest occurs at the beginning or end of an accrual period. The amount of original issue discount
allocable to an accrual period will be the product of the “adjusted issue price” of the Discount Bond at the
commencement of such accrual period and its “yield to maturity.” The “adjusted issue price” of the Discount Bond
at the beginning of the first accrual period is its issue price, and, on any day thereafter, it is the sum of the issue and
the amount of the original issue discount previously includable in the gross income of any Bondowner. The “yield
to maturity” of the Discount Bond is the discount rate that, when used in computing the present value of all amounts
payable on the maturity date of the Discount Bond, produces an amount equal to the issue price of the Discount
Bond. The yield must be constant over the term of the Discount Bond and, when expressed as a percentage, must be
calculated to at least two decimal places. If all accrual periods are of equal length except for an initial or an initial
and final shorter accrual period(s), the amount of original issue discount allocable to the initial period may be
computed using any reasonable method; the original issue discount allocable to the final accrual period is the
difference between the amount payable at maturity and the adjusted issue price at the beginning of the final accrual
period.

Defeasance

The Trust Agreement and Second Supplemental Trust Agreement permit legal defeasance of the Bonds.
See “APPENDIX C - SUMMARY OF LEGAL DOCUMENTS - Defeasance.” Under existing law, Bonds that are
legally defeased would be treated as retired at the time of the defeasance for federal income tax purposes, even if the
Bonds are not otherwise modified. Under existing law, Owners of any such defeased Bonds would be treated for
federal income tax purposes as if they exchanged their Bonds for new debt instruments, the defeased Bonds. Such a
deemed exchange of the Bonds would have federal income tax consequences for an Owner, possibly including
recognition of gain or loss and acceleration of recognition of “market discount” income.

NON-UNITED STATES HOLDERS -~ CERTAIN TAX CONSEQUENCES

This section describes the tax consequences to a non-United States holder. For purposes of this summary,
the term “non-United States holder” refers to any beneficial owner of Series 2001 Bonds other than a Umited States
holder. A United States holder means a beneficial owner of Series 2001 Bonds that is a citizen or resident of the
United States, a partnership or corporation created or organized in the United States or any State thereof (including
the District of Columbia), or any estate or trust the income of which is subject to United States federal income tax
regardless of its source. In the case of any non-United States holder who is an individual, this discussion assumes
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that such individual was not formerly a United States citizen and was not formerly a resident of the United States for
federal income tax purposes.

A non-United States holder generally will not be subject to United States federal withholding tax with
respect to payments of principal and interest (including original issue discount) on Series 2001 Bonds, provided that
the beneficial owner of the Series 2001 Bonds provides a certification under penalties of perjury as to its status as a
non-United States holder and complies with applicable identification procedures.

Special income tax rules apply to partnerships, estates and trusts, and in certain circumstances certifications
as to foreign status and other matters may be required to be provided by partners and beneficiaries thereof.

In addition, a non-United States holder of a Series 2001 Bond generally will not be subject to United States
federal income tax on any gain realized upon the sale, retirement or other disposition of such Bond, uniess the holder
15 an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more during the taxable year of sale, retirement
or other disposition and certain other conditions are met. If a non-United States holder of a Series 2001 Bond is
engaged in a trade or business in the United States and income or gain from the Series 2001 Bond is effectively
connected with the conduct of such trade or business, the non-United States holder will be exempt from withholding
tax if appropriate certification has been provided, but will generally be subject to regular United States income tax
on such income and gain in the same manner as if it were a United States holder. In addition, if such non-United
States holder is a foreign corporation, it may be subject to a branch profits tax equal to 30 percent of its effectively
connected earnings and profits for the taxable year, subject to adjustments.

Backup withholding and information reporting will not apply to payments of principal and interest, if any,
made to a non-United States holder by the City on a Series 2001 Bond with respect to which the holder has provided
the required certification under penaities of perjury of its mon-United States holder status or has otherwise
established an exemption. Payments on the sale, exchange or other disposition of a Series 2001 Bond by a non-
United States holder effected outside the United States to or through a foreign office of a broker will not be subject
to backup withholding. However, if such broker is a2 United States person, a controlled foreign corporation for
United States tax purposes or a foreign person 50 percent or more of whose gross income 1s derived from its conduct
of a United States trade or business for a specified three-year period, a foreign partnership engaged in a United
States trade or business or in which United States persons hold more than 50 percent of the income or capital
interests, or certain United States branches of foreign banks or insurance companies, information reporting wiil be
required unless the beneficial owner has provided certain required information or documentation to the broker to
establish its non-United States status or otherwise establishes an exemption. Payments to or through the United
States office of a broker will be subject to backup withholding and information reporting unless the holder certifies
under penalties of perjury to its non-United States holder status or otherwise establishes an exemption.

Non-United States holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of United States
federal income tax laws, including information reporting and backup withholding, to their particular situations.

APPROVAL OF LEGALITY
Validation Proceedings

Prior to the issuance of the Series 1997 Bonds, the City brought a validation action in the Superior Court of
Alameda County pursuant to Section 860 et seq. of the California Code of Civil Procedure. The validation action
sought judicial validation of the issuance of Bonds, the procedural ordinance enacted by the City Council
authorizing the issuance of the Bonds, the Debenture evidencing a portion of the City’s obligation under the
Retirement System, the authority to utilize Tax Override Revenues to pay debt service on Bonds and related matters.
A judgment was entered in favor of the City validating the issuance of the Series 1997 Bonds and any subsequent
series of bonds issued pursuant to the Master Trust Agreement and the procedural ordinance authorizing the
issuance of the Bonds. No other validation action seeking approval of the issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds has
been brought. Co-Bond Counsel is unaware of any changes in law or other circumstances that would vitiate the
Judgment in favor of the City in the validation action.
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Opinions of Counsel

Legal matters incident to the issuance and delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds are subject to the approving
opinion of Foley & Lardner, San Francisco, California, and Webster & Anderson, Oakland, California, Co-Bond
Counsel. A complete copy of the proposed form of Co-Bond Counsel opinion is contained in Appendix D hereto,
Certain other matters will be passed upoen for the Underwriters by Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe, LLP, San
Francisco, California, and for the City by the Oakland City Attomey, John Russo, Esq. and by Squire, Sanders &
Dempsey L.L.P., San Francisco, California, Disclosure Counsel to the City. Co-Bond Counsel undertakes no
responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or faimess of the information contained in the Official Statement.

LITIGATION

No litigation is pending or, to the best of the knowledge of the City, threatened, to restrain or enjoin the
issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds, or the execution and delivery of the Trust Agreement, or the purchase for
cancellation and legal defeasance of the Series 1997 Bonds or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of any
of the foregoing, the Pledged Revenues or any proceedings of the City taken with respect to any of the foregoing.
The City Antorney will render an opinion at the time of original delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds to that effect. The
City is not aware of any litigation pending or threatened questioning its political existence or contesting its ability to
levy the Tax Override or to collect Tax Override Revenues or contesting its ability to pay the Maturity Amount of
the Series 2001 Bonds as required by the Trust Agreement.

The City 15 mvolved in certain hitigation and disputes relating to its operations. Upon the basis of
information presently available, the City Attomey belicves that there are substantial defenses to such litigation and
disputes and that, in any event, any ultimate liability in excess of applicable insurance coverage resulting therefrom
will not materially affect the financial position or results of the operations of the City. See APPENDIX A —
“CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF OAKLAND — Litigation™ herein.

RATINGS
Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”), Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“S&P) and Fitch Investor Services, L.P. (“Fitch”), have given the Series 2001 Bonds
ratings of “Aaa”, “AAA” and “AAA”, respectively, with the understanding that the Bond Insurance Policy will be
issued by MBIA Insurance Corporation with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds.

Moody’s, S&P and Fitch have given the Series 2001 Bonds ratings of “A2”, “A”, and “A”, respectively,
without giving consideration to the Bond Insurance Policy.

Credit ratings reflect the views of the respective rating agencies and any explanation of the significance of
ratings should be obtained directly from the agencies. In order to obtain such ratings, the City furnished 1o the rating
agencies certain information and materials, some of which has not been included in this Official Statement.
Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such information and materials and on their own investigation,
studies and assumptions. There is no assurance that any ratings assigned to the Series 2001 Bonds by any rating
agency will be continued for any given period of time or that they will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by such
rating agency if in its judgment circumstances so warrant. Any such downward change in or withdrawal of the
ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2001 Bonds.

The City expects to furnish to each rating agency such information and materials as it may request. The
City, however, assumes no obligation to furnish requested information and materials, and may issue debt for which a
rating is not requested. The failure to furnish requested information and materials, or the issuance of debt for which
a rating is not requested, may result in the suspension or withdrawal of a rating on the Series 2001 Bonds.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

Pursuant to a Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the City will covenant for the benefit of the holders and
beneficial owners of the Series 2001 Bonds to provide certain financial infermation and operating data relating to
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the City by not later than 210 days after the end of the City’s Fiscal Year (currently June 30) (the “Annual Report™),
commencing in 2002 with the report for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2001, and to provide notices of the
occurrence of certain enumerated events, if material. The Annual Report will be filed by the City with each
Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities Information Repository and with the State Repository, if any. The
notices of material events will be filed by the City with the Municipal Security Rulemaking Board and the State
Repository, if any., The specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Report and the notices of
material events and the text of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate is set forth under the caption APPENDIX F -
“FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE.” A default under the Continuing Disclosure
Certificate will not be an Event of Default under the Trust Agreement. The sole remedy under the Continning
Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of the City to comply will be an action to compel specific
performance. These covenants have been made in order to assist the Underwriters in complying with Rule
15¢2-12(b}(5) of the Securities and Exchange Cornmission.

The City has never failed to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings with regard to
such Rule to provide annual reports or notices of material evens.

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS

The arithmetical accuracy of certain computations included in the schedules provided upon behalf of the
City relating to (a) computation of forecasted receipts of principal and interest on the Government Obligations held
by the Trustee, acting as Escrow Agent under the Escrow Agreement, to legally defease certain Series 1997 Bonds,
and the forecasted payments of principal and interest on the Series 1997 Bonds to be defeased, and (b} the purchase
price of the Series 1997 Bonds being purchased for cancellation by the City was verified by Grant Thorton, LLP.
Such computations were based solely upon assumptions and information supplied upon behalf of the City. Grant
Thornton has restricted its procedures to verifying the arithmetical accuracy of certain computations and has not
made a study or evaluation of the assumptions and information upon which the computations are based and,
accordingly, has not expressed an opinion on the data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions, or the ability to
achieve the forecasted outcome.

UNDERWRITING

The Underwriters (listed on the cover page) have agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase from the
City the Series 200! Bonds described on the cover page of this Official Statement at an aggregate purchase price
equal to $194,560,448.62 and to reoffer such Series 2001 Bonds at the yields to maturity set forth on the inside
cover page hereof. The Series 2001 Bonds may be offered and sold to certain dealers (including dealers depositing
the Series 2001 Bonds into investment trusts) at prices lower than such public offering prices and such prices may be
changed, from time to time, by the Underwriters. The Underwriters’ obligations are subject to certain conditions
precedent, and they will be obligated to purchase all the Series 2001 Bonds if any Series 2001 Bonds are purchased.

Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated is also acting as Dealer Manager for the City’s Invitation and will
receive separate compensation for such services.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Public Financial Management, Inc. (the “Financial Advisor”) has assisted the City In various matters
relating to the planning, structuring and delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds. The Financial Advisor is not obligated
to undertake, and has not undertaken to make, an independent verification or assume responsibility for the accuracy,
completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this Official Statement. Public Financial Management,
Inc., is an independent financial advisory firm and is not engaged in the business of underwriting, trading or
distributing municipal securities,

MISCELLANEOUS

The summaries of the Series 2001 Bonds, the Trust Agreement and laws and documents referred to in this
Official Statement do not purport to be complete. Reference is made to such documents and the text of the laws for
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full and complete statements of their provisions. All statements in this Official Statement involving matters of
opinion, estimates, forecast, projections or the like, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended as such and not
as representations of fact. No representation is made that any such opinions or the like will be realized. The
agreements of the City relating to the Bonds are set forth in the Trust Agreement. This Official Statement is not to
be construed as a contract or agreement between the City and the purchasers or owners of any of the Series 2001

Bonds.

This Official Statement and its distribution have been duly authorized and approved by the City Council of
the City.

CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA

By: /s/ Robert C. Bobb
City Manager

25




APPENDIX A

CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF OAKLAND

General Information

Overview. The City of Oakland (the “City”) is located in the County of Alameda (the “County™) on the
east side of San Francisco Bay, approximately seven miles from downtown San Francisco via the San
Francisco-Oakland Bay Bridge. The City ranges from industrialized lands bordering the Bay on the west to
suburban foothills in the east. Formerly the industrial heart of the Bay Area, the City has developed into a financial,
commercial and governmental center. The City is also the hub of an extensive transportation network which
includes a freeway system and the western terminals of major railroads and trucking firms, as well as one of the
largest container-ship ports in the United States. The City supports an expanding international airport and
rapid-transit lines which connect it with most of the Bay Area. The City is the seat of government for the County
and is the eighth most populous city in the State of California (the “State™).

City Government. The City was incorporated as a town in 1852 and as a city in 1854, and became a charter
city in 1889. The Charter provides for the election, organization, powers and duties of the legislative branch, known
as the City Council; the powers and duties of the executive and administrative branches; fiscal and budgetary
matters, personne} administration, franchise, licenses, permits, leases and sales; employee’s pension funds; and the
creation and organization of the Port of Oakland (the *Port”). The City is governed by an eight-member City
Council, seven of whom are elected by district and one of whom is elected on a city-wide basis. The Mayor is nota
member of the City Council but is the City’s chief elective officer. The Mayor and Council members serve
four-year terms staggered at two-year intervals. The City Attorney is nominated and elected in the same manner, and
for the same ierm, as the Council member-at-Large. The Mayor, subject to confirmation by the City Council,
appoints a City Manager who is responsible for daily administration of City affairs and preparation and submission
of the annual budget under the direction of the Mayor and City Council for the Mayor’s submission to the City
Council.

Subject to civil service regulations, the City Manager appoints City employees except the City Attorney,
City Clerk and City Auditor. The City Clerk is appointed by the City Manager, subject to City Council confirmation.
The City Auditor is elected at the same time as the Mayor. The Director of the Financial Services Agency serves as
the City’s Treasurer and supervises the City’s financial affairs.

The City’s charter was most recently amended through the approval of ballot Measure X by voters on
November 3, 1998. Changes ratified at that time included the creation of the Mayor-Council form of government,
the provision of a two-term limit for the Mayor, the institution of a requirement for voter approval for increases to
City Council compensation, and a provision for the election of the City Attorney.

The City provides a full range of services contemplated by statute or charter, including those functions
delegated to cities under State Jaw. These services include public safety (police and fire), sanitation and
environmental health enforcement, recreational and cultural activities, public improvements, planning, zoning and
general administrative services.

Budget Process. The City’s budget is developed on the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”) basis (modified accrual for governmental funds and accrual for proprietary and pension trust funds}. The
City Charter requires that the City Council adopt a balanced budget by June 30, preceding the start of the fiscal year
on July 1. The City’s budget cycle is a two-year process which promotes long-term decision making, increases
funding stability and allows for greater performance evaluation. In advance of each two-year cycle, the City
Manager and Agency heads conduct internal budget hearings to develop budget proposals for presentation to the
Mayor. Within 60 to 90 days before the end of the prior two-year cycle, the Mayor submits the proposed two-year
budget to the City Council and formal public budget hearings are scheduled. Upon conclusion of the public
hearings, the City Council may make adjustments and/or revisions. The City Council adopts the City’s operating

budget on or before June 30. It contains appropriations for all funds and two-year appropriations for the five-year
Capital Improvements Program.




As part of the two-year budget process, the City has designated specific criteria for mid-cycle (end of year
one) review and/or revisions in Federal and State mandates, significant changes in mid-year revenue projections and
any full cost-covered program changes. Additionally, one-third of any year-one surplus in the General Fund will
roll forward to year two, one-third to programs, and one-third 1o the General Fund balance.

The City Council employs an independent certified public accountant who examines books, records,
mnventories, and reports of all officers and employees who receive, control, handle or disburse public funds, and
those of any other employees or departments as the City Council directs. These duties are performed both annualiy
and upon request. The City’s independent auditor for fiscal years 1998-1999 and 1999-2000 was KPMG Peat, who
will also serve as auditors for fiscal year 2000-2001.

Within a reasonable period following the fiscal year end, the accountant submits the final audit to the City
Council. The City then publishes the financial statements as of the close of the fiscal year.

Investment Policy

The authority to invest the City’s Operating Fund 1s derived from Council Resolution No. 56127 which
delegates to the Director, Financial Services Agency/Treasurer the authority to invest this Operating Fund within the
guidelines of Section 53600 et seq. of Government Code of the State of California (the “Code™). The Code also
directs the City to present an annual investment policy for confirmation to the City Council. The City Council
adopted a policy for Fiscal Year 2001-2002 on July 10, 2001. The Investment Policy is subject to revision at any
time.

The objectives of the Investment Policy are to preserve capital, provide adequate liquidity 1o meet cash
disbursements of the City and reduce overall portfolio risks while maintaining market average rates of return.

Current Investment Portfolio

The City currently maintains approximately $171 million in operating funds, excluding capital, debt service
funds, special revenue funds and pension trust funds. The Operating Fund is broken out by different types of
investment securities and is invested in accordance with the Investment Policy. The composition of these operating
funds, including the average term and days to maturity, s provided below as of July 31, 2001. As of July 31, 2001,
the City maintained approximately 63% of the Operating Fund in investments that mature in one year or less.

CITY OF QAKLAND
Operating Fund
Portfolio Master Summary
July 31, 2001
-~ Yield To Matunty —-
Average
Percent of Term- Days To 360 365

Investments Book Vahie Portfolio Days Mat./Cal! Equivalent  Equivalent
Federal Agency Issues- Coupon $ 76,59242563 4487% 1,435 588 5.594% 5.672%
Money Market 56,310,000.00 32.99 1 1 3925 3.980
Local Agency Investment Funds 26,300,000.00 15.41 1 I 4.665 4.730
Certificates of Deposit 1,500,000.00 0.68 182 154 3.724 3776
Commercial Paper - Discount 9.993.725.00 5.85 6 0 1767 3.820
TOTAL INVESTMENTS $ 170,696,150.63 100.00% 646 266 4.777% 4.843%

Source: City of Oakland Financial Services Agency

Fitch Inc. (“Fitch™) has assigned a managed fund credit rating of “AAA™ and a market risk rating of “V-1+"
to the City Portfolio. Fitch’s managed fund credit ratings are an assessment of the overall credit quality of a fund’s
portfolio. Ratings are based on an evaluation of several factors, including credit quality and diversification of assets



in the portfolio, management strength and operational capabilities. Fitch managed fund market risk ratings are an
assessment of relative market risks and total return stability in the portfolio. Market risk ratings are based on, but
not limited to, analysis of interest rate, derivative, liquidity, spread and leverage risk. Fiich’s managed fund credit
and market risk ratings are based on information provided to Fitch by the City. Fitch does not verify the underlying
accuracy of this information. These ratings do not constitute recommendations to purchase, sell or hold any
security.

Finaneial Obligations

The City has never defaulted on the payment of principal of or interest on any of its indebtedness or lease
obligations.

General Obligation Debt. As of June 30, 2001, the City had outstanding a total of $137,080,000 aggregate
prncipal amount of general obligation bonds. The bonds are general obligations of the City; the City is obligated to
levy ad valorem taxes upon all property that is within the City and which is subject to taxation by the City, for the
payment of principal and interest.

$12,000,000 City of Oakland General Obligation Bonds, Series 1991 A (Measure K} On Movember 9,
1990, 66.8% of the voters passed a measure authorizing the City to issue $60 million in general obligation bonds for
the purposes of acquisition of open space and the rehabilitation, development and expansion of park and recreational
facilities within the City. The 1991A Measure K Bonds were the first series to be issued under this authorization.

On July 25, 2000, maturities from 2003 to 2015 were refunded via Series 2000E, leaving an outstanding balance of
$1.16 million.

$50,000,000 City of Oakland General Obligation Bonds, Series 19924 (Measure I} By a measure passed
on July 15, 1992 by 74.3% of the voters, the City received authorization to issue $50 million general obligation
bonds to be used for enhancement of the City’s emergency response capabilities, and for seismic reinforcement of
infrastructure and essential public facilities.

315,000,000 City of Oakland General Obligation Bonds, Series 1995B (Measure K) The 1995B Measure
K Bonds represent the second series of bonds issued under the 1990 authorization of Measure K. Bond proceeds
were being used for the purchase of Vista Madera Stables, construction of the West Oakland Senior Center, Chinese
Gardens, Tassaforanga Gym and Woodminster Cascades, maintenance and improvements at the Oakland Museum
and Raimondi Field, and the Qakland Zoo.

$22,250,000 City of Oakland General Obligation Bonds, Series 1997C (Measure K) The 1997C Measure
K Bonds are the third series of bonds issued under the 1990 Measure K authorization. These bonds have been used
for open space acquisition, Oakland Zoo development projects and other site development projects.

845,420,000 City of Oakland General Obligation Bonds, Series 19974 (Measure ) On November 5, 1996,
the ¢lectorate authonized this bond issue by a 77.6% vote, for the purpose of financing life enrichment improvements
on various City-owned properties. These improvements include the repair, construction, acquisition and
improvement of certain libraries, recreation centers and playing fields, the Oakland Zoo, the Qakland Museum and
the Chabot Observatory Space and Science Center.

$10,750,000 City of Oakland General Obligation Bonds, Series 2000D (Measure K) The 2000D Measure
K Bonds are the fourth series of bonds issued under the 1990 Measure K authorization and completes the entire
series. These bonds will be used to expand, develop, and rehabilitate park and recreational facilities.

39,000,000 City of Oakiand General Obligation Bonds, Series 2000E (Measure K) The 2000E Measure K
Bonds are the fifth series of bonds issued under the 1990 Measure K authorization. These bonds were used to
refund a portion of Series 1991 A issued under the same authorization.




Short-Term Oblications.

The City implemented a short-term financing program in 1981 to finance general fund temporary cash flow
deficits during the fiscal vear (July 1 through June 30). The City has 1ssued short-term notes for each of the last 11
Fiscal Years, including the issuance of $63,000,000 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes for the Fiscal Year ended
June 30, 2002. The City has never defaulted on the payment of any of these notes.

Lease Obligations.

¥52,300,000 Variable Rate Demand Certificates of Participation (Certain Capital Improvement Projects),
1985 Series On December 1, 1985, the City entered into various simultancous agreements to finance the acquisition
and construction of capital improvements on City property, such as traffic control devices, street resurfacing,
parking lots, garages and the rehabilitation of various lease payments 1o the Civic Improvement Corporation.

839,408,000 City of Oakland Refunding Certificates of Participation (Ogklard Museum), 1992 Series A
The proceeds of the certificates were used to defease the outstanding Certificates of Participation 1987 Series A,
which was issued in the amount of $35,310,000, which in mrn refunded and defeased the 1982 Municipal
Improvement Revenue Bonds and provided new money for the Redevelopment Agency to acquire the Museum and
its improvements from Oakart Associates Limited Partnership.

Under an amended and restated lease agreement, which provides for the sublease of the Museum by the
City, the City has agreed to make lease payments to the Agency through maturity of the certificates in 2012, The
Certificates are Aaa/AAA rated by Moody’s and S&P, respectively, as a result of the bond insurance policy
provided by AMBAC Indemnity Corporation.

$197,700,000 Oakland-Alameda County Coliseum Authority Lease Revemue Bonds (Oakland Coliseum
Project) 1995 Series The 1995 bonds were 1ssued by the Autherity to refund the outstanding 1965 bonds, to finance
improvements to the Coliseum stadium, and to cover relocation costs for the National Football League team, the
Oakland Raiders.

The Bonds comprise $9,200,000 Fixed Rate Refunding Lease Revenue Bonds (Series A) and $188,500,000
aggregate principal Vartable Rate Lease Revenue Bonds (Series B). The Series A bonds are rated Aa3/AA- and the
Series B bonds have long term ratings of Aa3/AA- and short-term ratings of A-I/P-1, by Moody’s and S&P,
respectively, based on a direct-pay letter of credit provided by Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce.

These bonds are a joint and several obligation of both the City and the County; each entity has covenanted
to budget and appropriate one-half of the annual lease payments.

On May 20, 2000, the Authority refunded the 1995 Senes B bonds with its Lease Revenue Bonds (Oakland
Coliseum Project) 2000 Refunding Series C (Tax-Exempt) bonds in the amount of $150,800,000 and 2000
Refunding Series D (Taxable) bonds in the amount of $50,500,000 (of which $48,300,000 remains currently
outstanding). The 1995 Series A bonds are still outstanding.

$140,000,000 Oakland-Alameda County Coliseum Authority Lease Revenue Bonds (Qakland Coliseum
Arena Project) 1996 Series A. The 1996 bonds were issued by the Authority to finance the costs of constructing the
arena located at the Coliseum complex as well as other payments and costs associated with the retention of the
Golden Statc Warriors to play basketball at the arena.

The bonds are comprised of $70,000,000 Series A-! Variable Rate Lease Revenue Bonds (Taxable) (Series
A-T1) and $70,000,000 Serics A-2 Variable Rate Lease Revenue Bonds (Taxable) (Series A-2). On Jjuly 26, 2001,
the Authority substituted an irrevocable direct pay letier of credit relating to the Series A-1 bonds issued severally
and not jointly by The Bank of New York and California State Teachers’ Retirement System and an irrevocable
direct pay letter of credit relating to the Series A-2 bonds issued severally and not jointly by The Bank of New York
and Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., New York Branch.
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The Series A-1 bonds have been assigned long-term ratings of “Aa2”, “AA-" and “AA” and shori-term
ratings of “YMIG 17, “A-1+" and “F1+” by Moody’s, S&P and Fitch, respectively. The Series A-2 bonds have
been assigned long-term ratings of “Aa3”, “A+” and “AA-“ and short-term ratings of “VMIG 17, “A-1"" and “F1+”
by Moody’s, S&P and Fitch, respectively.

These bonds are a joint and several obligation of both the City and the County; each entity has covenanted
to budget and appropriate one-half of the annual lease payments.

$103,945,000 Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority Lease Revenue Bonds (Oakland Administration
Buildings) Series 1996 These bonds were issued to finance, design, construct, rehabilitate and equip two buildings
and a civic plaza that are at the heart of the administrative complex of the City of Oakland for a total project cost of
$102 mitlion.

Under a lease agreement between the City and the Joint Powers Financing Authority, the City will make
lease payments to use and occupy the property. In addition to a $13 million cash contribution made by the City,
proceeds of the bonds have been used to fund the Construction Fund, Capitalized Interest Fund, Reserve Fund, and
costs of issuance.

The bonds, insured by AMBAC Indemnity Corporation and rated Aaa/AAA, by Moody’s and S&P,
respectively, are limited obligations of the Authority payable solely from lease revenues from the City, as lessee, to
the Authority, as lessor, pursuant to a Lease Agreement, dated as of March 1, 1996.

$187,500,00 Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority, 1998 Series A-1/4-2 The 1998 bonds were issued
by the Joint Powers Authority on August 3, 1998, to refund the City of Qakland’s Special Refunding Revenue
Bonds (Pension Financing), Series 1998 A. The bonds were sold in a variable-rate mode, in two series:
$131,500,000 Series A-1 and $56,000,000 Series A-2, both with a final maturity of August 1, 2021. The bonds are
limited obligations of the Authority, payable by base rental payments from the City’s General Fund, in exchange for
the right to use and possession of a portion of the City’s sewer system.

The City entered into a $170,000,000 forwarding-starting, floating-to-fixed “synthetic-fixecl-rate” swap
with Goldman Sachs, which commenced on July 31, 1998 and terminates on July 31, 2021. The swap entitles the
City to receive variable rate payments equal to the Bond Market Association Municipal Swap Index in exchange for
a fixed rate payment to Goldman Sachs. The notional value of the swap declines in accord with the outstanding
principal on the bonds.

$134,890,000 Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds (Oakland
Convention Centers) Series 2001 The Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority issued $134,890,000 Lease
Revenue Refunding Bonds (Oakland Convention Centers), Series 2001 in May, 2001. This issue was used to
redeem and defease the $149,825,000 California Statewide Communities Development Authority, 1992 Lease
Revenue Bonds (City of Oakland Convention Centers Project).

In the fiscal years 2000-01 through 2004-05 the City is required to make combined lease payments from its
General Fund as shown below:
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CITY OF OAKLAND GENERAL FUND LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Oakland Civic Oakland Oakland JPA
Oakland Convention Improvement Oakland A(#m?n, Oakland Revenue

Fiscal Year Coliseum* Center Corp* Muscum Building Arcna* Bonds* Total
2000-01 $10,500,000 $12,518,704 $3,174,000 $3,702,380 $7.548,141 511,000,000 $16,892,372 365,335,597
2001-02 12,750,000 12,377,082 3,212,000 3.703,480 7,549,536 11,000,000 19,309,635 69,901,733
2002-03 12,750,000 11,969,088 3,246,000 3,700,450 7,550,449 £1,000,000 18,567.262 68,783,249
2003-04 12,750,000 11,967,025 3,374,000 3,702,750 7,550,009 11,000,000 18,080,954 68,354,698
2004-05 12,850,000 13,993,088 3,396,000 3,700,563 7,547,271 9,500,000 17,283,896 68,270,818
Principal $201,300,000  $134,300,000 $41,100,000 $27,588,024  $103,945000  $134.600,000  $187,500,000  $830,333,024
Balance'”

(1) as of July 1, 2001
*Variable rate debt, estimated

Source: City of Oakland Financial Services Agency

Other Long-Term Borrowings. In February 1997, the City issued $436,289,659.15 of Series 1997 Bonds,
a portion of which are being purchased and defeased with proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds.

In addition, the Agency has issued several series of its tax allocation bonds for two redevelopment project
districts. In each case, the tax allocation bonds are limited obligations of the Agency and are payable solely from
and secured by a pledge of an incremental portion of tax revenues assessed on property within each respective
project district. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2000, the redevelopment tax increment revenues within the City
were approximately $25,639,000.

In May of 2000, the Oakland Redevelopment Agency issued its $39,395,000 Subordinate Housing Set
Aside Revenue Bonds, Series 2000T (Taxable). Twenty percent of the Agency’s share of property taxes, which
must be set aside for affordable housing purposes, is the primary source of payments for the Series 2000 T Bonds.
The Bonds provided money for the agency to increase, improve and preserve the supply of affordable housing for
low-income houscholds.

Special Assessment Debt.

$2,020,000 City of Oakland 1994 Refunding Improvement Bonds Medical Hill Parking Assessment District
Series 3 In April 1994, the City issued these bonds to defease the City of Qakland Medical Hill Parking Assessment
District Refunding Bonds dated March 2, 1989. The bonds are rated Aaa/AAA by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s
and are msured by MBIA. The bonds are rated Aaa/AAA by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s and are insured by
MBIA. The original bonds were issued to finance the construction of a parking garage to serve facilities in the
Medical Hill Area.

The refunding bonds are payable from assessments levied against property owners in the Medical Hill
District. In the event of continuing delinquencies in the payment of any property owner’s installments, the City, in
the absence of any other bidder, is obligated to purchase the delinquent property owner’s property at a delinquent
assessment sale and pay delinquent and future installments of assessments and interest thereon until the land is
resold or redeeined.

3349989 City of Oakland Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds Skyline Sewer Assessment District In
Auvgust 1994, the City issued $349,989.42 of Limited Obligation Improvement Bonds for the Skyline Sewer
Assessment District, consisting of 30 parcels in the Oakland hills. The proceeds of the bonds were used to finance
the construction of a sewer line,

$463.000 Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority Special Assessment Pooled Revenue Bonds 1996,

Series A On August 22, 1996, the Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority issued bonds to fund certain capital
improvement projects within the City, including sewer improvements, utility undergrounding and street lighting.
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Each of these projects had previously been financed through the formation of its respective special assessment
district, pursuant to the Municipal Improvement Act of 1915.

These districts are Skyline Sewer Assessment District; Lakeshore Utility Undergrounding Assessment
District, Phases I and IT; Ocean View Utility Undergrounding Special Assessment District; and Lower Hubert Road
Utility Undergrounding Special Assessment District. The bonds are payable from the special assessment revenues
levied for each of the respective special assessment districts.

81,250,000 Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority Special Assessment Pooled Revenue Bonds, Series
1997 On December 3, 1997, the Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority issued bonds to provide funding for
portions of certain capital improvement projects in five special assessment districts within the City, for utility
undergrounding and associated street lighting. The three remaining Utility Underground Assessment Districts are:
LaSalle, Liggett, Pershing & Wood Area (1997-4); Harbord, Estates, McAndrew & Wood Area (1997-5); and
Grizzly Peak (1997-6). The bonds are payable from the special assessment revenues levied for 2ach of the
individual special assessment districts.

$7.255,000 Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority Reassessment Revenue Bonds, Series 1999 On July
15, 1999, the Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority issued bonds in order to refinance the local obligation
bonds for two special assessment districts: (1) for a portion of the costs of construction of new underground support
services and for repaving the street surfaces in comjunction with the undergrounding of utility lines in the area
affected by the October 1991 firestorm (Fire Area Utility Underground Assessment District No. 1994-1), and (2} for
a portion of the costs of providing new, enlarged water delivery lines and higher-flow fire hydrants in the upper
Rockridge area (Rockridge Water Area Improvements District No. 1994-2). The bonds are rated A- by Standard &
Poor’s Corporation. The bonds are payable from revenues derived from the reassessments levied on the properties
in the original two assessment districts.

The City has also established the 1999 Lakeshore Phase IV Utility Undergrounding Assessment District
($57,450,000).

With respect to special assessment debt, the bonds are payable from annual assessment installments levied
against property owners in the assessment district, and included on their respective property tax bills.

Estimated Direct And Overlapping Debt.

Contained within the City are numerous overlapping local agencies providing public services. These local
agencies have outstanding bonds issued in the form of general obligation, lease revenue, certificates of participation,
and special assessment bonds. The direct and overlapping debt of the City as of June 30, 2001, according to
California Municipal Statistics, Inc., is shown below. The City makes no assurance as to the accuracy of the
following table, and inquiries concerning the scope and methodology of procedures carried out to complete the
information presented should be directed to California Municipal Statistics, Inc. Self-supporting revenue bonds, tax
allocation bonds and non-bonded capital lease obligations are excluded from this debt statement.

[Balance of page intentionally blank]
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CITY OF OAKIAND
Statement of Direct and Overlapping Debt, As of June 30, 2001

2000-0]1 Assessed Valuation; $21,090,599,220
Redevelopment Incremental Valuation: 2.452.124,634
Adjusted Assessed Valuation: $18,638.474,586
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT: % Applicable Debt 6/30/01
East Bay Municipal Utility District 20.660% $ 1,305,712
East Bay Municipal Utility District, Special District No. 1 52.484 23,549,571
East Bay Regional Park District 11.039 19,212,828
Peralta Community College District 54.347 45,309,094
Berkeley and Castro Valley Unified School Districts 0.006 & 0.057 16,004
QOakland Unified School District 99.996 236,935,572
San Leandro Unified School District 18.795 4,280,561
City of Oakland 100. 138,205,000
City of Oakland 1915 Act Bonds 100. 9,385,000
City of Emeryville 1915 Act Bonds 4.183 584.156
TOTAL GROSS DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT $478,783.498
Less: East Bay Municipal Utility District (100% self-supporting) 1.305.712
TOTAL NET DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT $477,477,786
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND OBLIGATION DEBRT:
Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District Certificates of Participation 21.572% § 5,107,171
Alameda County and Coliseum Authority General Fund Obligations 18.476 112,337,096
Alameda County Pension Obligations 18.476 89,544,523
Alameda County Board of Education Public Facilities Corporation 18.476 1,022,647
Chabot-Las Positas Community College District Certificates of Participation 2.357 117,496
Oakland Unified School District Certificates of Participation 99 996 47,918,083
San Leandro Unified School District Certificates of Participation 18.795 3,072,043
Castro Valley Unified School District Certificates of Participation 0.057 1,764
City of Qakland and Coliseum Authority General Fund Obligations 100. 654,193,025
City of Oakland Pension Obligations 100. 390,534,659
TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND OBLIGATION DERT $1,303,848,507
GROSS COMBINED TOTAL DEBRT $1,782,632,005
NET COMBINED TOTAL DEBT $1,781,326,293

(1)Excludes tax and revenue anticipation notes, revenue, mortgage revenue and tax allocation bonds and non-
bonded capital lease obligations.

Ratios to 2000-01 Assessed Valuation:

Direct Debt ($138,205,000) ..o 0.66%

Total Gross Direct and Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debi................2.27%

Total Net Direct and Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt ......_............ 226%
Ratios to Adjusted Assessed Valuation:

Combined Direct Debt ($1,182,932,684) ... oo, 6.35%

Gross Combined Total Debt ... e 9.56%

Net Combined Total Debt .....c.oooooovviiieiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee o 9.56%

STATE SCHQOL BUILDING AID REPAYABLE AS OF 6/30/01: $1,220.43]

Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.
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Property Taxation

Ad Valorem Property Taxes

City property taxes are assessed and collected by the County of Alameda (the “County™) at the same time
and on the same rolls as are county, school and special district property taxes. The County is permitted under State
law to pass on costs for certain services provided to local government agencies including the collection of property

taxes. The County imposed a fee on the City of approximately 0.55% of taxes collected for tax collection services
provided in Fiscal Year 2000-2001.

Assessed Valuations

All property is assessed using full cash value as defined by Article XIIIA of the State Constitution. State
law provides exemptions from ad valorem property taxation for certain classes of property such as churches,
colleges, nonprofit hospitals and charitable institutions.

Future assessed valvation growth allowed under Article XIIIA (new construction, certain changes of
ownership, 2% inflation) will be allocated on the basis of “situs” among the jurisdictions that serve the tax rate area
within which the growth occurs. Local agencies and schools will share the growth of “base” revenues from the tax
rate area. Each year’s growth allocation becomes part of each agency’s allocation in the following year. The
avatlability of revenue from growth in tax bases to such entities may be affected by the establishment of
redevelopment agencies which, under certain circumstances, may be entitled to revenues resulting from the increase
in certain property values.

The passage of Assembly Bill 454 in 1987 changed the manner in which unitary and operating nonunitary
property is assessed by the State Board of Equalization. The legislation deleted the formula for the allocation of
assessed value attributed to such property and imposed a State-mandated local program requiring the assignment of
the assessment value of all unitary and operating non-unitary property in each county of each State assessee other
than a regulated railway company. The legislation established formulas for the computation of applicable county-
wide rates for such property and for the allocation of property tax revenues attributable to such property among
taxing jurisdictions in the county beginning in fiscal year 1988-89. This legislation requires each county 1o issue
each State assessee, other than a regulated railway company, a single tax bill for all unitary and operating nonunitary
property.

The following table represents a five-year history of assessed valuations in the City:

CITY OF OAKLAND
ASSESSED VALUATIONS'
(in $000°s)

Fiscal Year Local Secured Utility Unsecured Total
1997-98 $15,265,600 $80,139 $2,413,259 $17,758,998
1998-99 15,927,351 78,976 2,670,736 18,677,063
1999-00 16,993,037 64,608 2,518,336 19,575,981
2000-01 18,453,636 62,398 2,574,565 21,090,599
2001-02 20,529,197 53,823 2,719,940 23,202,960

D Net of exemptions before redevelopment tax allocation increment deduction.

Source: Alameda County Auditor-Controller.




Tax Levies, Collections and Delinquencies

Taxes are levied for each fiscal year on taxable real and personal property which is situated in the City as of

the preceding January 1. A supplemental roll is developed when property changes hands or new construction is
completed that produces additional revenue.

Secured property taxes are due on November 1 and March 1 and become delinquent, if not paid by
December 10 and April 10, respectively. A 10% percent penalty attaches to any delinquent payment for secured roll
taxes. In addition, property on the secured roll with respect to which taxes are delinquent becomes tax-defaulted.
Such property may thereafter be redeemed by payment of the delinquent taxes and the delinquency penalty, plus 2
redemption penalty 1o the time of redemption. If taxes are unpaid for a period of five years or more, the property is
subject to auction sale by the County Tax Collector.

In the case of unsecured property taxes, a 10% penalty attaches to delinguent taxes on property on the
unsecured roll, and an additional penalty of 1.5% per month begins to accrue beginning November 1% of the fiscal
year, and a lien is recorded against the assessee. The taxing authority has four ways of collecting unsecured
personal property taxes: (1) a civil action against the taxpayer; (2) filing a certificate in the office of the County
Clerk specifying certain facts in order to obtain a judgment lien on specific property of the taxpayer; (3) filing a
certificate of delinquency for record in the County Recorder’s Office in order to obtain a lien on specified property

of the taxpayer; and (4) seizure and sale of personal property, improvements or possessory interests belonging or
assessed to the assessee.

Each county levies (except for levies to support prior voter-approved indebtedness) and collects all
property taxes for property falling within that county’s taxing boundaries.

The following table represents a five-year history of the secured tax levy and of uncollected amounts in the

City:
CITY OF OAKLAND
SECURED TAX LEVY
AND AMOUNTS UNCOLLECTED
{(in $000’s)
Amount Uncollected
Year Uncollected Secured Tax Levy as of June 30 Percent as of June 30

1996 $94.756 $5,368 5.67%
1997 95,519 5,554 5.82
1998 106,732 5,696 334
1999 105,036 6,411 6.10
2000 117,765 6,757 514

Source: Alameda County Auditor-Controller.

Tax Rates

The City is divided into thirty-three Tax Rate Areas. The largest Tax Rate Area within the City is Tax Rate
Area 17-001 which has a total assessed valuation of $12,748,989.870, or 60.45% of the City’s total assessed

valuation. A ten-year history of the property tax rates received by the City and the County of Alameda is shown
below.
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CITY OF OAKLAND

PROPERTY TAX RATES
Fiscal Year City of Alameda
Ending June 30 Oakland County Others Total
1992 0.5198% 0.3086% 0.4970% 1.2376%
1993 0.5222 0.3086 0.4130 1.2438
1994 0.4690 0.1555 0.6224 1.2469
1995 0.4643 0.1597 0.6169 1.2409
1996 0.4627 0.1595 0.6412 1.2634
1997 0.4468 0.1575 (0.6412 1.2455
1998 0.4932 0.1567 0.6434 1.2933
1995 0.4568 0.1570 0.6370 1.2508
2000 0.5059 0.1570 0.6151 1.2780
2001 0.4694 0.1570 0.6775 1.3039

Sources: Alameda County Office of the Auditor-Controller and City of Oakland Financial Services Agency.

The following table lists the largest ten taxpayers in the City in terms of their 2000-01 assessed valuation.

CITY OF OAKLAND
TOP TEN TAXPAYERS
2000 — 2001"
2000-01 Percentage of
Property Owner Type of Business Assessed Total Local
Valuation Secured
Valuation®
1. Oakland City Center LL.C Property Managemeni $185,605,023 1.01%
2. Prentiss Properties Acquisition Pin LP Property Management 118,720,680 0.64
3. Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc. Health Services 104,026,645 0.56
4. 1800 Harrison Foundation Property Management 102,162,894 0.55
5. Clorox Company Household Products 90,236,171 0.49
6. Kaiser Center Inc. Hospital Services 85,631,901 0.46
7. Owens Hlinois Glass Container, Inc. Industrial 62,851,269 0.34
8. Webster Street Partners, Ltd. Property Management 61,675,200 0.33
9. KSL Claremont Resort, Inc. Property Management 38,658,060 0.32
10.  Catelius Development Corporation Industrial 36,976,094 0.20
Total - Top Ten $906,543,937 4.9%

Y Net of Exemptions.
2 2000-01 Local Secured Assessed Valuation: $18,453,636,283

Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.
Financial and Accounting Information

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, each of which is
considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of
self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures, or zxpenses, as
appropriate. Government resources are allocated and accounted for in individual funds based on the purposes for
which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. The various funds are
grouped into eight generic fund types and three broad fund categories as follows:




Government Funds.

General Fund. The general fund is the general operating fund of the City. It accounts for normal recurring
activities traditionally associated with governments which are not reguired to be accounted for in another fund.
These activities are funded principally by property taxes, sales and use taxes, business and utility taxes, interest and
rental income, charges for services and federal and State grants. Government Funds consist of the following;

Special Revenue Funds. Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue
sources (other than special assessments, expendable trusts, or major capital projects) that are legally restricted to
expenditures for specified purposes.

Debt Service Funds. Debt service funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources to be used
for, and the payment of the principal of and interest on general long-term debt and related costs.

Capital Projects Funds. Capital projects funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds, special
assessment funds and trust funds).

Special Assessment Funds. Special assessment funds are used to account for the financing of public
improvements or services deemed to benefit the properties against which special assessments are levied.

Proprietary Funds,

Enmterprise Funds. Enterprise funds are used to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated in
a manner similar to private enterprises where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered
primarily through user charges; or (b} where the governing, body has decided that periodic determination of
revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy,
management control, accountability, or other purposes.

Internal Service Funds. Intemnal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services
provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City, or to other governments, on a
cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Funds.

Trust and Agency Funds. Trust and agency funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee
capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments and/or other funds. These include
the pension trust, expendable trust and agency funds. Operation of the pension trust funds are accounted for and
reported in the same manner as the proprietary fund types. Operations of expendable trust funds are accounted for
in essentially the same manner as governmental fund types. Agency funds are custodial in nature and do not involve
measurement of results of operations.

All government funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Their revenues are
recognized when they become measurable and available as net current assets. Taxpayer-assessed income, gross
receipts and other taxes are considered “measurable™ when in the hands of intermediary collecting governments and
are recognized as revenue at that time. Anticipated refunds of such taxes are recorded as liabilities and reductions of
revenue when they are measurable and their validity seems certain.

Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related
fund liability is incurred. The exception to this general rule is that principal and interest on general long-term debt is
recognized when due.

All proprietary funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Their revenues are
recognized when they are incurred.
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General Fund Revenues and Expenditures

The following table describes revenues and expenditures for the General Fund Group for five fiscal years.
Fiscal Year 2001 revenues and expenditures are unaudited and include intra- and inter-departmental amounts and
therefore are not comparable with previous fiscal years. The City’s fiscal year ends on June 30.

CITY OF OAKLAND
REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
GENERAL FUND GROUP
(IN $000s)
Fiscal Year I‘aning June 30: 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001*
Revenues
Taxes' $ 221,793 § 237658 $ 258853 $ 282322 $ 299,690
Licenses and Permits 7.097 7,650 8,043 9,088 11,414
Traffic Fines and Vatious Penalties 9,506 11,873 13,224 14,129 15,526
Interest Incomne 8,702 5,793 4,785 10,019 2,793
Revenue from Current Services 32,008 30,920 34,517 36,506 41,709
Grant Revenue 7443 6,242 6,695 7,265 5,430
Other Revenue, incl. Transfers 8,955 14,730 27,732 8,813 11,387
Total Revenues $ 295,504 $ 314,902 $ 353,849 368,142 $ 387,949
Expenditures
General Government® $ 33,078 $ 33970 $ 38,685 41,245 § 46,041
Public Safety’ 145,839 158,948 166,389 190,782 207,392
Public Works* 41,552 29,359 26,070 25,050 23,727
Life Eorichment® 25,038 26,565 28,874 31,749 36,842
Economic and Community Development® 1,629 14,775 18,403 18,954 20,412
Payment to Unfunded Pension 440,409 - - . -
Other’ 16,764 18,180 16,478 23,462 29,103
Transfers/other sources and uses (410,044) 35,847 2,543 581 364
Total Expenditures § 294,265 § 317644 $ 297442 331,823 $ 363,881
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources S 1,239 5 2,738 $ 56407 36,319 § 24068

over Expenditures and Other Uses

Source: City of Oakland Financial Services Agency.

* Includes property, state and local taxes.

? ncludes elected and appointed officials, general governmental agencies and administrative services.
* Includes police and fire services.

* Previously classified in Public Works, the Office of Planning and Building amount was reclassified to Community and Economic Development
m FY 1997-1998.

* Includes Parks and Recreation, Library, Museum, Aging and Health, and Human Services.
* ingludes Planning and Building (as of FY1997-98), Housing and Neighborhood Development, and Econemic Development and Employment.

7 Includes capital outlays and certain debt service charges; does not include rent payable on lease obligations. In addition, approximately $105.5
million in debt service charges were paid from sources outside the General Fund.

* Unaudited

Motor Vehicle License Fees

In the 2001 fiscal year the City received approximately $10.08 million from the State allocated under the
Motor Vehicle License Fee Statute, such amount representing approximately 1.15% of the City’s budget. For the
2001-02 fiscal year, the City has budgeted for receipts of approximately $6.8 million from vehicle license fees
(0.85% of the City budget). It should be noted that legislation was recently adopted providing for the gradual
elimination of the vehicle license fee on noncommercial vehicles over a five-year period, beginning 1999. This
legislation provides for the transfer of sales and use tax revenues to any local government in the event that such local
government loses money as a result of the reduction and/or elimination of the noncommercial license fee. The City




can provide no assurance, however, that such revenues from the State will be available to replace lost motor vehicle
license fees.

Labor Relations

City employees are represented by seven labor unions and associations, described in the table below, the
largest one being the Service Employees United Public Employees (L.ocal 790), which represents approximately
47% of all City employees. Approximately 90% of all City employees are covered by negotiated agreements, as
shown below. Memoranda of Understandings effective July 1, 2000 were entered into with all non-sworn employee
organizations. The City has never experienced an employee work stoppage. Pursuant to the Meyers-Milas-Brown
Act (California Government Code Section 3500 et seq.), the City continues to meet and confer with the exclusive
bargaining representatives of the City employees.

CITY OF OAKLAND
LABOR RELATIONS
Number of Contract
Employee Organization/Bargaining Unit Employees Termination
International Association of Firefighters (Local 557) 481 6/30/07
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (Local 1245) 28 6/30/02
International Federation of Professional and Technical Engineers 660 6/30/02
(Local 21)/Units A, W, and F
IFPTE, Local 21 Units H (Supervisors) & M (Managers) 375 6/30/02
IFPTE, Local 21 {Deputy City Attorney) 29 6/30/02
Qakland Police Officers Association 779 Negotiating
United Public Employees (Local 790)/full-time 1,479 6/30/02
United Public Employees (Local 790)/part-time 1,317 6/30/02
Ranger Association 21 Negotiating

Source: City of Qakland, QOffice of Personnel Resource Management.
Retirement Programs

The Police and Fire Retirement System (“PFRS™) is a defined benefit plan administered by a seven member
Board of Trustees {the “Retirement Board™). The PFRS 15 a closed plan and covers uniformed employees hired
prior to July 1, 1976. The Retirement Board is composed of: the Mayor of the City; one active member of the
Police Department, or a retired member elected by the active and retired members of the Police Department if no
active member of the Police Department is elected to serve on the Retirement Board; one active member of the Fire
Department, or a retited member of the Fire Department elected by the active and retired members of the Fire
Department if no active member of the Fire Department is elected to serve on the Retirement Board; a life insurance
executive of a local office; a sentor officer of a local bank; a community representative; and a Police-Fire retired
member who shall be elected from the retired members of the Fire Department for a first three year term
commencing the first day of the month next following his or her election, and from the retired members of the Police
department for the next successive three year term, and, thereafter, alternately from the retirement rolls of each of
said departments for successive three year terms.

As of June 30, 2001, PFRS covered 144 current employees and 1,482 retired employees. In November,
2000, the voters of the City amended the City Charter to give active members of the Retirement System the option to
terminate their membership and transfer to the California Public Employees’ Retirement System (“PERS”™) upon
certain conditions, including the Retirement Board authorizing a transfer 1o PERS of funds held by the Retirement
System representing City and employee contributions to the Retirement System for each member who exercises
such option to transfer. Active members of PFRS must decide by September 26, 2001 whether to transfer.



Effective July 1, 1976, the City began providing for and funding an amount equal to the annual normal
service cost of all PFRS participants and the amortization of unfunded actuarial accrued liability (“UAAL™) as of
that date over a forty-year period. On June 7, 1988, voters approved a City measure to extend the amortization
period of the unfunded benefits to fifty years, ending in 2026. In accordance with these voter-approved measures,
the City annually levies an ad valorem tax (the Tax Override) on all property within the City subject to taxation by
the City to help fund the UAAL. For fiscal year 2002, the City has levied an ad valorem property tax at the rate of
0.1575% for this purpose.

The City’s annual contribution to PFRS is determined by calculating the total pension liabilivy for public
safety employees under both PFRS and PERS. The amount to be contributed to both plans will be such that the
unfunded liabilities for PFRS and PERS will be extinguished by 2026. Contributions to PERS are deducted and the
difference is contributed to PFRS.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2001, contributions to PFRS totaling $641,985 (no employer
contributions; all $641985 contributed by employees) were made in accordance with actuarially determined
contribution requirements. Through the Series 1997 Bond financing in fiscal year 1996-97, the City made a
payment of $417,072,300 to PFRS to offset a portion of its then UAAL for the 14-year period ending June 30, 2011.
The City’s actuaries do not make an allocation of the contribution amount between normal cost and the UAAL
because the PFRS plan is closed. An actuarial valuation on the PFRS benefit plan is conducted every two years with
the most recent complete valuation conducted for the period ended June 30, 2000.

The Oakland Municipal Employees Retirement System (“OMERS”) is administered by the City and covers
two active nonuniformed employees hired prior to September 1, 1970 who have not elected to transfer to the PERS
as well as 151 retired employees. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2001, the City, in accordance with actuarially
determined contribution requirements, did not make contributions to OMERS as the plan is fully funded.

PERS is a defined benefit plan administered by the State and covers all nonuniformed employees except
those who have not elected to transfer from OMERS and all uniformed employees hired after June 30, 1976.

For accounting purposes, employees covered under PERS are classified as either miscellaneous employees
or safety employees. City miscellaneous employees and City safety employees are required to contribute 7% and
9%, respectively, of their annual salary to PERS. The City’s contribution rates for the fiscal year ending June 30,
2001 are 0.0% and 8.488% for each group, respectively. The City pays the entire amount of its employees
contribution rate for miscellaneous and safety employees, including the annual contribution of 7% and 9% to PERS.
As of June 30, 2000, the pension benefit obligation for the City miscellaneous employees was overfunded by $178.3
million.

PERS uses an actuarial method which takes into account those benefits that are expected to be earned in the
future as well as those already accrued. PERS also uses the level percentage of payroll method to amortize any
unfunded actuarial liabilities. The amortization period of the unfunded actuarial liability ends June 30, 2026.

City Demographic and Economic Information

The City occupies approximately 53.8 square miles, with approximately 19 miles of coastline on the San
Francisco Bay in northern California. The City’s convenient access to mass transit, freeways, rail lines and airports;
its favorable climate, environmental quality and multiple cultures; its proximity to well regarded universities and
research institutions; and its diverse employee base all contribute to the cosmopolitan character of the City and have
made it a center of commerce in the Bay Area.

The City’s estimated population as of January 1, 2001 is 409,300, making it the eighth largest city in the
State and the third largest in the Bay Area. At least §1 different languages and dialects are spoken within the City.
The City’s workforce is both sizable and multi-skilled.

The City’s economic base historically has been predominantly industrial. Over the past 25 years, there have
been significant gains in diversifying the City’s economic base. While manufacturing jobs have decreased,
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commercial and service-oriented sectors have come to play a larger role in the economy. The City has embraced an
aggressive economic development strategy surrounding five primary business clusters: (1) biotechnology/healthcare;
{2) telecommunications; (3) software/multimedia; (4) food processing; and (3) transportation. No single business
dominates Oakland’s employment rolls; the largest categories are public administration, health and social assistance
and business services, employing 20.9, 15.4 and 19.7 percent, respectively.

The City’s largest employers include both public and private entities. Many of the City’s largest public
employers are headquartered in the City, including the City government itself, the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid
Transit District (“BART™), the East Bay Municipal Utility District (“EBMUD”) and the Alameda-Contra Costa
Transit District (“AC Transit”). The City’s largest private employer is Kaiser Permanente, followed by Alia-Bates
Summit Medical Center and Southwest Airlines.

Despite the economic slowdown, the City has maintained its appeal. Warehouse space, which comprises
the bulk of Oakland’s industrial inventory, has increased 9.8 percent since year end. The direct weighted average
asking rent rose from $0.51 per square foot per month to $0.55 per square foot per month. The bump in rent is the
result of high demand continuing to come from the Seuth Bay, where warechouse space is difficult to find. Qakland
was rated the #1 office market now and for the next five years, according to the Landauer Office Momentum Index
{Wall Street Journal, April 5, 2001).

The City’s Community and Economic Development Agency {CEDA) unveiled its new Geographic
Information Systems (GIS) website this spring, enabling visitors to go on a virtual tour of business opportunities in
Oakland. Here one can find development sites and available real estate listed by local brokers in all sectors,
including retail, industrial and office. In addition, a complete list of large development projects currently approved
or under construction is also available.

According to the Cushman & Wakefield Office Market Report (First Quarter 2001}, total inventory in the
Oakland Metropolitan Area exceeds 23.9 million square feet, split nearly evenly between the Central Business
Distnict (“CBD”) and the non-CBD. Increased demand in the QOakland market continues to be evident with a
continuing drop in vacancy rates. Due to substantial leasing activity throughout the year, overall vacancy rates have
fallen from 8.1% at the beginning of 2000 to 7.7% by the end of the first quarter for 2001,

A growing number of tenants have found that the East Bay has the infrastructure, economical rental rates,
and tax incentive plans they desire. Mayor Brown is promoting the City’s business-friendly atmosphere and a new
Image to companies from surrounding areas seeking to relocate to the City.

Housing Update

Oakland remains one of the most affordable Bay Area cities in which to purchase a home. Although
Oakland’s median price for single-family homes rose by more than 39.4 percent in March 2001 from March 2000,
its median is still between two-thirds and one-half the median home price of many Bay Area cities. Sale prices
varied by neighborhood, ranging from $180,000 in East Oakland to $600,000 in Rockridge. Shopping districts such
as Montclair, College Avenue, Piedmont Avenue, Grand/Lakeshore Avenues and Park Boulevard form the spines
for the surrounding residential areas.

Mayor Brown is on wrack to surpass his goal of attracting 10,000 new residents to Downtown Qakland.
Over 7,000 residential units are either completed, under construction or in the planning stage — well over the 6,000
units needed to house the potential newcomers.

On March 6, 2001, the Oakland City Council approved nearly $18 million in affordable housing loans,
which can be leveraged for more than three times that amount in private funding. The projects will add 256 new
affordable units to the Oakland housing stock, as well as replace 83 units and rehabilitate 214 others. Most will be
rentals while some will be for sale at affordable prices. The low-and-no-interest loans will allow developers to seek
federal tax credits, as well as HUD funding. The money will come mostly from a $39.5 million redevelopment
agency affordable housing bond issued in May of 2000.



Downtown Developments

Development of the City’s downtown has long been a primary thrust of city planning. Over the past two
decades, the central business district has undergone a dramatic physical renaissance. New office and retail buildings,
refurbished public facilities, luxury hoteis, park enhancements and outdoor art have created a cosmopolitan
environment enhancing the City’s status as a hub of the Bay Area.

Recently completed downtown projects include the 343,000,000 renovation of the Rotunda Building (a
350,000 square foot Beaux Arts masterpiece) with office space fully leased and retail space more than 75% leased
and the Swan’s Market mixed-use project. In early 2000, The Shorenstein Company broke ground on the $115
million 555 City Center office tower, a 20-story, 472,000 square-foot office-retail project. The 555 Ciry Center will
be the first class A building to go up in Oakland in a few years. The Shorentstein Company has three additional
parcels on which it 1s authorized to develop up to 1.6 mallion square feet.

Other downtown prajects currently under development include a new office tower, two new hotels and four
new downtown housing sites. Construction on the $20,000,000, 162-room “Courtyard by Marriott” hotel began in
June 2000 and wiil be completed by January 2002, Construction on the 210-room Hilton Keystone Hotel began in
July 2001 and is scheduled for completion by March 2003. In addition, the Wakefield Building, a 1920°s urban
design in revitalized Downtown is being completely refurbished to provide 60,000 square feet available space with
fiber network nearby.

The City 15 developing a new concept in concert with the Ozakland Unified School District, the Peralia
Community College District, and BART for reshaping the Lake Merritt Channel Area. This area has potential for
housing, recreation, and retail uses. The intention is to work collaboratively with these public entities to identify
opportunity sites and implement public improvements.

The City is also helping to upgrade the facades of buildings in the Downtown Historic District and Uptown,
along Broadway and Telegraph, in Chinatown and in Old Oakland. The City has more than 35 active fagade
improvement projects in the downtown area zlone.

Port of Oakland and Transportation

Part of the City’s economic expansion is evidenced by the ongoing activity at the Port of Qakland (the
“Port™) which 1s undertaking several capital improvement projects. The Port, established in 1927, is an independent
department of the City employing some 560 people. The Port extends approximately 19 miles along the east side of
the Oakland Estuary from the border of the city of Emeryville immediately north of the San Francisco-Oakland Bay
Bridge, south to the border of the city of San Leandro. Port facilities include four major marine terminal areas
covering almost 1,000 acres; Oakland International Airport (the “Airport™) which covers an area of over 2,500 acres;
1,100 acres of commercial, industrial, recreational and other land; and 950 acres of underdeveloped land.

The Port of Oakland made several cash land sales in 2000, generating $27 million. The largest deal was for
a l6-acre site called Hegenberger Gateway, purchased by Simeon Commercial Properties. Simeon has plans to use
the site to develop Metroport, a 1.3 million square foot class A office project that will include a 300-room full
service hotel.

Much of the City’s economic strength is attributable to its extensive transportation network. The City is
today recognized as a center of commerce for the Bay Areca and is the Bay Area’s mainland connection. Nine major
U.S. and California highways converge in the City, providing convenient travel throughout the Bay Area and direct
access to other regions of the country. High- speed light-rail transit throughout the Bay Area is provided by BART
and local bus service is offered by AC Transit, 98% of whose lines connect with BART. Other transportation
services include the Alameda/Oakland Ferry Service, Amtrak and Greyhound Bus Lines.

In addition to ground transportation, the City is home to the Qakland International Airport and to one of the
main sea terminals for cargo moving between the western United States and the Pacific Rim, Latin America and
Europe. The Port loads and discharges more than 97% of containerized goods bound to and through the Bay Area,
making it the third largest container port on the Pacific Coast, the fourth largest in the United States and among the
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top thirty in the world. About 72.0% of the City’s foreign maritime trade is with Asia. The Port is currently
undertaking a project to deepen the Bay’s access channels, which will allow it to compete more effectively with
other West Coast ports for Pacific Rim trade.

The Oakland International Airport, operated by the Port, is a major regional center of air passenger and
cargo jet operations and the second largest airport in the Bay Area. The Airport has shown steady growth in
passenger traffic, current activity is expected to increase annual passenger volume to over 12 million by the end of
2001.

In August 2001, the Oakland Port Commission voted unanimously to spend $1.4 billion for a 10-year
expansion of Oakland International Airport. The current plans are to expand the Airport to accommodate up to 22
million passengers a year by adding 12 new boarding gates, a new food court, a 6,000-car parking garage and a five-
laned, double-decker access road. Under current plans, work on the new garage will start in 12 months, construction
of the new termunal will begin in 2004, which would start serving passengers three years later, and the expansion
would be complete in 2010.

Separately, BART intends to build an elevated people-mover system by 2007 1o connect the Oakland
Coliseum Station with the Airport terminal.

Other Information.

Services and other important resources are extensive and locally provided. Five major hospitals are located
in the City. Over 170 public and private schools provide elementary, middle, special and secondary education. The
Oakland Unified School District operates 88 schools, which include elementary, middle, high schools, and special
cducation programs daily. In addition, there are a wide range of private and nonprofit elementary and secondary
schools in the City. Seven colleges are located in the City, reporting enrollment of over 20,000 students. Utility
services are provided by Pacific Bell, EBMUD and Pacific Gas & Electric. The City has its own regional newspaper,
radio stations and a Fox Network television station.

An unprecedented seven Oakland projects took top honors at the annual San Francisco Business Times
Real Estate Deals of the Year awards held this spring in San Francisco. Al of the winners were profiled in a special
issue of the Business Times, in addition to four other Oakland projects that were named as finalists: Zhone
Technologies Campus, Rainin Instrument Co., The Landing at Jack London Square and DoubleTwist, Inc.

Current State of California Electricity Crisis

A large portion of the State of California is currently undergoing shortages of electrical energy power
supply as a result of significantly higher costs for wholesale electrical power being charged to the primary providers
of electrical energy in the State, resulting in financial difficulties being experienced by such providers. Pacific Gas
and Electric Company (“PG&E™), which has been the provider of electrical power to retail, commercial and
industrial customers within the City of Qakland for many years, filed a petition for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection
on April 6, 2001. The California Public Utilities Commission, which sets rates for electric power sold by public
utilities such as PG&E, has recently approved substantial increases in prices for electrical power for retail,
commercial and industrial customers within the PG&E service area and elsewhere in the State, which are expected
to be implemented retroactively to March 27, 2001.

PG&E pays unitary property taxes, business license taxes and utility service franchise fees to the City. For
Fiscal Year 2000-01, these taxes and fees, which are accounted for in the City’s General Fund, aggregated
approximately $730,000, $700,000 and $1,986.000, respectively (or 0.17%, 0.17% and 0.47% of the total General
Fund revenue, respectively). The City has received payment in full of all amounts owed by PG&E for Fiscal Year
2000-2001,

The City paid approximately $4.8 million 1o PG&E for electrical power from its total revenues in Fiscal
Year 1999-2000 and expects that its costs for electrical power will be approximately $5.8 million for Fiscal Year
2000-2001 and $7.7 million for Fiscal Year 2001-2002. City’s electrical power expenditures paid out of the General

A-18



Fund amounted to $664,092 in Fiscal Year 1999-2000 and is expected to be approximately $0.8 million in Fiscal
Year 2000-2001 and $1.08 million in Fiscal Year 2001-2002.

The City currently does not expect the PG & E bankruptey organization proceeding to jeopardize the future
collection of the unitary property taxes, business license taxes and utility service franchise fees annually paid by PG
& E 1o the City. PG&E’s bankruptcy has not so far affected PG&E’s ability to pay its taxes and fees to the City.
PG&E has remitted such taxes and fees to the City in full for Fiscal Year 2000-2001, and is expected to do so in
Fiscal Year 2001-2002. In any event, such amounts are not deemed by the City to be material. In addition to their
possible direct impact on City revenues, the PG & E bankruptcy and the anticipated substantial increases in prices of
electrical power within the PG & E service area and ¢lsewhere in the State may have adverse effects on the local
economy, which could result in decreased City revenues. It is not possible for the City to predict whether or not
such adverse effects will occur, whether such effects would be significant, or the duration of any such conditions.

Military Base Closures

All major military facilities in Alameda County have closed. These closures included the Alameda Naval
Air Station, the Naval Medical Center Qakland, and the Oakland Army Base. The cumulative community and

economic impacts of base closures on the County’s economy have been approximated at exceeding $2 biilion and
the aggregate job loss totals over 60,000 jobs.

Several efforts are underway to mitigate the impact of base closures in the City of Oakland and Alameda
County, including the conversion of the military bases to civilian use. Among these are the activities of the
Alameda County Economic Development Advisory Board (“EDAB”), a consortium of public and private entities in
the County that assists with regional conversion efforts. EDB collaborates with organization such as the Bay Area
Defense Conversion Action Team, the Bay Area Economic Forum, the Bay Area Regional Technology Alliance,
and Joint Venture Silicon Valley to design in-fill redevelopment strategies for meeting the demand for community
improvements. In addition, the East Bay Conversion and Reinvestment Commission have received grants from the
Federal Office of Economic Adjustment to provide planning, analyses, and technical assistance.

Alameda County, the City of Qakland, and the Oakland Redevelopment Agency have formed a local reuse
authority (the “Oakland Base Reuse Authority” or “OBRA”™) under a joint powers agreement for development of
comprehensive local reuse plans with respect to the Naval Medical Center Oakland and the Oakland Army Base.
These facilities are being prepared for reuse in ways that will stimulate economic development, maximize job
creation, stimuiate tax revenues to the City, minimize public investment in the projects, and maximize private
investment.

During the past fiscal year, OBRA’s plans for development of the Oakland Army Base underwent a major
change of direction. Spurred by a San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commussion (“BCDC™)
finding of inconsistency between the Draft Final Reuse Plan and BCDC’s San Francisco Bay and Seaport Plans,
OBRA was required to change its reuse footprint. OBRA’s solution involved swapping designated development
areas with the Port of QOakland in order to satisfy BCDC’s maritime (“Port Priority™)} use requirements. BCDC
accepted OBRA’s proposed solution, and approved issuance of a Consistency Determination on April 19, 2001.
OBRA is engaged in collaborative efforts with City and Port officials to jointly develop and implement an Army
Base conveyance program, and OBRA continues to develop a Master Plan for development of the City’s portion of
the Oakland Army Base in collaboration with its Master Developer. The redevelopment of approximately 189 acres
of the Oakland Army Base into a Mater Planned Business and Technology Park is projected to add 8,000 to 10,000
new jobs to the City’s economy in the next ten years. The Port’s Maritime program will also expand, through its
receipt of approximately 500 acres of the Naval Fleet and Industrial Supply Center property and potentially up to
184 acres of the Oakland Army Base.

In the near term, OBRA will continue to operate its successful Interim Leasing Program, which it began in
September 1999 pursuant to a Master Lease with the U.S. Department of the Army. The leasing program has
created approximately 1,300 jobs across 50 tenants, and includes the Oakland Parks and Recreation Little League
Program, the Parks and Recreation Department’s Bicycle Program, the Head Start Program, and the Oakland
Military Institute (a college preparatory academy). Projected revenues from the program are expected 1o exceed §7
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million in Fiscal Year 2000-2001, and reserves currently exceed $5.4 million which, pursuant to the Master Lease,
are reinvested into the Army Base operations.

The City is unable to predict the ultimate financial impact that it will experience due to the military base
closures. However, the impact on the City to date has been less significant than originally anticipated, and the
City’s economy continues to thrive despite these closures.

Population

The City’s population on January 1, 2001, was estimated at 409,300 by the Demographic Research Unit of
the California Department of Finance. This figure represents 27.6% of the corresponding County figure and 1.18%
of the corresponding State figure. The City’s population has grown over 18% in the twenty years since 1980. The
following table illustrates the City’s population relative to the population of Alameda County and the State of
California.

POPULATION
Year City of Oakland County of Alameda State of California
1960 367548 908,209 15,717,204
1970 361,561 1,071,446 19,953,134
1930 339,337 1,105,379 23,667,902
1990 371,100 1,276,702 20,473,000
1991 378.200 1,294,700 30,321,000
1992 378,200 1,310,500 30,982,000
- 379,700 1,326,300 31,552,000
1994 381,400 1,338,400 31,952,000
1995 381.400 1,344,200 31,910,000
1996 383,900 1,356,300 32,223,000
1997 389,700 1,375,900 32,609,000
1908 397,800 1,408,100 33,252,000
1999 399,900 1,433,800 33,773,000
3000 402,100 1,454,300 34,336,000
2001 409,300 1,479,400 34,818,000

Sources: California State Department of Finance f{estimates as of January 1}
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Employment

Over the past several years, the City’s labor force and employment levels have grown and unemployment
rates have generally declined. The following table represents the labor patterns in the City, the State of California,
and the United States as of June 1995 through 2001.

CITY OF OAKLAND, STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND UNITED STATES
CIVILIAN LABOR FORCE, EMPLOYMENT, AND UNEMPLOYMENT
As of June 1995 through 2001

Unemployment
Year and Area Labor Force Employment Unemployment Rate
1995
City 180,540 164,290 16,290 9.0%
State 15,412,200 14,202,800 1,209,400 7.8
United States 132,304,000 124,900,000 7,404,000 5.6
1996
City 180,130 166,040 14,090 7.8
State 15,568,600 14,444,400 1,124,200 7.2
United States 133,943,000 126,708,000 7.236,000 5.4
1997
City 184,580 171,780 12,800 6.9
State 15,971,800 14,965,500 1,006,300 6.3
United States 136,297,000 129,558 6,739,000 49
1998
City 186,130 174,000 12,130 6.5
State 16,329,100 15,360,600 968,500 5.9
United States 137,673,000 131,463,000 6,210,000 435
1999
City 188,510 178,220 10,920 55
State 16,585,000 15,721,700 £64,200 52
United States 140,108,000 134,420,000 5,688,000 4.1
2000
City 193,010 184,880 8,130 4.2
State 17,034,600 16,139,500 895,100 5.3
United States 140,762,000 135,179,000 5,583,000 4.0
2001
City 200,780 186,700 14,080 7.0
State 17,365,000 16,487,000 878,000 3.1
United States 141,354,000 134,932,000 6,422,000 4.5

Source: California State Employment Development Depariment and U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of
Labor Statistics.
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Major Emplovers

As an integral part of the Bay Area, the City of Oakland benefits from the wide variety of job opportunities
available throughout the area. Summarized below are the City’s largest private and public employers as of June 30,

2001.
TOP TEN PUBLIC EMPLOYERS*
Employer Type of Organization Number of Employees
1. County of Alameda Government Operations 11,762
2 U.S. Federal Government {Civilian} Government Operations 10,500
3. Oakland Unified School District Education 7,228
4. State  of California (not including Government Qperations 4,430
University of California)
5. City of Ozkland Govemmment Operations 4,218
6. Bay Area Rapid Transit District Public Transportation 3,503
7. East Bay Municipal Utility District Utlity/Water/Wastewater 1,954
8. Alameda Contra Costa Transit Public Transportation 1,168
9. University of California (Office of the Education 1,000
President)
10. East Bay Regional Park District Parks and Recreation 758
TOP TEN PRIVATE EMPLOYERS*
Employer Type of Organization Namber of Employees
i Kaiser Permanente Health Services 6,900
2. Alta-Bates Summit Medical Center Health Services 3,000
3. Southwest Airlines Air Transportation 2,979
4. Federal Express Corporation Air Courier Services 2,000
5. Children’s Hospital Medical Center General Medical Surgical Hospital 1,900
6. Clorox Company Household Products 775
7. Visiting Nurses Association Home Health Care Services 700
8. Pacific Gas and Electric Utility 670
9. Owens-Brockway Glass Container Producer of Purchased Glass 619
10. Alaska Airlines Air Transportation 600

*

Approximate figures

Sources: Alameda County, Economic Development Alliance for Business, Dun & Bradstreet and City of Oakland Financial
Services Agency
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Commercial Activity

A five-year history of total taxable transactions for the City is shown in the following table.

CITY OF OAKLAND
TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS 1996-2000

Year Total Sales

1996 $2,596,521,000
1997 2,767,367,000
1998 2,817,183,000
1999 3,085,079,000
20000 1,671,996,000

™ First two quarters of 2000 only

Source: State Board of Equalization, Department of Research and Statistics.
Construction Activity

A five-year history of building permits and valuation (including electrical, plumbing, and mechanical
permits} appears in the following table.

CITY OF OAKLAND
BUILDING PERMITS AND VALUATIONS 1996-2000
Number of Residential Nonresidential
Permits Authorized New Valuatton Valuation

Year Issued Dwelling Units {In Thousands) {In Thousands)
1996 12,154 180 $ 79,278 $ 99,844
1997 12,459 176 39,425 202,995
1998 12,545 233 121,006 302,080
1999 14,860 181 175,115 117,140
2000 16,725 542 272,170 195,270

Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2000,
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Median Household Income

Effective Buying Income (“EBI”) is defined as personal income less personal income tax and non-tax
payments, such as fines, fees, or penalties. Median household EBI for the City is shown in the table below.

CITY OF OAKLAND AND ALAMEDA COUNTY
MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD EFFECTIVE BUYING INCOME
1995-2600'" Median ERI

Year City of Oakland Alameda County California United States
1995 $28,033 $38,436 $34,533 $32,238
1996 28,788 39,658 35,216 33,482
1997 29,784 41,127 36,483 34,618
1998 30,388 41,715 37,091 35,377
1999 32,751 44,730 39,492 37,233
2000 38,602 50,631 44 464 39,129

1) Most recent data available.
Source: “Survey of Buying Power, " Sales and Marketing Management Magazine.
Litigation

The City is involved in certain litigation and disputes relating to its operations. Upon the basis of
mnformation presently available, the City Attorney believes that there are substantial defenses to such litigation.

Qakland Raider Litication

On September 29, 1997, the City, The County of Alameda and the Oakland Alameda County Coliseumn
Authonty (the “Authority”), filed suit against the Oakland Raiders and A.D. Football, Inc. (collectively “Raider
Management”) for breach of contract, declaratory relief and interference with prospective economic advantage. The
suit asked for compensatory and punitive damages with regard to revenues lost as a result of actions by Raider
Management, and for declaratory relief conceming (1) the parties’ rights, duties and obligations under a Master
Agreement concernmg the naming rights for the Qakland Stadium, (2) whether Raider Management’s claims of
fraudulent inducement have merit and whether Raider Management has the right to rescind or terminate the Master
Agreement, and (3) Visiting Team Share Agreement concerning the reimbursement of legal fees and costs. Raider
Management filed a cross-complaint seeking the right to rescind the Master Agreement and seeking damages for
breaches of the Master Agreement and for fraudulent inducement. In a series of decisions, the court has ruled that
(1) the Raiders cannot rescind or terminate the Master Agreement; (2) the East Bay Entities do not have claims for
damages, and (3) the Raiders do not have claims for tort damages against the City, the County or the Authority.
Raider Management continues to have a claim for damages of $1.1 billion related to claims of fraudulent
inducement against the Oakland Alameda County Coliseum, Inc. and one of its former directors. The Authority, the
City, and the County have indemnified this former director against the Raider Management claims, Raider
Management also has several breach of contract claims against the City, County, the Authority and Oakland
Alameda County Coliseum, Inc. These claims are currently pleaded to be worih less than $5 million. The City is

optimistic that all of the Raider Management claims will fail. However, the City cannot predict whether the Raider
Management will be awarded damages at trial.

Golden State Warriors Arbitration

In November 1998, the Authority brought an arbitration proceeding against the Golden State Warriors (the
“Warriors”) to collect: (1) past due rents for usc of the Oakland arena; (2) past due amounts of revenue sharing
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required by the License Agreement; and (3} facility use fees collected by the Wariors for the Authority. The
arbitration demand also seeks damages for the Warriors® breach of the License Agreement for failure to sell seat
rights in the new Arena, a major source of revenue to the Authority. The arbitrator found on October 6, 1999, that
the Warriors owed more than $17 million to the Authority, net of some $720,000 in offsets granted to the Warriors.
A second phase of the arbitration was decided in July 2000, when the arbitrator decided that the Warriors breached
the License Agreement by failing to sell seat rights in the new Arena. However, the arbitrator awarded no damages
to the Authority because he determined the damages could not be proven. The Authority has brought a court
proceeding to confirm this arbitration award. A favorable outcome of this proceeding would permit the Authority to
execute the $17 million award. The City will receive approximately one-half of any award paid by the Warriors.

[Balance of page intentionally blank.}
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APPENDIX B

EXCERPTED CITY AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, JUNE 30, 2000

Attached are the audited General Purpose Financial Statements of the City for its Fiscal Year ended June 30,
2000, which includes all Notes to the Financial Statements, but excludes the information entitled “Combining an
Individual Fund and Account Group Financial Statements and Schedules.” A complete copy of the City’s General

Purpose Financial Statements may be obtained upon request to the City Treasurer Manager at (510) 238-3201.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
KPMG LLP

GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Combined Balance Sheet - All Fund Types, Account Groups and Discretely Presented Component Unit
Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances —

All Governmental Fund Types and Expendable Trust Funds
Combined Statement of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual on a Budgetary Basis —

General Fund and Annually Budgeted Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds
Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Retained Eamnings —

All Proprietary Fund Types and Discretely Presented Component Unit
Combined Statement of Cash Flows - All Proprietary Fund Types and Discretely Presented Component Unit
Combined Statement of Changes in Plan Net Assets - Pension Trust Funds

Notes to Financial Statements

{H Organization and Defimtion of Reporting Entity

(2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

3) Cash and Investments and Restricted Cash and Investments
@ Due From/Due To Other Funds

3 Memorandums of Understanding

(6) Notes and Loans Receivable

@) Fixed Assets

&) Property Held for Resale

{9 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes Payable

(10) Long-Term Obligations

(11)  Contributed Capital

(12) Self-Insurance

(13)  Reservations and Designations of Fund Balances

(14 Segment Information for Enterprise Funds

(15) Joint Venture

{16)  Pension Plans

{17)  Reconciliation of Operations on Modified Accrual Basis to Budgetary Basis
(18) Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pension Benefits
(19)  Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations

2o Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

(21)  Individual Fund Deficits

(22) Subsequent Events

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Schedule of Funding Progress - Oakland Municipal Employees’ Retirement System
Schedule of Funding Progress - Police and Fire Retirement System
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES
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Three Embarcadero Centar
San Francisco, CA 94111

Independent Auditors® Report

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council
City of Qakland:

We have audited the accompanying general purpose financial statements of the City of Oakland,
California (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2000, as listed in the accompanying table of
contents. These general purpose financia!l statements are the responsibility of management of the City. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these general purpose financial statements based on our audit.
We did not audit the financial statements of the Oakland Municipal Employees’ Retirement System, the
Police and Fire Retirement System or the Oakland Redevelopment Agency, whose statements reflect total
assets and total revenues which represent 1% and 0%, respectively, of the combined totals of the Special
Revenue Funds; 31% and 12% of the combined totals of the Debt Service Funds; 60% and 80% of the
combined totals of the Capital Projects Funds; 87% and 80% of the combined totals of the Fiduciary Fund
Types and 15% of the combined total liabilitics of the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group.
We also did not audit the financial statements of the Port of Oakland, a discretely presented component
unit. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us,
and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for such entities in the Special Revenue, Debt
Service, Capital Projects, Fiduciary Fund Types, the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group, and

the discretely presented component unit, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with anditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
Anerica. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the general purpose financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the general purpose
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall general purpose financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the general purpose financial
statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the City of
Oakland, California, as of June 30, 2000, and the results of its operations and the changes in plan assets of
the pension trust funds and the cash flows of its proprietary fund types for the year then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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The schedules of funding progress on pages 91 and 92 are not a required part of the general purpose
financial statements, but are supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board. We have applied to the schedules of funding progress certain limited procedures
prescribed by professional standards, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding
the methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information. However, we did not
audit this information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the general purpose financial
statements taken as a whole. The combining and individual fund and account group financial statements
and schedules listed in the foregoing table of contents, which are also the responsibility of the
management of the City, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
general purpose financial statements of the City. Such additional information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in our audit and the other auditors’ audits of the general purpose financial
statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the general purpose
financial statements taken as a whole.

KPMe P

April 6, 2001
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* CITY OF OAKLAND

ALL FUND TYPES, ACCOUNT GROUPS AND
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 2000
{In Thousands)

Proprietary
Governmental Fund Types Fund Types
Special Debt Capital internal
General Revenue Service Projects Enterprise  Service
ASSETS AND OTHER DEBITS
Assets
Cash and investments $ 19,613 $ 32,624 $ 9364 $ 75592 ¥ 460 $11.645
Receivables (net of allowance for
uncollectibles):
Accrued interest
and dividends 170 422 156 1,228 4 —_—
Property 1axes 2,348 674 1,818 1,689 — —
Accounts receivable 43,660 1,499 — 3,067 1,569 194
Grants recervable — 48,556 — — «-- —
Receivable from Port of Oakland 10,263 — — — _— —_
Due from other funds 82,4158 5,632 10,063 3,951 — —
Due from other governments — — — 116 — -
Notes and loans receivable 13,709 79,787 — 24,193 — —
Restricted cash and invesiments 24 _ 71,416 185,839 — 28,850
Inventories — _— —_ —_ —_ 885
Fixed assets (net, where applicabie
of accumulated depreciation) — — — — 79,998 16,278
Property held for resale — -— 21,447 53,492 — —
Other 1,509 26 460 2407 —_ —_
Other Debits
Amount available in debt
service funds —_ — — — — —
Amount to be provided for
long-term obligations — — — - — —
TOTAL ASSETS AND
OTHER DEBITS $173, 111 $169220 §$114,724 § 351,568 $ 82,031 $ 57,852




GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Yotal Total
Fiduciary (Memorandum Component (Memorandum
Fund Types Account Groups Only} Unit Only)
Trust General General
and Fixed Long-Term Primary Port of Reporting
Agency Assets Obligations Government Oakland Entity
$1,124,541 3 — 3 — $1,273.839 $ 70,834 $1,344,683
5,637 _— —_ 7,617 9,027 16,644
—_ —_ —_ 6,529 —_— 6,529
20,984 _— —_— 70,973 32,243 103,216
—_ _ —_ 48,556 —_— 48,556
— —_ — 10,263 — 10,263
3,829 —— — 105,890 _ 105,890
— — —_ 110 — 110
—_ —_ —_ 117,689 — 117,689
220,204 —_ —_ 506,333 456,519 962,852
—_ — — 885 —_ 885
— 759,580 — 855,856 1,095,592 1,951,448
— —_ — 74,939 —_ 74,939
- — —_— 4,402 23,205 27,607
— — 91,829 91,829 — 91,829
—_— —_— JLI9B.896 _1.398,896 — _1.I9B.896
$1,375,195 $ 759,580 $1,490,725 $4,574,606 $1,687.430 $6,262,036
{continued)




* CITY OF OAKLAND

ALL FUND TYPES, ACCOUNT GROUPS AND
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET, continued
June 30, 2000
{In Thousands)

Proprietary
Governmental Fund Types Fund Types
Special Debt Capital Internal
General Revenue Service Projects Enterprise  Service
LIABILITIES, EQUITY AND
OTHER CREDITS
Liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $ 71,905 $ 12830 3 £51 $ 7204 S 1,728 3 3.604
Due to other funds 12,124 36,932 20,492 23816 — 5,533
Payable to primary government — — — _— o —
Deferred revenue 50,562 88,791 1,458 49,548 — —_

Interest payable —
Long-term obligatons —

Due to bond holders —_— — —_ — — —
Securities lending liability — — _— — —_ _
Other — 886 7 o 3244 — -
Total liabilities 141,477 138,560 22,895 _B83812 _ 10651 _37.897
Equity and Other Credits

Investment in general fixed assets — —_ —_ —_ — —
Contributed capital — — — — — 17,382
Retained earnings — — —_ — 71,380 2573
Fund balances:

Reserved 3,708 30,660 91,829 267,756 — _

Unreserved:

Designated 11,111 = —_— — — —

~ Undesignated 12415 = — = = =
Total equity and other credits 32234 30660 _ 91829 _267.756 _7138Q _19.955
TOTAL LIABILITIES, EQUITY
AND OTHER CREDITS $173,711 $169220 $114.724 $351,568  $ 82,031 $ 57,852

The notes to the financial statemnents are an integral part of this statement.
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GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Total Total
Fiduciary {Memorandum Component (Memorandum
Fund Types Account Groups Only) _Unit Only)
Trust General General
and Fixed Long-Term Primary Port of Reporting
Agency Assets Obligations Government Oakland Entity
3 35019 $ — 1) — $ 138,501 $ 68312 $ 206813
6,993 — — 105,890 — 105,890
—_ -— — — 10,263 10.263
—_ - 190,359 4,435 194,794
—_ —_ - 794 25,731 26,525
1,010 —_ 1,490,725 1,529,418 1,014,521 2,543,939
12,397 — — 12,397 — 12,397
245,582 — —_ 245,582 — 245,582
—— § — _— 414 — 39383 43508
— 301,069 = ~1490.725 —2.227.086 -1.162.645 ~3.38073]
— 759,580 — 759,580 _ 759.580
—_ — -— 17,382 202,903 220285
— — — 73,953 321,882 395838
1,074,126 —_ - 1,468,079 -_— 1.468.079
— —_ _ 11,111 — 1111
— __ — 12.415 — 17,415
—1.074,126 159,580 = —2.347.520 — 324,785 2872308
$ 1,375,195 $ 759,580 $1.490.725 $4,574,606 $1,687.430 $6.262 (36
{concluded)




* CITY OF OAKLAND

ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
Year ended june 30, 2000
(In Thousands)

REVENUES

Taxes:
Property
State:
Sales and Use
Motor Vehicle In-lieu
Gas
Local:
Business License
Utility Consumption
Real Estate Transfer
Transient Occupancy
Parking
Franchise
Licenses and permits
Fines and penalties
Interest and investment income
Charges for services
Federal and state grants and subventions
Pension annuity distribution
Other

TOTAL REVENUES

Governmental Fund Types

Special Debt
General Revenue Service
$ 85,872 $ 23,243 $16,143
38,470 8,321 —
19.314 —_— —
—_ 8,052 —_
35,845 — —
41,592 —_— —_
34,359 —_ —
12,100 _— —
5,686 — —_
9,084 — —
9,088 10 —_—
14,129 1,432 64
10,019 1,001 10,598
36,506 2,504 —
7,265 75,986 —_
8.813 4246 1,220
$368.142 $124 795 $28.025

Capital
Projects

$30,683

LTI

13,831

-
o
-1
fe—

11

12



GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fiduciary
Fund Type Total
Expendable (Memorandum

Trust Only)
$ 149 $156,090
— 46,791
— 19,314
—_ 8,052
- 35,845
—_ 41,592
— 34,359
—_ 12,100
—_ 5,686
—_ 9,084
—_ 9,098
— 15,625
1,458 36,907
1 41,182
136 83,895
17,600 17,600
878 —18.037
$20.222 $591.257
(continued)
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% 1Ty oF OAKLAND

ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES, continued

Year ended June 30, 2000

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Elected and Appointed Officials:
Mayor
Council
City Manager
City Attormey
City Auditor
City Clerk
Apgencies/Departments:
Personnel Resource Management
Retirement and Risk Administration
Information Technology
Financial Services
Police Services
Fire Services
Life Enrichment
Administration
Parks and Recreation
Library
Museum
Aging
Health and Human Services
Cultural Arts
Community and Economic Development
Public Works ‘
Other
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal repayment
Interest charges

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

(In Thousands)

General

$§ 918
2,350
3010
4,824
1,079
2,171

3,898
1,055
7,024
14,016
121,542
69,240

610
12,160
9,089
5,268
2,512
379
1,531
18,954
25,050
22,596
866

Special
Revenue

52
1,548
409

30

26
206
9,041
2,845

14,099
4,527
18
4,188
12,577
97
29,606
16,393
23,402
1,762

Debt
Service

1,414

36,144
All362

$(83.337)

Governmental Fund Types

Capital
Projects

3 15
142
1,359

26

126
662
1,114

79
152

14,944
255
226

89
35,7714
7,061
901
15,978

18,967

$(28.894)
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GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fiduciary
Fund Type Total
Expendable (Memorandum
Trust Only)
$ 118 $ 1082
376 2,920
147 6.964
984 6.243
— 1,079
43 2,278
— 4,054
— 1,055
—_ 1712
149 16,127
874 131,536
35 72,272
— 615
51 41,254
206 14,077
62 5,574
— 6,700
_ 13,156
— 1,717
7,796 92,190
152 48,656
687 49,000
383 18,989
— 36,144
—_— —13.34
12,063 655,107
$ 8.159 $ (63.850)
(continued)
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&% 1Ty oF OAKLAND

ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES, continued

Year Ended June 30, 2000

(in Thousands)

General
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY)} OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES,
BROUGHT FORWARD $ 36.319
OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES)
Bond proceeds 1,166
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent —
Property sale proceeds 79
Operating transfers in 116,700
Operating transfers out (164,902)
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES) (46,957)
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES AND
OTHER FINANCING USES (10,638)
Fund balances at beginning of year 42.872
FUND BALANCES AT END OF YEAR $ 32234

Special
Revenue

$ 3,903

143
205
6,842

7,190

11,093

$ 30,660

Governmental Fund Types

Debt
Service

$(83.337)

7,255
(7,125)

122 426
{24.625)

97931

14,594

11235
$ 91,829

Capital
Projects

$ (28.894)

39,493

4,573
12,901
—(6],308)

— (4341

(33,235)

300991
$267,756

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fiduciary

Fund Type

Expendable
Trust

3_8.159

10,963
(18.33%)

_ (13759

784

176,733

$177,517

Total
(Memorandum
Only)

48,057
(7,125)

4,857

269,832

(17,402)

—5617.398
$ 599,996

(concluded)




% CITY oF OAKLAND

GENERAL FUND AND ANNUALLY BUDGETED SPECIAL REVENUE
AND DEBT SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ON A BUDGETARY BASIS
Year ended June 30, 2000
{in Thousands)

General Fund

Actual on a Variance -
Revised Budgetary Favorable
Budget Basis (Unfavorable)
REVENUES
Taxes:
Property § 82,345 $ 85,872 $ 3,527
State:
Sales and Use 38,099 38,470 371
Motor Vehicle In-lieu 11,523 19,314 7,791
Gas —_ _ —
Local:
Business License 37,766 35,845 (1,921)
Utility Consumption 38,355 41,592 3,237
Real Estate Transfer 20,519 34,359 13,840
Transient Occupancy 11,133 12,100 967
Parking 5,544 5,686 142
Franchise 9,756 9,084 (672)
Licenses and permits 10,316 9,088 (1,228)
Fines and penalties 17.899 14,129 (3,770)
Interest and investment income 3,583 9,365 5,782
Charges for services 41,463 36,506 (4,957
Federal and state grants and subventions 3,313 7,265 3,952
Other 16.412 8,813 (7,.599)
TOTAL REVENUES $348.026 $367.488 $19.462
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GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annually Budgeted Annually Budgeted
Special R Funds Debt Service Funds
.Actualona  Variance - Actualona  Variance -
Revised Budgetary Favorable Revised Budgetary Favorable
Budget Basis (Unfavorable) Budget Basis (Unfavorable)
$16413 $17,326 $ 913 $ —_ 315,511 $15.511
12,473 8,321 (4,152) — —
7,060 8,052 992 — — —
8 10 2 — _ _
270 999 729 — 64 64
388 563 175 1,440 1,673 233
698 288 (410) — — —
1,000 1,040 —_ — —
—_ —11 —(44) — 83 —1.220 1137
$38.365 $36.610 £ (1.755) $ 1523 $18.468 316945

{continued)
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* CITY OF OAKLAND

GENERAL FUND AND ANNUALLY BUDGETED SPECIAL REVENUE
AND DEBT SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL ON A BUDGETARY BASIS, continued
Year ended june 30, 2000
{In Thousands)

General Fund
Actual on a Variance -
Revised Budgetary Favorable
Budget Basis (Unfavorable)
EXPENDITURES
Current:
Elected and Appointed Officials:
Mayor $ 1.026 $ 918 s 108
Council 2,427 2,350 77
City Manager 4,253 3,910 343
City Atlomey 4,842 4,824 18
City Auditor 1,068 1,079 (1
City Clerk 2,722 2,i71 551
Agencies/Departments:
Personnel Resource Management 3,592 3,898 (306)
Retirement and Risk Administration 1,188 1,055 133
Information Technology 8,255 7.024 1,231
Financial Services 15,318 14,016 1,302
Police Services 115,362 121,542 (6,180)
Fire Services 67.959 69,240 (1,281)
Life Enrichment
Administration 550 610 (60)
Parks and Recreation 13.399 12,160 1,239
Library 9.170 9,089 81
Museum 5.241 5,268 (27
Aging 3402 2512 890
Health and Human Services 557 579 22
Cultural Arts 2,536 1,531 1,005
Community and Economic Development 26,272 18954 7318
Pubiic Works : 26,850 25,050 1,800
Other 92,948 22,596 70,352
Capital outlay 827 866 3%
Debt service:
Principal repayment — 119 (119)
Interest charges 152 462 31
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 409916 331823 —.18.093
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES $ (61.890) $ 35,665 $ 97545

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annually Budgeted Antually Budgeted
j Servi
Actual on a Variance - Actual on a Variance -
Revised Budgetary Favorable Revised Budgetary Favorable
Budget Basis (Unfavorable) Budget Basis {Unfavorable)
h S $ 1 $ M $ — $ - $ -
127 148 2n - — —
87 87 —_— — _ —_
— 1 {1} — — —
24 n 3 - _ —
89 65 24 39 642 (603}
— 6 (6) — — —
2 3 M) — — -
14,097 13,529 568 — - -
—_ 1 () — _ —
— 17 an — _ _
— 58 (58) — -_— —
888 989 (101) —_ —_ _
22 9 13 -— — _—
29,981 12,989 16,992 -— e —
654 6,062 (5.408) — - -
—_ 208 (205) 486 889 (403)
200 —_ 200 38,540 19.248 19.292
—_— —_— _ 9705 43905 870
46171 34191 11980 —108.840 — 64,684 44,156
$ (7,806) $2419 $ 10,225 $(107.317) $ (46,216) S 61,101

{concluded)
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% CITY OF OAKLAND

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS
Year Ended June 30, 2000
{In Thousands)

Proprietary
Fund Types
Internal
Enterprise Service
OPERATING REVENUES
Rental $ 121 3 —
Charges for services 18,313 31,10
Interest 3 —
Other I 326
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 18,443 31.434
OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel B.581 11,887
Supplies 346 5,220
Depreciation and amortization 2,800 2,821
Contractual services and supplies 1,317 1,181
Repairs and maintenance 80 1,985
General and administrative 1,619 3,526
Rental 553 1,211
Interest — 259
Other 96 5,345
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 15,392 _33.435
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 3.051 _(2.001)
NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest (315} 127
Other, net o p—
TOTAL NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 315 127
INCOME BEFORE OPERATING TRANSFERS 2736 {1.274)
Operaung transfers out (639) —
TOTAL OPERATING TRANSFERS ___(659) —_
NET INCOME (LOSS) 2,077 {1.274)
Depreciation of fixed assets acquired
with contributed capital — —_
Retained earnings at beginning of year —69.303 3.847
RETAINED EARNINGS AT END OF YEAR $ 71,380 $ 2573

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Total Total
(Memorandum Component {(Memorandum
Only) Unit Only)
Primary Port of Reporting

Government Oakdand Entity
$ 121 $ 172,725 $ 172,846
49,421 — 49,421
3 — 3
— 332 —_— —32
49877 172725 222,602
20,468 41,885 62,353
5,566 _ 5,566
5,621 34,900 40,521
2,498 - 2,498
2,065 19,873 21,938
5,145 29,072 ' 34,217
1,764 —_ 1,764
259 —_ 259
—2441 —_— —2441
48827 125730 174331
—1.050 — 46995 —38.045
412 (24,149) (23,737)
— N V-] 19
412 —23.970) —(23.558)
1462 23025 24487
— (659 —_ — {639
— {659 - = e {639)
— 803 —23.025 el 3,828
— 6,273 6,273
13150 232,584 365,734
$73,953 $ 321,882 $ 395835




&% CITY OF OAKLAND

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended june 30, 2000
{in Thousands}

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating
income (Joss) to net cash provided
by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization
Changes in assets and lhiabilities:
Receivables
Inventories
Other assets
Accounts payable and
accrued labilities
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Other

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Inter-fund receipts
Inter-fund (repayments} borrowings
Operating wansfers to other funds

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN)
NON-CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proprietary
Fund Types
internal
Enterprise Service
$3.051 $(2,00D
2,800 2,821
1,559 (102)
—_ 253
526 228
1236 _ 1199
7 174
(293} 1,904
—(639) —_—
$_(945) $2.078

Total
(Memorandum
Only)

Primary
Government

$ 1,050

181
1,611
{659)
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GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Component

Unit

Port of
Oakland

$ 46,995

34,900
(9.165)
514
3,084
659

(2,122)
£29.575)
_43.69%

b

Total
{(Memorandum

Only)
Reporting
Entity

3 48,045

40,521

(7,708)
253
914

3,838

659
(2.122)

181
1,611
-

3 1133

(continued)




* CITY OF OAKLAND

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, continued
Year ended june 30, 2000
{in Thousands)

Total
Proprietary (Memorandum
Fund Types Only)
Internal Primary
Enterprise Service Government
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Long-term debt.
New borrowings $ e % 28,760 $ 28,760
Repayment of principal {599) — (599)
Payment of interest (315) — (315)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets — — —
Acquisition and construction
of capital assets (7,892) (4,284) (12,176)
Grants from governmental agencies — — —
Other —_ 727 727
Passenger facility charges — — —
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) CAPITAL
AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES (B.806) 25203 16,397
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments ‘ —_ — —
Proceeds from sales of invesuments — — —
Interest on investments — o —
NET CASH USED IN
INVESTING ACTIVITIES — —_ I
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS (1.315) 28,480 26,665
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR 2275 12015 14,290
CASH AND EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR $ 480 $ 40,495 $40,955

The notes 10 the financial statements are an integral part of this staiement.

26



GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Total
Component (Memorandum
Unit _ Only)
Port of Reporting
Oakland Entity
$1,810,102 $ 1,838,862
(1,366,116) (1,366,715)
(23,650) (24,005)
1,664 1,664
(182,512) (194,688)
3,896 3,896
— 727
— 14180 ——-14.180
231524 273921
(417,991) (417,991)
76,0M 76,071
— 2060 — 2060
—{335.860) —{332.860
(36,646) (9.981)
—107.490 —12L.780
$ 70844 $ 111,799
{conciuded)
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V% CITY oF OAKLAND

PENSION TRUST FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PLAN NET ASSETS
Year ended June 30, 2000
{In Thousands)

ADDITIONS:

Members contributions $ 909

Investment income:
Net appreciation in fair value

of investments 44,783
Interest 25,810
Dividends 7.785
Total 78,378
Less investment expense (3.089)
Net investment income 75,289
TOTAL ADDITIONS 76.198
DEDUCTIONS:
Disbursements to members and
beneficiaries:
Retirement $ 39,430
Disability 21,131
Death 1,899
Total 62.460
Administrative expenses 848
Interest expense - bonds 63
Interest on PERS 253
Termination refunds of
employees’ contributions 197
TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 63.8
EXCESS OF ADDITIONS OVER
DEDUCTIONS 12,377
NET ASSETS HELD IN TRUST
FOR PENSION BENEFITS:
Beginning of year, restated _884.232
End of year $896,609

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2000

(1)

ORGANIZATION AND DEFINITION OF REPORTING ENTITY

~ The City of Oakland, California, (the City) was incorporated on May 25, 1834, by the State of

California and is organized and exists under and pursuant to the provisions of State law. The
Mayor/Council form of government was established in November 1998 through Charter
amendment. The legislative authority is vested in the City Council and the executive authority
is vested in the Mayor with administrative authority resting with the City Manager.

The City has defined its reporting entity in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) which provide guidance for determining which governmental activities,
organizations, and functions should be included in the reporting entity. The general purpose
financial statements present information on the activities of the reporting entity, including all of

the fund types and account groups of the City (the primary government) and its component
units.

GAAP require that the component units be separated into blended or discretely presented units
for reporting purposes. Although legally separate entities, blended component units are, in
substance, part of the City’s operations. Therefore, they are reported as part of the primary
government. Discretely presented component units are reported in a separate column in the
combined financial statements {0 emphasize that they are legally separate from the City.

Biended Component Units

The Redevelopment Agency of the City of Oakland (Agency) was activated on October 11,
1956, for the purpose of redeveloping certain areas of the City designated as project areas. Its
principal activities are acquiring real property for the purpose of removing or preventing blight,
constructing improvements thereon, and rehabilitating and restoring existing properties. The
Oakland City Council serves as the Board of the Agency. The Agency’s funds are reported as
special revenue, capital projects and expendable trust funds.

Complete financial statements of the individual component units can be obtained from:

Financial Services Agency, Accounting Division
City of Oakiand

150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 6353
Oakland, CA 94612-2093




S CITY oF OAKLAND

(2)

The Civic Improvement Corporation (Corporation) was created to provide a lease financing
arrangement for the City. It is reported as a debt service fund.

The Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority (JPFA) was formed to assist in the financing of
public capital improvements. JPFA is a joint exercise agency organized under the laws of the
State of California and is composed of the City and the Agency. JPFA transactions are recorded
in the capital projects and debt service funds, and the general long-term obligations account
group.

Discretely Presented Component Units

The Port of Oakland (Port) is a public entity established in 1927 by the City. Operations
include the Oakland International Airport; the Port of Oakland Marine Terminal Facilities; and
commercial real estate which includes Oakland Portside Associates (OPA), a California limited
partnership, and the Port of Oakland Public Benefit Corporation (Port-PBC), a nonprofit
benefit corporation. The Port is governed by a seven-member Board of Port Commissioners
(the Board) which is appointed by the City Council, upon nomination by the Mayor. The Board
appoints an Executive Director to administer operations. The Port prepares and controls its own
budget, administers and controls its fiscal activities, and is responsible for all Port construction
and operations. The Port is required by City charter to deposit its operating revenues in the City
treasury. The City is responsible for investing and managing such funds.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation - Fund Accounting

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, each of which
is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a
separate set of sclf-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity,
revenues, and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate. The various funds and account groups
are summarized by type in the gencral purpose financial statements. Fund types and account
groups used by the City are described below.

Governmental Fund Types

Governmental Fund Types are those through which most governmental functions of the City
are financed. The acquisition, use and balances of the City’s expendable financial resources
and the related liabilities (except those accounted for in Proprietary Fund Types) are accounted
for through Governmental Fund Types. The measurement focus is based upon determination of
financial position and changes in financial position, rather than upon net income determination.
The foliowing are the City’s Governmental Fund Types:

The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City. It accounts for normal recurring
activities traditionally associated with governments which are not required to be accounted for
in another fund. These activities are funded principally by property taxes, sales and use taxes,
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- business and utility taxes, interest and rental income, charges for services, and federal and state
grants.

Special Revenue Funds account for certain revenue sources that are legally restricted to be

spent for specified purposes. Other restricted resources are accounted for in trust, debt service,
and capital projects funds.

Debt Service Funds account for the accumulation of resources to be used for the payment of
general long-term debt principal and interest as well as related costs.

Capital Projects Funds account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition,
construction or improvement of major capital facilities (other than those financed through the
proprietary fund types).

Proprietary Fund Types

Proprietary Fund Types are used to account for the City’s ongoing organizations and activities
which are similar to those often found in the private sector and are accounted for on the flow of
economic resources measurement focus and use the accrual basis of accounting. Under this
method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred. The City adopts all applicable FASB Statements and Interpretations issued on or
before November 30, 1989, in accounting and reporting for its proprietary operations unless
those pronouncements conflict with or contradict Government Accounting Standards Board
pronouncements. The measurement focus is based upon determination of net income, financial
position and changes in cash flows. The following are the City’s Proprietary Fund Types:

Enterprise Funds account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to
private business enterprises, where the intent of the City Council is that the costs (expenses,
including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing
basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges.

Internal Service Funds account for operations that provide goods and services to other City
departments and agencies, or to other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Fiduciary Fund Types

Trust and Agency Funds account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an
agent for individuals, private organizations, other governmental units and/or other funds. These
include the pension trust, expendable trust, and agency funds. Operations of the pension trust
funds are accounted for in the same manner as the proprietary fund types. Operations of
expendabie trust funds are accounted for in essentially the same manner as governmental fund
types. Agency funds are custodial in nature and do not involve measurement of results of
operations. :
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Account Groups

The General Fixed Assets Account Group accounts for recorded fixed assets of the City,
other than those accounted for in the proprietary fund types.

The General Long-Term Obligations Account Group accounts for all long-term obligations,
including claim liabilities and vested compensation and sick leave of the City, except for those
obligations accounted for in the proprietary fund types.

Basis of Accounting

Measurement Focus

The accounting and reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement
focus. All governmental fund types and expendable trust funds are accounted for using a
current financial resources measurement focus. Only current assets and current liabilities are
generally included on their balance sheets. Operating statements for these funds present

increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other
financing uses) in net current assets.

All proprietary fund types and pension trust funds are accounted for on a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and liabilities associated
with the operations of these funds are included on the balance sheet. Proprietary fund type
operating statements present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in net total assets.

Reported fund equity (net total assets) is segregated into contributed capital and retained
earnings components.

Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting

The modified accrual basis of accounting is followed in the governmental fund types and
expendable trust and agency funds. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues
are recorded when susceptible to accrual, that is, when both measurable and available.
“Measurable” means the amount of the transaction can be determined and “available” means
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of
the current period. Expenditures, other than principal and interest on general long-term
obligations, are recorded when the fund liability is incurred and is expected to be liquidated
with expendable available resources. The exception to the general modified accrual expenditure
recognition criteria is that principal and interest on general long-term obligations are recorded
when due or when amounts have been accumulated in the debt service funds for payments to be
made early in the following year.

Intergovernmental revenues, which are primarily grants and subventions received as
reimbursement for specific purposes or projects, are recognized based upon the expenditures
recorded. Intergovernmental revenues which are virtually unrestricted as to purpose of
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expenditure and revocable only for failure to meet prescribed compliance requirements are
reflected as revenues at the time of receipt or earlier if they meet the availability criterion.

Property taxes receivable within the governmental fund types which have been collected within

sixty days following fiscal year-end are considered measurable and available and are
recognized as revenues in the funds.

The County of Alameda is responsible for assessing, collecting and distributing property taxes
in accordance with enabling state law, and for remitting such amounts to the City. Property
taxes are assessed and levied as of March 1 on all taxable property located in the City, and
result in a lien on real property. Property taxes are then due in two equal installments, the first
on November 1 and the second on March 1 of the following calendar year, and are delinquent
after December 10 and April 10, respectively. Since the passage of California’s Proposition 13,
beginning with fiscal year 1978-79, gencral property taxes are limited to a flat 1% rate applied
to the 1975-76 full value of the property, or 1% of the sales price of the property or of the
construction value added after the 1975-76 valuation. Assessed values on properties (exclusive
of increases related to sales and construction) can rise a maximum of 2% per year. Taxes were
levied at the maximum 1% rate during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2000.

Special assessments are recorded as revenues and receivables to the extent installments are

considered current. The estimated installments receivable not considered current are recorded
as receivables and offset by deferred revenue.

Other major revenues are susceptible to accrual and are also recognized as revenue when they
are collected within 60 days of fiscal year-end. These include interest, utility consumption
taxes, franchise fees, transient occupancy taxes, and certain rentals. Real estate transfer taxes
on assessed properties transferred prior to the fiscal year-end and held by Alameda County, and
sales and use taxes and motor vehicle in-lieu taxes held by the State at year-end on behalf of
the City are also recognized as revenue.

Major revenues that are determined not to be susceptible to accrual because either they are not
available soon enough to pay liabilities of the current period or are not objectively measurable
include delinquent property taxes, licenses (other than business licenses), permits, fines and

forfeitures.

Accrual Basis of Accounting

The accrual basis of accounting is utilized in all proprietary fund types and pension trust funds.
Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are
recognized when incurred.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue 1s that for which asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which
revenue recognition criteria have not been met. The City typically records deferred revenue
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related to: uncollected property taxes; estimated special assessments not yet payable;
intergovernmental revenues (primarily grants and subventions) received but not earned
(quahfying expenditures not yet incurred); long-term contracts; and notes or loans receivable
arising from loan subsidy programs which are charged to operations upon funding and
recognized as revenue upon receipt.

Budgetary Data

In accordance with the provisions of the City Charter, the City prepares and adopts a budget on
or before June 30 for each fiscal year. The City Charter prohibits expending funds for which

there is no legal appropriation. Therefore, the City is required to adopt budgets for all City
funds.

Prior to July 1, the originai adopted budget is finalized through the passage of a resolution by
the City Council. The level of legal budgetary control by the City Council is established at the
fund level. For management purposes, the budget is controlled at the depamnental level of
expenditure within funds.

On June 29, 1999, the City Council voted unanimously to adopt the City’s second two-year
budget for fiscal years July 1, 1999 through June 30, 2001. Although appropriations are
adopted for a 24-month period, they are divided into two one-year spending plans.
Agencies/departments ending the first year with budgetary non-project surplus, according to
Counctl policy, will be allowed to carry-forward 1/3 for their operating budget, 1/3 for their
capital spending, and 1/3 for reverting to the General Fund balance.

The revised budgetary data presented in the accompanying “General Fund and Annually
Budgeted Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds—Combined Schedule of Revenues and
Expenditures—Budget and Actual on a Budgetary Basis,” reflect approved changes to the
original 1999-00 budget. Certain projects are appropriated on a multi-year rather than annual
basis. If such projects or programs are not completed at the end of the fiscal year, unexpended
appropriations are carried forward to the following year with the approval of the City Manager.

Transfers of appropriations between funds and departments must be approved by the City
Council. Supplemental appropriations financed by unanticipated revenues fund must be
approved by the City Council.

Transfers of appropriations between projects within the same fund must be approved by the
City Manager. Revised budget amounts reported in the accompanying general purpose
financial statements reflect both the appropriation changes approved by the City Council and
the transfers approved by the City Manager.
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Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for
expenditure of funds are recorded to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is
employed as an extension of formal budgetary control in the governmental fund types.
Encumbrances outstanding at fiscal year end are reported as reservations of fund balances and
the related appropriation is automatically carried forward into the next fiscal year.
Encumbrances do not constitute expenditures or liabilities because the commitments will be
honored during the subsequent fiscal year.

Budgetary Basis of Accounting

The City adopts budgets each fiscal year on a basis of accounting which is substantially the
same as GAAP. The area of difference is discussed in Note 17.

Certain funds of the City contain capital projects, grant projects, loan programs or other
programs that arc budgeted on a multi-year basis. The amounts of the projects and programs
budgeted on a multi-year basis are significant compared to the items budgeted on an annual
basis; therefore, a comparison of budget to actual for the fund would not be meaningful. As a
result, such funds that are excluded from budgetary reporting are:

Special Revenue Funds

Federal and State Grants

Other Assessment Districts
Other Special Revenues
Oakland Redevelopment Agency

Debt Service Funds
Tax Allocation Bonds
Lease Financings
Civic Improvement
JPFA Fund

Capital Projects Funds
Parks and Recreation Fund
Municipal Improvement

Emergency Services Fund
Oakland Redevelopment Agency

In addition, the Lease Financings Debt Service Fund is not budgeted by the City because the
fund is reported for financial statement purposes only, and includes the results of certain lease
financings between the City and the Agency and between the City and the California Statewide
Communities Development Authority. Any financial activity related to these financings is
budgeted on a basis consistent with the form of the transactions, whereas for reporting purposes
the financial activity is recorded in a manner consistent with the substance of the transaction.
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While the City adopts budgets for all funds, the budget to actual comparisons for the following
funds have not been shown due to some projects and programs being adopted on a multi-year
basis and the complexity of the presentation.

Enterprise Funds

Park and Recreation Fund
Sewer Service Fund

Internal Service

Equipment Fund
Radio Fund
Facilities Fund
Reproduction Fund
Central Stores Fund

Pension Trust Funds

OMERS
PFRS

Expendable Trust Funds

Oakland Redevelopment Agency Project Fund
Parks, Recreation and Cultural Trust Fund
Pension Annuity Fund

Other Expendable Trust Funds

Agency Fund
Housing Finance Revenue Bond Fund

Cash and Investments

The City follows the practice of pooling cash of all operating funds for investment, except for
the Oakland Redevelopment Agency funds, agency fund types, and funds held by outside
custodians. Investments are generally carried at fair value. Money market investments (such as
short term, highly liquid debt instruments including commercial paper, banker’s acceptances,
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations) and participating interest-earning investment contracts
(such as negotiable certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements and guaranteed or bank
investment contracts) that have a remaining maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less,

are carried at amortized cost. Changes in fair value of investments are recognized as a
component of interest income.

Income earned or losses arising from the investment of pooled cash are allocated on a monthly
basis to the participating funds (except for Enterprise, Internal Service and certain Special

Revenue Funds) and component units based on their proportionate share of the average daily
cash balance.
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For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the City considers all highly liquid investments
with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The proprietary
fund types’ investments in the City’s cash and investment pool are, in substance, demand
deposits and are therefore considered to be cash equivalents.

Due From/Due To Other Funds

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds for

goods provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are classified as “due
from other funds” or “due to other funds.”

Restricted Cash and Investments

Proceeds from debt and other cash and investments held by fiscal agents by agreement are
classified as restricted assets.

Other Assets

Other assets primarily include prepaid expenses for govemmental funds and bond discounts
and issuance costs for proprietary fund type debt which are deferred and amortized over the
term of the bonds under the interest method. Bond discounts and issuance costs for
governmental fund type debt are recognized as expenditures when incurred.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting of materials and supplies held for consumption, are stated at cost. Cost
is generally calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Inventory items are considered
expensed when used.

General Fixed Assets

General fixed assets are those acquired for general governmental purposes. Such assets
currently purchased or constructed are recorded as expenditures in the governmental fund types
and are capitalized at cost in the General Fixed Assets Account Group, with the exception of
certain assets acquired prior to July 1, 1984, which have been recorded at estimated historical
cost. Donated fixed assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the time of receipt.

Public domain infrastructure (general fixed assets consisting of certain improvements other
than buildings) is not capitalized and is not included in the General Fixed Assets Account
Group. These assets include roads, bridges, curbs and gutters, streets and sidewalks, drainage
systems, lighting systems, and similar assets. Such assets normally are immovable and of value
only to the City; therefore, stewardship for capital expenditures is satisfied without recording
such assets.

No depreciation is provided on general fixed assets.
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Fixed Assets - Proprietary Fund Types and Discretely Presented
Component Unit

Fixed assets in the proprietary fund types and the Port are generally stated at cost, with the
exception of certain assets acquired prior to July 1, 1984, which have been recorded at
estimated historical cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method based on the
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Facilities, sewers and improvements 5-50 years

Container cranes 25 years

Furniture, machinery and other equipment 3-10 years
Land Held for Resale

The Agency charges capital outlay expenditures for the full cost of developing and
administering its projects. Land held for resale is recorded as an asset at the lower of cost or
estimated net realizable value, with an equal amount recorded as a reservation of fund balance.

Vacation and Sick Leave Pay

Vacation pay may be accumulated and is payable upon retirement or termination of an
employee. Sick leave vests to an employee upon being employed for at least ten years with the

City. Upon termination, a vested employee is entitled to one-third of the sick leave
accumulated to the date of termination.

Vested vacation, sick leave and compensatory time are accrued, as appropriate, for all funds.
With respect to obligations of the governmental fund types, amounts expected to be paid
monetarily or by way of compensatory time off are accrued in the appropriate fund if current

resources are expected to be used. The remainder is recorded in the General Long-Term
Obligations Account Group.

Retirement Plans

The City has three defined benefit retirement plans: Qakland Police and Fire Retirement
System (PFRS), Oakland Municipal Employees’ Retirement System (OMERS), and California
Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS). Employer contributions and member
contributions made by the employer to the Plans are recognized when due and the employer
has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are

recognized when due and payable in accordance with the forms of the Plans. Refer to Note 16
for additional information.
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Claims and Judgments

The costs of claims and judgments estimated to be paid with current expendable resources are
accrued as current liabilities of the General Fund when the liability is incurred and the amount
can be reasonably estimated. The remaining estimated costs are recorded in the General Long-
Term Obligations Account Group (Note 12).

Contributed Capital
Primary Government

Contributed capital in the proprietary fund types represents the accumulation of contributions
in the form of cash or other assets which generally do not have to be returned to the
contributor. Such contributions are recorded directly to contributed capital and, accordingly.
are not recognized as revenue. The following transactions are recorded to contributed capital in
the proprietary fund types:

Cash and other asset transfers of equity from the primary government or other funds.
Fixed assets contributed from the primary government or other funds.

Discretely Presented Component Unit

Contributed capital in the Port includes grants from government agencies which are restricted
for the acquisition or construction of capital assets, and passenger facility charges which are
restricted in use for projects eligible under federal legislation and approved by the Federal
Aviation Administration. Depreciation expense on assets acquired with contributed capital i
charged to contributed capital.

Fund Equity

* Reservations of fund balances indicate those portions of fund equity which are not available for
appropriation or expenditure or which have been legally restricted to a specific use (Note 13).

Portions of unreserved fund balances have been designated to indicate those portions of fund
balances which the City has tentative plans to utilize in a future period. These amounts may or
may not result in actual expenditures.

Total Columns on Combined Financial Statements

Total columns on the accompanying general purpose financial statements are captioned
“Memorandum Only” to indicate that they are presented only to facilitate financial analysis.
Data in these columns do not purport to present financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows of the City in conformity with GAAP. Such data is not comparable to a consolidation.
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3)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting -
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial staterments and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

CASH AND INVESTMENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS
Primary Government

The City maintains a cash and investment pool consisting of City funds and cash held for
OMERS, PFRS and the Port. The City’s funds are invested according to the investment policy
adopted by the City Council. The objectives of the policy are legality, safety, liquidity,
diversity, and yield. The policy addresses soundness of financial institutions in which the City
can deposit funds, types of investment instruments permitted by the California Government
Code, duration of the investments, and the percentage of the portfolio which may be invested in
certain instruments. Investments permitted by the policy include:

* United States Treasury securities (subject to restrictions by the Nuclear Free Ordinance);
o federal agency issues;

* bankers’ acceptances;

® commercial paper;

» medium term corporate notes and deposit notes;
» mnegotiable certificates of deposit;

» certificates of deposit;

® Local Agency Investment Fund;

* money market mutual funds:

o local city/agency bonds;

e State of California bonds;

* secured obligations and agreements;

* repurchase agreements; and

® reverse repurchase agreements.

The City’s investment policy stipulates that the collateral to back up repurchase agreements be
priced at market value and be held in safekeeping by the City’s primary custodian.
Additionally, the City Council has adopted certain requirements prohibiting investments in
nuclear weapons makers, and restricting investments in U.S. Treasury bills and notes due to
their use in funding nuclear weapons research and production. As of June 30, 2000, the City
was in compliance with the above stated investment requirements.
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Other deposits and investments are invested pursuant to the governing bond covenants,
deferred compensation plans, or retirement systems’ investment policies. Under the investment
policies, the investment counsel is given the full authority to accomplish the objectives of the
bond covenants or retirement systems subject to the discretionary limits set forth in the
policies.

The retirement systems’ investment policies allow the following:

Obligations of the United States Government, any agency of the United States
Government, common stocks, mutual funds, preferred stocks and securities convertible
into common stocks, Federal Housing Administration mortgages, certificates and shares
of state or federal chartered savings and loan associations, equity or mortgage debt
investments in existing real property or in property to be constructed, except that no
mortgage investments may be funded until the improvements on the property are
substantially complete.

Total deposits and investments (in thousands):

City Port Total
Deposits $ 177,738 $ 1,644 $ 179,382
Investments -1.602.434 223719 ~2.28.153
TOTAL $1,780,172 $527,363 $2,307,535

l

These are classified on the Combined Balance Sheet as (in thousands):

City Port Total
Cash and investments $1,273,839 $ 70,844 $1,344,683
Restricted cash and investments _ 506333 - _456.519 __962.852
TOTAL $1,780,172 $527.363 $2,307,535

Deposits

At June 30, 2000, the carrying amount of the City’s deposits was $177,738,000 and the bank
balance was $166,223,000. The difference between the carrying amount and the bank balance
was primarily due to deposits in transit and outstanding checks. Deposits include checking
accounts, interest earning savings accounts, money market funds, and nonnegotiable
certificates of deposit. Of the bank balance, $600,000 was FDIC insured and $165,623,000 was
collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution in the City’s name, in
accordance with Section 53652 of the California Government Code.

The California Government Code requires that governmental securities or first trust deed

- mortgage notes be used as collateral for demand deposits and certificates of deposit at 110

percent and 150 percent, respectively, of all deposits not covered by federal deposit insurance.
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The collateral must be held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department and is

considered held in the City’s name.

Investments

The City’s investments are categorized to give an indication of the level of custodial risk
assumed by the City at year-end. Category 1 includes investments that are insured or registered,
or securities held by the City or its agent in the City’s name. Category 2 includes uninsured and
unregistered investments, with the securities held by the counterparty’s trust department or
agent in the City's name. Category 3 includes uninsured and unregistered investments, with the
securities held by the counterparty or by its trust department or agent but not in the City’s

name.

At June 30, 2000, investments included the following (in thousands):

Subject to Custodial Risk Categorization

U.S. Treasury securities

Federal agency issues

Municipal bonds

Commercial paper

Bankers Acceptance

Negotiable certificates of deposit
Corporate stocks and bonds
Medium term corporate notes

Long-term repurchase and
investment agrecments
Total

Investments Not Subject to

Custodial Risk Categorization

Real estate deeds

Real estate mortgage loans/investments

Life insurance annuity contracts

Local Agency Investment Fund

Investments held by broker-dealers under
securities loans

Total

TOTAL INVESTMENTS
Less Port of Qakland Investments

TOTAL CITY INVESTMENTS

Category 1

3 130,138
280,302
4913
17,742
2,464
5,998
528,800
247,301

468817
$1,687.975

Carrying
Value

$ 130,138
280,362
4,913
17,742
2,404
5,998
528,800
247,80}

468817
1.686.975

5,226
138
154,436
35,796

—242.582
441,178
2,128,153

—(525.71%
$1,602,434
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Securities Lending Transactions

PFRS is authorized to enter into securities lending transactions which are short term
collateralized loans of PFRS securities to brokers with a simultaneous agreement allowing
PFRS to invest and receive earnings on the loan collateral for a loan rebate fee. All securities

loans can be terminated on demand by either PFRS or the borrower, although the average term
of such loans is one week.

Metropolitan West Securities, Inc. (MetWest) administers the securities lending program.
MetWest is responsible for maintaining an adequate level of collateral in an amount equal to at
least 102% of the market value of loaned U.S. government securities. Collateral received may
include cash, letters of credit, or securities. If securities collateral is received, PFRS cannot
pledge or sell the collateral securities unless the borrower defaults.

At year-end, PFRS had no credit risk exposure to securities borrowers because the amounts
PFRS owed to borrowers exceeded the amounts the borrowers owed to PFRS. PFRS’ contract
with MetWest requires it to indemnify PFRS if the borrowers fail to return the securities (and if
the collateral is inadequate to replace the securities lent) or fail to pay PFRS for income
distributions by the securities’ issuers while the securities are on loan.

As of June 30, 2000, PFRS had securities on loan with a market value of approximately
$238,159,000 for cash collateral of $245,582,000.

PFRS’ securities lending income for the year ending June 30, 2000, is as follows:

Gross Income $ 10,388,658
Expenses:
Borrower rebates 9,552,165
Administration fees 356.166
Total Expenses 9,908,331
NET INCOME FROM SECURITIES LENDING $ 480,327
Derivatives

The City’s investment policy permits investments in certain derivatives. There were no
derivatives included in the investment pool during the year ended June 30, 2000.
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Discretely Presented Component Unit

The Port’s cash and investments are reported as follows at June 30, 2000 (in thousands):
Cash and investments:

Cash and investments with the City $ 69,200
Cash on hand 3
Cash in bank accounts 1,641
TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS 70,844

Restricted cash and investments:
Sinking fund and reserve deposits

with fiscal agents 68,746
Unexpended bond proceeds restricted
for construction 335,669
Deposits in escrow 4,204
Cash and investments with City:
Passenger facility charges 45,794
Other 1,836
Restricted deposits with fiscal agents for
current debt service 270
TOTAL RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS 456,519
TOTAL $527,363
The carrying amount of Port cash and investments is as follows at June 30, 2000 (in
thousands):
Cash on hand and at bank $ 5850
Government securities money market mutual funds 3.683
U.S. Treasury obligations 19,640
Guaranteed investment contracts 381,360
Cash and investments with the City of Oakland 116,830
TOTAL $527,363

Cash and Investments With the City of Oakland

Pursuant to the City Charter, Port operating revenues are deposited in the City treasury. These
funds are commingled in the City cash and investment pool. The Port receives a monthly
interest allocation from investment eamings of the City based on the average daily balance on
deposit and the earnings of the investments. All investments deposited in the City treasury are
insured or registered, or held by the City or its agent in the City’s name.
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Restricted Cash and Investments

Port bond resolutions authorize the investment of restricted cash, including deposits, with fiscal
agents for debt service. Authorized investment securities are specified in the various bond
indentures. All indentures permit investments in U.S. Treasury obligations and bank certificates
of deposit. Certain indentures also permit investments in federal agency obligations, certain
state and secured municipal obligations, long-term and medium-term guaranteed corporate debt
securities in the two highest rating categories, commercial paper rated prime, repurchase
agreements, certain money market mutual funds, and certain guaranteed investment contracts.

Deposits and investments

The carrying amount of Port deposits with banks and fiscal agents was $1,644,000 at June 30,
2000. The bank balances of $301,000 are insured or collateralized with securities held by the

pledging financial institution in the Port’s name, in accordance with Section 53652 of the
California Government Code.

The California Government Code requires governmental securities or first trust deed mortgage
notes as collateral for demand deposits and certificates of deposit at 110 percent and 150
percent, respectively, of all deposits not covered by federal deposit insurance. The collateral
must be held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department and is considered held in
the City’s name.

All investments subject to custodial risk categorization are Category 1 investments.
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(4) DUE FROM/DUE TO OTHER FUNDS

The following were the current interfund balances at June 30, 2000 (in thousands):

Due from Due to

General Fund $ 82415 $12.124
Special Revenue Funds

Federal and State Grants 3,171 35,773

Other Special Revenue 1,926 1,105

Oakland Redevelopment Agency 333 34

5.632 36,9
Debt Service Funds
Tax Allocation Bonds —_ 20,358
Lease Financings 9,942 106
Civic Improvement 121 5
JPFA Fund — 19
Other Special Revenue Bonds I _ 4
10,063 20,492
Capital Projects Funds
Municipal Improvement Capital 1,474 5,200
Emergency Services — 112
Oakland Redevelopment Agency 2477 18504
3951 23,816
Internal Service Funds
Facilities — 2,784
Central Stores — 2749
p— 5.533
Trust and Agency Funds
Expendabie Trust Funds
Oakland Redevelopment Agency Projects _ 3829 6993
3.829 6.993
TOTAL $ 105,890 $105.890
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(5)

MEMORANDUMS OF UNDERSTANDING

The City and the Port have Memorandums of Understanding (MOUs) relating to: (a) general
obligation bonds issued by the City for the benefit of the Port; (b) various administrative,
personnel, data processing, and financial services (Special Services); and (c) police, fire, public
street cleaning and maintenance, and similar services (General Services) provided by the City
to the Port.

Payments for Special Services are treated as a cost of Port 6pcrations and have priority over
certain other expenditures of Port revenues. At June 30, 2000, $6,236,000 in Special Services
expenditures have been accrued as a current liability by the Port and as a receivabie by the

City.

The Port’s legal counsel advised the Port that payments for General Services and Lake Merritt
to the City are payable only to the extent the Port determines annually that surplus monies are
available. Subject to final approvals by the Port and the City, and subject to availability of
surplus monies, the Port will reimburse the City annually for General Services and Lake
Merritt tideland trust properties. At June 30, 2000, $527,000 and $1,000,000, have been
accrued by the Port as a current liability and by Oakland as a receivable for General Services
and Lake Merritt tideland trust properties, respectively.

The City and Port are in the process of negotiating an MOU for payments to be made by the
Port to the City in consideration for services provided by the City on Tidelands Trust
properties. Such payments are expected to amount to $3,000,000 per year, and represent a
portion of the total expenses incurred by the City in the provision of services within the Lake
Merritt Tidelands boundaries. Included in the amount recorded as a receivable from the Port of
Oakland is $2,500,000 for fiscal year 1997, which the Port has also recorded as an obligation
due to the City. Any additional amount due to the City will be recorded when an MOU has
been executed.
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NOTES AND LOANS RECEIVABLE

Grant-in-aid loans at various interest rates and due dates (0% Lo 10% at June 30, 2000)

Oakland Hotel Associates, Ltd., bearing interest at 7.67%, principal and interest due July
1, 2013, or earlier under certain provisions of the note

Mar Associates, bearing interest at 8%, principal and interest due March 9, 2002

Oakiand Hotel Associates, Lid., bearing interest at Bank of America reference rate (0% a1
June 30, 2000}, no principal and interest payable until December 30, 2026

Foothill Plaza Partnership, bearing interest at 3%, principal and intezest payable in equal
monthly installments through July 20, 2017

Oakland Renaissance Ltd., bearing interest at 7.72%, principal and interest due August 12,
2031

Oakland Business Development Corporation Neighborhood Economic Development Fund
revolving loan program, non-interest bearing, various borrowers

Hillary Development, bearing interest at 3%. Final maturity is currently under negotiation.

Harrison Hotel Associates, bearing interest at 6%, principal and interest due December 15,
2048

Wouodrow Hotel, bearing interest at 6.50%, principal and interest due December 3, 2023
Other pass-thru loans at various interest rates and maturities (0% to 10% at June 30, 2000)
Other notes and loans receivable at various interest rates and maturities

E.M. Health Service, bearing interest at 8.75%, principal and interest payable in equal
monthly installments through April 1, 2004

Granny Goose Foods, bearing interest at 8.5%, principal and interest payable in equal
monthly installments through October 1, 2016

Cahon, Inc., bearing interest at 6%, through Jure 30, 1993, and zero interest thereafter,
principal and interest due December 31, 2000, or earlier under certain provisions of the
note

Women's Economic Agenda, bearing interest at 6%, principal and interest due August 14,
2025

Eastmont Town Center, bearing interest at 9.51%, principal and interest payable in equal
monthly instaliments through April 1, 2008

Alvingroom Court, bearing interest at 3.0%, principal and interest due December 24, 2026

Fruitvale Development Corporation bearing interest at 6.0%, interest only payments until
June 1, 2002, principal and interest payable in equal monthly installments through June
1,2016

Allen Temple Housing Corporation I'V bearing interest at 6.0%, principal and interest due
November 7, 2035

TOTAL

Notes and loans receivable at June 30, 2000, consisted of the following (in thousands):

$ 42,099

1,986
3,288

3,379
1176
1770

1,237
1,793

2,287
1,626
17,291
19,057

1,100

1,660

1,100
2,403
3,626
2,491
1,160

—LI%0
$117.689




)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deletions

$ -

1,901

Balance
June 30,
2000

$ 71,148
604,611
37,746
31,183
—14.892

FIXED ASSETS
A summary of changes in general fixed assets for the year ended June 30, 2000, follows (in
thousands):
Balance
July 1, Transfers/
1999 Additions
Land $ 70,627 $ 521
Facilities and
improvements 589,144 15,467
Furniture, machinery
and equipment 38,121 1,526
Investments in joint
venture 17,637 13,546
Construction in
progress —13.540 —1.352
TOTAL $729.069 $32.412

1,901

$759,580

A summary of property and equipment at June 30, 2000, for proprietary fund types and

discretely presented component units follows (in thousands):

Land

Facilities and improvements

Container cranes

Furniture, machinery and
equipment

Construction in progress

Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization

TOTAL

Enterprise
Funds

$ 220

100,358

100,578

$79,5998

_ Component Unit_
Port

of
Oakland
$ 186,552
866,928
95,690

32,328
—288.714
1,470,212

—-374,620
$1,095,502

49




S 1Ty oF OAKLAND

(8)

PROPERTY HELD FOR RESALE

Property held for resale at June 30, 2000, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Chinatown $ 840
City Center 2,543
Coliseum Shoreline 2,749
Housewives Market 1,611
Multi-Service Center : 5,100
Swans Market 4,425
Taldan Site 1,302
City Hall Annex 2,875
Preservation Park 6,448
City Center Garage West 21,447
Fox Theater 3,000

_11th-12th Broadway & Franklin 3,153
U.S. Ice Skating Rink 10,588
819 Clay Street 141
Acom Shopping Center 2,970
529—20th Street, 1901 Telegraph Avenue,

538-544 & 562-570 William Street 1,791
550 William Street 192
562-570 William Street 121
584 William Street 36
811 Clay Street 312
Evelyn Rose Family Housing (Conveyance) 1,049
1818-1824 San Pablo Avenue 301
1826-1840 San Pablo Avenue (Res. 99-49) 607
728—73rd Avenue 365
1975 Telegraph Avenue 891
602, 604 & 608 William Street 82
Total $74.939

The Agency acquired the Preservation Park project, which was developed by a joint venture
between the Agency and Bramalea Pacific, Inc., by credit bid at a foreclosure sale. On January
5, 1996, under an Assumption Agrecment between the City and the Agency, the Agency
assumed the $6,448,000 obligation of the Preservation Park project.

On May 8, 1991, the Agency entered into a joint venture agreement with Bramalea Pacific, Inc.
under the name of City Center Garage West Associates (Associates). The purpose of the joint
venture was to construct and operate a multi-level parking structure and other related stores and
offices. Associates entered into a loan agreement with the City for $22,000,000 to construct the
garage. On May 23, 1995, due to the Canadian bankruptcy of Bramalea’s parent company, the
City took title to the garage in settlement of the loan obligation of Associates. On October 12,
1995, the City transferred the title of the garage to the Agency to hold as property held for
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resale and will operate for the purpose of facilitating the future development of the City Center
Project. In acceptance of the title to the garage, the Agency acguired the City’s loan to
Associates. The Agency agreed to repay the City’s loan batance of $21,447 ,000.

In June 1996, U.S. Ice Ventures defaulted on their loan repayment obligations to the Agency
pursuant to loan documents between the Agency and U.S. Ice Ventures. As a result of the
default, the Agency sued U.S. Ice Ventures to enforce the Agency’s rights under the
agreements between the Agency and U.S. Ice Ventures. In October 1996, U.S. Ice Ventures
filed for bankruptcy. On May 1, 1997, under the bankruptcy settlement, the Agency took title
of the property.

TAX AND REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES PAYABLE

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2000, the City issﬁcd tax and revenue anticipation notes
payable of $60,000,000. The notes were issued to satisfy General Fund obligations and carried

an effective interest rate of approximately 4.25%. Principal and interest were due and repaid on
June 30, 2000.

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
General Long-Term Obligations

The following is a summary of changes in general long-term obligations for the year ended
June 30, 2000 (in thousands):

Additional
Balance  Obligations Maturities Balance
atjuly 1, and Net and at June 30,
1999 Increases Retirements 2000
General obligation bonds $ 132,960 $ — $ 3295 $ 129,665
Tax allocation bonds 184,839 39,395 7,955 216,279
Lease financings 508,648 —_ 6,035 502,613
Special assessment debt with
governmental commitment 10,050 7,255 7.580 9,725
Special revenue bonds 422,850 — 15,570 407,280
Notes payable 29,036 4,280 7,376 25,940
Accrued vacation and
sick leave 30,514 — 1,200 29,314
Self-insurance liability for
workers’ compensation 44,380 — — 44 380
Estimated claims payable 13,757 8,749 — 22,506
Contingent liability for
Authority debt (Note 15) 94,750 82713 — 103023
TOTAL $1471,784 $67,952 $49,011 $1,490,725
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General long-term obligations at June 30, 2000, consisted of the following (in thousands):

Maturities interest Balance at
(Calendar Year) Rates june 30, 2000

General Obligation Bonds
General Obligation Bonds Series 1991A (a) 2000-2015 5.50%-8.50% $ 10,060
Genreral Obligation Bonds Series 19958 (a)

Serial bonds 2000-2013 5.30%-8.25% 7,685

Term bonds 2015 5.875% 1,760

Term bonds 2019 5.875% 4,190
General Obligation Bonds Series 1997C (a)

Serial bonds 2000-2019 5.50%-6.00% 16,665

Term bonds 2022 5.90% 4,660
General Obligation Bonds Series 1992 (b)

Serial bonds 2000-2012 4.25%-6.00% 16,320

Term bonds 2017 6.00% 10,435

Term bonds 2022 6.00% 14,460
General Obligation Bonds Series 1997 {c)

Serial bonds 2000-2016 5.25%-5.75% 26,270

Term bonds 2019 5.75% 5,075

Term bonds 2022 5.85% 12,085

129,665

Tax Allocation Bonds
Acorn Refunding Series 1988 (d)
Term bonds 2007 7.40% 2,075
Central District Tax Allocation Refunding
Series 1989A (e)
Serial bonds 2000-2000 6.40%-6.55% 3,485
Capital appreciation bonds 2001-2009 6.60%-6.65% 11,895
Central District Senior Tax Allocation
Refunding Series 1992 (f)

Serial bonds 2000-2008 5.10%-6.00% 38,165

Term bonds 2009-2014 5.50%-6.15% 35910
Central District Subordinated Tax

Allocation Refunding Series 1992A (g) 2000-2019 5.95% 52,800

Central District Subordinated Tax Aliocation
Series 1993A (h)

Serial bonds 2000-2004 4.00%-4.90% 3,205
Term bonds 2005-2009 5.30% 4,075
Term bonds 2010-2013 5.00% 4,080
Term bonds 2014-2021 5.00% 11,025
Central District Subordinated Tax
Allocation Bonds, Series 1995A (i)
Senal bonds 2001 5.50% 225
Term bonds 2008 T.20% 1,010
Term bonds 2015 7.50% 1,340
Term bonds 2021 7.60% 7,060
General Obligations - Tribune Tower 2011 5.643% 530
Subordinated Housing Set Aside Revenue 1))
Bond Series 2000T
Serial bonds 2003 7.39% 1,325
Serial bonds 2004 7.35% 1,425
Serial bonds 2010 7.82% 11,160
Serial Bonds 2015 7.93% 14,065
Serial Bonds 2018 8.03% _.1L420
216,279
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Maturities
(Calendar Year)
Lease Financings
Oakland JPFA Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 1996 (k)
Serial bonds 2000-2011
Term bonds 2016
Term bonds 2021
Term bonds 2026
California Statewide Communities
Development Authority Bonds (1)
Serial bonds 2000-2007
Term bonds 2010
Term bonds 2014
QOakland Museum 1992 Series A (m)
Serial bonds 2000-2003
Term bonds 2005
Term bonds 2012
Capital appreciation bonds 2006-2007
Civic Improvement Corporation (n) 2000-2015
Oakland JPFA Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 (0)
Swapped 2000-2021
Variable Rate 2000-2021
Special Assessment Debt with
Governmental Commitment
Medical Hill Parking District Refunding
Improvement Bonds 1994 (p)
Term bonds 2004
Qakland JPFA Reassessment Revenue Bonds
Senal bonds 2000-2010
“Term bonds 2018
Term bonds 2024
Oakland JPFA Special Assessment Pooled Revenue
Bonds 1996 Series A (q) 2000-2020
QOakland Special Assessment Pooled Revenue
Bonds 1997 {1)
Serial Bonds 2000-2007
Term bonds 2012
Special Revenue Bonds
Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds Series 1997 (s) 2000-2010
Notes Payable
Koch Financial Corporation (t) 2000-2003
Department of Housing Urban Development (u) N/A

Light-Emitting Diode Traffic Signal Conversion
Project (v)

interest
Rates

4.60%-5.50%
5.90%
5.75%
5.75%

5.40%-6.20%
6.00%
5.50%

5.60%-6.00%
6.25%
6.00%
6.45%-6.55%
Variable

5.67715%
Vanable

6.00%
3.70-5.15%
5.40%
3.50%
4.20-6.70%

4.20-5.20%
5.65%

5.63%-7.31%

4.11%
N/A

Balance at
June 30, 2000

$ 28,125
18,395
24,610
32,815

54,390
31,900
52,630

6,525
5,020
15,900
2,203
42,600

170,000
12300

c_ 2613

1,145
2,025
2,465
2,620

385

8,976
15,985

—279
— 23940
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Maturities Interest Balance at
{Calendar Year) Rates June 30, 2000

Other Long-Term Liabilities
Accrued vacation and sick leave $ 29314
Self-insurance liability for workers’ compensation (Note 12) 44,380
Estimated claims payable (Note 12) 22,506
Contingent liability for Authority debt (Note 15) 103,023
199,223
TOTAL GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 3 1490725

General Obligation Bonds

(a)

(b)

(©)

General Obligation Bonds Series 1991A, Series 1995B and Series 1997C

The City received authorization to issue $60 million of General Obligation Bonds by a
two-thirds vote of the electorate at the November 6, 1990, general election. The bonds
were authorized for the purpose of financing the acquisition of land and to expand and
develop park and recreation facilitics. On February 19, 1991, the City issued $12,000,000
of General Obligation Bonds Series 1991A. On March 1, 1995, the City issued a second
series, $15,000,000 General Obligation Bonds Series 1995B. On April 1, 1997, the City
issued a third series, $22,250,000 General Obligation Bonds Series 1997C, leaving the
authorized but unissued amount of $10,750,000. The City is obligated to levy ad valorem
taxes upon all property subject to taxation within the City, without limitation of rate or
amount, for the payment of the principal and interest on the bonds.

General Obligation Bonds Series 1992

On July 15, 1992, the City issued $50 million of General Obligation Bonds Series 1992.
The City received authorization to issue these bonds by two-thirds vote of the electorate
at the June 2, 1992, primary election. Bond proceeds are to be used for enhancement of
the City’s emergency response capabilities and for seismic reinforcement of essential
public facilities and infrastructure,

General Obligation Bonds Series 1997

On March 15, 1997, the City issued $45,420,000 of General Obligation Bonds Series
1997 to repair, construct, acquire and improve libraries, museums and other cultural and
recreational facilities throughout the City. The bonds represent the first and only series of
bonds within the authorization approved by the voters of the City on November 5, 1996.
The City is obligated to levy ad valorem taxes upon all property subject to taxation within
the City, without limitation of rate or amount, for the payment of the principal and
interest on the bonds.
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Tax Allocation Bonds

@
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®

Acorn Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1988

On November 1, 1988, the Agency issued the $3,375,000 of Acorn Tax Allocation
Refunding Bonds Series 1988 to advance refund $2,895,000 of Acorn Tax Allocation
Refunding Bonds. The bonds are a limited obligation of the Agency and are payable from
and secured by a pledge of a portion of tax revenues assessed on property within the
Central District Redevelopment Project Area allocable to the Agency pursuant to
Redevelopment Law. Bonds maturing in 2007 are subject to mandatory sinking fund
requirements commencing May 1, 2001, and are subject to prior redemption.

Central District Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1989A

On August 1, 1989, the Agency issued $92,399,000 of Central District Tax Allocation
Refunding Bonds Series 1989A were issued by the Agency. Proceeds of the bonds are
being used by the Agency to finance projects and improvements in the Central District
Redevelopment Project Area. The bonds are a limited obligation of the Agency and are
payable from and secured by a pledge of a portion of tax revenues assessed on property
within the Central District Redevelopment Project Area, allocable to the Agency pursuant
to Redevelopment Law.

As discussed under Central District Subordinated Tax Allocation Refunding Series
1992A, the Agency refunded all of the $51,600,000 term portion and $2,000,000 of the
serial portion of the Series 1989A bonds.

Central District Senior Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1992

On November 15, 1992, the Agency issued $97,655,000 of Central District Senior Tax
Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1992 at an effective interest cost of 6.25%. The bonds
were issued to defease in substance all of the Agency’s Central District Tax Allocation
Refunding Bonds Series 1986 in the amount of $84,325,000. The bonds are secured on a
senior basis by tax increment revenue of the Agency. The Series 1992 Senior Tax
Allocation Refunding Bonds are a limited obligation of the Agency and are payable from
and secured by a pledge of a portion of tax revenues assessed on property within the
Central District Redevelopment Project Area, allocable to the Agency pursuant to
Rédevelopment Law.

Central District Subordinated Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1992A

On July 9, 1992, the Agency issued $53,600,000 of Central District Subordinated Tax
Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1992A, at an interest rate of 5.95% to provide a bond
equivalent yield of 6.02%. These bonds were used to refund the $51,600,000 term bond
portion and $2,000,000 of the serial bond portion of the Agency’s Central District Tax
Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1989A. These bonds are on parity with the Central
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District Subordinated Tax Allocation Bonds Series 1993A and Central District Tax
Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1989A. These bonds are a limited obligation of the
Agency and are payable from and secured by a pledge of a portion of tax revenues
assessed on property within the Central District Redevelopment Project Area allocable to
the Agency pursuant to Redevelopment Law.

Central District Subordinated Tax Allocation Bonds Series 1993A

On March 1, 1993, the Agency issued $25,000,000 of Central District Subordinated Tax
Allocation Bonds Series 1993A. A portion of the proceeds of the bonds is intended to be
used to finance the renovation and reconstruction of the Oakland City Hall and other
redevelopment projects in the Central District Redevelopment Project Area. The
remaining proceeds were used to establish a capitalized interest account to pay interest
charges through March 1, 1995, and to establish a reserve account. The bonds are on
parity with the Central District Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1989A and
Central District Subordinated Tax Allocation Refunding Series 1992A bonds, and are a
limited obligation of the Agency payable from and secured by a pledge of a portion of tax
Tevenues assessed on property within the Central District Redevelopment Project Area
atlocable to the Agency pursuant to Redevelopment Law,

Central District Subordinated Tax Allocation Series 19954

On August 1, 1995, the Agency issued $10,000,000 of Central District Redevelopment
Project Subordinated Tax Allocation Bonds Series 1995A, at an interest cost of 7.80%.
The bonds mature on September 1, 2021.

Proceeds of the bonds provide the Agency’s portion of the construction costs of the City
Administration facilities. Remaining proceeds may be used for other capital expenditures
within the Central District Project.

These bonds are issued on parity with the Redevelopment Agency’s Central District
Redevelopment Project Subordinated Tax Allocation Bonds Series 1993A, the Agency’s
Subordinated Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 1992A and the Agency's Central
District Subordinated Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 1989A.

Subordinated Housing Set-Aside Revenue Bonds Series 20600T

On May 1, 2000, the Agency issued Subordinated Housing Set Aside Revenue Bonds,
Series 2000T in aggregate principal amouat of $39,395,000 at interest rates ranging from
7.39% to 8.03%, which will mature on September 01, 2018. Proceeds of the bonds will be
used by the Agency to increase, improve, and preserve the supply of housing within the
City of Oakland available at affordable housing cost to persons or families of low or very
low income. The bonds are secured by portion of the 20% housing set-aside tax increment
revenues from the City’s six redevelopment project areas. These bonds were issued on a
federally taxable basis to provide the greatest flexibility on the use of proceeds. A portion
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of the proceeds ($1,028,641) was used to pay for closing costs such as: cost of issuance,
underwriter’s discount, insurance premium, and surety bond.

Lease Financings

k)

®

(m)

Oakland JPFA Lease Revenue Bonds Series 1996

On March 15, 1996, the Oakland Joint Power Financing Authority (JPFA) issued Lease
Revenue Bonds Series 1996 in the amount of $103,947,000. Bond proceeds are to be used
for the design, construction, rehabilitation and equipping of two buildings which will be
part of the administrative center of the City of Oakland. The bonds are payable from
revenue consisting primarily of lease payments to be made by the City to the JPFA for
certain real property and improvements thereon under a lease agreement.

California Statewide Communities Development Authority Bonds

On November 1, 1992, the California Statewide Communities Development Authority
(CSCDA) issued $149,825,000 of 1992 Lease Revenue Bonds to purchase the Kaiser
Convention Center (Kaiser) and the George P. Scotlan Memorial Convention Center
(Scotlan). The City concurrently leased Kaiser and Scotlan from CSCDA.

Due to the substance of the financing transaction, the effect of the issuance of the Bonds
has been recorded directly as an issuance of debt by the City to finance the reacquisition
of the Kaiser and Scotlan Convention Centers. Accordingly, the Bonds are recorded in the
General Long-Term Obligations Account Group. The City’s capital lease obligation is not
reflected in the City’s general purpose financial statements.

The serial bonds maturing on or after October 1, 2002, the term bonds maturing on
October 1, 2010, and the term bonds maturing on October 1, 2014, are subject to optional
redemption, in such order of maturity as the City shall direct, commencing October 1,
2002. The bonds maturing on October 1, 2010, and October 1, 2014, will be subject to
mandatory redemption, or in part by lot, on October 1 in each year, commencing on
October 1, 2008, and October 1, 2001, respectively.

Oakland Museum 1992 Series A

On May 15, 1992, the Agency issued $39,408,000 of Refunding Certificates of
Participation (Certificates) with an effective interest cost of 6.442% to legally defease the
Oakland Museum Certificates of Participation 1987 Series A.

The Agency has leased the Museum’s facilities and site to the City under a lease
agreement. The Agency is not obligated to make any payments in respect to the
Certificates except from the payments by or on behalf of the City pursuant to the lease
agreement.
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Due to the substance of the financing transaction, the effect of the issuance of the
Certificates has been recorded directly as an issuance of debt by the City to finance the
reacquisition of the Museum. Accordingly, the Certificates are recorded by the City in the
General Long-Term Obligations Account Group. The Agency’s direct financing lease
receivable and City’s capital lease obligation are not reflected in the City’s general
purpose financial statements.

Civic Improvement Corporation

On December 1, 1985, the City entered into various simultaneous agreements to finance
the acquisition and construction of capital improvements on City property, such as traffic
control devices, street resurfacing, parking lots, garages and the rehabilitation of various

City buildings. The following is a summary of the agreements that have been entered
nto.

Certificates of Participation—The Civic Improvement Corporation (Corporation), a
not-for-profit corporation, issued $52,300,000 variable rate demand certificates of
participation evidencing the proportionate interests of the owners thereof in lease
payments to be made by the City for certain property pursuant to a master lease
agreement with the Corporation.

Master Lease Agreement—The City entered into a lease agreement with the
Corporation whereby the Corporation agreed to provide financing for certain
proposed capital improvements. Under the terms of the agreement, the City agreed to
supervise and provide for the construction and improvement of certain City
properties. The improvements were paid by the Corporation from the proceeds of the
certificates that were held by the Trustee. Once the improvements are completed, the
Corporation has agreed to lease the projects to the City. The lease payments to be

received by the Corporation are equal to the related principal and interest payments on
the certificates.

Letter of Credit—The letter of credit (LC) is an irrevocable direct-pay obligation of
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen Girozentrale. The LC expires Angust 2, 2002. In
aggregate, the City has available under the LC $44,925,808 as of June 30, 2000, of
which $44,000,000 may be drawn for the payment of the unpaid principal amount of
the certificates, and $925,808 may be drawn for payment of interest accrued on the
certificates. In order to obtain the LC, the City became obligated to pay commission
fees of one-quarter of one percent per annum or the available amount outstanding on
the LC. For the year ended June 30, 2000, the City paid a total letter of credit fee of
approximately $106,000.
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Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority, Series 1998

The 1998 bonds were issued by the Joint Powers Authority on August 3, 1998, to
refund the City of Oakland’s Special Refunding Revenue Bonds (Pension Financing),
Series 1988A. The bonds were sold in a variable-rate mode, in two series:
$131,500,000 Series A-1 and $56,000,000 Series A-2, with a final maturity of August
1, 2021. The bonds are limited obligations of the Authority, payable by base rental
payments from the City’s General Fund, in exchange for the right to use and
possession of a portion of the City’s sewer system. The City entered into a
$170,000,000 forwarding-starting, floating-to-fixed “synthetic-fixed-rate” swap, at a
5.6775% interest rate, with Goldman Sachs, which commenced on July 31, 1998, and
terminates on July 31, 2021. The swap entitles the City to receive variable rate
payments equal to the Bond Market Association Municipal Swap Index in exchange
for a fixed rate payment to Goldman Sachs. The notional value of the swap declines
in accord with the outstanding principal on the bonds.

Special Assessment Debt with Governmental Commitment

®

(q)

Medical Hill Parking District Refunding Improvement Bonds 1994

In April 1994, the City issued $2,020,000 of 1994 Refunding Improvement Bonds
Medical Hill Parking Assessment District, Series 3 (Refunding Bonds) at an interest rate
of 6.237%. The Refunding Bonds are payable from assessments levied against property
owners in the Medical Hill District. In the event of continuing delinquencies in the
payment of the property owners’ installments, the City, in the absence of any other
bidder, is obligated to purchase the delinquent property owner's property at a delinquent
assessment sale and pay delinquent and future installments of assessments and interest
thereon until the land is resold or bonds are redeemed.

Qakland JPFA Reassessment Revenue Bonds

On July 5, 1999, the Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority issued bonds in order to
refinance the local obligation bonds for two special assessment districts: (1) for a portion
of the costs of construction of new underground support services and for repaving the
street surfaces in conjunction with the undergrounding of utility lines in the area affected
by the October 1991 firestorm (Fire Area Utility Underground Assessment District No.
1994-1), and (2) for a portion of the costs of providing new, enlarged water delivery lines
and higher-flow fire hydrants in the upper Rockridge area (Rockridge Water Area
Improvements District No. 1994-2). The bonds are rated A- by Standards & Poors
Corporation. The bonds are payable from revenues derived from the reassessments levied
on the properties in the original two assessment districts.
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Oakland JPFA Special Assessment Pooled Revenue Bonds 1996 Series A

In August 1996, the Oakland Joint Powers Financing Authority (“JPFA”) issued
$463,000 of Special Assessment Pooled Revenue Bonds 1996 Series A. The Bonds were
issued pursuant to Resolution No. 96-02 of the JPFA to provide funds for a loan to the
City (pursuant to City Resolution No. 72830) for the purpose of funding (1) the
installation of certain underground utilities and street light fixtures within four districts in
the City of Oakland, and (2) the construction of a sewer line in the Skyline Sewer
District. Loan repayment will be secured exclusively by the unpaid portion of special
assessments levied upon the properties benefited by the improvements acquired and
constructed with the loan proceeds.

Oakland Special Assessment Pooled Revenue Bonds 1997

In December 1997, the Oakland Joint Powers Authority (“JPFA”) issued $1,250,000 of
Special Assessment Pooled Revenue Bonds, Series 1997. The bonds were issued pursuant
to Resolution No. 97-01 of the JPFA to finance the purchase by the JPFA from the City
of Oakland Assessment Bonds issued by the City of QOakland. Each issue of Assessment
Bonds were issued for the purpose of funding the installation of undergrounding certain
utilities and the construction of street lighting within five districts of the City of Oakland.
The Assessment Bonds are payable from the unpaid assessments levied upon real
property within the five districts.

Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds Series 1997

On February 1, 1997, the City issued Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds Series 1997,
Sub-series A, comprised of $393,790,000 of Current Interest Bonds and $26,705,000 of
Capital Appreciation Bonds and Sub-series B in the amount of $15,795,000 Current
Interest Bonds. The proceeds of the bonds were used to fund (1) a portion of the current
balance of the City’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) for retirement benefits
to members of the Oakland Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS), (2) a portion of
the City’s current normal contribution to PFRS for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1997,
and (3) pay costs of issuance of the Bonds. The payment to PFRS in the amount of
$417,173,000 equals the present value of the payments the City would otherwise be
required to make to amortize the current balance of the City’s UAAL through June 30,
2011, and a portion of the City’s normal contribution as stated in (2) above.

In March 1997, the City entered into a debt service deposit agreement with a third party
whereby the City received $8,147,000 in exchange for forgoing its right to receive
invesunent earnings on the amounts deposited with the trustee in advance of the date that
the Pension Obligation Bonds debt service payment is due to the bondholders. The
compensation the City received has been recorded in the General Fund as deferred
revenue and is being amortized over the 14 year life of the agreement using the effective
interest method.
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Notes Payable

(u)

™

(w)

Koch Financial Corporation

The City entered into a financing agreement with Oracle Credit Corporation in March
1998 for financing costs associated with implementing a new financial and human
resources/payroll system. That agreement was subsequently assigned to Koch Financial
Corporation. This project will be financed over a five-year period with quarterly
payments of $894,950 beginning August 1, 1998, at an interest rate of 4.11%. The total
amount to be financed is $15.8 million. The City made an initial down payment of $2.0
million in March 1998. As of June 30, 2000, $15.7 million in costs had been incurred
related to implementing these new systems. It is anticipated that this project will be
completed prior to the end of the 2000-01 fiscal year. The balance of the loan as of June
30, 2000, was $8,976,000.

Department of Housing and Urban Development

On July 14, 1995, the City of Oakland and IDG/Banner Urban Ventures, a California
Corporation, entered into a Disposition and Development Agreement pursuant to which
the City agreed to sell City-owned real property located on Martin Luther King, Jr. Way.
The agreement provided that the developer would acquire and renovate the core and shell
of buildings on the property. The City borrowed Housing and Urban Development
(HUD), Section 108 loan funds in its own name to finance the project. On February 9,
1996, the City terminated the Disposition and Development Agreement with IDG/Banner
Urban Ventures and assumed full responsibility in the development of the property to
commercial and high technology oriented companies. The total amount of the note was
$10,945,000. On July 28, 1998, the City Council passed Resolution No. 12074 C.M.S.
authorizing the sale of the property to Children’s Hospital Oakland. The balance of the
note as of June 30, 2000 was $5,620,000.

In addition to the above note to the City, an additional $10,365,000 remain outstanding in
Section 108 loans provided to private sector recipients for housing, business enterprises,
and other eligible purposes. These loans are secured by Community Development Block
Grant (CDBG) funds with the City.

As of June 30, 2000, the total balance outstanding under the HUD Section loan program
was $15,985,000.

Light-Emitting Diode Traffic Signal Conversion Project

‘The City entered into a financing agreement with Banc One Leasing Corporation in

November 1998 for financing costs associated with replacement of incandescent traffic
light bulbs, The notes carry an interest rate of 4.3% and a final maturity of July 15, 2003.
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Current Year Defeasance

In July 1999, the City sold $7,255,000 in Marks-Roos Bonds for the sole purpose of purchasing
from the City $7,0935,000 Limited Tax Obligation Bonds, Reassessment District No. 99-1 (the
“Reassessment Bonds”). The Reassessment Bonds were sold by the City on behalf of two
existing assessment districts, No. 1994-1 and No. 1994-2, to refund the outstanding limited
obligation bonds within each of these districts (Fire Area Utility Underground, Series 1994A
and Series 1994, and the Rockridge Area Water Improvements, Series 1994)—(the “Refunded
Bonds™). Through a successful pricing, the City was able to produce savings that directly
translated into substantial reductions on the annual assessment on each parcel within two
districts. From this refinancing, Assessment District No, 1994-1 (Fire Area) was able to realize
$2,234,687 in total debt service savings, which translated into an average annual savings per
home of $41. Assessment District No. 1994-2 (Rockridge) was able to reatize $292,571 in total
debt service savings, which translated into average annual savings per home of $23. The
refunding produced an economic gain (the present value of debt service savings) of $1,504,000.

Prior Year Defeasance

In prior years, the City defeased its 1976 Pension Revenue Bonds. A portion of the proceeds of
the refunding issue was placed in an irrevocable trust to provide for debt service on the

defeased bonds. At June 30, 2000, $1 million of the 1976 Pension Revenue Bonds remained
outstanding.
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Proprietary and Fiduciary Fund Long-Term Debt

Proprietary and fiduciary fund long-term debt at June 30, 2000, was as follows (in thousands):

Balance at
Interest June 30,
Maturity Rates 2000
Sewer Service Enterprise Fund _
Construction Loans 1992-2011 3.50% S 4,840
1992-2011 3.50% 699
1993-2015 3.00% . 3384
- $ 8,923
Internal Service Fund - Master Equipment
Lease '
Schedule No. 1 : 2001-2003 5.46% $ 5,099
Schedule No. 2 2001-2005 5.40% 4,392
Schedule No. 3 2001-2007 5.39% 11,323
Schedule No. 4 2001-2010 5.43% 1.946
$28,760
Pension Trust Fund
Oakland Municipal Employees’
Retirement System Revenue
Bonds 1976 2002 6.50% $ 1,010

In March 1990, the City and East Bay Municipal Utility District (EBMUD) entered into an
agreement to secure financing for the rehabilitation of the City’s sewer system through the
California State Revolving Fund Loan Program.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1992, construction was completed on the sewer projects.
Upon completion of these projects, the City became liable for its share of the completed project
costs. The liability will be repaid, together with interest thereon, to EBMUD in equal annual
installments through 2015. The main source of repayment comes from monthly sewer service
charges collected from property owners within the EBMUD service area.

In April 2000, the City entered into a Master Lease Purchase Agreement for $28,760,000 in
equipment leases. The lease provide funding for the replacement of City vehicles and

equipment. The four lease schedules bear interest rates of 5.39% to 5.46% and a final maturity
of April 26, 2010. ' _
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Discretely Presented Component Unit - Port of Oakland

The Port of Oakland debt at June 30, 2000, was as follows (in thousands):

Balance at
interest June 30,
Maturity Rates 2000
Parity Bonds (a)
1990 Revenue Bonds Series D 2003 6.125-8.00% $ 21575
1992 Revenue Bonds Series E 2022 5.00-6.50% 141,130
1993 Revenue Bonds Series F 2009 2.75-5.75% 32,297
1997 Revenue Bonds Series G 2025 3.60-6.00% 83,395
1997 Revenue Bonds Series H 2015 3.60-5.50% 76,240
1997 Revenue Bonds Series I 2019 5.40-5.60% 84,820
1997 Revenue Bonds Series J 2026 5.50% 14,845
2000 Revenue Bonds Series K 2030 500-5.38% 400,000
Total Parity Bonds ___B60.302
Department of Boating and
Waterways (DBW) Loans (b)
Small Craft Harbor Revenue Bonds Series A-D 2009 4.50% 1,656
Small Craft Harbor Revenue Bonds Serias 1981 2010 4.50% 1,129
Small Craft Harbor Revenue Bonds Series 1982 2019 4.50% 934
Small Craft Harbor Revenue Bonds Series 1983 2020 4 50% 352
Small Craft Harbor Revenue Bond Series 1993 2028 4.50% 6,500
1991 Marina Planning Loan 2002 4.70% 34
Total DBW Loans 10,605
GE Capital Tax Exempt Loan (¢) 2005 4.89% 4,014
Mitsubishi Note 2000 9.00% 27
Taxable Commercial Paper 1998 Series D (d) 2003 80,940
Taxable Commercial Paper 1998 Series B (d) 19,480
Special Facilities Revenue Bonds 1992 Series A (¢) 2019 5.00%-6.80% 48 500
Unamortized Bond Discount/Premium 9.347)
TOTAL PORT OF OAKLAND LONG-TERM DEBT $1,014,521

(a) Parity Bonds

The 1990 Series D Bonds, the 1992 Series E Bonds, the 1993 Series F Bonds, and the
1997 Series G, Series H, Series I, Series J and 2000 Series K Bonds (collectively the
Parity Bonds) are payable solely from and secured by a pledge of “Pledged Revenues.”
The 1989 Indenture and the Supplemental Trust Ninth Indenture, dated February 1, 1997
(the Ninth Supplemental Trust Indenture) define Pledged Revenues as substantially all
revenues and other cash receipts of the Port, including amounts held in the Port Revenue
Fund and the lesser of Oakland Portside Associate’s (OPA) net revenues or $3,300,000,
but excluding amounts received from certain taxes, certain insurance proceeds and special
facilities revenues. Pledged revenues do not include cash received from Passenger
Facility Charges (PFC) unless projects included in a financing are determined to be PFC
eligible, in which case PFCs can be pledged for debt service on the bonds. Currently the
Port has not included any of these type of projects in a bond issuance. In addition,
payment of bond principal and interest on the Parity Bonds when due is gnaranteed by
municipal bond insurance policies.
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(b)

()

The Port has covenanted to achieve Pledged Revenues sufficient to pay: the sum of
principal and interest on the outstanding Parity Bonds as they become due and payable in
each year; all payments for compliance with terms of the Indenture and Supplemental
Indentures, including but not Limited to required deposits to any Reserve Fund; all other
payments necessary to meet ongoing legal obligations of the Port payable from Pledged
Revenues; and all current Operation and Maintenance Expenses (as defined).

The Port has covenanted in the 1989 Indenture to achieve in each fiscal year Net
Revenues (as defined) of at least 125% of the actual debt service (as defined) becoming
due on the outstanding Parity Bonds less debt service paid in such year from the proceeds
of other borrowings. For the year ended June 30, 2000, Net Revenues exceeded this
requirement.

The Port has also covenanted in the 1989 Indenture not to issue any additional obligations
payable from or secured by Pledged Revenues, which would rank superior to the 1989
Bonds and any outstanding bonds (as defined) under the Ninth Supplemental Trust
Indenture. The 1990 Bonds, 1992 Bonds, 1993 Bonds, 1997 Bonds, and 2000 Bonds have
been issued at parity. Additional bonds may be issued on a parity or subordinate basis
with the outstanding bonds subject to certain debt service coverage ratios and other
requirements.

Department of Boating and Waterways Loans

Department of Boating and Waterway Loans were issued pursuant to various resolutions
of the Board of Port Commissioners and are subordinate to the Parity Bonds.

GE Capital Loan

The Port of Oakland entered into a tax-exempt financing agreement with GE Capital for
the purchase of five 40-foot Gillig AirBART shuttle buses and fifteen 35-foot Gillig
parking lot shuttle buses. The loan is for $5,000,000 effective November 9, 1998, at the
rate of 4.89% for a seven-year term. GE Capital is the lien holder on the buses’ title.
BART has agreed to share the costs and revenues of the AirBART shuttle service,
including the debt service payments.
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(d)

(e)

Commercial Paper

The Port Board authorized a $300,000,000 Commercial Paper program in September
1998. The maximum maturity of the notes is 270 days and the maximum interest rate is
12%. The notes will be issued in three series: tax exempt AMT, tax exempt non-AMT
and taxable. $150,000,000 of the Notes is backed as to credit and liquidity by an
irrevocable letter of credit issued jointly by Commerzbank AG and The Bank of Nova
Scotia for a five-year period beginning October 14, 1998. This will allow the Port to
refinance the borrowings on a long-term basis. The Port also signed a second letter of
credit for an additional $150,000,000 with Bank of America on September 1, 1999, for a
three-year period ending September 16, 2002. As of June 30, 2000, the Port had
$100,420,000 outstanding under the commercial paper program.

Special Facilities Revenue Bonds 1992 Series A

The Port issued the Special Facilities Bonds 1992 Series A pursuant to a trust indenture
dated June 1, 1992. The Special Facilities Bonds were issned to finance the design and
construction of certain facilities and improvements on premises sitnated in the Seventh
Street Marine Terminal area.

The Special Facilities Bonds are limited obligations of the Port payable from and secured
by the Bond Payment Obligation (as defined) derived by the Port under the Non-
exclusive Preferential Assignment Agreement (the Agreement) between the Port and
Mitsui O.S K. Lines, Ltd. (MOL). MOL’s rights and obligations under the Agreement
have been assigned to and assumed by Trans Pacific Container Service Corp. (TraPac), an
affiliate of MOL. TraPac’s obligations under the Agreement, including its obligation to
make payments sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the Special Facilities Bonds,
have also been guaranteed by MOL.

Principal and interest on the bonds when due is also collateralized by an irrevocable
direct-pay letter of credit expiring July 1, 2002, issued by The Industrial Bank of Japan,
Ltd,, Los Angeles Agency. If the letter of credit expires or terminates without being
replaced or renewed, the bonds wil! be subject to mandatory redemption.
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Repayment Schedule
The annual requirements to amortize all long-term debt as of June 30, 2000, are as follows (in
thousands):
General Long-Term Debt
Special
Assessment
General Tax Debt with
Years Ending Obligation Allocation Lease Governmental
june 30, Bonds Bonds Financings  Commitment
2001 $ 10,970 $ 20,301 $ 48,836 $ 956
2002 10,894 21,096 46,285 973
2003 10,775 21,062 45,559 953
2004 10,706 22,360 45,124 953
2005 10,649 22,425 46,435 945
Thereafter 176.066 272,654 599.081 11.823
230,060 379,898 831,320 16,603
Less amounts
representing
interest and
discounts {(100,395) (163.619)  _(328.707) _(6.878)
Principal due
at June 30, 2000 $ 129,665 $ 216,279 $ 502,613 $ 9,725

Interest rates related to the Civic Improvement Corporation Certificates of Participation
included in the Lease Financings are adjustable. Estimates of future debt service payments

included in the schedule above were determined by utilizing the maximum rate allowed under
the terms of the Certificates of twelve percent.
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Special Intenal  Pension Total Component
Revenue Notes  Enterprise Service FundTrust Fund  Primary Unit
Bonds Payable Fund Debt Debt Debt  Government Port of Oakland
$ 42,122 $ 5,741 $ 915 § 5881 $ 545 $ 136,267 $ 167,572
44 437 5,893 915 5,881 224 136,598 66,227
46,884 5,780 915 5,881 309 138,118 66,701
49,461 2,148 915 4,016 —_ 135,683 66,673
52,182 2,381 215 4,016 — 139,948 66,666
379210  _12736 _6388  __9.127 — 1467085 1526639
614,296 34,679 10,963 34,802 1,078 2,153,699 1,960,478

L201.016) _(8739) _(2.040) _(6.042) __(68) _(823.504) (945957

$ 407,280 $25,940 58,923 $28,760 $1,010 $1,330,195 $1014,521
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Conduit Debt

The following long-term debt has been issued by the City on behalf of named agents of the
City. The bonds do not constitute an indebtedness of the City. The bonds are payable solely
from revenue sources defined in the individual bond documents, and from other monies held
for the benefit of the bond holders pursuant to the bond indentures. In the opinion of City
officials, these bonds are not payable from any revenues or assets of the City, and neither the
full faith and credit nor the taxing authority of the City, State or any political subdivision
thereof is obligated for the payment of the principal or interest on the bonds. Accordingly, no
liability has been recorded in the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group. The debt
issued and outstanding at June 30, 2000, follows (in thousands):

Authorized Outstanding at
and Issued Maturity June 30, 2000
Housing Mortgage Programs
Housing Revenue Bonds Series D, 1991 $112.890 2010-2024 $ 6,230

City of Oakland Insured Refunding Revenue

Bonds (Children’s Hospital Medical Center of

Northern California), 1994 Series A 19,490 05/01/09 14,725
County of Alameda/City of Oakland Variable

Rate Demand Revenue Bonds (The Old

Oakland Company Project), December 1984 9,900 12/04/04 9,900
City of Oakland Variable Rale Demand Revenue

Bonds {The Delger Block/Ross House

Company Project), December 1984 9,500 12/04/04 9,500
County of Alameda/City of Oakland Variable Rate

Demand Revenue Bonds (The Wilcox/Leimert

Company Project), December 1984 9,500 12/04/04 9,500
City of Oakland Liquidity Facility Revenue

Bonds (Association of Bay Area

Governments), Series 1984 3,300 12/01/09 1.835

City of Oakland Health Facility Revenue Bonds
(Children’s Hospital Medical Center of

Northern California), 1988 23,000 07/01/08 17,550
City of Oakland Insured Health Facility Revenue Bonds

(East Oakland Health Center Project), Series 1990 2,500 10/0120 2,225
City of Oakland Refunding Revenue Bonds

(Oakland YMCA Project), Series 1996 8.650 06/01/10 7.150

City of Oakland Variable Economic Development

Revenue Bond 1997 Series A (Allen Temple Family

Life Center Project) 5,000 0B/O1/04 —4.800
TOTAL $83415
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(11)

(12)

CONTRIBUTED CAPITAL

A summary of changes in contributed capital for the year ended June 30, 2000, follows (in
thousands):

Primary Component
Government Unit
internal Port of
Service Funds Oakland
BALANCE AT JUNE 30, 1999 $17,382 $191,100
Grants from governmental agencies —_— 3,896
Passenger facility charges — 14,180
Deprectation of property and equipment
acquired with contributed capital — (6.273)
BALANCE AT JUNE 30, 2000 $17,382 $202,903
SELF-INSURANCE

Changes in the balances of claims liabilities for all self-insured claims for the years ended June
30, 2000 and 1999, are as follows (in thousands):

2000 1999
Unpaid claims, beginning of fiscal year $79,854 $60,581
Current year claims and changes in estimates 20,799 32,556
Claim payments (14.103) (13.283)
Unpaid claims, end of fiscal year $86,550 $79,854

Primary Government

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; natural disasters; unemployment
coverage; and providing health benefits to employees, retirees and their dependents.

The City is self-insured for its general liability, workers’ compensation, malpractice liability,
general and auto liability.

Property Damage

Property damage risks are covered on an occurrence basis by commercial insurance purchased
from independent third parties. All properties are insured at full replacement values after a
$25,000 deductible to be paid by the City. For the past 10 years, there have been no significant
reductions in any of the City’s insurance coverage and no settlement amounts have exceeded
commercial insurance coverage.
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General Liability

Numerous lawsuits are pending or threatened against the City. The City estimates that as of
June 30, 2000, the amount of liability determined to be probable of occurrence is
approximately $31,053,000. Of this amount, claims and litigation approximating $8,547,000
are estimated to be payable with current expendable resources and are included as accrued
liabilities of the General Fund ($7,651,000), the Capital Fund ($220,000), and the Sewer Fund
($676,000). The remainder of $22,506,000 is included in the General Long-Term Obligations
Account Group. The recorded liability is the City's best estimate based on available information
and may be revised as further information is obtained and as pending cases are litigated. The
Agency is involved in various claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of its
activities. In the opinion of the Agency's in-house counsel, the City Attorney’s Office for the
City of Oakland, none of these claims are expected to have a significant impact on the financial
condition of the Agency or its operations.

The City is self-insured for general liability. The City has not accumulated or segregated assets
or reserved fund balance for the payment of estimated claims and judgments.

Workers’ Compensation

The City is self-insured for workers’ compensation. Payment of claims is provided through
annual appropriations which are based on claim payment experience and supplemental
appropriations. The City had an actuarial review of its self-insured workers’ compensation
program in the Fall of 1999. The following information is from the resulting report by the
independent actuaries, dated October 5, 1999, and reflects the program as of June 30, 2000.
The amount of workers’ compensation liability determined to be probable is approximately
$55,497,000. Of this amount, approximately $11,117,000 workers’ compensation is estimated
to be payable with expendable resources and is included as accrued liabilities of the general

fund. The remaining amount of $44,380,000 is included in the General Long-Term Obligations
Account Group.
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Discretely Presented Component Unit
Workers’ Compensation

The Port is exposed to risk of loss related to injuries to employees. The Port is self-in.éured and
self-administered for workers’ compensation up to a maximum of $350,000 per accident.

Effective February 7, 1996, the Port carries commercial insurance for claims in excess of
$350,000.

Claim expenses and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses are based on actuarial estimates
and include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported. Changes in the
reported liability resulted from the following (in thousands):

2000 1999
Workers® compensation liability at beginning of fiscal year $3,000 $ 3000
Current year claims and changes in estimates 830 1,076
Claim payments (830) {1.076)
Workers’ compensation liability at end of fiscal year $3,000 $3,000

General Liability

The Port maintains general liability insurance in excess of specified deductibles. For the
airport, coverage is provided in excess of $100,000 in the aggregate up to a maximum of
$200,000,000. For the harbor area, coverage is provided in excess of $100,000 per occurrence
up to $150,000,000. Liabilities are recorded as accrued expense when it is determined that a
loss to the Port is probable and the amount is estimable.
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(13) RESERVATIONS AND DESIGNATIONS OF FUND BALANCES

The components of the City’s reserved and unreserved-designated fund balances at June 30,
2000, follow (in thousands):

Special Debt
General Revenue Service
Fund Funds Funds

RESERVED
Pension obligations 5  — $ — P —
Capital projects e 19,816 —
Property held for resale — — 21,447
Employees’ retirement systems — — —
Debt service - —_— 70,382
Encumbrances 3.708 10,844 p—
TOTAL RESERVED FUND
BALANCES $ 3,708 $ 30,660 $91,829
UNRESERVED-DESIGNATED
Capital improvement projects $ 1,889 58 — $  —
Recycling program 7,026 —_— —
Multi-purpose reserve 2,196 S R
TOTAL UNRESERVED-
DESIGNATED FUND
BALANCES $11,111 s — 3
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Capital
Projects
Funds

214,264
53,492

$267,756

o
|1

7
|

Pension
Trust
Funds

$ 177,517

896,609

$1,074,126

Total

$ 177,517
234,080
74,939
896,609
70,382

— 14,552

$1,468,079

$ 1889
7,026
— 2.196

$ 1Lill
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(14) SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

The City accounts for operations which provide parks and recreation programs and sewage
treatment as enterprise funds. These operations are financed by user charges or interest income.
Segment information as of and for the year ended June 30, 2000, follows (in thousands):

For Year Ended june 30, 2000

Operating revenues

Operating income

Depreciation and amortization

Operating transfers out

Interest and other non-operating
revenues {expenses), net

Net income

Property and equipment -
additions (deletions)

As of June 30, 2000

Net working capital

Total assets

Total equity

Long-term obligations and advances -
Payable from operating revenues

Parks and Recreation

Parks and
Recreation

Sewer
Service

$17,927
2,794
2,799
(659)

(315)
1,820

8,803

$ (106)
81,371
70,743

8,923

Total
Enterprise
Funds

$18,443
3,051
2,800
(659)

(315)
2,077

8,800

$ 305
82,031
71,380

8,923

The City owns and operates two golf courses. The City’s policy is to fund these operations
through golf coursc fees and other golf revenues without reliance on the General Fund.

Sewer Service

The City maintains sewer service facilities between the private property hookups and the main
collection system operated by the East Bay Municipal Utility District. The City’s policy is to
fund operations through user charges and/or operating transfers from the General Fund.
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(15) JOINT VENTURE
Oakland-Alameda County Coliseum

The City is a participant with the County of Alameda (the County) in a joint exercise of powers
agreement known as the Oakland-Alameda County Coliseum Authority (the Authority), which
was formed on July 1, 1995, to assist the City and County in the financing of public capital
improvements in the Oakland-Alameda County Coliseum Complex (Coliseum Complex)
pursuant to the Mark-Roos Local Bond Pooling Act of 1985. The Oakland-Alameda County
Coliseum Financing Corporation (the Corporation) is reported as a blended component unit of
the Authority. The Board of Directors of the Authority and the Corporation consists of two
council members from the City and two members of the Board of Supervisors from the County.
The Board of Directors of the Corporation consists of the City Manager and the County
Administrator.

In August 1995, the Authority issued $9,200,000 in Fixed Rate Refunding Lease Revenue
Bonds and $188,500,000 in Variable Rate Lease Revenue Bonds (collectively known as the
Stadium Bonds) to satisfy certain obligations of the Authority, the City, the County, the
Corporation and Oakland-Alameda County Coliseum Inc. (Coliseum Inc.), which manages the
operations of the Coliseun Complex, to finance the costs of remodeling the stadium portion of
the Coliscum complex as well as relocating the Raiders to the City.

The Stadium Bonds are limited obligations of the Authority, consisting primarily of base rental
payments to be received by the Authority from the City and the County. Certain revenues
collected from Raiders football operations consisting of revenues from the sale of seat rights. as
well as annual seat maintenance fees, a portion of net parking and concession revenues and
concessionaires’ initial fees may be used toward meeting this liability. In the event that such
football revenues are insufficient to make base rental payments, the City and the County are
obligated to make up the shortfall in the base rental payments from their respective General
Funds. The City and the County each have covenanted to appropriate $11 million annually to
cover such shortfalls in revenue; however, the City and the County are jointly and severally
liable to cover such shortfall, which means that the City could have to pay up to $22 million
annually in the event of default by the County.

On May 25, 2000, the Authority issued $201,300,000 in series 2000 C and D Refunding Bonds
to retire $181,900,000 of the 1995 Variable Rate Lease Revenue Stadium Bonds ($188,500.000
less $6,600,000 principal payment).

On August 2, 1996, the Authority issued $70,000,000 Series A-1 and $70,000,000 Series A-2
Variable Rate Lease Revenue Bonds (Arena Bonds) to finance the costs of remodeling the
Coliseum Arena (Arena) and to satisfy certain obligations of the Authority, the City, the
County and Coliseum Inc. in connection with the retention of the Golden State Warriors to play
professional basketball at the Arena for at least 20 basketball seasons, beginning with the 1997-
98 season. These obligations are evidenced in a series of agreements (the Warriors Agreement)
among the Warriors, the City, the County, Coliseum Inc. and the Authority.
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Under the original Warriors Agreements, the Arena Bonds are limited obligations of the
Authority payable solely from base rental revenues of the Authority received by the Authority
on behalf of the City and the County. These revenues consist of payments from the Warriors of
up to $7,428,000 annually from premium seating revenues, the sale of personal seat licenses by
the Authority, concessionaire payments and the Arena naming rights. If necessary to prevent a
default, additional premium seating revenues up to $10,000,000 may be pledged to service
Arena debt. If the above revenues are not sufficient to cover the debt service requirements in
any fiscal year, the City and County are obligated to make up the shortfall in the base rental
payment from their respective General Funds. The City and the County each have covenanted
to appropriate up to $9,500,000 annually to cover such revenue shortfalls; however, the City
and the County are jointly and severally liable to cover such shortfalls; however, the City and
the County are jointly and severally liable to cover such shortfalls, which means that the City
would have to pay up to $19,000,000 annually in the event of default by the County.

The Coliseum Authority has entered into an agreement with the Qakland Coliseum Joint
Venture to manage the entire Coliseum Complex beginning July 1, 1998.

On September 27, 1997, the City of Oakland, the County of Alameda, and the Oakland-
Alameda County Coliseum Authority, collectively known as the “East Bay Entities”, filed suit
against the Oakland Raiders and A.D. Football, Inc. (collectively, “Raider Management”) for
breach of contract, declaratory relief and interference with prospective economic advantage.
The suit asks for compensatory and punitive damages with regards to revenues lost as a result
of actions by Raider Management, and for declaratory relief concerning (1) the parties’ rights,
duties and obligations under the Master Agreement concerning the naming rights for the
Stadium, (2) whether Raider Management’s claims of fraudulent inducement have merit and
whether Raider Management has the right to rescind or terminate the Master Agreement, and
(3) under the Visiting Team Share Agreement cencerning the reimbursement of legal fees and
costs. Raider management has filed a cross-complaint seeking the right to resind the Master
Agreement and seeking damages for breaches of the Master Agreement and for fraudulent
inducement. In a series of decisions, the court has ruled that (1) the Raiders cannot rescind or
terminate its lease; and (2) the East bay Entities do not have claims for damages. Raider
Management increased their claim against the East Bay Entities for damages to $1.1 billion
related to claims of fraudulent inducement. The City is optimistic that it will prevail against
Raider Management claims.

In November 1998, the Authority brought an arbitration proceeding against the Golden State
Warriors to collect: (1) past due rents for use of the arena; (2) past due amounts of revenne
sharing required by the License Agreement; and (3) facility use fees collected by the Warriors
for the Authority. The arbitration demand also seeks damages for the Warriors breach of the
License Agreement for failure to sell seat rights in the new Arena, a major source of revenue to
the Authority. The arbitration was divided into two phases. In the first phase on the collection
issues, on October 6, 1999, the arbitrator found that the Golden State Warriors owed in excess
of $17 miilion to the Authority, net of some $720,000 in offsets granted to the Warriors. The
second phase of the arbitration was decided in July 2000, when the arbitrator decided that the
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Warriors breached the License Agreement by failing to sell seat rights in the new Arena.
However, the arbitrator awarded no damages to the Authority because he determined the
damages could not be quantified.

In fiscal year 1997, the Authority entered an interest rate swap agreement for portions of the
bonds issued to finance the Arena improvements. The interest rate swap is for $84,000,000 of
the variable rate Arena bonds at a fixed rate of 6.85%. The agreement expires on September 1,
2001. The market value of the swap at June 30, 2000, is $56,000.

Based on the swap agreements, the Authority owes interest calculated at the fixed rates stated
above to the counterparty of the swap. In return, the counterparties owe the Authority interest
based on a variable rate that matches the rate required by the variable rate bonds. Only the net
difference in interest payments is actually exchanged with the counterparties. The bond
principal is not exchanged; it is only the basis on which the interest payments are calculated.
The Authority continues to pay interest to the bond holders at the variable rate provided by the
bonds. However, during the term of the swap agreement, the Authority effectively pays a fixed
rate on the debt. The Authority will be exposed to variable rates if the counterparties to the
swaps default or if the swaps are terminated. A termination of any swap agreement may also
result in the Authority’s making or receiving a termination payment. The Authority is exposed
to credit losses in the event of non-performance by any counterparty to these interest rate
swaps, but has no off-balance sheet credit risk of accounting loss. The Authority anticipates,
however, that each counterparty will be able to fully satisfy its obligations under the respective
agreement.

Debt service requirements for the Coliseum debt are as foltows (in thousands):

Years Ending June 30, Stadium Debt Arena Debt
2001 $ 11,803 $ 10,521
2002 12,816 10,517
2003 12,810 10,589
2004 12,903 10,649
2005 12,876 10,597

2006-2010 61,631 53,522
2011-2015 62,838 54,237
2016-2020 65,274 54,862
2021-2025 68,931 56,258
2026 on _— 11,497
Less interest 115.836) {148,648)
Total $206.,046 $134,601

Complete financial statements for the Authority can be obtained from the County Auditor-
Controller’s office at 1221 Oak Street, Oakland, CA 94612,
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The City has a 50% equity interest in the Joint Venture. The City’s portion of net liability is
calculated from the unaudited June 30, 2000, financial activity of the Authority as foilows:

Unaudited
Total Assets $707.864
Less: Amounts to be provided for retirement of long-term debt 292914
Adjusted total assets 414,950
Less: Total liabilities 352,585
Net asset $ 62,365
50% interest $ 31,183

The City’s share of cumulative net equity in the operation of the Authority was $31,183,000 as
of June 30, 2000, the date of the latest available unaudited financial statements. This amount is
included in the General Fixed Asset Account Group. Under the joint exercise of power
agreement which formed the Authority, the City is responsible for funding up to 50% of the
Authority’s operating costs, to the extent such funding is necessary. During the year ended June
30, 2000, the City made contributions of approximately $15,000,000 to fund its share of
operating deficits, as well as its share of the final construction costs of the Arena.

The Authority has anticipated a deficit for repayment of its Stadium bonds, such that the City
and County may have to contribute to base rental payments. Of the $20.5 million appropriated
in the General Fund as part of the above agreements, it is estimated that the City may have to
contribute $13,000,000 for the 2000-01 fiscal year. There are many uncertainties in the
estimation of revenues for the Authority beyond one year into the future, therefore the City has
established a contingent liability to fund the Authority deficit in the General Long-Term
Obligations Account Group at an amount equal to its contingent share (50%) of the outstanding
Stadium bonds in the amount of $103,023,000. The City has not established a contingent
liability for the Arena debt because management is of the opinion that revenues from the
Arena, including payments from the Warriors, will be sufficient to cover the debt payments.

PENSION PLANS

The City has three defined benefit retirement plans: Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS),
Oakland Municipal Employees’ Retirement System (OMERS) and California Public
Employees’ Retirement System (PERS). PFRS and OMERS are closed plans which cover
employees hired prior to July 1976 and September 1970, respectively. These two plans are
considered part of the City’s reporting entity and are included in the City’s General Purpose
Financial Statements as pension trust funds. City employees hired subsequent to the plans’
closure dates are covered by PERS, which is administered by the State of California.

Member and employer contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are
due, and benefits and refunds are recognized when payable.
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Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value, Securities traded on
a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current
exchange rates. Mortgages are reported based on the remaining principal balances which
approximate the value of future principal and interest payments discounted at prevailing
interest rates for similar instruments. The fair value of real estate investments is based on prices
in a competitive market as determined by a specialist.

Investments representing 5% or more of the fair value of the OMERS net assets for pension
benefits as of June 30, 2000, are as follows:

Stocks Shares Fair Value
American Express 10,500 $ 547313
American Telephone and Telegraph Company 10,000 316,250
Bristol Myers Squibb 9,000 524,250
Chase Manhattan Corporation 12,750 587,297
Dean Foods 8,000 253,500
Duke Energy Corporation 12,000 676,500
Emerson Electric Company 6,000 362,250
Ford Motor Company 6,000 258,000
Franklin Resources, Inc. 8,000 243,000
Hibernia Corporation 25,000 271,875
Internal Business Machine 3,000 328,688
Lucent Technologies 7,000 414,750
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc. 6,000 626,625
Penny, JC 28,000 516,250
Phillips Petroleum Company 8,000 405,500
SBC Communications 13,000 562,250
Shared Medical Services 5,000 364,688
Sherwin-Williams Company 12,000 254,250
Southern Company Electric 20,000 466,250
Varian Medical Systems 10,000 391,250
Varian Semiconductor 6,000 376,875
Worldcom, Inc. GA New 5,000 220375

8,976,986

Bonds
U.S. Treasury Notes 3,000 295395
Total $9.272 381

No investments in any one non-federal organization represented 5% or more of PFRS net
assets for pension benefits as of June 30, 2000.
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Complete financial statements of the Plans can be obtained from:

William E. Noland, Controller
City of Oakland

150 Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Suite 6353
Oakland, CA 94612

PFRS OMERS PERS
Type of plan Single employer Single employer Agent multi-employer
Reporting entity City City State
Last complete actuarial study July 1, 1998 July 1, 1999 June 30, 1999

Significant actuarial assumptions

Significant actuarial assumptions used to compute the contribution requirements are the same
as those used to compute the City’s actuarial accrued liability.

PFRS OMERS PERS
General wage increase:

Inflation 3.5% 4.0% 3.5%
Post-retirement benefit increase 4.0% 3.0% 3.5%
Investment return 8.0% 8.0% 8.3%

PFRS OMERS PERS Total
Employees covered as of june 30, 2000

Retirees and beneficiaries
currently receiving
benefits and terminated
cemployees entitled to
benefits but not currently

receiving them 1,495 151 1,809 3,455
Current employees—vested 161 2 2,949 3,112

Police and Fire Retirement System

PFRS provides death, disability and service retirement benefits to uniformed employees and
their beneficiaries. Members who complete at least 25 years of service, or 20 years of service
and have reached the age of 55, or have reached the age of 65, are eligible for retirement
benefits. The basic retirement allowance equals 50% of the compensation attached to the
average rank held during the three years immediately preceding retirement, plus an additional
allowance of 1-2/3% of such compensation for cach year of service (up to ten) subsequent to:
a) qualifying for retirement, and b) July 1, 1951. Early retirees will receive reduced benefits
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based on the number of years of service. Benefit provisions and all other requirements are
established by the City Charter (Charter).

In accordance with the Charter, active members of PFRS contribute a percentage of earned
salaries based upon entry age as determined by the City’s consulting actuary. By statute,
employee contributions are limited to 13% of earned salarics. Employce contributions are
refundable with interest at 4% per annum if an employee elects to withdraw from the plan upon
termination of employment with the City.

The City contributes, at a minimum, such amounts that are necessary, determined on an
actuarial basis, to provide assets sufficient to meet benefits to be paid to plan members. The
City is required to fund all liabilities for future benefits for all members by June 30, 2026. In
order to do so, the City makes contributions at rates established by consulting actuaries based
upon plan valuations using various assumptions as to salary progression, inflation, and rate of
return or investments. The City’s contributions are based on a level percentage of all
uniformed cmployees’ compensation. Significant actuarial assumptions used to compute
actuarially determined contribution requirements are the same as those used to compute the
pension benefit obligation. Contributions to the California PERS are subtracted and the
difference is contributed to the Plan. The City contributed $22,868,000 to the Plan during the
fiscal year ended June 30, 1997, at an actuarially determined contribution rate of 60.49%. The
City issued pension obligation bonds in February 1997 to fund the Plan through 2011. Bond
proceeds in the amount of $417,173,300 were contributed in fiscal 1997 and, as a result, no
employer contributions are required through fiscal year 2011.

For the year ended June 30, 2000, employeé contributions to PFRS totaling $904,000 were
made in accordance with actuarially determined contribution requirements.

The City’s actuaries do not make an allocation of the contribution amount between normal cost

and the unfunded actuarial liability because the plan is closed. The actuarial calculations are
based on the aggregate cost method and the asset valuation method is on the market value
basis. The aggregate actuarial cost method does not identify and separately amortize unfunded
actuarial liabilities.

The plan is currently involved in class action litigation seeking payment of additional benefits
to retired firefighters. If petioners prevail, management estimates that an award could range
between $5,400,000 and $27,300,000. In the City’s opinion, at this point, the ultimate
resolution of this litigation will not have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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Schedule of Employer Contributions

Fiscal Year Ended Annual Required Percentage (%)
june 30, Contributions ($ in millions) Contributed
1998 —* —
1999 — —
2000 —* e
*Anaual contribution requirement, subsequent to receipt of pension obligation bond proceeds,
is zero through the year 2011.

Oakland Municipal Employees Retirement System

OMERS provides death, disability and service retirement benefits to participants of the plan.
Members who complete at least 20 years of service and have reached the age of 52, or who
complete at least 5 years of service and reach the age of 60, are eligible for retirement benefits.
The retirement allowance is calculated on a basis which takes into account the final three-

years’ average compensation, age and the number of years of service. Benefit provisions and
all other requirements are established by the Charter.

Employee contributions to OMERS totaling $5,766,000 were made during 2000 in accordance
with actuarially determined contribution requirements. Employee contributions are refundable
with interest at 4.5% per annum if an employee elects to withdraw from the plan upon
termination of empioyment with the City. For the years ended June 30, 2000, 1999 and 1998,
the City, in accordance with actuarially determined contribution requirements, was not required
to make contributions to OMERS. The actuarial calculations are computed using the projected
unit credit cost method and the asset valuation is on a market value basis. Under this method,
the normal cost is the actuarial present value of a member’s benefit divided by the member’s
expected future working lifetime. The funding of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability is
based on a level percentage of payroll over a period ending July 1, 2020, as required by the
City Charter. The most recent actuarial valuation determined the funding status to be 190%.

California Public Employees Retirement System

Plan Description

The City of Oakland contributes to the California Public Employees Retirement System
(PERS), an agent multiple-employer public employee defined benefit pension plan. PERS
provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. PERS acts as a common investment and
admunistrative agent for participating public entities within the State of California. Benefit
provisions and all other requirements are established by state statute and city ordinance. Copies
of PERS’ annual financial report may be obtained from their Executive Office—d400 P Street,
Sacramento, CA 95814.
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Funding Policy

Participants are required to contribute 7% (9% for safety employees) of their annual covered
salary. The City makes the contributions required of City employees on their behalf and for
their account. The City is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate; the current
rate is 3.57% for non-safety employees and 6.2564% for police and fire employees, of annual
covered payroll. The contribution requirements of the plan members and the City are
established and may be amended by PERS.

Annual Pension Cost

For 1999-00, the City’s annual pension cost of $23,591,088 was equal to the City’s required
and actual contribution. The required contribution was determined as part of the June 30, 2000,
actuarial valuation using the entry age normal actuarial cost method. The actuarial assumptions
included (a) 8.25% investment rate of return (net of administrative expenses), (b) projected
annual salary increases that vary by duration of service, and (c) 2% per year cost-of-living
adjustments. Both (a) and (b) included an inflation component of 3.5%. The actvarial value of
PERS assets was determined using techniques that smooth the effects of short-term volatility in
the market value of investments over a four-year period (smoothed market value). PERS
unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of projected

payroll on a closed basis. The amortization period of the unfunded actuanal liability ends June
30, 2011.

Three-Year Trend Information Information for PERS
(in millions)

Fiscal Year Ended  Annual Pension Cost Percentage of Net Pension
June 30, (APC) APC Contributed Obligation
1998 $14.6 100% $0
1999 194 100 0
2000 23.6 100 0
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATIONS ON MODIFIED ACCRUAL BASIS

TO BUDGETARY BASIS

The “All Governmental Fund Types and Expendable Trust Funds Combined Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances” has been prepared on the modified
accrual basis of accounting in accordance with GAAP. The General Fund Combined Schedule
of Revenues and Expenditures - Budget and Actual on a Budgetary Basis™” has been prepared
on the budgetary basis, which is different from GAAP.

The budgetary process is based upon accounting for certain transactions on a basis other than
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The results of operations are presented in
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the budget to actual comparison statement in accordance with the budgetary process
(Budgetary Basis) to provide a meaningful comparison with the budget.

The main difference between Budgetary Basis “actual” and GAAP basis is a timing difference:

In March 1997, the City entered into a debt service deposit agreement with a third party
whereby the City received approximately $8.1 million in exchange for forgoing its right
to receive investment earnings on the amounts deposited with the trustee in advance of
the date that the related debt was due to the bondholders. The compensation to the City
was recorded as revenue in fiscal 1997 when received on a budgetary basis. On a GAAP
basis, the revenue was deferred and is being recognized over the 14-year life of the
agreement. Amortization for the year ended June 30, 2000, was $654,000.

The following schedule is a reconciliation of the GAAP and budgetary results of operations (in

thousands):
General
Fund

Excess of revenues over expenditures - GAAP basis $36,319
Amortization of debt service deposit agreement —.(654)
Excess of revenues and other
financing sources over (under) expenditures
and other financing uses - budgetary basis $35,665

The General Fund Balance on a Budgetary Basis reconciled to that on a GAAP basis as of June
30, 2000, is as follows (in thousands):

General
Fund
Fund Balance, June 30, 2000 - GAAP Basis $32,234
Prior year debt service deposit agreement
recorded on Budgetary Basis in the year
of receipt 6,252
Fund Balance, June 30, 2000 - Budgetary Basis $38.486
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General Fund Budgetary Basis Fund Balance at June 30, 2000, is composed of the following

(in thousands):
General
Fund

Reserved $ 3,708

Unreserved, designated for:
Capital improvement projects 1,889
Recycling program 7,026
Other —2.196
Total designated 11,111
Unreserved, undesignated _23.667
Fund Balance, June 30, 2000 - Budgetary Basis $38,486

(18) POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS

The City has three programs in place to partially pay health insurance premiums for certain
classes of retirees from City employment.

The City pays part of the health insurance premiums for all retirees from City employment
receiving a pension annuity earned through City service and participating in a City-sponsored
PERS health benefit plan. Approximately $266,868 was paid on behalf of 1,809 retirees under
this program for the year ended June 30, 2000.

(19) EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS
As of June 30, 2000, no funds reported excess expenditures over appropriations.
(20) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Grants and Subventions

Receipts from federal and state financial assistance programs are subject to review and audit by
representatives of the federal and state governments to determine if the monies were expended
in accordance with appropriate statutes, grant terms and regulations. The City believes that no
significant liabilities will result from such review and audits.

Due to the nature of the various grant agreements and of the City’s grants billing process,
certain amounts included in grants reccivabies have not yet been billed to the granting
agencies. Management believes that any amounts ultimately uncollectible on such unbilled
grants receivable will not be material to the financial statements.
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Construction Commitments

Primary Government

The City has committed funding in the amount of $136,578,000 to a number of capital
improvement projects.

Discretely Presented Component Unit

The Port has developed a $1.4 billion five-year capital improvement program which forms the
basis of a long-term strategic financial plan. The most significant projects include the
development and construction of new container terminals, 50-foot deepening of the channel, a
new airport terminal, and a new airport parking garage and surface parking lots.

The Port participated in the Corps of Engineers’ Congressionally authorized project to dredge
the inner and outer harbor channel to a depth of 42 feet. The actual dredging was completed in
fiscal year 1998 at a cost to the Port of $45,840,000. The Port has spent $5,325,000 for landfili

closure and a replacement of a golf course used in connection with the dredging project and
estimates an additional cost of $15,656,000. '

As of June 30, 2000, the Port has firm commitments for the acquisition and construction of
assets as follows (in thousands):

Maritime $216,648
Aviation 135,314
Commercial real estate 2,859

$354,821

The California Department of Boating and Waterways (DBW) and the Port entered into a loan
and operation contract on February 21, 1994, amended on February 20, 1995, September 11,
1995, and September 16, 1996, whereby DBW agreed to make a construction loan to the Port
in the amount of $7,176,000. The purpose of the loan is to develop the boating facilities of the
Jack London Square marinas. The loan will bear compound interest at the rate of 4.5% per
annum and will be paid over thirty years. As of June 30, 2000, the Port has outstanding

obligations of $6,500,000 pursuant to this loan. Repayment of the loan will begin on August 1,
2001.

Other Contingencies

Primary Government

As of June 30, 2000, the Agency has entered into contractual commitments of approximately
$5,046,751 for materials and services relating to various projects. These commitments and

future costs will be funded by currently available funds, tax increment revenue and other
sources.
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At June 30, 2000, the Agency was committed to fund $3,395,193 in loans and had issued
$1,648,600 in letters of credit in connection with several low and moderate income housing
projects. These commitments were made to facilitate the construction of low and moderate
income housing within the City.

Discretely Presented Component Unit

In 1987, the California Department of Health Services (Department) issued an order
determining that the Port and a former tenant of the Port are responsible for the costs of
cleaning up hazardous substances on a site leased by several former tenants in Embarcadero
Cove. In October 1990, the Port and a former tenant agreed to share equally in the remediation
costs. During 1992, the Port submitted a feasibility study to the Department and received a
Remedial Action Plan during fiscal 1993 which included an apportionment of liability for the
costs of hazardous substance removal and remedial actions. As of June 30, 2000, the Port had
accrued a liability of $820,000 representing its expected 50% share of the total estimated
investigation, monitoring and remediation costs related to the site.

The Port has certain legal obligations to modify or remove various underground storage tanks.
As of June 30, 2000, a liability of $750,000 has been recorded representing the expected
remaining costs to modify or remove designated Port-owned underground storage tanks.

On August 9, 1994, the Board authorized a settlement for a lawsuit involving the filling of
wetlands by the Port. A Consent Decree was entered into on December 15, 1994, by the United
States District Court for the Northern District of California to implement the settlement. The
Consent Decree requires the Port to spend $2,500,000 to create, enhance and restore seasonal
and tidal wetlands over approximately 72 acres of Port land. Construction was completed and
title to the 72 acres of land was transferred to the East Bay Regional Park District (EBRPD).
$255,000 of funds remaining was turned over to the EBRPD to fund monitoring and
maintenance of wetlands. As of June 30, 2000, the Port has accrued $130,000 which will be
transferred to an escrow account upon instructions from the environmental plaintiffs. The
transfer to the escrow will fulfill all of the Port’s obligations under the Consent Decree.

In addition to those noted above, the Port has accrued approximately $12,442,000 as of June
30, 2000, for environmental clean-up and remediation at various identified sites based on
management’s best estimates. The nature of all remediation activities that may be required on
these sites are currently unknown. The extent of the clean up, therefore, has not yet been fully
determined.

The Port's management believes the total environmental accrual provides for all significant
hazardous waste sites that are currently considered probable to require remediation and for
which the potential liability can be estimated.

As future development planning is undertaken, the Port evaluates its overall provision for
environmental liabilities in conjunction with the nature of future activities contemplated for
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cach site and accrues for a liability if necessary. It is, therefore, reasonably possible that in
future reporting periods, current estimates of environmental liabilities could materially change
causing additional expense to the Port.

INDIVIDUAL FUND DEFICITS

As of June 30, 2000, the following funds reported deficits in fund balances and/or retained
earnings (in thousands):

Internal Service
Facilities $ 4,073
Central Stores $ 2,624

The City’s Facilities and Central Stores deficit are expected to be funded through increased
user charges for the costs incurred in each fund.

Expendable Trust
Oakland Redevelopment Agency Projects $ 3476

The City’s Expendable Trust Oakland Redevelopment Agency deficit is expected to be
funded by reimbursements from the Agency.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT
Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes

On July 25, 2000, the City issued tax and revenue anticipation notes payable of $65,000,000.
The notes were issued to satisfy General Fund obligations and carried an effective interest rate
of approximately 4.001%. Principal and interest are due and payable on July 24, 2001.




REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES

OAKLAND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

(unaudited)
(in Millions)
Actuarial Accrued ASasa
Actuarial  Value ($) Actuarial - Actuarial Percentage (%)
Valuation of Plan Liability ($) Funded Surplus Covered  of Covered
Date Assets(? (AAL)  Ratio (%)  (AS}($) Payroll ($) Payroll
July 1, (a) (b) (a/b) (b-a) () [(b-a)/c]
1594 162 120 135 4.2) 119 (3529)
1995(2) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1996 16.9 11.8 143 (5.1) 124 (4113)
1997(2) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1998 18.8 10.8 174 (8.0) 137 (5839)
1999 18.2. 9.6 190 (8.6) 150 (5734)

(DAt market. -
(2) Actuarial valuation conducted biennially.
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POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS
(unaudited)

(in Millions)

Actuarial Accrued Unfunded/
Actuarial  Value ($) Actuarial {Overfunded) UAALasa
Valuation of Plan Liability ($) Funded AAL ($) Covered Percentage (%)
Date Assets(V) (AAL) Ratio (%) (UAAL)  Payroll ($)  of Covered
july 1, (a) (b) (a/b) (b-a) (c) [(b-a)/c]
1994 3043 9474 32.1 643.1 20.1 3200
1995(2} N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1996 359.2 983.2 36.5 624.0 196 3184
1997(2) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1998 861.4 805.5 106.9 (55.9) 19.0 (294.2)
1999(2) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

(At market.
) Actuarial valuation conducted biennially.
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APPENDIX C
SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL LEGAL DOCUMENTS

The following is a summary of provisions of the Trust Agreement and the Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement. Certain other provisions of the foregoing documents are summarized in the forepart of the Official
Statement. This summary is not intended to be definitive and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Trust
Agreement and the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement for the complete terms thereof. Copies of the Trust
Agreement and the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement may be obtained by contacting the Trustee. As used in
this APPENDIX C, the “City of Qakland, Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2001 are referred to as the
“Series 2001 Bonds. The Series 1997 Bonds, the Series 2001 Bonds and any Additional Bonds are referred to
collectively as “Bonds.”

DEFINITIONS

The following are summaries of definitions of certain terms used in the Summary of Principal Legal
Documents. All capitalized terms not defined in this Summary or elsewhere in the Official Statement have the
meanings set forth in the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement or the Trust Agreement unless the context clearly
requires otherwise.

“Accreted Value” shall mean (i) with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bonds, as of any date of
calculation, the sum of the amount set forth in 2 Supplemental Trust Agreement as the amount representing the
initial principal amount of such Bond plus the interest accumulated, compounded and unpaid thereon as of the most
recent compounding date, or (i1) with respect to Original Issue Discount Bonds, as of the date of calculation, the
amount representing the initial public offering price of such Bonds plus the amount of the discounted principal
which has accreted since the date of issue; in each case the Accreted Value shall be determined in accordance with
the provisions of the Supplemental Trust Agreement authorizing the issuance of such Bonds. The “Accreted Value™
with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds as of certain dates is set forth in Exhibit B to the Second Supplerental Trust
Agreement and in Appendix H to this Official Statement, and shall be calculated with straight-line interpolation
between the dates listed therein. The Accreted Value of the Series 2001 Bonds shall be determined in accordance
with the provisions of the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement.

“Actuarial Study” shall mean a study setting forth the current value of the assets and liabilities of the
System.

“ATOP Account” means the Automated Tender Offer Program Account established by the City through the
Information Agent pursuant to the Invitation to Tender Bonds.

“Authorized Amount” shall mean, when used with respect to Bonds, the initial principal amount of Capital
Appreciation Bonds and otherwise, the maximum Principal Amount of Bonds which is then authorized to be
Outstanding at any one time under the terms of a resolution or Supplemental Trust Agreement adopted by the City.

i

“Authorized City Representative” shall mean the Director of Budget and Finance, Treasury Manager, City
Atnorney of the City or such other officer or employee of the City or other person, which other officer, employee or
person has been designated by the City as an Authorized City Representative by written notice delivered by the City
Manager, Director of Budget and Finance, or City Attorney to the Trustee. Any action required or authorized to be
taken by the City in the Trust Agreement may be taken by the Authorized City Representative with such formal
approvals by the City as are required by the policies and practices of the City and applicable laws; provided,
however, that any action taken by the Authorized City Representative in accordance with the provisions of the Trust
Agreement shall conclusively be deemed by the Trustee and the Owners to be the act of the City without further
evidence of the authorization thereof by the City.

“Authorized Denominations” means $5,000 principal amount and integral multiples thereof with respect to
the Denomunational Amount with respect to each maturity of the Series 2001 Bonds.




“Bonds,” as defined in the Trust Agreement, means all bonds, notes or other obligations authorized to be
issued from time to time pursuant to the PFRS Pension Obligation Bond Law which are issued pursuant to the Trust
Agreement and any Supplemental Trust Agreement executed pursuant to the provisions of the Trust Agreement. As
used in this Appendix C, the “City of Oakland, Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2001 are referred to as the
“Senies 2001 Bonds.”

“Bond Counsel” shall mean a firm or firms of attorneys which are nationally recognized as exports in the
area of municipal finance and which are familiar with the transactions contemplated under the Trust Agreement and
which are acceptable to the City.

“Bondholder,” “holder,” “owner” or “registered owner” shall mean the person in whose name any Bond
or Bonds are registered on the books maintained by the Registrar and shall include any Credit Provider or Liquidity
Provider to which a Repayment Obligation is then owed, 1o the extent that such Repayment Obligation is deemed to
be a Bond under the provisions of the Trust Agreement.

“Bond Insurance Policy” means the financial guaranty insurance policy issued by the Series 2001 Bond
Insurer to the City and held by the Trustee to secure payment of the Serics 2001 Bonds.

“Business Day " shall mean a day on which banks located in New York, New York, in Oakland, Catifornia
and in the city in which the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee is located are open, provided that such
term may have a different meaning for any specified Series or Subseries of Bonds if so provided by Supplemental
Trust Agreement.

“Capital Appreciation Bonds” shall mean Bonds all or a portion of the interest on which is compounded
and accumulated at the rates and on the dates set forth in a Supplemental Indenture and is payable only upon
redemption or on the maturity date of such Bonds. Bonds which are issued as Capital Appreciation Bonds, but later
convert 1o Bonds on which interest is paid periodically shall be Capital Appreciation Bonds until the conversion date
and thereafter shall no longer be Capital Appreciation Bonds, but shall be treated as having a principal amount equal
to their Accreted Value on the conversion date. “Capital Appreciation Bonds” includes the Series 2001 Bonds.

“Cede & Co.” shall mean Cede & Co., the nominee of DTC, and any successor nominee of DTC with
respect to the Series 2001 Bonds.

“Charter” shall mean the Charter of the City of Oakland adopted on November 5, 1968, as amended from
time to time.

“City " shall mean the City of Oakland, California.

“City Attorney” shall mean legal counsel to the City, whether employees of the City or outside counsel
hired by the City to render an opinion or give advice as to any specific matter.

“City Council” shall mean the City Council of the City of Oakland, California, created under the provisions
of the Charter, and any successor to its function.

“City Treasury” shall mean the official depository of the City referred to in Section 806 of the Charter
which 1s under the control of the Treasurer.

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the United States Treasury
Regulations applicable with respect thereto.

“Consultant” shall mean any Independent consultant, consulting firm, accountant or accounting firm, a
specialized employee of the City (who need not be Independent) or other expert recognized to be well-qualified for
work of the character required and retained by the City 1o perform acts and carry out the duties provided for such
consultant in the Trust Agreement.
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“Continuing Disclosure Certificate” shall mean the Continuing Disclosure Certificate of the City dated the
date of issuance and delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds, as originally executed and as it may be amended from time
to time in accordance with the terms thereof.

“Costs” means all costs representing or relating to the obligations of the City to the System under
Article XXVI of the Charter, and shall include, but not be limited to, the following: (1) the costs of services
provided to implement the Program described in the PFRS Pension Obligation Bond Law, including costs of
consultants, advisors, actuaries, accountants, planners, attorneys, financial and feasibility consultants, in each case,
whether an employee of the City or an Independent consultant; (2) costs of the City properly allocated to the
Program and with respect to costs of its employees or other labor costs, including the cost of medical, pension,
retirement and other benefits as well as salary and wages and the allocable costs of administrative, supervisory and
managerial personnel and the properly allocable cost of benefits provided for such personnel; (3) costs of amortizing
any unfunded accrued actuarial liability of the System; (4) financing expenses, including costs related to issuance of
and securing of Bonds, costs of credit facilities, liquidity facilities, municipal bond insurance or any other kind of
credit enhancement relating to the Bonds, any amount to be deposited in any debt service reserve fund, the cost of
any reserve fund surety policy, trustee’s and paying agent’s fees and expenses; (5) any interest rate swap termination
payments due under a swap relating to any Series or Subseries of Bonds or the failure to issue Bonds, or any
payments due upon initiation of any swap arrangement; (6) Costs of Issuance, and (7) such other costs and expenses
that can be capitalized under generally accepted accounting principles in effect at the time the cost is incurred by the

City.

“Costs of Issuance’ means the costs of issuing any Bonds under the Trust Agreement or any Supplemental
Trust Agreement. The Costs of Issuance are Costs permitted by the definition of “Costs™ in the Trust Agreement
and in the PFRS Pension Obligation Bond Law. With respect to the Series 2001 Bonds, “Costs of Issuance” means
all costs and expenses incwrred by the City in connection with the issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds, including, but
not limited to, costs and expenses of preparation, printing and copying of the preliminary official statement and
other documents and agreements, costs associated with the solicitation and tender of any Series 1997 Bonds, the
preparation of the Series 2001 Bonds, bond insurance premium, underwriters’ compensation, the fees, costs and
expenses of rating agencies, the Trustee, any paying agents, legal counsel, actuaries, accountants, financial advisors,
feasibility consultants and other Consultants.

“Covenant of Payment” means the Covenant of Payment included in the Covenant of Payment and the
Granting Clause of the Trust Agreement.

“Credit Facility” shall mean a policy of municipal bond insurance, a letter of credit, surety bond, line of
credit, guarantee, standby purchase agreement, Reserve Fund Surety Policy or other financial instrument which
obligates a third party to make payment of or provide funds to the Trustee for the payment of the principal of and/or
interest on Bonds, whether such obligation is to pay in the first instance and seek reimbursement or to pay only if the
City fails to do so.

“Credit Provider” shall mean the party obligated to make payment of principal of and interest on the
Bonds under a Credit Facility. '

“Debenture” means any one or more of the debentures issued by the City from time to time pursuant to the
PFRS Pension Obligation Bond Law.

“Debt Service Fund” or “'Debt Service Funds” shall mean a Debt Service Fund or any of the Debt Service
Funds required to be created by the Trust Agreement and further described therein.

“Denominational Amount” means the amount in which any Bond is denominated in accordance with the
terms of the Supplemental Trust Agreement providing for the issuance of such Bond, if such Bond has a
denominational amount which is different from the face principal amount of the Bonds of such Series.
“"Denominational Amount” means, with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds, the initiai dollar amount in which each

marurity of the Series 2001 Bonds are denominated in accordance with the terms of the Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement.
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“Designated Debt” shall mean a specific indebtedness designated by the City with the intent that the risks
associated with such debt be offset with a Swap, such specific indebtedness to include all or any part of a Series or
Subseries of Bonds.

“DTC” shall mean The Depository Trust Company, a limited-purpose trust company organized under the
laws of the State of New York, and its successors and assigns.

“Escrow Agent” means The Chase Manhattan Bank, acting as Escrow Agent pursuant to the Escrow
Agreement.

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement dated as of September 1, 2001 between the City and
the Escrow Agent, providing for the defeasance of a portion of the Series 1997 Bonds.

“Event af Default” shall mean any occurrence or event specified in the Trust Agreement,

"First Supplemental Trust Agreement” means the First Supplemental Trust dated as of February 1, 1997
between the Trustee and the City, providing for the issuance of the Series 1997 Bonds.

“Fiscal Year” shall mean the period of time beginning on July 1 of each given year and ending on June 30
of the immediately subsequent year, or such other similar period as the City designates as its fiscal year.

“Firch " means Fitch Investors Service, Inc.

“Funding Agreement” means any agreement executed by the City and the System from time to time setting
forth those undertakings of the City pursuant to Article XXV1 of the Charter which the City is financing by the
issuance of Bonds pursuant to the PFRS Pension Obligation Bond Law.

“Government Obligations” shall mean (1) United States Obligations (including obligations issued or held
in book-entry form) and (2) prerefunded municipai obligations meeting the following conditions: (a) the municipal
obligations are not subject to redemption prior to maturity, or the trustee has been given hrrevocable instructions
concerning their calling and redemption and the issuer has covenanted not to redeem such obligations other than as
set forth in such instructions; (b) the municipal obligations are secured by cash and/or United States Obligations,
which United States Obligations may be applied only to interest, principal and premium payments of such municipal
obligations; (c) the principal of and interest on the United States Obligations (plus any cash in the escrow fund) are
sufficient to meet the liabilities of the municipal obligations; (d) the United States Obligations serving as security for
the municipal obligations are held by an escrow agent or trustee; (&) the United States Obligations are not available
to satisfy any other claims, including those against the trustee or escrow agent; and (f) the municipal obligations are

rated in the highest rating category by Moody’s if Moody’s then maintains a rating an such obligations and by S&P
if S&P then maintains a rating on such obligations.

“Holder " or “"Bondholder” shall mean the registered owner of any Bond including DTC or its nominee as
the sole registered owner of Book-Entry Bonds.

“Independent” shall mean, when used with respect to any specified firm or individual, such a firm or
individual who (i} does not have any direct financial interest or any material indirect financial interest in the
operations of the City, other than the payment to be received under a contract for services to be performed, and (ii) is
not connected with the City as an official, officer or employee.

"Information Agent” means Bondholder Communications Group, Inc., acting as Information Agent to the
City in connection with the purchase of a portion of the Series 1997 Bonds.

“Information Services” means: (I} Financial Information, Inc.’s “Daily Calied Bond Service™ (2)

Interactive Data Corporation’s Bond Service; {3) Kenny Information Service’s “Called Bond Service™; (4) Moody’s
"Municipa} and Government Called Bond Service”; or (3) Standard & Poor’s "Called Bond Record.”
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“Invitation to Tender Bonds ™ means the City's Invitation to Tender Bonds for Cash dated August 31, 2001,
as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated September 17, 2000 relating to the tender for purchase of the Series 1997
Bonds.

“Investment Agreement’ shall mean an investment agreement or guaranteed investment contract (i} with or
guaranteed by a national or state chartered bank or savings and loan, an insurance company or other financial
institution whose unsecured debt is rated in the highest short-term rating category (if the term of the Investment
Agreement is less than three years) or in either of the two highest long-term rating categories (if the term of the
Investment Agreement is three years or longer) by S&P if S&P then maintains a rating on any of the Bonds and by
Moody’s if Moody’s then maintains a rating on any of the Bonds or (i) which investment agreement or guaranteed
investment contract is fully secured by obligations described in item (1) or (2} of the definition of Permitted
Investments which are (A) valued not less frequently than monthly and have a fair market value, exclusive of
accrued interest, at all times at least equal to the principal amount of the investment, (B) heid by the Trustee (who
shall not be the provider of the collateral} or by any Federal Reserve Bank ot a depository acceptable to the Trustee,
(C) subject to a perfected first lien in the Trustee, and (D) free and clear from all third-party liens.

“Liquidity Facility” shall mean a letter of credit, line of credit, standby purchase agreement or other
financial instrument, including a Credit Facility, which 1s available to provide funds with which to purchase Bonds.

“Liguidity Provider” shall mean the entity, including the Credit Provider, which is obligated to provide
funds to purchase Bonds under the terms of a Liquidity Facility.

“Mail” shall mean by first-class United States mail, postage prepaid.

“Maturity Amount” means the amount of principal payable with respect to the Capital Appreciation Bonds
at the maturity thereof. "Marurity Amount” means, with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds, the amount of the
Accreted Value payable with respect to each maturity of the Series 2001 Bonds at their respective maturity date.

“Moody’s” shall mean Moody’s Investors Service, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of
tire State of Delaware, its successors and their assigns, and, if such corporation shall for any reason no longer
perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally
recognized rating agency designated by the City.

“Non-Qualified Swap” shall mean any Swap which is not a Qualified Swap.

“Notes” shall mean Bonds issued under the provisions of the Trust Agreement which have a maturity of
five years or less from their date of original issuance and which are not issued as part of a commercial paper notes
program.

“Original Issue Discount Bonds " shall mean Bonds which are sold at an initial public offering price of less
than 95% of their face value and which are specifically designated as Original Issue Discount Bonds by the

Supplemental Trust Agreement under which such Bonds are issued.

“Outstanding, " when used with respect to Bonds, shall mean all Bonds which have been authenticated and
delivered under the Trust Agreement, except:

(a) Bonds canceled or purchased by the Trustee for cancellation or delivered to or acquired
by the Trustee for cancellation and, in all cases, with the intent to extinguish the debt represented thereby;

{b) Bonds deemed to be paid in accordance with the Trust Agreement;

(c) Bonds in lieu of which other Bonds have been auwthenticated under the Trust Agreement;




(d) Bonds that have become due (at maturity or on redemption, acceleration or otherwise)
and for the payment of which sufficient moneys, including interest accrued to the due date, are held by the
Trustee or a Paying Agent;

(e) Bonds which, under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Agreement pursuant to which
they were issued, are deemed to be no longer Outstanding;

(H any Repayment Obligation deemed to have the same status as Bonds under the Trust
Agreement to the extent such Repayment Obligation arose under the terms of a Liquidity Facility and is
secured by a pledge of Outstanding Bonds acquired by the Liquidity Provider; and

(z) for purposes of any consent or other action to be taken by the holders of a specified
percentage of Bonds under the Trust Agreement, Bonds held by or for the account of the City or by any
person controlling, controlled by or under common control with the City, unless such Bonds are pledged to
secure a debt to an unrelated party.

“Participants” means the participants of DTC which include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations.

“Paying Agent” or “Paying Agenis” shall mean, with respect to the Bonds or any Series or Subseries of
Bonds, the bariks, trust companies or other financial institutions or other entities designated in a Supplemental Trust
Agreement or a resolution of the City as the Paying Agent acting as paying agent for such Bonds. “Paying Agent,”
for purposes of the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, shall mean the Trustee.

"Payment Date” shall mean, with respect to any Bonds, each date on which interest is due and payable
thereon and, each date on which principal is due and payable thereon, whether at maturity or redemption thereof.

“Payments " means the payments made by the City pursuant to the Covenant of Payment, which payments
the City has agreed to make from any meneys of the City legally available to pay principal of or interest, redemption
price or other amounts owed with respect to the Bonds. No special source of moneys or revenues, other than the
Pledged Revenues, is specifically pledged by the City to the payment of the Bonds pursuant to the terms of the Trust
Agreement.

“Permitted Investments” shall mean, with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds, but only to the extent
permitted to be invested by the City by applicable law, the Charter and investment policy of the City, any of the
following:

A. Direct obligations of the United States of America (including obligations issued or held in
book-entry form on the books of the Department of the Treasury, and CATS and TIGRS) or
obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United
States of America.

B. Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any of the
following federal agencies and provided such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of
the United States of America (stripped securities are only permitted if they have been stripped by
the agency itself);

1. U.S. Export-Import Bank (Eximbank)

Direct obligations or fully guaranteed certificates of beneficial ownership

2. Farmers Home Administration (FmlTA)

Certificates of beneficial ownership

3. Federal Financing Bank




4, Federal Housing Administration Debentures (FHA)

5. General Services Administration
Participation certificates

6. Government National Mortgage Agsociation (GMNA or “Ginnie Mae™)
GNMA - guaranteed mortgage-backed bonds
GNMA - guaranteed pass-through obligations
(not acceptable for certain cash-flow sensitive issues.)

7. 11.S. Maritime Administration
Guaranteed Title XI financing

8. 1J.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)
Project Notes

Local Authority Bonds
New Communities Debentures - 1J.S. government guaranteed debentures

U.S. Public Housing Notes and Bonds — U.S. govermment guaranteed public housing notes
and bonds

Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any of the
following non-full faith and credit US. government agencies (stripped securities are only permitted
if they have been stripped by the agency itself):

1. Federal Home Loan Bank System
Senior debt obligations

2. Federal Home I.0an Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC or “Freddie Mac™)
Participation, Certificates

Senior debt obligations

3. Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA or “Fannie Mae™)
Mortgage-backed securities and senior debt obligations

4. Student Loan Marketing Association (SLMA or “Sallie Mac™)
Senior debt obligations

5. Resolution Funding Corp. (REFCORP) obligations

6. Farm Credit System
Consolidated systemwide bonds and notes

Money market finds registered under the Federal Investment Company Act of 1940, whose shares
are registered under the Federal Securities Act of 1933, and having a rating by S&P of AAAM-G,
AAA-m, or AA-m, or AA-m and if rated by Moody’s rated Aaa, Aal or Aa2.

Certificates of deposit secured at all times by collateral described in (A) and/or (B) above. Such
certificates must be issued by commercial banks, savings and loan associations or mutual savings
banks. The collateral must be hetd by a third party and the bondholders must have a perfected first
security interest in the collateral.

Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts or money market deposits which are
fully insured by FDIC, including BIF and SAIF.




Investment Agreements, including GIC’s, acceptable 1o MBIA. Forward Purchase Agreements
and Reserve Fund Put Agrecments acceptable to MBIA.

Commercial paper rated, at the time of purchase, “Prime-1" by Moody’s and “A-1" or better by
S&P.

Bonds or notes issued by any state or municipality which are rated by Moody’s and S&P in one of
the two highest rating categories assigned by such agencies.

Federal funds or bankers acceptances with a maximum term of one vear of any bank which has an
unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed obligation rating of “Prime - 1™ or “A3” or better by
Moody’s and “A-1" or “A” or better by S&P.

Repurchase Agreements for 30 days or less must follow the following criteria. Repurchase
Agreements which exceed 30 days must be acceptable to MBIA. Repurchase Agreements must
provide for the transfer of securities from a dealer bank or securities firm {seller/borrower) to a
municipal entity (buyer/lender), and the transfer of cash from a municipal entity to the dealer bank
or securities firm with an agreement that the dealer bank or securities firm will repay the cash plus
a yield to the municipal entity in exchange for the securities at a specified date.

1. Repos must be between the municipal entity and a dealer bank or securities firm

a. Primary dealers on the Federal Reserve reporting dealer list which are rated A or
better by Standard & Poor’s Corporation and Moody’s Investor Services, or

b. Banks rated “A” or above by Standard & Poor’s Corporation and Moody’s
Investor Services.
2. The written repo contract must include the following:
a. Securities which are acceptable for transfer are:
(1) Direct U.S. governments, or

(2) Federal agencies backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S.
government and (FNMA & FHLMC)

b. The term of the repo may be up to 30 days

c. The collateral must be delivered to the municipal entity, trustee (if trustee is not
supplying the collateral) or third party acting as agent for the trustee (if the
trustee is supplying the collateral) before/simultaneous with payment (perfection
by possession of certificated securities).

d. Valuation of Collateral

(1 The securities must be valued weekly, market-to-market at current
market price plus accrued interest

(a) The value of collateral must be equal to 104% of the amount
of cash transferred by the municipal entity to the dealer bank
or security firm under the repo plus accrued interest. if the
value of securities held as coltateral slips below 104% of the
cash transferred by municipality, then additional cash and/or
acceptable securities must be transferred. If, however, the
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securities used as collateral are FNMA or FHLMC, then the
value of collateral must equal 105%.

3. Legal opinion which must be delivered to the municipal entity:
a. Repo meets guidelines under state law for legal investment of public funds.

“PFRS Pension Obligation Bond Law” means Chapter 4.44 of the Oakland Municipal Code, enacted by
Ordinance No. 11851 adopted by the City Council on January 23, 1996,

“Pledged Revenues” means the Tax Override Revenues and any other revenues which are specifically
pledged to the payment of Bonds under the terms of any Supplemental Trust Agreement.

“Pledged Revenues Account” means the fund of such designation created pursuant to the First
Supplementa! Trust Agreement and the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement.

“Program’ means the program referred to in the PFRS Pension Obligation Bond Law.
"Program Fund" means the fund designated by such name established pursuant to the Trust Agreement.

“Qualified Swap* shall mean any Swap (a) whose Designated Debt is all or part of a particular Series or
Subseries of Bonds; (b) which has been approved in writing by any Credit Provider securing payment of principal of
and interest on such Series or Subseries of Bonds (including any bond insurer); (c) whose Swap Provider is a
Qualified Swap Provider or has been a Qualified Swap Provider within the 60 day period preceding the date on
which the determination of such status is being made; (d) which has a term not greater than the term of the
Designated Debt or to a specified mandatory tender or redemption of such Designated Debt; and (e) which has been
designated in writing to the Trustee by the City as a Qualified Swap with respect to such Bonds.

“Qualified Swap Provider” shall mean a financial institution (a) whose senior long-term debt obligations,
or whose obligations under any Qualified Swap are guaranteed by a financial institution, or subsidiary of a financial
institution, whose senior long-term debt obligations, are rated at least “AA,” in the case of Moody’s and “Aa,” in the
case of Standard & Poor’s, or the equivalent thereto in the case of any successor thereto, and (b) acceptable to the
Credit Provider for the Designated Debt.

“Rating Agency” shall mean Moody’s , S&P or Fitch.

“Rating Category” and “Rating Categories” shall mean (i) with respect to any long-term rating category,
all ratings designated by a particular letter or combination of letters, without regard to any numerical modifier, plus
or minus sign or other modifier, and (ii) with respect to any short-term or commercial paper rating category, all
ratings designated by a particular letter or combination of letters and taking into account any numerical modifier, but
not any plus or minus sign or other modifier,

“Record Date” shall mean, with respect to any Series or Subseries of Bonds, the record date as specified in
the Supplemental Trust Agreement which provides for the issuance of such Series. “Record Date” means, with

respect to the Series 2001 Bonds, the December 1 for each December 15 Maturity Date (whether or not a Business
Day).

“Refunding Bonds™ shall mean any Bonds issued pursuant to the provisions of the Trust Agreement to
refund or defease all or a portion of any series of Outstanding Bonds ot any Subordinated Obligation.

“Registrar, " for purposes of the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, shall mean the Trustee.

“Registrar” shall mean, with respect to the Bonds or any Series or Subseries of Bonds, the bank, trust
company or other entity designated in a Supplemental Trust Agreement or a resolution of the City to perform the
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function of Registrar under the Trust Agreement or any Supplemental Trust Agreement, and which bank, trust
company or other entity has accepted the position in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Agreement.

“Regularly Scheduled Swap Payments” shall mean the regularly scheduled payments under the terms of a
Swap which are due absent any termination, default or dispute in connection with such Swap.

“Repayment Obligations” shall mean an obligation arising under a written agreement of the City and a
Credit Provider pursuant to which the City agrees to reimburse the Credit Provider for amounts paid through a
Credit Facility to be used to pay debt service on any Bonds or an obligation arising under a written agreement of the
City and a Liquidity Provider pursuant to which the City agrees to reimburse the Ligqudity Provider for amounts
paid through a Liquidiry Facility to be used to purchase Ronds.

“Representation Letter” means the Letter of Representations from the City and the Trustee to DTC
applicable to the Series 2001 Bonds.

“Reserve Fund” shall mean any trust account created pursuant to any Supplemental Trust Agreement and
that is required to be funded for the purpose of providing additional security for any Bonds issued pursuant to the
terms of the Trust Agreement and as specified in any Supplemental Trust Agreement.

“Reserve Requirement” shall mean such amount specified by the terms of any Supplemental Indenture as
the minimum amount to be maintained in any Reserve Fund or any sub-account thereof with respect to any issue or
Series or Subseries of Bonds.

“Reserve Fund Surety Policy” shall mean an insurance policy or surety bond, or a letter of credit, deposited
in any Reserve Fund in lieu of or partial substitution for cash or securities on deposit therein. The entity providing
such Reserve Fund Surety Polity shall be rated in one of the two highest Rating Categories by both Moody’s if
Moody’s is then maintaining a rating on the Bonds and S&P if S&P is then maintaining a rating on the Bonds at the
time such instrument is provided.

“Second Supplemental Trust Agreement” means the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement dated as of
September 1, 2001 between the City and the Trustee and which sets forth the terms of the Series 2001 Bonds,

“Securities Depositories " means: The Depository Trust Company, 711 Stewart Avenue, Garden City, New
York 11530, Fax (616) 227-4039 or 4190; or, in accordance with then current guidelines of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, and such other securitics depositories as the City may designate in a certificate of the City
delivered to the Trustee.

“Series 2001 Bonds” means the $195,636,449.10 original aggregate Denominational Amount of Bonds
issued under the Trust Agreement and the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement and designated as “City of
Oakland, Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2001.”

“Series 2001 Bond Insurer " means MBIA Insurance Corporation and any successor thereto.

“Series 2001 Costs of Issuance Fund’ means the Costs of Issuance Fund designated by such name created
in the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement and info which money is to be deposited to pay Costs of Issuance with
respect to the issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds.

“Series 2001 Debt Service Fund™ means the Debt Service Fund designated by such name created in the
Second Supplemental Trust Agreement and into which money is to be deposited to pay the Maturity Amount of the
Series 2001 Bonds.

“Series” shall mean Bonds designated as a separate Series by a Supplemental Trust Agreement.

“Serial Bonds” mean Bonds for which no sinking fund installment payments are provided.
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“State” shall mean the State of Califorma.

“Subordinated Obligation” shall mean any bond, note or other debt instrument issued or otherwise entered
into by the City which ranks junior and subordinate to the Bonds and which may be paid from moneys constituting
Pledged Revenues only if all amounts of principal and interest which have become due and payable on the Bonds,
whether by maturity, redemption or acceleration, have been paid in full and the City is current on all payments, if
any, required to be made to replenish any Reserve Fund. “Subordinated Obligations™ are not Bonds for purposes of
the Trust Agreement; provided, however, that the City may henceforth by Supplemental Trust Agreement elect to
have the provisions of the Trust Agreement applicable to the Bonds apply to the Subordinated Obligations issued
thereunder, except that such Subordinated Obligations shall be secured on a junior and subordinate basis to the
Bonds from the Pledged Revenues. No bond, note or other instrument of indebtedness shall be deemed to be a
“Subordinated Obligation™ for purposes of the Trust Agreement and payable on a subordinated basis from Pledged
Revenues unless specifically designated by the City as a “Subordinated Obligation™ in a Supplemental Trust
Agreement or other written instrument. In connection with any Subordinated Obligation with respect to which a
Swap is in effect or if the City proposes a Swap 1o be in effect, the term “Subordinated Obligation™ includes,
collectively, both such Subordinated Obligation and either such Swap or the obligations of the City under each such
Swap, as the context requires. The term “Subordinated Obligations” also includes a Swap or the obligations of the
City under such Swap which has been entered into in connection with a Subordinated Obligation, as the context
requires, although none of the Subordinated Obligations with respect to which such Swap was entered into remain
ouistanding. In connection with any Bonds with respect to which a Qualified Swap is in effect or proposed to be in
efiect, the term “Subordinated Obligation™ includes any Swap Termination Payment.

“Supplemental Trust Agreement” shall mean any document supplementing or amending the Trust
Agreement or providing for the issuance of Bonds and entered into as provided in the Trust Agreement.

“Swap " shall mean any financial arrangement between the City (or the Trustee at the direction of the City)
and a Swap Provider which provides that (a) each of the parties shall pay to the other an amount or amounts
calculated as if such amount were interest accruing during the term of the arrangement at a specified rate (whether
fixed or a variable rate or measured against some other rate) on a Designated Debt, and payable from time to time or
at a designated time or times (whether before, during or after the term of the arrangement); (b) if such amount is to
be paid before it is deemed to have accrued, the amount paid shall reflect the present value of such future amount
(i.e., an upfront premium), while an amount to be paid after it is deemed to have accrued shall reflect the time value
of such funds; (c) payment dates and calculated accrual rates need not be the same for each payor, but to the extent
payment dates coincide, the arrangement may (but need not) provide that one shall pay to the other any net amount
due under such arrangement.

“S&P” shall mean Standard & Poor’s, a division of McGraw-Hill Companies, its successors and their
assigns, and if such rating agency shall for any reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency,
“S&P” shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the City.

“Swap Provider” shall mean a party 10 a Swap with the City.

“Swap Termination Payment” shall mean an amount payable by the City or a Qualified Swap Provider, in
accordance with a Qualified Swap, 1o compensate the other party to the Qualified Swap for any losses and costs that
such other party may incur as a result of an event of default or the early termination of the obligations, in whole or in
part, of the parties under such Qualified Swap.

“Tax Override” and “Tax Override Revenues™ shall mean the annual tax levy and the revenues generated
and collected thereby by the City in each Fiscal Year, as and when collected and net of coliection costs and
administrative charges, as proceeds of the annual tax levy authorized by Measure R enacted by the voters of the City
on June 8, 1976, amending Section 2602, 2607, 2608, 2610, 2618 and 2619 of the Charter, and Measure O approved
by the voters of the City on June 7, 1988, amending Section 2619(6) of the Charter. The “Tax Override Revenues”
shall not inciude investment earnings on such revenues while held by the City in the Tax Override Revenues
Account. The use and application of the Tax Override Revenues shall be in accordance with the Trust Agreement.
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“Term Bonds" shall mean Bonds of a series which are payable on or before their specified maturity dates
from sinking fund instaliment payments established for that purpose pursuant to the Supplemental Trust Agreement
for such series and calculated to retire the Bonds on or before their specified maturity dates.

“Treasurer” shall mean the Treasurer of the City as set forth in the Charter.

“Trust Agreement” shall mean the Master Trust Agreement dated as of February 1, 1997 between the City
and the Trustee, together with all Supplemental Trust Agreements,

“Trustee” shall mean the entity named as such in the heading of the Trust Agreement until a successor
replaces it and, thereafter, shall mean such successor.

“United States Obligations” shall mean direct and general obligations of the United States of America, or
obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States of America,
including, with respect only to direct and general obligations and not to guaranteed obligations, evidences of
ownership of proportionate interests in future interest and/or principal payments of such obligations, provided that
investments in such proportionate interests must be limited to circumstances wherein: (1) a bank or trust company
acts as custodian and helds the underlying United States Obligations; (2) the owner of the investment is the real
party in interest and has the right to proceed directly and individually against the obligor of the underlying United
States Obligations; and (3) the underlying United States Obligations are held in a special account separate from the
custodian’s general assets and are not available to satisfy any claim of the custodian, any person claiming through
the custodian or any person to whom the custodian may be obligated. “United States Obligations " shall include any
stripped interest or principal portion of United States Treasury securities and any stripped interest portion of
Resolution Funding Corporation securities.

COVENANT OF PAYMENT AND
GRANTING CLAUSE; SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

To secure the payment of the Bonds and the performance and observance by the City of all the covenants,
agreements and conditions expressed or contained in the Bonds, the City (i) agrees to pay from any legally available
source of revenues of the City, including but not limited to the Tax Override Revenues (as defined in the Trust
Agreement), 2s and to the extent provided in the Trust Agreement, all amounts due and owing with respect to Bonds
1ssued under the Trust Agreement and all Supplemental Trust Agreements executed pursuant to the Trust Agreement
according to the provisions of such agreements, including principal and interest thereon and the redemption price
thereof (such payments being referred to in the Trust Agreement as the “Payments™) and (ii) pledges and assigns to
the Trustee and grants to the Trustee a lien on and security interest in all right, title and interest of the City in and to
all of the following, and provides that such lien and security imterest shall be prior in right to any other pledge, lien
or security interest created by the City in the following: (a) the Tax Override Revenues and all amounts (exclusive
of investment earnings thereon) held from time to time to the credit of the Tax Override Revenues Account of the
City’s General Fund, as and to the extent provided in the Trust Agreement, (b) Pledged Revenues (as defined in the
Trust Agreement) and all moneys and securities held from time to time by the Trustee under the Trust Agreement as
follows: (1) moneys and securities held in any Reserve Fund relating to Bonds of any series and any Reserve Fund
Surety Policy, as defined in the Trust Agreement, provided at any time in satisfaction of all or a portion of the
Reserve Requirement, and (2) moneys and securities held in any Program Fund, as and to the extent provided in any
Supplemental Trust Agreement, whether or not held by the Trustee, (¢) earnings on amounts included in provisions
(a) and (b) of the Granting Clause (except to the extent excluded from the definition of “Pledged Revenues” by the
Trust Agreement or any Supplemental Trust Agreement), and (d) any and all other funds, assets, rights, property or
interests therein, of every kind or description which may from time to time hereafier, by delivery or by writing of
any kind executed by or on behalf of the City, be sold, transferred, conveyed, assigned, pledged, mortgaged, granted
or delivered to or deposited with the Trustee as additional security under the Trust Agreement, for the equal and
proportionate benefit and security of all Bonds, all of which, regardless of the time or times of their authentication
and delivery or maturity, shall, with respect to the security provided by the Covenant of Payment and Granting
Clause, be of equal rank withouwt preference, priority or distinction as to any Bond over any other Bond or Bonds,
except as to the timing of payment of the Bonds. Any security or Credit Facility provided for specific Bonds or a
specific Series or Subseries of Bonds may, as provided by a Supplemental Trust Agreement, secure only such
specific Bonds or Series or Subseries of Bonds and, therefore, shall not be included as security for all Bonds under
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the Trust Agreement and moneys and securitics held in trust as provided in the Trust Agreement exclusively for
Bonds which have become due and payable and moneys and securities which are held exclusively to pay Bonds
which are deemed to have been paid under the provisions of the Trust Agreement shall be held solely for the
payment of such specific Bonds. The agreement of the City set forth in subparagraph (i) above is referred to in the
Trust Agreement as the “Covenant of Payment.”

The Series 2001 Bonds are 1ssued under and subject to the terms of the Trust Agreement and are secured by
and payable from the Payments to be made by the City and other securtty provided in the Covenant of Payment and
Granting Clause of the Trust Agreement and in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement. The City agrees
in the Trust Agreement to make the Payments to the Trustee at such times and in such amounts as are necessary to
cause all amounts payable to the Bondholders under the Frust Agreement to be made by the Trustee as and when
due in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Agreement. The Senes 2001 Bonds shall be secured by and
payable from the Payments as provided in the Trust Agreement and the other funds and accounts created thereunder.

The City agrees in the Trust Agreement to pay from any legally available source of revenues of the City,
including but not limited to the Tax Qverride Revenues, as and to the extent provided in the Trust Agreement, all
amounts due and owing with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds issved under the Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement according to the provisions of such agreement, including principal and interest hercon and the
redemption price thereof. There shall inure to the benefit of the Bonds the City’s pledge, assignment and grant to
the Trustee set forth in the Covenant of Payment and Granting Clauses of the Trust Agreement of a lien on and
security interest in all right, title and interest of the City in and to the Pledged Revenues, as and to the extent therein
provided. There shall inure to the benefit of the Bonds the City’s pledge, assignment and grant to the Trustee set
forth in the Covenant of Payment and Granting Clauses of the Trust Agreement of a lien on and security interest in
all right, title and interest of the City in and to (i) all moneys and securities held from time to time by the Trustee
under the Supplementa! Trust Agreement, and (ii) any and all other funds, assets, rights, property or interests
therein, of every kind or description which may from time to time hereafter, by delivery or by wnting of any kind
executed by or on behalf of the City, be sold, transferred, conveyed, assigned, pledged, mortgaged, granted or
delivered to or deposited with the Trustee as additional security under the Trust Agreement, for the equal and
proportionate benefit and security of all Bonds.

THE BONDS

Issuance of Bonds. Bonds may be used by the City under the terms of the Trust Agreement for any
purpose for which the City, at the time of such issuance, may incur debt pursuant to the PFRS Pension Obligation
Bond Law, which may include issuing Bonds and loaning the proceeds to other entities (if it is determined to be
legally permissible for the City to do so at such time) or investing the proceeds of Bonds in any Permitted
Investment, provided that, if the proceeds of the Bonds are loaned to other entities or invesied, the loan repayments
and interest or investment earnings thereon and the invested proceeds and interest or investment earnings thereon
shall be included as Fledged Revenues. Bonds may be issued under the Trust Agreement only if the provisions of
the Trust Agreement are satisfied. The Bonds may be in certificated or uncertificated form, and Bonds which are
issued in certificated form may be freely transferable or may be immobilized and held by a custodian for the
beneficial owners, all as shall be set forth or permitted in the Supplemental Trust Agreement providing for the
issuance of such Bonds. The Bonds may have notations, legends or endorsements required by law or usage.

The Series 2001 Bonds are issued under and subject to the terms of the Trust Agreement and are secured by
and payable from the Payments to be made by the City and other security provided in the Covenant of Payment and
Granting Clause of the Master Trust Agreement and in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agrzement, on a
parity with the Outstanding Series 1997 Bonds. The City agrees to pay from any legally available source of
revenues of the City, including but not limited 10 the Tax Override Revenues, as and to the extent therein provided,
all amounts due and owing with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds issued under the Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement according to the provisions of such agreement, including the Maturity Amount thereof, and on a parity
with the Qutstanding Series 1997 Bonds. There shall inure to the benefit of the Series 2001 Bonds the City's pledge,
assignment and grant to the Trustee set forth in the Covenant of Payment and Granting Clauses of the Master Trust
Agreement, of a lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the City in and to the Pledged
Revenues as and to the extent provided in the Trust Agreement, and on a panty with the Quistanding Series 1997
Bonds. There shall inure to the benefit of the Series 2001 Bonds, on a parity with the Outstanding Series 1997
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Bonds, the City's pledge, assignment and grant to the Trustee, set forth in the Covenant of Payment and Granting
Clauses of the Master Trust Agreement, of a lien on and security interest in all right, title and interest of the City in
and to (1) all moneys and securities held from time to time by the Trustee under the Trust Agreement and (ii) any
and al} other funds, assets, rights, property or interests therein, of every kind or description which may from time to
time hereafter, by delivery or by writing of any kind executed by or on behalf of the City, be sold, transferred,
conveyed, assigned, pledged, mortgaged, granted or delivered to or deposited with the Trustee as additional security
under the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, for the equal and proportionate benefit and security of all Series
2001 Bonds and Series 1997 Bonds and any Additional Bonds, in pari passu and without preference of any of such
Bonds over any other Bonds.

Terms, Medium and Place of Payment. The Bonds shall be issued in the principal amount, shall bear
interest at a rate or rates, including a rate of 0% and including variable or adjustable rates or rates set by auction, or
by such other methods as the City may from time to time determine, and such interest may be payable periodically,
in whole or in part, or may be accreted or accumulated and paid at maturity (such as Capital Appreciation Bonds) or
at such other time or times as the City shall determine, all as shall be set forth in a Supplemental Trust Agreement.
Bonds shall mature and shall be subject to redemption prior to their respective maturities, as set forth in a
Supplemental Trust Agreement. The Bonds of each Series shall state that they are issued under and are secured by
the Trust Agreement and are payable from the Payments and the Pledged Revenues pledged under any Supplemental
Trust Agreement relating to such issue of Bonds, and state that regardless of the form thereof, they are “Bonds™
issued under the Trust Agreement and within the meaning of the Trust Agreement.

Payments with respect to the Bonds shall be made as provided in the Supplemental Trust Agreement
providing for the issuance of such Bonds or as provided in the Bonds, which provisions shall include the designation
of the currency in which such payments shall be made.

A Bond in certificated form will not be valid until the Trustee or its agent or an authenticating agent
designated by the City manually signs the certificate of authentication on the Bond. Such signature will be
conclusive evidence that the Bond has been authenticated under the Trust Agreement.

The Series 2001 Bonds will be dated their date of delivery and will accrete in value from such date,
compounded on June 15 and December 15 of each year (the "compounding dates”) to their respective maturity
dates. The Accreted Value of Series 2001 Bonds shall be determined by straight-line interpolation between such
compounding dates. Ownership interests in the Series 2001 Bonds may be purchased in book-entry form only in
Denominational Amounts and the Accreted Value represented by each such Series 2001 Bond on the maturity dates
thereof (the "Maturity Amount”) shall be $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The aggregate amount of Series
2001 Bonds maturing on any maturity date shall be as set forth on Exhibit B of the Second Supplemental Trust
Agreement. The Accreted Value of the Series 2001 Bonds as of any compounding date shall be computed on the
basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months. The Series 2001 Bonds shall mature on December 15
of each of the years set forth on Exhibit B of the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement at the Maturity Amounts set
forth therein. No payments shall be made with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds prior to their respective maturity
dates. The Maturity Amount will be paid to the person in whose name cach Series 2001 Bond is registered at the
close of business on the Record Date for such payment. The Record Date shall be the December 1 preceding each
December 15 Maturity Date (whether or not a Business Day).

If the Maturity Amount of a Series 2001 Bond becomes due and payable, but shall not have been paid as a
result of a default under the Trust Agreement, and no provision is made for its payment, then such Bond shall
accrete value at the same rate after such default as on the day before the default occurred.

Bond Register. Bonds of each Senies may be presented at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee
or such other Registrar, unless a different office has been designated for such purpose, for registration, transfer and
exchange. The Trustee or a Registrar will keep a register of each Series or Subseries of Bonds and of their transfer
and exchange.

Mutilated Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds. In the event any Bond is mutilated or defaced but identifiable

by number and description, the City shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Bond of like
Series, date, maturity and denomination as such Bond, upon surrender thereof to the Trustee; provided that there
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shall first be furnished to the Trustee clear and unequivocal proof satsfactory to the Trustee that the Bond is
mutilated or defaced to such an extent as to impair its value to the Bondholder. The Bondholder shall accompany
the above with a deposit of money required by the Trustee for the cost of preparing the substitute Bond and all other
expenses connected with the issuance of such substitute. The Trustee shall then cause proper record to be made of
the cancellation of the original, and thereafter the substitute shall have the validity of the original.

In the event any Bond is lost, stolen or destroyed, the City may execute and the Trustee may authenticate
and deliver a new Bond of like Series, date, manurity and nomination as the Bond lost, stolen or destroyed, provided
that there shall first be furnished to the Trustee evidence of such loss, theft or destruction satistactory to the Trustee,
together with indemnity satisfactory to it.

Except as hmited by any Supplemental Trust Agreement, the Trustee may charge the holder of any such
Bond all governmental charges and transfer taxes, if any, and its reasonable fees and expenses in the connection.
All substitute Bonds issued and authenticated pursuant to The Trust Agreement shall be issued as a substitute and
numbered, if numbering is provided for by the Supplemental Trust Agreement or the Trustee, as detenmined by the
Trustee. In the event any such Bond has matured or been called for redemption, instead of issuing a substitute Bond,
the Trustee may pay the same at its maturity or redemption without surrender thereof upon receipt of indemmity
satisfactory to the Trustee.

Registration and Transfer or Exchange of Bonds, Persons Treated as Owners. Unless otherwise
provided by a Supplemental Trust Agreement, all Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form.

Upon surrender for transfer of any Bond at the principal corporate trust office of the Registrar, the Registrar
shall deliver in the name of the wransferee or transferees a2 new fully authenticated and registered Bond or Bonds of
Authorized Denominations of the same Series and same maturity for the same aggregate principal amount.

Bondholders may present Bonds at the principal corporate trust office of the Registrar for exchange for
Bonds of different Authorized Denominations and, upon such presentation, the Registrar shall deliver to the
Bondholder a new fully authenticated and registered Bond or Bonds of the same Series and same mamrity for the
same aggregate principal amount.

All Bonds presented for transfer or exchange shall be accompanied by a written instrument or instruments
of transfer or authorization for exchange, in form and with guaranty of signature satisfactory to the Registrar, duly
executed by the Bondholder or by his duly authorized attorney. Series 2001 Bonds which are delivered to the
Registrar for exchange may be exchanged for an equal total Denominational Amount of Series 2001 Bonds of the
same maturity date.

The Registrar will not, however, be required to transfer or exchange any such Series 2001 Bond during the

period established by the Registrar for selection of Series 2001 Bonds for redemption or any Series 2001 Bond
which has been selected for redemption.

Except as limited by any Supplemental Trust Agreement, the Registrar also may require payment from the
Bondholder of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, or other governmental fee or charge that may be imposed in
relation thereto. Such taxes, fees and charges shall be paid before any such new Bond shall be delivered.

Supplemental Trust Agreements may designate certain limited periods during which Bonds will not be
exchanged or transferred.

Bonds delivered upon any exchange or transfer as provided in the Trust Agreement, shall be valid
obligations of the City, evidencing the same debt as the Bond or Bonds surrendered, shall be secured by the Trust
Agreement and shall be entitied to all of the security and benefits of the Trust Agreement to the same extent as the
Bond or Bonds surrendered.

The City, the Trustee and the Paymg Agent shall treat the Bondholder of a Bond, as shown on the
registration books kept by the Registrar, as the person exclusively entitled to payment of principal, premium, if any,
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and interest on such Bond and as the party entitled to the exercise of all other rights and powers of the Bondholder,
except that all interest payments will be made to the party who, as of the Record Date, is the Bondholder.

Destruction of Bonds. Whenever any Bonds shall be delivered to the Trustee for cancellation pursuant to
the Trust Agreement, upon payment of the principal amount and interest represented thereby or for replacement
pursuant to the Trust Agreement or exchange or transfer pursuant to the Trust Agreement, such Bond shall be
canceled and destroyed by the Trustee or the Registrar and counterparts of a certificate of destruction evidencing
such destruction shall be furnished by the Trustee to the City.

Temporary Bonds. Pending preparation of definitive Bonds of any Series, the City may execute and the
Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, in lieu of definitive Bonds and subject to the same limitations and conditions,
interim receipts, certificates or temporary bonds which shali be exchanged for the Bonds.

If temporary Bonds shall be issued, the City shall cause the definitive Bonds to be prepared and to be
executed, authenticated and delivered to the Trustee, and the Trustee, upon presentation to it of any temporary bond,
shall cancel the same and deliver in exchange therefor at the place designated by the Bondholder, without charge to
the Bondholder thereof, definitive Bonds of an equal aggregate principal amount, of the same Series, date, maturity
and bearing interest the same as the temporary Bonds surrendered. Until so exchanged, the temporary Bonds shall
in all aspects be entitled to the same benefit and security of the Trust Agreement as the definitive Bonds to be issued
and authenticated under the Trust Agreement. The City and Trustee may modify any of the provisions of the Trust
Agreement to allow for Capital Appreciation Bonds:

Issuance of Series or Subseries Bonds; Supplemental Trust Agreement; Application of Bond Proceeds.
Bonds may be issued, from time to time, subject to the conditions of the Trust Agreement.

Bonds shall be dated, shall mature, shall bear interest, shall be subject to redemption and shall be amortized,
all as provided in the Supplemental Trust Agreement relating to such Series or Subseries of Bonds. In addition, each
such Supplemental Trust Agreement may provide for the appointment of a Registrar or Registrars and a Paying
Agent or Paying Agents and such other agents as the City shall determine to be necessary in addition to or in place
of the Trustee.

Each issue or Series of the Bonds, upon execution by the City, shall be deposited with the Trustee or an
agent for authentication and delivery, but prior to or simuitanecusly with the original delivery of such Series or
Subseries of Bonds, there shall be filed with the Trustee the following:

(a) an original executed counterpart or a copy, certified by the City Clerk, of the Trust
Agreement, together with all prior Supplemental Trust Agreements, executed by the City;

(b) an original executed counterpart or a copy, certified by the City Clerk, of the
Supplemental Trust Agreement or Supplemental Trust Agreements providing for the issuance of such Series
or Subserics of Bonds and setting forth the terms of such Series or Subseries of Bonds;

(c) a certified copy of the Funding Agreement relating thereto, if any, or a certificate of an
Authorized City Representative listing those undertakings of the City which the City expects to finance with
proceeds of the sale of such Series or Subseries of Bonds and such certificate shall, with respect to each item
on the list, include the estimated Cost of such undertaking;

(d) the certificate of the Authonized City Representative or the Consultant or Consultants, as
the case may be, required by the Trust Agreement.

(e) a certificate of the Authorized City Representative stating that none of the Events of
Defauit set forth in the Trust Agreement of the Trust Agreement have occurred and remain uncured;
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43] an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that the issuance of such Bonds has been duly
authorized, that all legal conditions precedent to the delivery of such Bonds have been fulfilled, and that the
Bonds are valid and binding obligations of the City, enforceable in accordance with their terms; and

(2) written instructions from the City to authenticate the Bonds and, upon receipt of the
purchase price, to deliver the Bonds to or upon the order of the purchasers named in such instructions.

When the documents mentioned in clauses (a} to (g), inclusive, of the immediately preceding paragraph
shall have been filed with the Trustee and when such Bonds shall have been executed and authenticated, the Trustee
or authenticating agent shall deliver such Bonds to or upon the order of the purchasers thereof, but only upon
payment by the purchasers of the purchase price of such Bonds.

Refunding Bonds. Refunding Bonds may be issued under and secured by the Trust Agreement. Such
Refunding Bonds shall be 1ssued in aceordance with the provisions of the Trust Agreement.

Issuance of Additional Bonds. The City may issue Additional Bonds secured on a parity with any Bonds
Outstanding under the Trust Agreement at any time so long as the resolution of the Council authorizing their
issuance states that such Additional Bond shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Trust Agreement. No
restriction is imposed by the Trust Agreement on the maximum principal amount of Bonds to be issued under the
Trust Agreement. No term or provision of the Trust Agreement shall prevent the City from issuing general
obligation bonds or other indebtedness or liabilities payable from the general revenues, or any special source of
revenues, of the City.

Repayment Obligations Afforded Status of Bonds. 1f a Credit Provider or Liquidity Provider makes
payment of principal of a Bond or advances funds to purchase or provide for the purchase of Bends and is entitled to
reimbursement thereof, pursuant to a separate written agreement with the City, but is not reimbursed, the City’s
Repayment Obligation undo such written agreement may, if so provided in the written agreement, be afforded the
status of a Bond issued under the Trust Agreement, and, if afforded such status, the Credit Provider or Liguidity
Provider shall be the Bondholder and such Bond shall be deemed to have been issued at the time of the original
Bond for which the Credit Facility or Liqudity Facility was provided and will not be subject to the provisions of the
Trust Agreement therein described; provided, however, notwithstanding the stated terms of the Repayment
Obligation, the payment terms of the Bond held by the Credit Provider or Liquidity Provider under the Trust
Agreement shall be as follows: interest shall be due and payable semiannually and principal (which shall be limited
to retmbursement for amounts paid by such Credit Provider or Liquidity Provider) shall be due and payable not less
frequently than annually and in such annual amounts as to amortize the principal amount thereof in (i) 30 years or, if
shorter, (ii)(a) a term extending to the maturity date of the Bonds secured by such Credit Facility or Liquidity
Facility, or (b) if later, the final maturity of the Repayment Obligation under the written agreement, and providing
substantially level Annual Debt Service payments, using the rate of interest set forth in the written repayment
agreement which would apply to the Repayment Obligation as of the date such amortization schedule is fixed. The
principal amortized as described in the prior sentence shall bear interest in accordance with the terms of the
Repayment Obligation. Any amount which comes due on the Repayment Obligation by its terms and which is in
excess of the amount treated as principal of and interest on a Bond shall be 2 Subordinated Obligation of the City.
The provision shall not defeat or alter the rights of subrogation which any Credit Provider may have under law or
under the terms of any Supplemental Trust Agreement.

Obligations Under Qualified Swap; Nonqualified Swap. The obligation of the City to make Regularly
Scheduled Swap Payments under a Qualified Swap with respect to a Series or Subseries of Bonds may be on a parity
with the obligation of the City to make payments with respect to such Serics or Subseries of Bonds and other Bonds
under the Trust Agreement, ¢xcept as otherwise provided by Supplemental Trust Agreement and elsewhere in the
Trust Agreement with respect to any Swap Termination Payments. The City may provide in any Supplemental
Trust Agreement that interest swap payment obligations under a Qualified Swap may be payable from the Payments
and secured by a pledge of or lien on the Pledged Revenues on a parity with the Bonds of such Series and all other
Bends, regardless of the principal amount, if any, of the Bonds of such Series remaining Outstanding. The interest
rate swap obligation of the City payable from the Payments or secured by Pledged Revenues shall be limited 1o the
net amount actually owed at any time by the City under such Qualified Swap, for purposes of determining the parity
status of such obligation. The Trustee shall take all action consistent with the other provisions of the Trust
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Agreement as shall be requested in writing by the Qualified Swap Provider necessary to preserve and protect any
such pledge, lien and assignment and to enforce the obligations of the City with respect thereto. In the event the
action requested to be taken pursuant to the preceding sentence shall require the Trustee either to exercise the
remedies granted in the Trust Agreement or to institute any action, suit or proceeding in its own name, the Qualified
Swap Provider shall provide to the Trustee reasonable security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and
liabilities to be incurred in connection therewith.

In the event that a Swap Termination Payment or any other amounts other than as described in clause (a)
above are due and payable by the City under a Qualified Swap, such Swap Termination Payment and any such other
amounts shall constitute a Subordinated Obligation under the Trust Agreement.

Obligations of the City 10 make payments, including termination payments, under a Nongualified Swap
shall constitute Subordinate Obligations under the Trust Agreement.

REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2001 BONDS
The Series 2001 Bonds shall not be subject to redemption prior to their maturity.
PAYMENTS AND FUNDS

Bonds Payable Out of Payments Secured by Lien on Pledged Revenues. The City shall cause the
Payments to be made in such amounts and at such times as are necessary to cause all payments of principal, interest
and redemption price of Bonds issued under the Trust Agreement and each Supplemental Trust Agreement executed
pursuant to the Trust Agreement to be made to Bondholders when and as due. The Bonds authorized and issued
under the provisions of the Trust Agreement shall be secured as provided in the Covenant of Payment and Granting
Clause of the Trust Agreement. The City covenants that, except as expressly permitted by any Supplemental Trust
Agreement, untii all the Bonds authorized and issued under the provisions of the Trust Agreement and the interest
thereon shall have been paid or are deemed to have been paid, 1t will not grant any prior or parity pledge of or any
security interest in any Pledged Revenues pledged by any Supplemental Trust Agreement executed pursuant to the
Trust Agreement or any of the other security, if any, which is expressly pledged pursuant to the Granting Clauses of
the Trust Agreement, or create or permit to be created any charge or lien thereon or any security interest therein
ranking prior to or on a parity with the charge or lien of the Bonds from time to time Outstanding under the Trust
Agreement. The City may, as provided in the Trust Agreement, grant a lien on or security interest in any Pledged
Revenues to secure Subordinated Obligations, but only on a subordinated basis. The Trust Agreement create no
pledge of or security interest in any Pledged Revenues or other security or property for the benefit of the
Bondholders on the date of delivery of the Trust Agreement other than the Tax Override Revenues. The Trust
Agreement and the Covenant of Payment and the pledge of security set forth in the Granting Clauses of the Trust

Agreement shall not be construed to restrict in anyway the right of the City to create any charge or lien on the
legally available moneys of the City or any source thereof.

Provisions of Trust Agreement Subject to Charter Provisions. The City covenants to cause the Payments

required by the Trust Agreement to be made only in accordance with Section 806 of the Charter, relating to
budgeting and appropriations.

Establishment of Funds and Accounts. Earnings on the various funds and accounts created under any
Supplemental Trust Agreement shall be deposited as provided in such Supplemental Trust Agreement, except that
(1) during the continuation of an Event of Default carnings on such funds and accounts shall be deposited into the
Debt Service Funds created under the respective Supplemental Trust Agreements, and (ii) pursuant to the Trust
Agreement, earnings on any Reserve Funds may be retained in such funds under the conditions therein described.

In the Trust Agreement, the City establishes or authorizes the establishment of the following
special trust funds and accounts:

8 Program Fund.



2) Debt Service Funds and Accounts.
(3) Reserve Funds.

4 Residual Fund.

(5) Cost of Issuance Fund.

(6) Revenue Fund and Accounts.

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, the City establishes within the General Fund of the City a special account,

to be designated The City of Oakland, Tax Override Revenues Account, to be held in trust by the City and apphied as
provided in the Trust Agreement.

ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS RELATING TO THE SERIES 2001 BONDS AND APPLICATION
THEREOF

Establishment of Funds and Accounts. The foliowing funds are established with the City and the Trustee
in the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement:

(a) The City of Oakland, Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2001 Debt Service Fund;
{b) The City of Oakland, Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2001 Costs of Issuance Fund; and
©) The City of Oakland, Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2001 Bond Proceeds Fund.

Application of Proceeds and Other Funds and Securities. The proceeds of the sale of the Series 2001
Bonds net of the underwriters' discount received by the Trustee shall be deposited by the Trustee in the Series 2001
Bond Proceeds Fund and then portions thereof shall be: (1) transferred to the Escrow Agent for deposit in the
Escrow Fund established under the Escrow Agreement; (2) transferred to DTC for deposit in the ATOP Account;
and (3) deposited in the Series 2001 Costs of Issuance Fund.

City Transfers of Annual Debr Service; Series 2001 Debt Service Fund. The City shall deposit with the
Trustee on or before August 1, of each year, commencing August 1, 2011, an aggregate amount from its legally
available revenues and such amount of the Tax Override Revenues held in the Tax Override Revenues Account of
the City as 1s necessary (when added together with other monies of the City), to pay the Maturity Amount of any
Series 200] Bonds maturing on the next December 15 thereafier; provided, however, that Tax Override Revenues
shall be deposited by the Trustee in the Pledge Revenue Account and shall be applied to pay the Mawrity Amount of
the Bonds, including the Series 2001 Bonds, only as and to the extent due and payable. The City shall designate to
the Trustee in writing the amounts transferred from the Tax Override Revenues Account for deposit in the Pledged
Revenues Account pursuant to the Trust Agreement,

The Trustee shall deposit into the Series 2001 Debt Service Fund the amounts received from the City, as
provided in the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, to be used to pay the Accreted Value of the Series 2001
Bonds maturing on the next December 15 thercafter. Eamings on the Series 2001 Debt Service Fund shall be
withdrawn and paid to, or otherwise applied in accordance with the written direction of, the City unless an Event of
Default exists under the Trust Agreement, in which event the eamings shall be retained in such Fund.

The Series 2001 Debt Service Fund shall be invested and reinvested as directs by an Authorized City
Representative in Permitted Investments.

Tax Override Revenues Account; Pledged Revenue Account and Application of Pledged Revenues.
Until such time as no Series 2001 Bonds remain Qutstanding under the Trust Agreement, all Tax Override
Revenues, as and when collected by the City shall be deposited in the Tax Override Revenues Account of the City as
provided in the First Supplemental Trust Agreement and shall be applied solely as provided in the Trust Agreement,
the First Supplemental Trust Agreement, the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, and any supplemental trust
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agreement providing for the issuance of Additional Bonds or Refunding Bonds. As provided in the First
Supplemental Trust Agreement, the City shall transfer, not later than August | of each Fiscal Year in which the
payment of the Maturity Amount on any Series 2001 Bond shall be due and payable, such amount of the Tax
Override Revenues, which together with other moneys of the City, shall be sufficient to pay the Matunity Amount on
all Series 2001 Bonds maturing in said Fiscal Year.

The Trustee is directed to take such actions as are necessary to apply amounts of Pledged Revenues

credited to the Pledged Revenue Account to the payment of the Maturity Amount of the Series 2001 Bonds in
accordance with the Trust Agreement.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Trust Agreement, nothing in the Trust Agreement shali preclude the
City from making the payments described above from sources other than Pledged Revenues. Earnings on the
Pledged Revenues Account of the Revenue Fund shall be withdrawn and paid to the City or applied as directed by
the City in writing on or after June 16 of each Fiscal Year unless an Event of Default exists under the Trust
Agreement, in which event the earnings shall be retained in such Fund. After application of the Pledged Revenues
as set forth above in each Fiscal Year, any balance of Pledged Revenues remaining in the Pledged Revenues
Account of the Revenue Fund on or after June 16 of each Fiscal Year shall be applied pursuant to the Trust
Agreement.

General Revenue Account of the Revenue Fund., Amounts deposited by the City with the Trustee to pay
principal and interest on the Bonds which are not Pledged Revenues shall be deposited by the Trustee in the General
Revenues Account of the Revenue Fund. Prior to each Payment Date with respect to Bonds, the Trustee shall
transfer to the Debt Service Funds and Accounts for the Bonds, from amounts held in the Pledged Revenues
Account and the General Revenues Account of the Revenue Fund, an amount sufficient, when aggregated with other
amounts deposited by the City with the Trustee pursuant to the Trust Agreement, to pay principal and interest on the
Bonds coming due on the next Payment Date.

Receipt and Deposit of Tax Override Revenues in the Tax Override Revenues Account of the City
General Fund. Beginning on the date of issuance and delivery of the Series 1997 Bonds and during each year
thereafter that Bonds are outstanding, the City shall deposit all Tax Override Revenues into the Tax Override
Revenues Account and shall cause the Tax Override Revenues to be segregated and held in trust therein for
application pursuant to the Trust Agreement. The City shall cause amounts of Tax Override Revenucs to be
transferred to the Trustee for deposit in the Pledged Revenues Account of the Revenue Fund at the times and in the
amounts provided in any supplemental trust agreement relating 1o the issuance of Bonds secured by the Pledged
Revenues, for application pursuant to the provisions of the Trust Agreement.

Receipt and Deposit of Other Pledged Revenues in the Pledged Revenues Account. Subject to the
provisions of the Trust Agreement: if any Supplemental Trust Agreement requires that the City pledge any specific
revenues, fund or money, the revenues required to be so set aside into the specified accounts shall be set aside only
out of such source of funds or fund or money and not out of any other funds or revenues of the City. The
Authorized City Representative shall direct that such sums be set aside through transfers or payments made at such
time and in such amounts as may be necessary 1 comply with the provisions of the Trust Agreement and any
Supplemental Trust Agreement. Unless a differing procedure is set forth in a Supplemental Trust Agreement
relating to the Bonds or any Series or Subseries thereof, the amounts of Pledged Revenues credited to the Pledged

Revenues Account of the Revenue Fund shall be applied in the manner and in the order set forth in the Trust
Agreement.

The City may provide in any Supplementa! Trust Agreement that, as to any Series or Subseries of Bonds
Outstanding, any amounts required to be transferred to and paid into a Debt Service Fund may be prepaid, in whole
or in part, by being earlier transferred to and paid into that Debt Service Fund, and in that event any subsequently
scheduled monthly transfer, or any part thereof, which has been so prepaid need not be made at the times appointed
therefor. In any Supplemental Trust Agreement, the City may provide that moneys in the Redemption Account
allocable to sinking fund installment payments of a Series may, at the discretion of the City, be applied to the
purchase and cancellation of such Series (at a price not greater than par) prior to notice of redemption of such Series.
Such Bonds so delivered or previously redeemed or purchased at the direction of the City shall be credited by the
Treasurer at the principal amount thereof to the next scheduled sinking fund installment payments on Bonds of such
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Series and any excess over the sinking fund instaliment payment deposit required on that date shall be credited
against future sinking fund installment deposits in such manner and order as the City may determine in its discretion,
and the scheduted principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed by operation of such sinking fund installment
payments shall be accordingly modified in such manner as the City may determine.

Money set aside and placed in a Debt Service Fund for any Series or Subseries of Bonds shall remain
therein until from time to time applied to the payment of debt service and shall not be used for any other purpose
whatsoever, except that any such money so set aside and placed in a Debt Service Fund may be temporarily invested
as provided in the Trust Agreement, but such investment shall not affect the obligation of the City to cause the full
amount required by the terms of the Trust Agreement to be available in a Debt Service Fund at the time required to
meet payments of principal of and interest on Bonds of the Series for which it is accumulated. Earmings on such
mvestments may be transferred mnto the Residual Fund, except that during the continuation of an Event of Default,
such earnings shall remain in the Debt Service Funds created under the respective Supplemental Trust Agreements.

Each Debt Service Fund established to pay principal of and interest on any Series or Subseries of Bonds
shall be held by the Trustee or any agent of the Trustee, and amounts to be used to pay principal and interest on such
Series, as received by the Trustee or its agent, shall be deposited therein and used for such purpose. Accounts and
subaccounts shall be created by the Trustee or any agent of the Trustee in the various Debt Service Funds as
requested in writing by the Authorized City Representative and shall be held by the Trustee or such agents as shall
be provided by Supplemental Trust Agreement.

The moneys in each Debt Service Fund established for any issue or Series shall be held in trust and applied
as provided in the Trust Agreement and in the Supplemental Trust Agreement, and pending the application of such
amounts in accordance herewith and with the provisions of such Supplemental Trust Agreement shall be subject to a
lien on and security interest in favor of the holders of the Outstanding Bonds of such Series.

If, on any Payment Date, the Trustee does not have sufficient amounts in the Debt Service Funds (without
regard to any amounts which may be available in any Reserve Fund) to pay in full with respect to Bonds of all
Series all amounts of principal and/or interest due on such date, the Trustee shall allocate the total amount which is
available 10 make payment on such day (without regard to any amounts in any Reserve Fund} as foltows: first to the
payment of past due interest on Bonds of any Series, in the order in which such interest came due, then to the
payment of past due principal on Bonds of any Series, in the order in which such principal came due, then to the
payment of interest then due and payable on the Bonds of each Series due on such Payment Date and, if the amount
available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all interest on the Bonds then due, then pro rata among the Series
according to the amount of interest then due and second to the payment of principal then due on the Bonds and, if
the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full all principal on the Bonds then due, then pro ratg among
the Series according to the Principal Amount then due on the Bonds.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City may, by Supplemental Trust Agreement, provide for different
provisions and timing of deposits with the Trustee and different methods of paying principal of or interest on Bonds
of any Series depending upon the terms of such Series or Subseries of Bonds and may provide for payment through
a Credit Facility with reimbursement to the Credit Provider from the respective Debt Service Fund created for the
Series or Subseries of Bonds for which such Credit Facility is provided.

If the cash amount of any Pledged Revenucs pledged by any Supplemental Trust Agreement deposited into
the Debt Service Fund or accounts therein to pay any Series or Subseries of Bonds secured by said Pledged
Revenues is at any time insufficient to make the deposits required to make payments on the Bonds, the City may, at
its election, pay to the Trustee funds from any available sources with the direction that such funds be deposited into
the Debt Service Funds or into a specified account or accounts or subaccount or subaccounts therein.

Moneys Held in Trust for Matured Bonds; Unclaimed Moneys. All moneys which shall have been
withdrawn from a Debt Service Fund and set aside or deposited with a Paying Agent for the purpose of paying any
of the Bonds, either at the maturity thereof or upon call for redemption, or which are set aside by the Trustee for
such purposes and for which Bonds the maturity date or redemption date shall have occurred, shall be held in trust
for the respective holders of such Bonds., But any moneys which shall be so set aside or deposited and which shall
remain unclaimed by the holders of such Bonds for a period of one (1) year after the date on which such Bonds shall
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have become due and payable (or such longer period as shall be required by state law) shall be paid to the City, and
thereafier the holders of such Bonds shall look only to the City for payment and the City shall be obligated to make
such payment, but only to the extent of the amounts so received without any interest thereon, and neither the Trustee
nor any Paying Agent shall have any responsibility with respect to any of such moneys.

FParity Pledge; Additional Security. The pledge of Pledged Revenues and the other security provided in the
Granting Causes of the Trust Agreement, secure all Bonds issued under the terms of the Trust Agreement on an
equal and ratable basis, except as to the timing of payments on the Bonds. The City may, however, in its discretion,
provide additional security or credit enhancement for specified Bonds or Series or Subseries of Bonds with no
obligation to provide such additional security or credit enhancement to other Bonds.

COVENANTS OF THE CITY

Payment of Principal and Interest. The City covenants and agrees that it will duly and punctually pay or
cause to be paid from the Payments and any Pledged Revenues, pledged pursuant to any Supplemental Trust
Agreements, and to the extent thereof the princtpal of, premium, if any, and interest on every Bond at the place and
on the dates and in the manner in the Trust Agreement, in the Supplemental Trust Agreements and in the Bonds
specified, according to the true intent and meaning thereof, and that it will faithfully do and perform all covenants
and agreements in the Trust Agreement and in the Bonds contained, provided that the City’s obligation to make
payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds shall be limited to payment from the
Payments and any Pledged Revenues, the funds and accounts pledged therefor in the Granting Clauses of the Trust
Agreement and any other source which the City may specifically provide for such purpose, and, except to enforce
the City’s obligations with respect to the Tax Override Revenues set forth in the Trust Agreement, no Bondholder
shall have say right to enforce payment from any particular source of funds of the City.

Performance of Covenants by City; Authority; Due Execution. The City covenants that it will faithfully
perform at all tmes any and all covenants and agreements contained in the Trust Agreement, in any and every Bond
executed, authenticated and delivered under the Trust Agreement and in all of its proceedings pertaining to the Trust
Agreement. The City covenants that it is duly authorized under the Constitution and laws of the State and the
Charter to issue the Bonds and to apply the Tax Override Revenues and other legally available moneys of the City to
pay principal of and interest on, and any redemption price of the Bonds.

Senior Lien Obligations Prohibited, The City agrees that so long as any Bonds are Outstanding under the
Trust Agreement, it (i) will not adopt any official action determining that Payments or any Pledged Revenues be
used to pay general obligation bonds or other indebtedness or liabilities payable from the general revenues of the
City on a senior lien basis, and (ii) will not issue any additional bonds or other obligations with a lien on or security
interest granted in Pledged Revenues which is senior to the Bonds.

No Inconsistent Contract Provisions. The City covenants that no contract or contracts will be entered into
or any action taken by the City which shall be inconsistent with the provisions of the Trust Agreement. The City
covenants that it will not take any action which, in the City’s judgment at the time of such action, will substantially
impair or materially adversely affect the rights of the holders of the Bonds. The City shall be unconditionally and
irrevocably obligated, so long as any of the Bonds are Qutstanding and unpaid, to take all lawful action necessary or

required to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds and 1o make the other payments provided for in the Trust
Agreement.

Subordinated Obligations, The City may, from time to time, incur indebtedness which is subordinate to
the Bonds and which indebtedness is, in the Trust Agreement, referred to as Subordinated Obligations. Such
indebtedness shall be incurred at such times and upon such terms as the City shall determine, provided that;

{H Any Supplemental Trust Agreement authorizing the issuance of any Subordinate
Obligations shall specifically state that such lien on or security interest granted in the Pledged Revenues is junior
and subordinate to the lien on and security interest in such Pledged Revenues and other assets granted to secure the
Bonds; and
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(2) Payment of principal of and interest on such Subordinated Obligations shall be permitted,
provided that all deposits required to be made to the Trustee to be used to pay debt service on the Bonds or to
replenish any Reserve Fund are then current in accordance with the Trust Agreement.

Maintenance of Powers. The City covenants that it will at all times use its best efforts to maintain the
powers, functions, duties and obligations now reposed in it pursuant to the Charter and all other laws and that it will
not at any time voluntarily do, suffer or permit any act or thing the effort of which would be to delay either the
payment of the indebtedness evidenced by any of the Bonds or the performance or observance of any of the
covenants contained in the Trust Agreement. The City shall not permit any modification of the City Charter which
would materially aversely affect the levy or collection of the Tax Override Revenues or the application thereof to the
Bonds (except that any amendment extending the date as of which the accrued unfunded pension liability shall be
amortized by the City shall be permitted.)

Tax Override Levy; Collection and Application of Tax Override Revenue. The City covenants that so
long as any Bonds are outstanding under the Trust Agreement, the City shall levy the Tax Ovemride (up 10 the
maximum tax permitted by law) in each Fiscal Year, whether or not the accrued unfunded actuarial liability of the
City to the System is amortized prior to the final maturity of any Bond issued pursuant to the Trust Agreement, in an
amount that the City expects will be sufficient, when aggregated with the other amounts legally available to the City
and on hand, and amounts budgeted by the City in such Fiscal Year and expected to be available, to pay principal of
and interest on and the redemption price of the Bonds. The City pledges and assigns to the Trustee and grants to the
Trustee a lien on and security interest in all right, title and interest of the City in and to the Tax Override Revenues
levied and collected in each Fiscal Year to secure the payment of principal of and interest on and the redemption
price of Bonds due and payable in such year, and provides that such lien and security interest shall be prior in right
to any other pledge, lien or security interest created by the City i the Tax Override Revenues as and to the extent
provided in the Trust Agreement. The City covenants that the Tax Override Revenues levied and collected in each
Fiscal Year shall be pledged and applied to pay principal and interest on and the redemption price of the Bonds in
such Fiscal Year, and to the extent that, on June 30 of each Fiscal Year during the term of any Bonds Outstanding
under the Trust Agreement, commencing on or after July 1, 1998, any surplus amount of Tax Override Revenues
shall exist after payment of all principal and interest on and any redemption price of the Bonds during such Fiscal
Year, such amounts may be applied on and after July 1 of the next succeeding Fiscal Year for any lawful purpose of
the City, at the written direction of the City to the Trustee. The Tax Override Revenues are pledged and may be

applied solely to pay principal and interest and the redemption price, if any, of Bonds issued to pay all or a portion
of the accrued actuarial unfunded liability of the City to the System.

The City covenants that it will keep and provide accurate books and records of account showing all Tax
Override Revenues received by the City and all expenditures of the City relating to such Tax Override Revenues and
that it will keep or cause to be kept accurate books and records of account showing all accounts and funds provided
for in the Trust Agreement which are or shall be in the control or custody of the City; and that all such books and
records shall be open upon reasonable notice during business hours to the Trustee and to the Owners of not less than
ten percent (10%) of the Principal Amount of Bonds then Outstanding, or their representatives duly authorized in
writing. Within 180 days after the close of each Fiscal Year, so long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, the
City will prepare and file with the Trustee audited financial statements including a statement of the income and
expenses for such Fiscal Year and a balance sheet prepared as of the close of such Fiscal Year for the City all
accompanied by a certificate or opinion in writing of an independent certified public accountant of recognized
standing, selected by the City and acceptable to the Trustee, which opinion shall include a statement that said
financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of the City and are prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Budget and Appropriation. The City covenants to take such action as may be necessary to include all
Payments (to the extent such Payments are known to the City at the time its annual budget is proposed) due under
the Trust Agreement in its annual budget and to make the necessary annual appropriations therefor, and to maintain
such items to the extent unpaid for that Fiscal Year in its budget throughout such Fiscal Year. Such budgeting and
appropriation shall be done in accordance with the City Charter provisions relating thereto. The covenants on the
part of the City contained in the Trust Agreement shall be deemed to be and shall be construed to be duties imposed
by law and it shall be the ministerial duty of each and every public official of the City to take such action and do
such things as are required by law in the performance of the official duty of such officials to enable the City to carry
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out and perform the covenants and agreements in the Trust Agreement agreed to be carried out and performed by the
City. The City will not assign or pledge the Tax Override Revenues or other amounts under the Trust Agreement
except as provided under the terms of the Trust Agreement

Continuing Disclosure. The City covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all of the
provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Certificate. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement, failure of the City to comply with the Continuing Disclosure Certificate shall not be
considered an Event of Default; however, any Owner or Beneficial Owner or any Participating Underwriter (as
defined in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate) may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate,
including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the City to comply with its obligations
under such covenant. For purposes of the requirements of the Contmmuing Disclosure Certificate, “Beneficial
Owner” means any person which has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, or o
dispose of ownership of, any Series 2001 Bonds (including persons holding Series 2001 Bonds through nominees,
depositories or other intermediaries).

Covenants of City Binding on City and Successors. All covenants, stipulations, obligations and
agreements of the City contained in the Trust Agreement shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, obligations
and agreements of the City to the full extent authorized or permitted by law. If the powers or duties of the City shall
hereafter be transferred by amendment of the Charter or a new Charter or any provision of the Constitution or any
other law of the State or in any other manner there shall be a successor to the City, and if such transfer shall relate to
any muatter or thing permitted or required to be done under the Trust Agreement by the City, then the entity that shall
succeed to such powers or duties of the City shall act and be obligated in the place and stead of the City as in the
Trust Agreement provided, and all such covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements shall be binding upon
the successor or successors thereof from time to time and upon any officer, City Council, body or commission to
whom or to which any power or duty affecting such covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements shall be
transferred by or in accordance with law.

Except as otherwise provided in the Trust Agreement, all rights, powers and privileges conferred and duties
and liabilities imposed upon the City by the provisions of the Trust Agreement shall be exercised or performed by
the City or by such officer, City Council, body or commission as may be permitted by law to exercise such powers
or to perform such duties.

Trust Agreement To Constitute a Contract. The Trust Agreement, including all Supplemental Trust

Agreements, is executed by the City for the benefit of the Bondholders and constitutes a contract with the Trustee
for the benefit of the Bondholders.

INVESTMENTS

Moneys held by the Trustee in the funds and accounts created in the Trust Agreement and under any
Supplemental Trust Agreement shall be invested and reinvested as directed by the City is Permitted Investments
subject to the restrictions set forth in the Trust Agreement and such Supplemental Trust Agreement creating any
such fund or account and subject to the investment restrictions imposed upon the City by the Charter and the laws of
the State. The City shall direct such investments by written certificate of an Authorized City Representative or by
telephone instruction followed by prompt written confirmation by an Authorized City Representative. Any moneys
held in any fund or account which have been paid to or constructively received by the System shall be subject to

such investment restrictions imposed by the Charter relating to the System, as such restrictions may be modified or
amended from time to time.

DEFEASANCE

Bonds or portions thereof (such portions to be in integral multiples of the Authorized Denomination) which
have been paid in full or which are deemed to have been paid in full shall no longer be secured by or entitled to the
benefits of the Trust Agreement except for the purposes of payment from moneys or GGovernment Obligations held
by the Trustee or a Paying Agent for such purpose. When all Bonds which have been issued under the Trust
Agreement have been paid in full or are deemed to have been paid in full, and all other sums payable under the Trust
Agreement by the City, including all necessary and proper fees, compensation and expenses of the Trustee, the
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Registrar and the Paying Agent, have been paid or are duly provided for, then the right, title and interest of the
Trustee in and to any Pledged Revenues and any other assets pledged to secure the Bonds under the Trust
Agreement shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void, and thereupon the Trustee shall cancel, discharge and
release the Trust Agreement, shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the City such instruments as shall be
requisite to evidence such cancellation, discharge and release and shall assign and deliver to the City any property
and revenues at the time subject to the Trust Agreement or any Supplemental Trust Agreement applicable thereto
which may then be in the Trustee’s possession, except funds or securities in which such funds are invested and are
held by the Trustee or the Paying Agent for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the
Bonds.

A Bond shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of and for all purposes of the Trust Agreement
when payment of the principal, interest and premium, if any, either (a) shail have been made or caused to be made in
accordance with the terms of the Bonds and the Trust Agreement or (b) shall have been provided for by depositing
with the Trustee in trust and setting aside exclusively for such payment: (1) moneys sufficient to make such
payment, and/or (i} noncallable Government Obligations, maturing as to principal and interest in such amounts and
at such times as will insure the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment. At such times as Bonds
shall be deemed to be paid under the Trust Agreement, such Bonds shall no longer be secured by or entitled to the
benefiis of the Trust Agreement, except for the purposes of payment from such moneys or Government Obligations.

Any deposit under clause (b) of the foregoing paragraph shall be deemed a payment of such Bonds. Once
such deposit shall have been made, the Trustee shall notify all holders of the affected Bonds that the deposit required
by (b) above has been made with the Trustee and that such Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with
the defeasance provisions of the Trust Agreement. No notice of redemption shall be required at the time of such
defeasance or prior to such date as may be required by the Supplemental Trust Agreement under which such Bonds
were issued. Notwithstanding anything in the Trust Agreement to the contrary, moneys from the trust or escrow
established for the defeasance of Bonds may be withdrawn and delivered to the City so long as the requirements
above are met prior to or concurrently with any such withdrawal.

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Events of Defauit. Each of the following events shall constitute and is referred to in the Trust Agreement
as an “Event of Default™

(a) a failure to pay the principal of or premium, if any, on any of the Bonds when the same
shall become due and payable at matunty or upon redemption;

(b) a failure to pay any installment of interest on any of the Bonds when such interest shall
become due and payable;

(c) a failure to pay the purchase price of any Bond when such purchase price shall be due
and payable upon an optional or mandatory tender date as provided in the Supplemental Trust Agreement;

(d) a failure by the City to observe and perform any covenant, condition, agreement or
provision (other than as specified in the foregoing paragraphs that is to be observed or performed by the City and
which is contained in the Trust Agreement or a Supplemental Trust Agreement, which failure shall continue for a
period of 60 days after written notice, specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, shall have been
given to the City by the Trustee, which notice may be given at the discretion of the Trustee and shall be given at the
written request of holders of 25% or more of the Principal Amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, unless the
Trustee, or the Trustee and holders of Bonds in a Principal Amount not less than the Principal Amount of Bonds the
holders of which requested such notice, shall agree in writing to an extension of such period prior to its expiration;
provided, however, that the Trustee or the Trustee and the holders of such principal amount of Bonds shall be
deemed to have agreed to an extension of such period if corrective action is initiated by the City within such period
and is being diligently pursued;

(e) bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency or liquidation proceedings,
including without limitation proceedings under Chapter 9 of the United States Code (as the same may from time to
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time be hereafter amended), or other proceedings for relief under any federal or state bankruptcy law or similar law
for the relief of debtors are instituted by or against the City and, if instituted against the City, said proceedings are
consented to or are not dismissed within 60 days after such institution; or

H the occurrence of any other Event of Default as is provided in a Supplemental Trust
Agreement.

If, on any date on which payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds is due, sufficient moneys
are not available to make such payment, irrespective of any previous notices which may have been given, the
Trustee shall give telephone notice of such insufficiency to the City.

Remedies. Upon the occurrence and continuance of any Event of Default, and subject to the right of the
Series 2001 Bond Insurer to act upon behalf of the Holders of the Series 2001 Bonds, the Trustee in its discretion
may, and upon the wnitten direction of the holders of 25% or more of the Principal Amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding and receipt of indemnity to its satisfaction, shall, in its own name and as the Trustee of an express twist:

(i) by mandamus, or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all
rights of the Bondholders, and require the City to carry out any agreements with or for the benefit of the
Bondholders and to perform its or their duties under the Charter or any other law to which it is subject and the Trust
Agreement, provided that any such remedy may be taken only to the extent permitted under the applicable
provisions of the Trust Agreement;

(i1) bring suit upon the Bonds;

(iii) commence an action or suit in equity to require the City 1o account as if it were
the trustee of an express trust for the Bondholders; or

(iv) by actton or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in
violation of the rights of the Bondholders.

The Trustee shall be under no obligation to take any action with respect to and shall not be deemed
to have notice of an Event of Default or of any event or conditions which, with the giving of notice, the passage of
time, or both, might constitute an Event of Default unless (i} the Trustee has received written notice thereof from the
City, any Credit Provider, or any Holder or (ii) a Responsible Officer of the Trustee shall have actual knowledge
thereof. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Trustee shall not be bound to ascertain or inquire as 1o
the performance or observance of any of the terms, conditions, covenants or agreements herein, or of any of the
documents executed in connection with the Bonds, ar as to the existence of an Event of Default thereunder.

Restoration to Former Position. In the event that any proceeding taken by the Trustee to enforce any right
under the Trust Agreement shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined
adversely to the Trustee, then the City, the Trustee, and the Bondholders shalt be restored to their former positions
and rights under the Trust Agreement, respectively, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee shall continue
as though no such proceeding had been taken.

Bondholders® Right To Direct Proceedings. Anything in the Trust Agreement to the contrary
notwithstanding and subject to the right of the Series 2001 Bond Insurer to act upon behalf of the Holders of the
Series 2001 Bonds, holders of a majority in Principal Amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shail have the right, at
any time, by an instrument in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the time, method aad place of
conducting all remedial proceedings available to the Trustee under the Trust Agreement to be taken in connection
with the enforcement of the terms of the Trust Agreement or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee
by the Trust Agreement; provided that such direction shall not be otherwise than in accordance with the provisions
of law and the Trust Agreement and that there shall have been provided to the Trustee security and indemnity
satisfactory to the Trustee against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred as a result thereof by the Trustee.
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Limitation on Right To Institute Proceedings. No Bondholder shall have any right to institute any suit,
action or proceeding in equity or at law for the execution of any trust or power under the Trust Agreement, or any
other remedy under the Trust Agreement or on such Bonds, unless such Bondholder or Bondholders previously shall
have given to the Trustee written notice of an Event of Default and unless also holders of 25% or more of the
Principal Amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have made written request of the Trustee to do so, after the
right to institute such swuit, action or proceeding under the Trust Agreement shall have accrued, and shall have
afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity to proceed to institute the same in either its or their name, and unless
there also shall have been offered to the Trustee security and indemnity satisfactory to it against the costs, expenses
and liabilities to be incurred therein or thereby, and the Trustee shall not have complied with such reguest within a
reasonable time; and such notification, request and offer of indemnity are declared in every such case, at the option
of the Trustee, to be conditions precedent to the institution of such suit, action or proceeding; it being understood
and intended that no one or more of the Bondholders shall have any right in any manner whatever by his or their
action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of the Trust Agreement, or to enforce any right under the Trust
Agreement or under the Bonds, except in the manner provided in the Trust Agreement, and that all suits, actions and
proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner provided in the Trust
Agreement and for the equal benefit of all Bondholders.

No Impairment of Right To Enforce Payment. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Trust
Agreement, the right of any Bondholder to receive payment of the principal of and interest on such Bond or the
purchase price thereof, on or afier the respective due dates expressed therein and to the extent of the Pledged
Revenues and other security provided for the Bonds, or to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on
or after such respective date, shall not be impaired or affected without the consent of such Bendholder.

Proceedings by Trustee Without Possession of Bonds. All rights of action under the Trust Agreement or
under any of the Bonds secured which are enforceable by the Trustee may be enforced by it without the possession
of any of the Bonds, or the production thereof at the trial or other proceedings relative thereto, and any such suit,
action or proceeding instituted by the. Trustee shall be brought in its name for the equal and ratable benefit of the
Bondholders, subject to the provisions of the Trust Agreement.

EXECUTION OF SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST AGREEMENTS;
MODIFICATION OF THE TRUST AGREEMENT

Limitations. The Trust Agreement shall not be modified or amended in any respect subsequent to the first
delivery of fully executed and authenticated Bonds except as provided in and in accordance with and subject to the
provisions of the Trust Agreement.

Supplemental Trust Agreements Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders. The City may, from time to
time and at any time, without the consent of or notice to the Bondholders, execute and deliver Supplemental Trust
Agreements supplementing and/or amending the Trust Agreement or any Supplemental Trust Agreement as follows:

(a) to provide for the issuance of a Series or multiple Series or Subseries of Bonds under the
provisions of the Trust Agreement and to set forth the terms of such Bonds and the special provisions
which shall apply to such Bonds;

(b) to cure any formal! defect, omission, inconsistency or ambiguity in, Or answer any
questions arising under, the Trust Agreement or any Supplemental Trust Agreement, or to conform the
Trust Agreement or any Supplemental Trust Agreement to the requirements of law, provided such
supplement or amendment is not materially adverse to the Bondholders;

(c) to add to the covenants and agreements of the City in the Trust Agreement or any
Supplemental Trust Agreement other covenants and agreements or to surrender any right or power reserved
or conferred upon the City, provided such supplement or amendment shall not adversely affect the interests
of the Bondholders;
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(d) to confirm, as further assurance, any interest of the Trustee in and to the Pledged
Revenues or in and to the funds and accounts held by the Trustee or in and to any other moneys, securities

or funds of the City provided pursuant 1o the Trust Agreement or to otherwise add additional security for
the Bondholders;

(e) to evidence any change made in the terms of any Series or Subseries of Bonds if such
changes are authorized by the Supplemental Trust Agreement at the time the Series or Subseries of Bonds
is 1ssued and such change is made in accordance with the terms of such Supplemental Trust Agreement;

D to comply with the requirements of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as from time to time
amended;

() to modify, alter, amend or supplement the Trust Agreement or any Supplemental Trust
Agreement in any other respect which is not materially adverse to the Bondholders;

{h) to provide for uncertificated Bonds or for the issuance of coupons and bearer Bonds or
Bonds registered only as to principal;

() to qualify the Bonds or a Series or Subseries of Bonds for a rating or ratings by Moody’s,
S&P or Fich;
§); to accommodate the technical, operational and structural features of Bonds which are

issued or are proposed to be issued or of a Program which has been authorized or is proposed to be
authorized, including, but not limited to, changes needed to accommodate commercial paper, auction
bonds, vanable rate or adjustable rate bonds, discounted or compound interest bonds or other forms of
indebtedness which the City from time to time deems appropriate to incur;

(k) to accommodate the use of a Credit Facility or Liquidity Facility for specific Bonds or a
specific Series or Subseries of Bonds; or

M if so determined by the City, to comply with the requirements of the Code as are
necessary, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, to cause the interest on any Series or Subseries of Bonds to be
excluded from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, including, without limitation, the
segregation of moneys held under the Trust Agreement into different fiends and the creation of a Rebate
Fund.

Before the City shall, pursuant to the Trust Agreement, execute any Supplemental Trust Agreement, there
shall have been delivered to the City an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such Supplemental Trust
Agreement is authorized or permitted by the Trust Agreement, the Charter and other applicable law, complies with
their respective terms, and will, upon the execution and delivery thereof be valid and binding upon the City in
accordance with its terms. 1f any Series or Subseries of Bonds shall have been issued and be outstanding the interest
on which 1s excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, such opinion shall either state that such
Supplemental Trust Agreement shall have no effect on such Series or Subseries of Bonds or, alternatively, that such
Supplemental Trust Agreement will not cause interest on any such Series of the Bonds which is then excluded from
gross income of the recipient thereof for federal income tax purposes to be included in gross income for federal
Income tax purposes.

Supplemental Trust Agreement Requiring Consent of Bondholders. Except for any Supplemental Trust
Agreement not requiring consent of Bondholders and any Supplemental Trust Agreement entered into pursuant o
the following paragraph, subject to the terms and provisions contained in the Trust Agreement and not otherwise and
subject to the nght of the Series 2001 Bond Insurer to consent upon behalf of the Holders of the Series 2001 Bonds,
the holders of not less than a majority in aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have the
right from time to time to consent to and approve the execution by the City of any Supplemental Trust Agreement
deemed necessary or desirable by the City for the purposes of modifying, altering, amending, supplementing or
rescinding, m any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in the Trust Agreement or in a Supplemental
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Trust Agreement; provided, however, that, unless approved in writing by the holders of all the Bonds then
Outstanding or unless such change affects less than all Series or Subseries of Bonds and the following paragraph is
applicable, nothing contained in the Trust Agreement shall permit, or be construed as permitting, (i) a change in the
scheduled times, amounts or currency of payment of the principal of or interest on any Outstanding Bonds or (ii) a
reduction in the principal amount or redemption price of any Quistanding Bonds or the rate of interest thereon; and
provided that nothing contained in the Trust Agreement, including the provisions of the following paragraph, shall,
unless approved in writing by the holders of all the Bonds then Outstanding, permit or be construed as permitting
(ii) the creation of a lien {except as expressly permitied by the Trust Agreement) upon or pledge of the Pledged
Revenues created by the Trust Agreement, ranking prior 10 or on a parity with the claim created by the Trust
Agreement, (iv) except with respect to additional security which may be provided for a particular Series or Subseries
of Bonds, a preference or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or Bonds with respect to the security
granted therefor under the Granting Clauses of the Trust Agreement, or (v} a reduction in the aggregate Principal
Amount of Bonds the consent of the Bondholders of which is required for any such Supplemental Trust Agreement.
Nothing contained in the Trust Agreement, however, shall be construed as making necessary the approval by
Bondholders of the execution of any Supplemental Trust Agreement not requiring consent of Bondsholders,

including the granting, for the benefit of particular Series or Subseries of Bonds, security in addition to the pledge of
the Pledged Revenues.

The City may, from time to time and at any time, execute a Supplemental Trust Agreement which amends
the provisions of an earlier Supplemental Trust Agreement under which a Series or mulitiple Series or Subseries of
Bonds were issned. If such Supplemental Trust Agreement 1s executed for one of the purposes set forth in the Trust
Agreement not requiring consent of Bandholders, no notice to or consent of the Bondholders shall be required. 1f
such Supplemental Trust Agreement contains provisions which affect the rights and interests of less than all Series
or Subseries of Bonds Outstanding and the provisions of the Trust Agreement which permit delivery of a
Supplemental Trust Agreement without consent of Bondholders is not applicable, then the provisions of this
paragraph rather than the paragraph above shall control and, subject to the terms and provisions contained in this
paragraph and not otherwise, the holders of not less than 51% in aggregate Principal Amount of the Bonds of all
Series which are affected by such changes (and subject to the right of the Series 2001 Bond Insurer to consent upon
behalf of Holders of the Series 2001 Bonds) shall have the right from time to time to consent to any Supplemental
Trust Agreement deemed necessary or desirable by the City for the purposes of medifying, altering, amending,
supplementing or rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in such Supplemental Trust
Agreement and affecting only the Bonds of such Series; provided, however, that, unless approved in writing by the
holders of all the Bonds of all the affected Series then Outstanding, nothing contained in the Trust Agreement shall
permit, or be construed as permitting, (i) a change in the scheduled times, amounts or currency of payment of the
principal of, interest on any Outstanding Bonds of such Series or (ii) a reduction in the principal amount or
redemption price of any Outstanding Bonds of such Series or the rate of interest thereon. Nothing contained in the
Trust Agreement, however, shall be construed as making necessary the approval by Bondholders of the adoption of
any Supplemental Trust Agreement not requiring consent of Bondholders, including the granting, for the benefit of
particular Series or Subseries of Bonds, of security in addition to any pledge of Pledged Revenues.

If at any time the City shall desire to enter into any Supplemental Trust Agreement for any of the purposes
of the Trust Agreement requiring consent of Bondholders, the City shall cause notice of the proposed execution of
the Supplemental Trust Agreement to be given by mail to all Bondholders or, under the immediately preceding
paragraph, all Bondholders of the affected Series. Such notice shall briefly set forth the nature of the proposed
Supplemental Trust Agreement and shall state that a copy thereof is on file at the office of the City for inspection by
all Bondholders and it shall not be required that the Bondholders approve the final form of such Supplemental Trust
Agreement but it shall be sufficient if such Bondholders approve the substance thereof,

The City may execute and deliver such Supplemental Trust Agreement in substantially the form described
in such notice, but only if there shall have first been delivered to the City (i} the required consents, in writing, of
Bondholders and (ii) the opinion of Bond Counsel required by the Trust Agreement.

If Bondholders of not less than the percentage of Bonds required by the Trust Agreement shall have
consented to and approved the execution and delivery thereof as provided in the Trust Agreement, no Bondholders
shall have any right to object to the adoption of such Supplemental Trust Agreement or to object to any of the terms
and provisions contained therein or the operation thereof, or in any manner to question the propriety of the execution
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and delivery thereof, or to enjoin or restrain the City from executing the same or from taking any action pursuant 10
the provisions thereof.

Effect of Supplemental Trust Agreement. Upon execution and delivery of any Supplemental Trust
Agreement pursuant to the provisions of the Trust Agreement, the Trust Agreement or the Supplemental Trust
Agreement shall be, and shall be deemed to be, modified and amended in accordance therewith, and the respective
rights, duties and obligations under the Trust Agreement and the Supplemental Trust Agreement of the City, the
Trustee, the Paymg Agent and all Bondholders shall thereafter be determined, exercised and enforced under the
Trust Agreement and the Supplemental Trust Agreement, if applicable, subject in all respects to such modifications
and amendments.

PROVISIONS RELATING TO SERIES 2001 BOND INSURER AND BOND INSURANCE POLICY

The provisions of the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement relating to the Series 2001 Bond Insurer shall
be effective only for so long as the Series 2001 Bonds are outstanding.

The Series 2001 Bond Insurer may consent, on behalf of the Holders of the Series 2001 Bonds, to the
amendment of any provision of the Second Supplementa) Trust Agreement or the Master Trust Agreement affecting
the Series 2001 Bonds, without the consent of or notice to the owners of the Series 2001 Bonds, so long as the Series
2001 Bond Insurer is not in default under the Bond Insurance Policy. The Series 2001 Bond Insurer may not
consent on behalf of the Holders of the Series 2001 Bonds to any amendment or modification of the Master Trust
Agreement or the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement which, pursuant to the provisions of Article X of the
Master Trust Agreement, requires the consent of all of the Holders of the Series 2001 Bonds then Outstanding,

So long as the payment of any Series 2001 Bonds are insured by the Series 2001 Bond Insurer, anything in
the Trust Agreement to the contrary netwithstanding, the Series 2001 Bond Insurer shall be entitled to exercise,
control and direct the enforcement of all rights and remedies granted to the Bondholders of the Series 2001 Bonds
(or to the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders of the Series 2001 Bonds) under the Trust Agreement as if (and
to the extent that} the Series 2001 Bond Insurer were the Bondholder of all of the Series 2001 Bonds then
outstanding, Nothing in the preceding sentence shall be construed to grant rights to the Series 2001 Bond Insurer
which the Insurer would not have if it were not the Bondholder of all the Series 2001 Bonds.

In the event that, on the second Business Day, and again on the Business Day, prior to the payment date on
the Series 2001 Bonds, the Trustee has not received sufficient moneys to pay all principal of and interest on the
Series 2001 Bonds due on the second following or following, as the case may be, Business Day, the Trustee shall
immediately notify the Series 2001 Bond Insurer or its designee on the same Business Day by telephone or
telegraph, confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail, of the amount of the deficiency.

The Trustee is irrevocably designated, appointed, directed and authorized to act as attorney-in-fact for
holders of the Series 2001 Bonds as follows: (A) if and to the extent there is a deficiency, in amounts required to
pay interest on the Series 2001 Bonds, the Trustee shall (a) execute and deliver to State Street Bank and Trust
Company, N.A., or its successors under the Bond Insurance Policy (the “Insurance Paying Agent”), in form
satisfactory to the Insurance Paying Agent, an instrument appointing the Series 2001 Bond Insurer as agent for such
Owners in any legal proceeding related to the payment of such interest and as assignment to the Series 2001 Bond
Insurer of the claims for interest to which such deficiency relates and which are paid by the Series 2001 Bond
Insurer, (b) receive as designee of the respective Owners (and not as Trustee) in accordance with the tenor of the
Bond Insurance Policy payment from the Insurance Paying Agent with respect to the claims for interest so assigned,
and (c) disburse the same to such respective Owners; and (B) if and to the extent of a deficiency in amounts required
to pay principal of the Series 2001 Bonds, the Trustee shall (a) execute and deliver to the Insurance Paying Agent in
form satisfactory to the Insurance Paying Agent an instrument appointing the Series 2001 Bond Insurer as agent for
such Owner n any legal proceeding relating to the payment of such principal and an assignment to the Series 2001
Bond Insurer of any of the Series 2001 Bonds surrendered to the Insurance Paying Agent of s¢ much of the principal
amount thereof as has not previously been paid or for which moneys are not held by the Trustee and available for
such payment (but such assignment shall be delivered only if payment from the Insurance Paying Agent is received),
(b) receive as designee of the respective Owners (and not as Trustee) in accordance with the tenor of the Bond
Insurance Policy payment therefor from the Insurance Paying Agent, and {c)} disburse the same to such Owners.
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APPENDIX D

PROPOSED FORM OF CO-BOND COUNSEL OPINION

[Date of Closing]

City of Oakland, California
150 Frank S. Ogawa Plaza, 5th Floor
Qakland, Califorma

Re: $195,636,449.10, City of Oakland, California Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2001

Ladies and Gentlemen

We have examined a record of proceedings relating to the issuance and delivery on the date hereof by the City
of Oakland, California (the "City") of $195,636,449.10, aggregate principal amount of Taxable Pension Obligation
Bonds, Series 2001 (the "Series 2001 Bonds"). The Series 2001 Bonds have been issued pursuant to Section 2619 of
the City Charter of the City, as amended, Ordinance No. 11851, passed by the Council of the City on January 23, 1996
and now codified as Chapter 4.4 of the Oakland Municipal Code (the "PFRS Pension Obligations Bond Law"), to
establish a program for the financing and refinancing of the City's obligations to the Police and Fire Retirement System
(the "System"); authorizing resolutions of the Council adopted on July 24, 2001 and September 18, 2001; a Master Trust
Agrecment dated as of February 1, 1997 (the "Master Trust Agreement"), by and between the City and The Chase
Manhattan Bank, as successor trustee to Texas Commerce Bank National Association, Houston, Texas, as trustee (the
"Trustee"), a First Supplemental Trust Agreement (the "First Supplemental Trust Agreement") dated as of February 1,
1997 and a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement (the "Second Supplemental Trust Agreement”) dated as of
September 1, 2001, each by and between the City and the Trustee, supplementing and amending the Master Trust
Agreement (collectively, the Master Trust Apreement, the First Supplemental Trust Agreement and the Second
Supplemental Trust Agreement being referred to herein collectively as the "Trust Agreement").

The Series 2001 Bonds are issued to defease a portion of the outstanding Series 1997 Bonds, to pay the cash
tender costs of purchasing a portion of the outstanding Series 1997 Bonds, and to pay costs and expenses related to the
issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds. Capitalized terms used herein and not defined shall have the meanings given such
terms in the Trust Agreement.

The Series 2001 Bonds are secured under the Trust Agreement by a covenant by the City of payment of
principal and interest thereon from the general revenues of the City including, but not limited to, the Tax Override
Revenues levied and collected by the City within each fiscal year (the "Pledged Revenues"). The City reserves the right
1o issue additional bonds secured by the Pledged Revenues on a parity with the Series 2001 Bonds, as stated in the Trust
Agreement. In addition, the City has the right to incur additional debt and liabilities payable from any legally available
source, which right is not restricted by the Trust Agreement or the Series 2001 Bonds. The Series 2001 Bonds are issued
as Additional Bonds on a parity with the City's Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 1997, Subsenies A and
Subseries B {collectively, the "Series 1997 Bonds").

We have also examined originals, or copies authenticated or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of such
other agreements, documents, opinions and certificates of public officials and representatives of the City, and we have
made such investigation of law and of facts as we have deemed necessary or advisable for purposes of the opinions
herein expressed. :

Based upon the foregoing, we are of the opinion that:
(1) The City is authorized and empowered by law to execute and deliver the Second Supplemental Trust
Agrecment, to issue the Series 2001 Bonds, to use the proceeds from the sale thereof for the purposes stated in the

Second Supplemental Trust Agreement, to pledge the Pledged Revenues to the payment of the Series 2001 Bonds and to
carry out its obligations under the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement.
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(2) The Second Supplemental Trust Agreement has been duly authorized and approved by the City in
accordance with law and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the City enforceable in accordance with
its terms.

(3) The Series 2001 Bonds have been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered in accordance with
law and are the legal, valid and binding obligations of the City. The Series 2001 Bonds are enforceable in accordance
with their terms and the terms of the Trust Agreement and are entitled to the benefits of the Trust Agreement. The Series
2001 Bonds are general obligations of the City and are not limited as 1o payment from any special source of funds of the
City. The Series 2001 Bonds are secured by a pledge of the Pledged Revenues, on a parity with the Series 1997 Bonds,
subject only to the provisions of the Trust Agreement permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the
terms and conditions set forth in the Trust Agreement.

(4) The Trust Agreement creates a valid lien upon the Pledged Revenues and certain of the funds and accounts
securing the Series 2001 Bonds in accordance with, and subject to the terms of, the Trust Agreement.

{5) We are of the opinion that interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is exempt from personal income taxation in
the State of California. We express no opinion regarding any other specific federal, state or local tax consequences
arising with respect to ownership of the Series 2001 Bonds. The ownership of the Series 2001 Bonds may result in
collateral 1ax consequences to the owners thereof.

The opinions set forth above are qualified only 1o the extent that certain ri ghts and remedies of the owners of
the Series 2001 Bonds may be limited or rendered ineffective by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or
moratorium or other similar laws or judicial decisions or principles of equity relating to or generally affecting the
enforcement of creditor's rights or contractual obligations and hmiting legal remedies against public agencies in the
State of California.

Our opinion is limited to matters of California law and applicable federal law, and we assume no responsibility
as to the applicability of laws of other jurisdictions.

We have acted in this transaction as Co-Bond Counsel to the City. This opinion is issued to you as the
addressee solely for your benefit in connection with the initial issuance and delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds on the
date hereof. No persons other than you may rely upon this letier without our express written consent. This opinion may
not be utilized by you for any other purpose and may not be quoted by you without our express written consent. This
opinion speaks only as of its date and is limited to the opinions expressly stated herein. We assume no obligation to
review or supplement this opinion subsequent to its date, whether by reason of a change in law, legislative or regulatory
action, judicial decision ot for any other reason.

Very truly yours, Very truly yours,



APPENDIX E

FORM OF BOND INSURANCE POLICY

MBlAa

FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE POLICY

MBIA INSURANCE CORPORATION
ARMONK, NEW YORK 10504

Policy No. [NUMBER]

MBIA Insurance Corporation (the “Insurer”), in consideration of the payment of the premium and subject to the
terms of this policy, hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to any owner, as hereinafier defined, of the
following described obligations, the full and complete payment required to be made by or on behalf of the Issuer to
[PAYING AGENT/TRUSTEE] or its successor (the “Paying Agent™} of an amount equal to (i) the principal of
(either at the stated maturity or by any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment) and
interest on, the Obligations (as that term is defined below) as such payments shall become due but shall not be so
paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of the due date of such principal by reason of mandatory or
optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other than any advancement of maturity
pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed hetby shall be made in such amounts and at
such times as such payments of principal would have been due had there not been any such acceleration); and (ii)
the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered from any owmer pursuant to a final
judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constifutes an avoidable preference to such owner
within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law. The amounts referred to in clauses (i} and (i) of the
preceding sentence shall be referred to herein collectively as the “Insured Amounts.” “Obligations™ shall mean:

[PAR]
{LEGAL NAME OF ISSUE]

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or
certified mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by the Insurer from the Paying Agent
or any owner of an Obligation the payment of an Insured Amount for which is then due, that such required payment
has not been made, the Insurer on the due date of such payment or within one business day afier receipt of notice of
such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with State Street Bank and Trust
Company, N.A., in New York, New York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such Insured Amounts
which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such Obligations or presentment of such other proof of
ownership of the Obligations, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment
of the Inswed Amounts due on the Obligations as are paid by the Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the
appointment of the Insurer as agent for such owners of the Obligations in any legal proceeding related to payment of
Insured Amounts on the Obligations, such instruments being in a form satisfactory to State Street Bank and Trust
Company, N.A., State Street Bank and Trust Company, N.A., shall disburse to such owners, or the Paying Agent
payment of the Insured Amounts due on such Obligations, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the
payment of such Insured Amounts and legally available therefor. This policy does not insure against loss of any
prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to any Obligation.

As used herein, the term “owner” shall mean the registered owner of any Obligation as indicated in the books
maintained by the Paying Agent, the Issuer, or any designee of the Issuer for such purpese. The term owner shall

not include the Issuer or any party whose agreement with the Issuer constitutes the underlying security for the
Obligations.
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Any service of process on the Insurer may be made to the Insurer at its offices located at 113 King Street, Armonk,
New York 10504 and such service of process shall be valid and binding.

This policy is non-cancelable for any reason. The premium on this policy is not refundable for any reason including
the payment prior to maturity of the Obligations.

In the event the Insurer were to become insolvent, any claims arising under a policy of financial guaranty insurance
are excluded from coverage by the California Insurance Guaranty Association, established pursuant to Article 14.2

(commencing with Section 1063) of Chapter 1 of Part 2 of Division 1 of the California Insurance Code,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Insurer has caused this policy to be executed in facsimile on its behalf by its duly
authorized officers, this [DAY] day of [MONTH, YEAR].

MBIA Insurance Corporation

President

SPECIMEN

Assistant Secretary




APPENDIX F

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

THIS CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE (this “Disclosure Certificate”) is
exccuted by the CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA (the “City™) in favor of THE CHASE MANHATTAN
BANK, as trustee, in connection with the issuance of $195,636,449.10, City of Oakland, Taxable Pension
Obligation Bonds, Series 2001 (the “Bonds™). The Bonds are being issued pursuant to a resolution adopted by the
Council of the City on September 18, 2001 (the “Authorizing Resolution™), a Master Trust Agreement dated as of
February 1, 1997 and a Second Supplemental Trust Agreement dated as of September 1, 2001 (collectively, the
“Trust Agreement”), each by and between the City and the Trustee. The City covenants and agrees as follows:

Section 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being executed
and delivered by the City for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the

Participating Underwriters in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5).

Section 2. Definitions. The definitions set forth in the Trust Agreement apply to all capitalized
terms used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this Section. The following capitalized terms
shall have the following meanings:

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the City pursuant to, and as described
in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate.

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean the Trustee, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated
in writing by the City and which has filed with the City and the Trustee a written acceptance of such designation.
As of the date of delivery of this Disclosure Certificate, no Dissemination Agent has been designated by the City
hereunder.

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure Certificate.
“National Repository” shall mean the repositories designated by the Securities and Exchange

Commission from time to time for purposes of the Rule. Information on the National Repositories as of a particular
date is available on the Internet at www.sec. gov/consumer/nrmsir.htm.

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds required to
comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds.

“Repository” shall mean each National Repository and each State Repository.

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

“State Repository” shall mean any public or private repository or entity designated by the Siate of
California as a state repository for the purpose of the Rule and recognized as such by the Securities and Exchange
Commission. As of the date of this Disclosure Certificate, there is no State Repository.

Section 3. Undertaking to Provide Ongoing Disclosure. This Disclosure Certificate constitutes the City’s
written undertaking for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds as required by Section (b)(5) of the Rule.

Section 4. Financial Statements/Operating Data. The City agrees to provide or cause to be provided to
each National Repository and to the State Repository, if any, in each case as designated by the Commission in
accordance with the Rule, the following annual financial information and operating data for the prior fiscal year
{commencing in 2002 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2001):
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1. The adopted budget of the City for the then current fiscal year, the audited financial
statements of the City for the prior Fiscal Year, prepared in accordance with Generaily Accepted Accounting
Principles applicable to government entities in effect from time to time, and material historical quantitative data
(including financial information and operating data) on the City and revenues, expenditures, financial operations and
indebtedness generally found in the City’s (general fund credit) official statements;

2. The assessed valuation of taxable property in the City;

3. Property taxes (including the Tax Override Revenues) due, property taxes collected and
property taxes delinquent;

4. Property tax levy rate per $1,000 of assessed valuation; and
5. Outstanding general obligation debt of the City.

Such annual information and operating data described above shall be provided on or before seven months
after the end of the City’s fiscal year. The City’s current fiscal year ends June 30. The City may adjust such fiscal
year by providing written notice of the change of fisca! year to each then existing National Repository and the State
Repository, if any. In lieu of providing such annual financial information and operating data, the City may cross-
reference to other documents provided to the National Repository, the State Repository or to the Commission and, if
such document is a fina) official statement within the meaning of the Rule, availabie from the MSRB,

If not provided as part of the annual financial information discussed above, the City shall provide the City’s
audited annual financial statement prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles when and if
available to cach then existing National Repository and the State Repository, if any.

Section 5. Material Events. The City agrecs to provide or cause 1o be provided, in a timely manner, to the
State Repository, if any, and to each National Repository or to the MSRB notice of the occurrence of any of the
following events (the “Listed Events”) with respect to the Bonds, if material:

I Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2. Non-payment related defaults;

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves, if any, for the Bonds reflecting financial
difficulties;

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements, if any, for the Bonds reflecting financial
difficulties;

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, if any, or their failure to perform;

6. Modifications to the rights of Bond owners;

7. Optional redemption of Bonds prior to their maturity;

g Defeasance of the Bonds;

9 Release, substitution or sale of property, if any, securing repayment of the Bonds: and

10. Rating change for the Bonds.

With reference to items 4 and 9 above, no debt service reserves secure payment of the Bonds and no
interest in real or personal property secures repayment of the Bonds. If the City subsequently chooses to establish



any debt service reserves or to provide property as security for the Bonds, the City will provide notice of such
establishment or provision and will provide notice of material events relating thereto, should such events occur.

Section 6. Notification Upon Failure to Provide Financial Data. The City agrees to provide or cause 1o be
provided, in a timely manner, to each National Repository or to the MSRB and to the State Repository, if any, notice
of its failure to provide the annual financial information described in Section 5 above on or prior to the date set forth
in Section 5 above, substantially in the form of the Notice set forth in Exhibit » A hereof.

Section 7. Termination/Modification. The City’s obligations to provide annual financial information and
notices of material events shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the
Bonds. The City may, at its option, elect not to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Certificate if the City
(1)obtains an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that those portions of the Rule which
require this Section, or any such provision, are invalid, have been repealed retroactively or otherwise do not apply to
the Bonds; and (2)notifies each then existing National Repository and the State Repository, if any, of sach opinion
and the cancellation of this Section.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure Certificate, the City may amend this Disclosure
Certificate, and any provision of this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, provided that the following conditions
are satisfied:

I. If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Section 4, item (1)-(5) or Section
5, it may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements,
change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of the City with respect to the Bonds, or the type of
business conducted;

2. The undertaking, as amended or taking into account such waiver, would, in the opinion of
nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the original
issuance of the Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any
change in circumstances; and

3. The amendment or waiver either (i)is approved by the owners of the Bonds or (ii)does

not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the Owners of the
Bonds.

In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of this Section 7, the City shall describe such
amendment in the next annual report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative explanation of the reason for the
amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or in the case of a change of accounting principles, on the
presentation) of financial information or operating data being presented by the City. In addition, if the amendment
relates to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, (i)notice of such change shall be
given in the same manner as for a material event under Section 5, and (ii)the annual report for the year in which the
change is made should present a comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between
the financial statements as prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of
the former accounting principles. A notice of the change in the accountng principles shall be sent to the
Repositories in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(c).

Section 8. Bond Owner’s Remedies Under This Disclosure Certificate. The right of any Bond Owner or
Beneficial Owner of Bonds to enforce the provisions of this Disclosure Certificate shall be limited to a right to
obtain specific enforcement of the City’s obligations hereunder, and any failure by the City to comply with the
provisions of this Disclosure Certificate shall not be an event of default with respect to the Bonds hereunder. For
purposes of this Section, “Beneficial Owner” means any person who has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or
consent with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds, incleding persons holding Bonds through
nominees or depositories.

Section 9. Termination of Reporting Qbligation. The City’s obligations under this Disclosure Certificate
shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds. If such
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termination occurs prior to the final marturity of the Bonds, the City shall give notice of such termination in the same
manner as for a Listed Event under Section 5(c).

Section 10. Dissemination Agent. The City may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination
Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, and may discharge any such Agent,
with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.

Section 11. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent shall
have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Certificate, and the City agrees to indemnify and

save the Dissemination Agent, its officers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and
liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder
(including, without limitation, any alleged violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended),
including the costs and expenses (including attorneys fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding
liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct. The obligations of the City under this
Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and payment of the Bonds.

Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent shall be responsible for the accuracy or validity of any
information contained in any Annual Report or report of a Listed Event prepared by the City under this Disclosure
Certificate.

Section 12. Additional Informatiop. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the
City from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure
Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice
of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the City
chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to
that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the City shall have no obligation under this
Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence
of a Listed Event.

Section 13. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Cernificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the City, the
Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters and holders and Beneficial Owners from time to

time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate is given this day of October, 2001.

CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA

By:

City Manager

THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK

By:

Authorized Officer
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EXHIBIT A

NOTICE TO REPOSITORIES OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Obligor: THE CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA

Name of Bond Issue: City of Oakland, California, Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds, Series 2001 (the “Series
2001 Bonds™)

Date of Delivery: , 2001,

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City of Qakland, California (the “City”) has not provided an Annual
Report with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by the Second Supplemental Trust Agreement dated as of
September 1, 2001 relating to the Bonds. The City anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by

Dated:

CITY OF OAKLAND, CALIFORNIA

By:

Authonized Representative




APPENDIX G
DTC AND THE BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM

The information in this Appendix G concerning The Depository Trust Company, New Yori, New York
(“DTC") and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from DTC and the City takes no responsibility for the
accuracy thereof The City cannot and does not give any assurances that DTC, Direct Participants or Indirect
Participants will distribute to the Beneficial Owners (all as defined below). (a) payments of Accreted Value of the
Series 2001 Bonds; (b) confirmations of ownership interest in the Series 200] Bonds; or (c) notices sent to DTC or
Cede & Co., its nominee, as the registered owner of the Series 2001 Bonds, or that they will so do on a timely basis
or that DTC, Direct Participants or Indirect Participants will act in the manner described in this Official Statement.
The current “Rules” applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the current
“Procedures” of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC.

Neither the City nor the Trustee will have any responsibility or ebligations to DTC, the Direct Participants,
the Indirect Participants of DTC or the Beneficial Owners with respect to: (1) the accuracy of any records
maintained by DTC or any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC: (2) the payment by DTC or any
Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC of any amount due to any Beneficial Owner in respect of the
Accreted Value of Series 2001 Bonds; (3) the delivery by DTC or any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of
DTC of any notice to any Beneficial Owner that is required or permitted to be given to owners under the terms of

the Trust Agreement; or (4) any consent given or other action taken by DTC as registered owner of the Series 2001
Bonds.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2001 Bonds. The Series 2001 Bonds will be issued as
fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee} or such other names
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully registered Bond certificate for each maturity
will be issued for the Series 2001 Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of each maturity, and will be deposited
with DTC.

DTC is a limited-propose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking
organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
“clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “cleaning agency”
registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds securitics
that its participants (“Direct Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the settlement among Direct
Participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic
computerized book-entry changes in Direct Participants’ accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical
movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its Direct
Participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange, Inc., and the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as securities
brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct
Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). The Rules applicable to DTC and s Direct and
Indirect Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Purchases of Series 2001 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants,
which will receive a credit for the Series 2001 Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual
purchaser of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner™) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’
records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but Beneficial
Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic
statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficiai Owner entered into
the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2001 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made
on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Ovwners will not
receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Series 2001 Bonds, except in the event that use of Direct
or Indirect the book-entry system for the Series 2001 Bonds is discontinued.




To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2001 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are
registered in the name of DTC's parinership nominee, Cede & Co, or such other names as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Series 2001 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of
Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge
of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2001 Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct
Participants to whose accounts such Series 2001 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial
Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on
behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Beneficial Owners of Series 2001 Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices
of significant events with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds such as redemptions, renders, defaults, and proposed
amendments to the Trust Agreement. Beneficial Owners of Series 2001 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the
nominee holding the Series 2001 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial
Owners, or in the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Bond
Registrar and request that copies of the notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Series 2001 Bonds within an issue are
being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such
issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (or any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Series 2001
Bonds. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible afier the record
date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns the consenting or voting rights of the DTC nominee to those Direct Participants to
whose accounts the Series 2001 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus
Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the Series 2001 Bonds will be made to DTC or such other nominee as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts,
upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detailed information from the City or the Trustee, on the payment
date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the
accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant
and not of DTC, the Trustee, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from
time to time. Payment of principal and interest to DTC (or such other nominee as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City or the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to
Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners
shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds
at any time by giving reasonable notice to the City or the Trustee, or the City may decide te discontinue use of the
system of book-entry transfers through DTC. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor securities
depository is not obtained, Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

Discontinuation of Book-Entry Only System; Payment to Beneficial Owners

In the event that the book-entry system described above is no longer used with respect 10 the Series 2001
Bonds, the provisions of the Trust Agreement relating to place of payment, transfer and exchange of Series 2001
Bonds, regulations with respect to exchanges and transfers, Bond register, Series 2001 Bonds mutilated, destroyed
or stolen, and evidence of signatures of Bond Owners and ownership of Series 2001 Bonds will govern the payment,
registration, transfer, exchange and replacement of the Series 2001 Bonds. Interested persons should contact the
City or the Trustee for further information regarding such provisions of the Trust Agreement.
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APPENDIX H
TABLE OF ACCRETED VALUES

The Accreted Value (which includes the initial principal Denominational Amount and accreted
interest thereon) per each $5,000 Maturity Amount, as of June 15 and December 15, is set forth in the following
table of Accreted Values.

Year of Maturity: 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Initial Denominational $2,717.90 £2,518.40 £2,315.85 $2,151.75 $1,988.00 $1,835.55
Amount:
Compounding Rate: 6.09% 6.24% 6.43% 6.51% 6.62% 6.72%
Compounding Date
12/15/01 $2,744.25 $2,543.45 $2,339.60 $2,174.10 $2,009.00 $1,855.20
6/15/02 2.827.85 2,622.80 241480 2,244.85 2,075.50 1,917.55
12/15/02 2,913.95 2,704.65 2,492.45 2,317.90 2,144.20 1,981.95
6/15/03 3,002.70 2,789.00 2,572.55 2,393.35 2,215.15 2,048.55
12/15/03 3,094.10 2,876.05 2,655.30 2,471.30 2,288.50 2,117.40
6/15/04 3,188.35 2,965.75 2,740.65 2,551.70 2,364.25 2,188.55
12/15/04 3,285.40 3,058.30 2,828.75 2,634.80 2,442.50 2,262.05
6/15/05 3,38545 3,153.70 2,919.70 2,720.55 2,523.35 2,338.05
12/15/05 3,488.55 3,252.10 3,013.55 2,309.10 2,606.85 2,416.65
6/15/06 3,594.75 3,353.60 3,11045 2,900.55 2,693.15 2,497.85
12/15/06 3,704.25 3,458.20 3,210.45 2,994.95 2,782.30 2,581.75
6/15/07 3,817.00 3,566.10 3,313.70 3,092.45 2.874.40 2,668.50
12/15/07 3,933.25 367740 3,420.20 3,193.10 2,969.55 2,758.15
6/15/08 4,053.00 3,792.10 3,530.15 3.297.05 3,067.85 2,850.85
12/15/08 4,176.45 3,91045 3,643.65 3,404.35 3,169.35 2,946.65
6/15/09 4,303.60 4,032.45 3,760.80 3,515.15 3,274.30 3,045.65
12/15/09 4,434.65 4.158.25 3,881.70 3,629.60 3,382.65 3,148.00
6/15/10 4,569.70 428800 4,006.50 3,747.70 3,494.65 3,253.75
12/15/10 4,708.85 4421.75 4,13535 3,869.70 3,610.30 3,363.10
6/15/11 4,852.20 4,559.75 4,268.30 3,905.65 3,729.80 3,476.10
12/15/14 5,000.00 4,702.00 4,405.50 4,125.75 3,853.25 3,592.85
6/15/12 0 4,848.70 4,547.15 4,260.00 3,980.80 3,713.60
12/15/12 0 5,000.00 4,6931.35 4,398.70 4,112.55 3,838.35
6/15/13 0 0 4,844.25 4,541.85 424270 3,967.35
12/15/13 0 0 5,000.00 4,689.70 4,389.35 4,100.65
6/15/14 0 0 0 4,842.35 4,534.60 4,238.45
12/15/14 0 0 0 5,000.00 4,684.70 4,380.85
6/15/15 0 0 0 ¢ 4,839.80 4,528.05
12/15/15 0 0 0 0 5,000.00 4,680.20
6/15/16 ¢ 0 o 0 0 4,837.45
12/15/16 0 0 0 0 0 5,000.00
6/15/17 0 0 0 0 0 0
12/15017 0 0 0 0 0 0
6/15/18 0 0 1] 0 0 0
12/15/18 0 0 0 0 0 0
6/15/19 0 0 0 0 0 0
12/15/19 0 0 0 0 ¢ 0
6/15/20 ] 0 0 0 0 0
12/15720 0 4] ¢ 0 0 0
6/15/21 0 0 0 0 0 (]
12/15/21 0 0 0 0 0 0
6/15/22 0 0 0 0 0 0
12/15/22 0 0 0 0 0 0




Year of Maturity: 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Initial Denominational $1,699 45 $1,573.90 $1,466.25 $1,365.40 $£1,275.65 $1,192.40
Amount:
Compounding Rate: 6.79% 6.85% 6.87% 6.89% 6.89% 6.89%

Compounding Date

12/15/01 $1,717.80 5159110 $1,482.30 $1,380.40 $1,290.00 $1.205.50
6/15/02 1,776.15 1,645.60 1,533.20 1,427.95 1,334 40 1,247.060
12/15/02 1.836.45 1,701.95 1,585.85 1,477.15 1,380.40 1,290.00
6/15/03 1,898.80 1,760.25 1,640.35 1,528.00 1,427.95 1,334.40
12/15/03 1,963 .25 1,820.55 1,696.70 1.580.65 1,477.15 1,380.40
6/15/04 2.029.90 1,882.90 1,754.95 1,635.10 1,528.00 1,427.95
12/15/04 2,098.85 1,947.40 181525 1,691.45 1,580.65 1,477.15
6/15/05 2,170.10 2,0i4.05 1,877.60 1,749.70 1,635.10 1,528.00
12/15/05 224375 2,083.05 1,942.10 1,810.00 1,691.45 1,580.65
6/15/06 2,319.95 2,154.40 2,008.80 1,872.35 1,749.70 1.635.10
12/15/06 2,398.70 2,228.20 2,077.85 1,936.85 1,810.00 1,691.45
6/15/07 2,480.15 2,304.50 2,149.20 2,003.60 1.872.35 1,749.70
12/15/07 2,564.35 2,383.45 2,223.05 2,072.60 1,936.85 1,810.060
6/15/08 2,651.40 2.465.05 2,299.40 2,144.00 2,003.60 1,872.35
12/15/08 2.741.40 2,549.50 2,378.35 2,217.85 2,072.60 1,936.85
6/15/09 2,834.50 2.636.80 2,460.05 2,294.30 2,144.00 2,003.60
12/15/09 2,930.70 2,727.15 2,544.60 2,373.30 2,217.85 2,072.60
6/15/10 3,030.20 2,820.55 2,632.00 2,455.10 229430 2,144.00
12/15/10 3,133.10 2917.15 2,722.40 2,539.65 2,373.30 2.217.85
6/15/11 3,239.45 3,017.05 2,815.90 2,627.15 2,455.10 2,294.30
12/15/11 3,34945 3,120.40 2,912.65 2,717.65 2,539.65 2,37330
6/15/12 3,463.15 3,227.25 3,012.70 2,811.30 2.627.15 2,455.10
12/15/12 3,580.75 3,337.80 3,116.15 2,908.15 2,717.65 2.539.65
6/15/13 3,702.30 3,452.10 3,223.20 3.008.30 2,811.30 2,627.15
12/15/13 3,828.00 3,570.35 3,333.95 3,111.95 2,908.15 2,717.65
6/15/14 3,957.95 3,692.65 3,448.45 3,219.15 3,008.30 2,811.30
12/15/14 4,092.35 3,819.10 3,566.90 3,330.05 3,111.95 2,908.15
6/15/15 4,231.25 3,949.90 3.689.45 3,444.80 3,219.15 3,008.30
12/15/15 4,374.90 4,085.20 3.816.15 3,563.45 3.330.05 3.111.95
6/15/16 4,523.45 422515 3.047.25 3,086.20 3,444 80 3,219.15
12/15/16 4,677.00 4,369.85 4,082.85 3,813.20 3,563.45 3,330.05
6/15/17 4,835.80 4,519.50 4,223.10 3,944.60 3,686.20 3,444 80
12/15/17 5,000.00 4.674.30 4,368.15 4,080.45 3,813.20 3,563.45
6/15/18 0 4,834.40 4,518.20 4,221.05 3,944.60 3,686.20
12/15/18 0 5.,000.00 4,673.40 4,360.45 4,080.45 3,813.20
6/15/19 0 0 4,833.95 4,516.90 4,221.05 3,944.60
12/15/19 0 0 5,000.00 4,672.50 4,366.45 4,080.45
6/15/20 ¢ 0 0 4.,833.45 4,516.90 4.221.03
12/15/20 0 0 0 5,000.00 4,672.50 4,366.45
6/15/21 0 0 0 0 4,833.45 4,516.90
12/15/21 0 0 0 0 5,000.00 4,672.50
6/15/22 0 0 0 ¢ U] 4,833.45
12/15/22 0 ¢ 0 0 0 5,000.00
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APPENDIX 1
CLEARSTREAM, LUXEMBOURG, AND EUROCLEAR

The information in this Appendix I has been obtained from Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and
other sources which are believed by the City to be accurate, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy
thereof. The City cannot and does not give any assurances that DTC, Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of
DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Clearstream customers, Euroclear or Euroclear participants will disiribute to the
Beneficial Owners (as defined in Appendix G) of the Series 2001 Bonds: (i) payments of the Accreted Value of the
Series 2001 Bonds; (ii) confirmations of their ownership interests in the Series 2001 Bonds; or (iii} notices sent to
DTC or Cede & Co., its nominee, as the registered owner of the Series 2001 Bonds, or that they will do so on a
timely basis, or that DTC, Direct Participants or Indirect Participants, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Clearstream
customers, Euroclear or Euroclear participants will serve and act in the manner described in this Official
Statement.

Neither the City nor the Trustee will have any responsibility or obligations to DTC, the Direct Participants,
the Indirect Participants of DTC, Clearstream, Clearstream customers, Euroclear, Euroclear participants or the
Beneficial Owners with respect to: (1) the accuracy of any records maintained by DTC or any Direct Participants
or Indirect Participants of DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Clearstream customers, Euroclear or Euroclear
participants; (2) the payment by DTC or any Direct Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC, Clearstream,
Luxembourg, Clearstream customers, Euroclear or Euroclear participants of any amount due to any Beneficial
Owner in respect of the Accreted Value of the Series 2001 Bonds; (3) the delivery by DIC or any Direct
Participants or Indirect Participants of DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Clearstream customers, Euroclear or
Euroclear participants of any notice to any Beneficial Owner that is required or permitted to be given to owners
under the terms of the Trust Agreement; or (4) any consent given or other action taken by DTC as registered holder
of the Series 2001 Bonds.

Clearstream, Luxembourg

Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”), was incorporated in 1970 as “Cedel
S.A.” a company with limited liability under Luxembourg law (a sociét¢ anonyme). Cedel S.A. subsequently
changed its name to Cedelbank. On January 10, 2000, Cedelbank’s parent company, Cedel International (“CI")
merged its clearing, settlement and custody business with that of Deutsche Bérse Clearing AG ("DBC”). The
merger involved the transfer by CI of substantially all of its assets and liabilities to a new Luxembourg company,
New Cedel International (“New CI7), which is 50% owned by CI and 50% owned by DBC’s parent company
Deutsche Borse AG. The shareholders of these two entities are banks, securities dealers and financial instimations.
CI currently has 92 shareholders, including U.S. financial institutions or their subsidiaries. No single entity may
own more than 5% of CI's stock.

In conjunction with the merger, the Board of Directors of New CI decided to re-name the companies in the
group in order to give them a cohesive brand name. The new brand name that was chosen is “Clearstream.” With
effect from January 14, 2000, New CI has been renamed *Clearstream International, société anonyme.” On January
18, 2000, Cedelbank was renamed “Clearstream Banking, société anonyme,” and Cedel Global Services was
renamed “Clearstream Services, société anonyme.”

On January 17, 2000, DBC was renamed “Clearstream Banking AG.” This means that there are now two
entities in the corporate group headed by Clearstream International which share the name “Clearstream Banking,”
the entity previously named “Cedelbank™ and the entity previously named “Deutsche Bérse AG.”

Clearstream, Luxembourg holds securities for its customers and facilitates the clearance and settlement of
securities transactions between Clearstream, Luxembourg customers through electronic book-entry changes in
accounts of Clearstream, Luxembourg customers, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of
certificates. Transactions may be settled by Clearstream, Luxembourg in any of 36 currencies, including United
States Dollars. Clearstream, Luxembourg provides to its customers, among other things, services for safekeeping,
administration, clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending and borrowing.
Clearstream, Luxembourg also deals with domestic securities markets in over 30 countries through established
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depository and custodial relationships. Clearstream, Luxembourg is registered as a bank in Luxembourg, and as
such is subject to regulation by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier, “CSSF,” which supervises
Luxembourg banks. Clearstream, Luxembourg’s customers are worldwide financial institutions including
underwriters, securitics brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations.  Clearstream,
Luxembourg’s U.S. customers are limited to securities brokers and dealers, and banks. Currently, Clearstream,
Luxembourg has approximately 2,000 customers located in over 80 countries, including all major European
countries, Canada, and the United States. Indirect access to Clearstream, Luxembourg is available to other
institutions that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with an account holder of Clearstream,
Luxembourg. Clearstream, Luxembourg has established an electronic bridge with the Operator of Euroclear in
Brussels to facilitate settlement of trades between Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear.

Euroclear System

The Euroclear System (“Euroclear”) was created in 1968 to hold securities for participants of Euroclear
and to clear and seitle transactions between Euroclear participants through simultancous electronic book-entry
delivery against payment. This system eliminates the need for physical movement of certificates and any risk from
lack of simultaneous transfers of securities and cash. Euroclear includes various other services, including securities
lending and borrowing, and interfaces with domestic markets in several countries. The Euroclear Operator is
Euroclear Bank S.A/N.V. The Euroclear Operator conducts all operations. All Euroclear securities clearance
accounts and Euroclear cash accounts are accounts with the Euroclear Operator. The Euroclear Operator establishes
policy for Euroclear on behalf of Euroclear participants. Euroclear participants include banks (including central
banks), securities brokers and dealers and other professional financial intermediaries. Indirect access to Euroclear is
also available to others that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Euroclear participant, either
directly or indirectly.

Securities clearance accounts and cash accounts with the Euroclear Operator are govemed by the Terms
and Conditions Governing Use of Euroclear and the related Operating Procedures of the Euroclear System, and
applicable Belgian law (collectively, the “Terms and Conditions™). The Terms and Conditions govern transfers of
secunities and cash within Euroclear, withdrawals of securities and cash from Euroclear, and receipts of payments
with respect to securities in Euroclear. All securities in Euroclear are held on a fungible basis without attribution of
specific certificates to specific securities clearance accounts. The Euroclear Operator acts under the Terms and
Conditions only on behalf of Euroclear participants and has no record of or relationship with persons holding
through Euroclear participants.

Initial Settlement; Distributions; Actions Upon Behalf of Holders

All the Series 2001 Bonds will initially be registered in the name of Cede & Co., the nominee of DTC.
Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear may hold ommibus positions on behalf of their participants through
customers’ securities accounts in Clearstream, Luxembourg’s and Euroclear’s names on the books of their
respective U.S. Depositary which in turn holds such positions in customers’ securities accounts in its U.S.
Depositary’s name on the books of DTC. Citibank, N.A. acts as depositary for Clearstream, Luxembourg and the
Euroclear Operator acts as depositary for Euroclear (in such capacities, individually, the “U.S. Depositary” and,
collectively, the “U.S. Depositaries™).

Holders of the Series 2001 Bonds may hold their Series 2001 Bonds through DTC (in the United States) or
Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear (in Europe) if they are participants of such systems, or indirectly through
organizations which are participants in such systems.

Investors electing to hold their Series 2001 Bonds through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accounts
will follow the settlement procedures applicable to conventional Eurobonds in registered form. Securities will be
credited 1o the securities custody accounts of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg holders on the business day
following the settlement date against payment for value on the settlement date.

Distributions with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds held beneficially through Clearstream, Luxembourg

will be credited to the cash accounts of Clearstrcam, Luxembourg customers in accordance with its rules and
procedures, to the extent received by its U.S. Depository (as defined below). Distributions with respect to the Series
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2001 Bonds held beneficially through Euroclear will be credited to the cash accounts of Euroclear participants in
accordance with the Terms and Conditions, to the extent received by its U.S. Depository.

Such distributions will be subject to tax reporting in accordance with relevant United States tax laws and
regulations.

Clearstream, Luxembourg or the Euroclear Operator, as the case may be, will take any other action
permitted to be taken by a Holder of the Series 2001 Bonds under the Trust Agreement on behalf of a Clearstream
customer or Euroclear participant only in accordance with the relevant rules and procedures and subject to the
relevant U.S. Depositary’s ability to effect such actions on its behalf through DTC.

Secondary Market Trading

Because the purchaser determines the place of delivery, it is important to establish at the time of the trading
of any securities where both the purchaser’s and seller’s accounts are located to ensure that settlement ¢an be made
on the desired value date.

Trading Between DTC Participants Secondary market trading between DTC Participants (other than U.S.
Depositaries) will be settled using the procedures applicable to U.S. corporate debt obligations in same-day funds.

Trading Between Euroclear Participants and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg Customers Secondary
market trading between Euroclear participants and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg customers will be settled using the
procedures applicable to conventional Eurobonds in same-day funds.

Trading Between DTC Seller and Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg Purchaser When securities
are to be transferred from the account of a DTC Participant (other than U.S. Depositories) to the account of a
Euroclear participant or a Clearstream, Luxembourg customer, the purchaser must send instructions to the applicable
U.S. Depositary before settlement date 12:30. Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, will
instruct its U.S. Depositary to receive the securities against payment. Payment will then be made by its U.S.
Depositary to the DTC Participant’s account against delivery of the securities. After sertlement has been completed,
the securities will be credited to the respective clearing system and by the clearing system, in accordance with its
usual procedures, to the Euroclear participants’ or Clearstream, Luxembourg customers’ accounts. Credit for the
securitics will appear on the next day (European time) and cash debit will be back-valued to, and the interest on the
Series 2001 Bonds will accrue from the value date (which would be the preceding day when settlement occurs in
New York). If settlement is not completed on the intended value date {i.e., the trade fails), the Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg cash debit will be valued instead as of the actual settlement date.

Euroclear participants and Clearsiream, Luxembourg customers will need to make available to the
respective clearing systems the funds necessary to process same-day funds settlement. The most direct means of
doing so is to pre-position funds for settlement, cither from cash on hand or existing lines of credit, as they would
for any settlement occurring within Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. Under this approach, they may take on
credit exposure to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg until the securities are credited to their accounts one day
later.

As an alternative, if Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg has extended a line of credit to them,
participants/customers can elect not pre-position funds and allow that credit line to be drawn upon to finance
settlement. Under this procedure, Euroclear participants or Clearstream, Luxembourg customers purchasing
securities would incur overdraft charges for one day, assuming they cleared the overdraft when the securities were
credited to their accounts. However, interest on the securities would accrue from the value date. Therefore, in many
cases, the investment income on securities eamed during that one day period may substantially reduce or offset the
amount of such overdraft charges, although this result will depend on each participant’s/customer’s particular cost of
funds.

Because the settlement is taking place during New York business hours, DTC Participants can employ their
usual procedures for sending securities to the applicable U.S. Depository for the benefit of Euroclear participants or
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Clearstream, Luxembourg customers. The sale proceeds will be available to the DTC seller on the settlement date.
Thus, to the DTC Participant, a cross-market transaction will settle no differently from a trade between two DTC
Participants.

Trading Between Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg Seller and DTC Purchaser Due to time zone
differences in their favor, Euroclear participants and Clearstream Luxembourg customers may employ their
customary procedure for transactions in which securities are to be transferred by the respective clearing system,
through the applicable U.S. Depository to another DTC Participant. The seller must send instructions to
Clearstream, Luxembourg before settlement date 12:30. In these cases, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will
mstruct its U.S. Depository to credit the securities to the DTC Participant’s account against payment. The payment
will then be reflected in the account of the Euroclear participant or Clearstream, Luxembourg customer the
following business day, and receipt of the cash proceeds in the Euroclear participants’ or Clearstream, Luxembourg
customers’ accounts will be back-valued to the value date (which would be the preceding day, when settlement
occurs m New York). If the Euroclear participant or Clearstream, Luxembourg customer has a line of credit with its
respective clearing system and elects to draw on such line of credit in anticipation of receipt of the sale proceeds in
its account, the back-valuation may substantially reduce or offset any overdraft charges incurred over that one-day
period. If settlement is not completed on the intended value date (i.e., the trade fails), receipt of the cash proceeds in
the Euroclear participant’s or Clearstream, Luxembourg customer’s accounts would instead be valued as of the
actual settlement date.

Procedures May Change
Although DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear have agreed to these procedures in order to
facilitate transfers of securities among participants of DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear, they are under

no obligation to perform or continue to perform these procedures and these procedures may be discontinued and
may be changed at any time by any of them.
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